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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Amounts in thousands except per share data)
 

   
June 30,

2010   
December 31,

2009  
   (Unaudited)     
Assets    
Current Assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 144,289   $ 97,788  
Accounts receivable, net    477,032    442,814  
Prepaid expenses and other    164,305    242,640  
Current assets of discontinued operations    72,175    75,578  

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    857,801    858,820  
    

 
   

 

Property and Equipment:    
Cost    3,377,307    3,529,583  
Less – accumulated depreciation    (1,696,071)   (1,708,371) 

    
 

   
 

Net property and equipment    1,681,236    1,821,212  
    

 
   

 

Intangibles, net    148,633    160,407  
Other assets    143,550    170,176  
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations    12,063    21,459  

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 2,843,283   $ 3,032,074  
    

 
   

 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)    
Current Liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 170,232   $ 154,671  
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits    206,006    213,754  
Other current and accrued liabilities    467,675    392,392  
Current maturities of long-term debt    245,475    197,127  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations    59,496    51,884  

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    1,148,884    1,009,828  
    

 
   

 

Other Liabilities:    
Long-term debt, less current portion    913,474    935,782  
Deferred income taxes, net    146,258    146,576  
Pension and postretirement    352,637    351,861  
Claims and other liabilities    359,247    419,883  
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations    37    954  
Commitments and contingencies    

Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit):    
Preferred stock, $1 par value per share    —      4,346  
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share    11,223    991  
Capital surplus    1,615,076    1,576,349  
Accumulated deficit    (1,460,889)   (1,177,280) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (149,191)   (144,479) 
Treasury stock, at cost (3,079 shares)    (92,737)   (92,737) 

    
 

   
 

Total YRC Worldwide Inc. shareholders’ equity (deficit)    (76,518)   167,190  
    

 
   

 

Non-controlling interest    (736)   —    
    

 
   

 

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)    (77,254)   167,190  
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)   $ 2,843,283   $ 3,032,074  
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries

For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30
(Amounts in thousands except per share data)

(Unaudited)
 
   Three Months   Six Months  
   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Operating Revenue   $1,119,101   $1,226,264   $2,106,245   $2,616,939  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating Expenses:      
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    682,934    986,685    1,334,012    2,090,184  
Equity based compensation expense (benefit)    (81,542)   (6,271)   28,329    26,754  
Operating expenses and supplies    243,420    282,783    480,789    620,620  
Purchased transportation    120,803    123,898    214,902    253,012  
Depreciation and amortization    50,074    59,912    100,706    122,827  
Other operating expenses    57,309    74,515    120,504    175,891  
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net    (2,187)   (1,040)   6,612    559  
Impairment charges    —      —      5,281    —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    1,070,811    1,520,482    2,291,135    3,289,847  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating Income (Loss)    48,290    (294,218)   (184,890)   (672,908) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (Income) Expenses:      
Interest expense    41,385    38,333    82,312    70,530  
Equity investment impairment    12,338    30,374    12,338    30,374  
Other, net    (6,697)   1,505    (4,791)   4,483  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating expenses, net    47,026    70,212    89,859    105,387  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes    1,264    (364,430)   (274,749)   (778,295) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    224    (64,948)   (5,654)   (206,823) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations    1,040    (299,482)   (269,095)   (571,472) 
Net Loss from Discontinued Operations, net of tax    (11,358)   (9,555)   (15,361)   (11,347) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Loss    (10,318)   (309,037)   (284,456)   (582,819) 
Less: Net Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interest    (847)   —      (847)   —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Loss Attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $ (9,471)  $ (309,037)  $ (283,609)  $ (582,819) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Average Common Shares Outstanding – Basic    1,078,254    59,480    801,274    59,427  
Average Common Shares Outstanding – Diluted    1,079,283    59,480    801,274    59,427  

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share      
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations   $ —     $ (5.04)  $ (0.33)  $ (9.62) 
Loss from Discontinued Operations    (0.01)   (0.16)   (0.02)   (0.19) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Loss Per Share   $ (0.01)  $ (5.20)  $ (0.35)  $ (9.81) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share      
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations   $ —     $ (5.04)  $ (0.33)  $ (9.62) 
Loss from Discontinued Operations    (0.01)   (0.16)   (0.02)   (0.19) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Loss Per Share   $ (0.01)  $ (5.20)  $ (0.35)  $ (9.81) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Amounts attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc. common shareholders:      
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations   $ 1,887   $ (299,482)  $ (268,248)  $ (571,472) 
Loss from Discontinued Operations, net of tax    (11,358)   (9,555)   (15,361)   (11,347) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Loss   $ (9,471)  $ (309,037)  $ (283,609)  $ (582,819) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries

For the Six Months Ended June 30
(Amounts in thousands)

(Unaudited)
 
   2010   2009  
Operating Activities:    
Net loss   $(284,456)  $(582,819) 
Noncash items included in net loss:    

Depreciation and amortization    105,228    130,718  
Equity based compensation expense    28,345    26,754  
Settlement charges    104    5,755  
Impairment charges    17,619    30,374  
Losses on property disposals, net    8,310    587  
Deferred income tax benefit, net    (5,784)   (199,086) 
Amortization of deferred debt costs    22,689    10,493  
Other noncash items, net    (4,701)   4,567  

Changes in assets and liabilities, net:    
Accounts receivable    (27,635)   166,976  
Accounts payable    17,665    (82,270) 
Other operating assets    85,860    67,695  
Other operating liabilities    22,284    176,839  

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (14,472)   (243,417) 
    

 
   

 

Investing Activities:    
Acquisition of property and equipment    (10,855)   (26,026) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment    35,781    37,533  
Other    5,223    (198) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by investing activities    30,149    11,309  
    

 
   

 

Financing Activities:    
Asset backed securitization borrowings, net    1,114    58,042  
Issuance of long-term debt    141,795    284,201  
Repayment on long-term debt    (101,100)   (223,449) 
Debt issuance costs    (9,568)   (47,526) 
Equity issuance costs    (17,323)   —    
Equity issuance proceeds    15,906    —    

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by financing activities    30,824    71,268  
    

 
   

 

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents    46,501    (160,840) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period    97,788    325,349  
    

 
   

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period   $ 144,289   $ 164,509  
    

 

   

 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:    
Income tax refunds, net   $ 83,288   $ 33,922  
Pension contribution deferral transfer to long-term debt   $ 4,361   $ 133,227  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries

For the Six Months Ended June 30
(Amounts in thousands)

(Unaudited)
 
   2010  
Preferred Stock   
Beginning balance   $ 4,346  
Conversion of preferred shares to common shares    (4,346) 

    
 

Ending balance   $ —    
    

 

Common Stock   
Beginning balance   $ 991  
Conversion of preferred shares to common shares    9,572  
Shares issued in connection with ABS amendment    207  
Issuance of equity awards    4  
At the market issuances of common stock    449  

    
 

Ending balance   $ 11,223  
    

 

Capital Surplus   
Beginning balance   $ 1,576,349  
Share-based compensation    25,454  
Conversion of preferred shares to common shares    (5,226) 
Beneficial conversion feature of 6% notes    3,341  
Issuance of equity in exchange for debt (net of transaction costs)    (2,000) 
Shares issued in connection with ABS amendment    2,264  
At the market issuances of common stock (net of transaction costs)    14,939  
Other, net    (45) 

    
 

Ending balance   $ 1,615,076  
    

 

Accumulated Deficit   
Beginning balance   $(1,177,280) 
Net loss attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.    (283,609) 

    
 

Ending balance   $(1,460,889) 
    

 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss   
Beginning balance   $ (144,479) 
Pension, net of tax:   

Reclassification of net losses to net income    1,939  
Deferred tax rate adjustments    (1,080) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments    (5,571) 
    

 

Ending balance   $ (149,191) 
    

 

Treasury Stock, At Cost   
Beginning and ending balance   $ (92,737) 

    
 

Total YRC Worldwide Inc. Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)   $ (76,518) 
    

 

Noncontrolling Interest   
Beginning balance   $ —    
Noncontrolling interest in Jiayu    115  
Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest    (847) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments    (4) 

    
 

Ending balance   $ (736) 
    

 

Total shareholder’s equity (deficit)   $ (77,254) 
    

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YRC Worldwide Inc. and Subsidiaries

(Unaudited)

1. Description of Business

YRC Worldwide Inc. (also referred to as “YRC Worldwide”, “the Company”, “we” or “our”), one of the largest transportation service providers in the
world, is a holding company that through wholly owned operating subsidiaries offers its customers a wide range of transportation services. These services
include global, national and regional transportation as well as logistics. Our operating subsidiaries include the following:

 

 

•  YRC National Transportation (“National Transportation”) is the reporting unit for our transportation service providers focused on business
opportunities in regional, national and international services. National Transportation provides for the movement of industrial, commercial and retail
goods, primarily through regionalized and centralized management and customer facing organizations. This unit includes our less-than-truckload
(“LTL”) subsidiary YRC Inc. (“YRC”), and YRC Reimer, a subsidiary located in Canada that specializes in shipments into, across and out of
Canada. Approximately 34% of National Transportation shipments are completed in two days or less. In addition to the United States (“U.S.”) and
Canada, National Transportation also serves parts of Mexico, Puerto Rico and Guam.

 

 

•  YRC Regional Transportation (“Regional Transportation”) is the reporting unit for our transportation service providers focused on business
opportunities in the regional and next-day delivery markets. Regional Transportation is comprised of New Penn Motor Express (“New Penn”),
Holland and Reddaway. These companies each provide regional, next-day ground services in their respective regions through a network of facilities
located across the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Puerto Rico. Approximately 94% of Regional Transportation LTL shipments are completed in two days
or less.

 

 •  YRC Truckload (“Truckload”) reflects the results of Glen Moore, a provider of truckload services throughout the U.S.
 

 

•  YRC Logistics plans and coordinates the movement of goods worldwide to provide customers a single source for logistics management solutions. In
June 2010, we signed an agreement whereby the majority of YRC Logistics will be sold to a third party after the satisfaction of certain closing
conditions. In addition, certain other operations ceased during the quarter ended June 30, 2010. As a result, the YRC Logistics segment has been
reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. See Note 15 “Discontinued Operations” for further discussion.

At June 30, 2010, approximately 74% of our labor force of our operating segments is subject to various collective bargaining agreements, which
predominantly expire in 2013.

2. Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of YRC Worldwide and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments in non-majority owned affiliates or those in which we do not
have control where the entity is either not a variable interest entity or YRC Worldwide is not the primary beneficiary, are accounted for on the equity
method.

Management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. We have prepared the consolidated financial statements, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In management’s opinion, all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods included in these financial statements herein have been made. Certain information and note
disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or
omitted from these statements pursuant to SEC rules and regulations. Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Assets Held for Sale

When we plan to dispose of property or equipment by sale, the asset is carried in the financial statements at the lower of the carrying amount or estimated
fair value, less cost to sell, and is reclassified to assets held for sale. Additionally, after the
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reclassification, there is no further depreciation taken on the asset. For an asset to be classified as held for sale, management must approve and commit to a
formal plan, the sale should be anticipated during the ensuing year and the asset must be actively marketed, be available for immediate sale, and meet
certain other specified criteria. In addition to the amounts classified as assets and liabilities of discontinued operations, at June 30, 2010 and December 31,
2009, the net book value of properties and equipment held for sale was approximately $106.2 million and $112.8 million, respectively. This amount is
included in “Property and Equipment” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We recorded charges of $11.7 million and $23.2 million for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and $3.7 million and $7.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, to reduce
properties and equipment held for sale to estimated fair value, less cost to sell. These charges are included in “(Gains) Losses on Property Disposals, Net”
in the accompanying statements of consolidated operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

If facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of held-and-used identifiable amortizable intangibles and property, plant and equipment may be
impaired, we perform an evaluation of recoverability in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” (now included in FASB ASC Topic 360). Our evaluation compares the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset or asset
group to its carrying amount to determine if a reduction to the carrying amount is required. The carrying amount of an impaired asset would be reduced to
fair value if the estimated undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying value of the asset group.

We believe that the accounting estimate related to asset impairment is a critical accounting estimate because: (1) it requires our management to make
assumptions about future revenues over the life of the asset, and (2) the impact that recognizing an impairment would have on our financial position, as
well as our results of operations, could be material. Management’s assumptions about future revenues require significant judgment because actual revenues
have fluctuated in the past and may continue to do so. In estimating future revenues, we use our internal business forecasts. We develop our forecasts based
on recent revenue data for existing services and other industry and economic factors. To the extent that YRC is unable to achieve forecasted improvements
in shipping volumes and pricing initiatives or realize forecasted cost savings, the Company may incur significant impairment losses on property and
equipment or intangible assets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and asset-backed securitization borrowings approximates their fair
value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

3. Liquidity

The following table provides details of the outstanding components and unused available (deficit) capacity under the Credit Agreement and ABS Facility
(each, as defined below) at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009:

 

(in millions)   
June 30,

2010   
December 31,

2009  
Capacity:    

Revolving loan   $ 950.0   $ 950.0  
ABS Facility    350.0    400.0  

    
 

   
 

Total maximum capacity    1,300.0    1,350.0  
    

 
   

 

Amounts outstanding:    
Revolving loan    (358.0)   (329.1) 
Letters of credit (6/30/10: $454.7 revolver; $72.2 ABS Facility)    (526.9)   (538.3) 
ABS Facility borrowings    (147.4)   (146.3) 

    
 

   
 

Total outstanding    (1,032.3)   (1,013.7) 
    

 
   

 

ABS limitations    (129.5)   (178.2) 
Revolver reserve    (128.8)   (159.8) 

    
 

   
 

Total restricted capacity    (258.3)   (338.0) 
    

 
   

 

Unrestricted unused capacity (deficit) (6/30/10: $8.5 revolver; $0.9 ABS
Facility)   $ 9.4   $ (1.7) 

    

 

   

 

During the quarter ended June 30, 2010, we amended our credit agreements and entered into a new sales agreement for at the market issuances as discussed
below.
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Credit Agreement Amendments

On May 3, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 17 and on July 28, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 18 to our Credit Agreement, dated as of
August 17, 2007 (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”). The amendments are described below.

Amendment No. 17

We have entered into an arrangement to sell up to $103 million shares of common stock (on a gross proceeds basis) in an at-the-market issuance program.
See “—At Market Issuance Sales Agreement” below. Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement permits us to retain the net proceeds from any such sales
as described below:

Equity Issuances

Amendment No. 17 provides that we may receive up to $100 million of net cash proceeds from the issuance of equity interests during the period
commencing on May 3, 2010 and ending on the earlier of December 31, 2010 or the date on which we receive $100 million of net cash proceeds from such
equity issuances, without having to use such net cash proceeds to make a mandatory prepayment under the Credit Agreement. The net cash proceeds from
such equity issuances are deposited into a new deposit account (the “New Account”). We will be able to use the funds in the New Account for general
corporate purposes. While any funds are in the New Account, they will not count toward the calculation of Liquidity (as defined in the Credit Agreement),
the calculation of Unrestricted Cash (as defined in the Credit Agreement) or the calculation of Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in
each case for purposes of the mandatory prepayment requirements. The funds in the New Account will count as Available Cash (as defined in the Credit
Agreement). Additionally, we will not be able to request loans under the Credit Agreement until the balance in the New Account is zero. Other than the net
cash proceeds from the issuance of such equity interest, no funds may be deposited into the New Account, and once funds have been withdrawn they may
not be re-deposited. As of June 30, 2010 the balance in this New Account was $15.4 million which represents our net proceeds from our at the market
issuances.

Voluntary Prepayments of Certain Obligations

Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement modifies the restriction on voluntary prepayments of any amounts owing under the Contribution Deferral
Agreement or indebtedness, including a prohibition on the Company using the up to $100 million of net cash proceeds from the equity issuance described
above to make such voluntary prepayments.

Amendment No. 18

We have entered into an agreement to sell the majority of our logistics business for $37 million (prior to any purchase price adjustments). See “—Sale of
YRC Logistics” below. Amendment No. 18 to the Credit Agreement permits us to retain the net proceeds from the sale as described below:

Sale of YRC Logistics

The Credit Agreement requires us to prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement with 100% of the net cash proceeds received from the sale of
YRC Logistics. Pursuant to Amendment No. 18, these net cash proceeds will be applied as follows:

-We have entered into a Contribution Deferral Agreement (as amended, the “Contribution Deferral Agreement”) with certain of the multi-employer
pension funds to which the Company contributes. If we enter into an amendment (the “CDA Amendment”) to the Contribution Deferral Agreement to
approve Amendment No. 18, 100% of the net cash proceeds from the sale of YRC Logistics will be applied to outstanding unblocked revolver loans under
the Credit Agreement (without a corresponding commitment reduction to the unblocked revolver) and the new revolver reserve block under the Credit
Agreement will be permanently reduced by 50% of that amount. Amendment No. 18 provides that we must enter into the CDA Amendment prior to
August 13, 2010 (or August 27, 2010 if we have received approval from the Supermajority Funds (as defined in the Contribution Deferral Agreement)).

—If the closing of the CDA Amendment and the sale of YRC Logistics occur after the dates described above, then the net cash proceeds will be
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement that were applicable to the sale of YRC Logistics prior to giving effect to Amendment
No. 18.
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Mandatory Prepayments

Pursuant to the terms of Amendment No. 18, from July 28, 2010 through the date of the CDA Amendment, upon a Prepayment Event (as defined in the
Credit Agreement) or an Excess Cash Flow Sweep (as defined in the Credit Agreement), a mandatory prepayment will be made in an amount, and in
accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement, prior to giving effect to Amendment No. 18. Upon effectiveness of the CDA Amendment, the new
revolver reserve block will automatically and permanently decrease by the amount by which the new revolver reserve block increased by virtue of any
mandatory prepayments during the period above.

On and after the date of the CDA Amendment, upon a Prepayment Event (except for certain sale and leaseback transactions described below) or an Excess
Cash Flow Sweep (as defined in the Credit Agreement), a mandatory prepayment will be made in an amount, and in accordance with the provisions of, the
Credit Agreement prior to giving effect to Amendment No. 18, except that:

 

 
(i) outstanding permitted interim loans will be repaid after (rather than before) new revolver reserve block loans, existing revolver reserve block

(performance) loans and unblocked revolver loans (in each case (other than permitted interim loans) with a corresponding permanent
commitment reduction), and

 

 (ii) outstanding term loans are paid ratably with the unblocked revolver.

The first $20 million of net cash proceeds received from sale and leaseback transactions received on and after the date of the CDA Amendment will be
treated as follows:

—If certain cost reduction criteria established by our lenders under Amendment No. 18 are satisfied:
 

 
(i) 25% of the net cash proceeds will be applied in accordance with the provisions applicable after effectiveness of the CDA Amendment

described in the paragraph above,
 

 
(ii) 75% of the net cash proceeds will be applied to outstanding unblocked revolver loans (without a corresponding commitment reduction to the

unblocked revolver), and
 

 (iii) the new revolver reserve block will be permanently reduced by 50% of the net cash proceeds.

—If we do not satisfy the criteria, then 75% of the net cash proceeds will be treated in accordance with (i) above and 25% of the net cash proceeds
will be treated in accordance with (ii) above.

Conversion of Revolving Loans and LC Limits

On the date of the CDA Amendment, Amendment No. 18 converts $150 million of outstanding revolving loans to term loans. In addition, Amendment No.
18 reduces the letter of credit sublimit to $550 million and limits foreign currency letters of credit to $25 million. As a result, on the date of the CDA
Amendment, the Credit Agreement will provide the Company with an $800 million senior revolving credit facility, which is subject to further reductions,
and a senior term loan in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately $261.5 million.

Consolidated EBITDA

The definition of Consolidated EBITDA was amended to include a new add back for charges, expenses and losses incurred with any Permitted Disposition
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) or discontinued operations.

Financial Covenants

Our minimum Available Cash covenant requires that we maintain at least $25 million of Available Cash through December 31, 2010 and at least $50
million of Available Cash from and after January 1, 2011.

Our minimum Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) covenant in respect of the periods ending June 30, 2010, September 30, 2010
and December 31, 2010 is as follows:

 
Period   Minimum Consolidated EBITDA
For the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2010   $ 5 million
For the two consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30,

2010   $ 50 million
For the three consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31,

2010   $ 100 million
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Asset-Backed Securitization Amendments

On May 3, 2010, we, as Performance Guarantor, and the parties to the Third Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 18,
2008 (as amended, the “ABS Facility”), entered into Amendment No. 17 to the ABS Facility, which implemented minimum consolidated EBITDA and
minimum available cash requirements that are consistent with Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement described above.

On June 11, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 18 to the ABS Facility. The amended facility (i) reduced the aggregate commitments under the ABS
Facility from $400 million to $350 million; and (ii) modified certain calculations under the ABS Facility to reduce the impact of negative effects that the
integration of Yellow Transportation and Roadway has had on the ability of the Seller to borrow under the ABS Facility. As a result, solely for the period
beginning on June 11, 2010 and ending on July 2, 2010, we were able to borrow additional amounts of approximately $22 million under the ABS Facility.

In connection with Amendment No. 18 to the ABS Facility, we paid fees to the Co-Agents (the “Closing Fees”). The Closing Fees were paid by the
Company by the issuance to the Co-Agents (or their designees) of an aggregate of 25.4 million shares of unregistered restricted common stock of the
Company of which 20.7 million were issued as of June 30, 2010 and the remaining 4.7 million were issued on July 22, 2010. To value these shares issued
in lieu of cash fees, we completed a fair value analysis and concluded that the value of these shares as of June 30, 2010 was $3.0 million.

Interest and Fee Deferrals

In 2009, the Credit Agreement lenders agreed to defer the payment of revolver and term loan interest, letter of credit fees and commitment fees, subject to
the deferral exceptions and termination events, for the period:

 

 •  beginning December 31, 2009, and
 

 •  ending on December 31, 2010, subject to an extension until December 31, 2011 if agreed to by 66 2/3 % of the lenders.

As of June 30, 2010 the amounts deferred under the above provision were $59.0 million.

Additionally, we deferred amendment fees of $31.8 million in October 2009, which are fully earned but not due and payable until the earlier of
December 31, 2011 or the occurrence of a termination event.

Additionally, some of the fees and interest due during the term of the ABS Facility have also been deferred. The $10.0 million fee that was due on
October 30, 2009 has been deferred until the earliest to occur of the following dates or events (the “Deferred Fee Payment Date”):

 

 •  October 26, 2010,
 

 •  the Amortization Date (as defined in the ABS Facility), and
 

 •  the occurrence of a deferral termination event.

The portion of current letter of credit fees, program fees and administration fees under the ABS Facility in excess of the fees in place prior to February 12,
2009 were deferred also until the Deferred Fee Payment Date. As of June 30, 2010, the amount deferred under this provision was $8.8 million.

Contribution Deferral Agreement Amendments

On May 3, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 4 to the Contribution Deferral Agreement. Pursuant to the Contribution Deferral Agreement, we have
deferred the payment of contributions to these funds. Under Amendment No. 4 the calculation of Liquidity (as defined in the Contribution Deferral
Agreement) for the Liquidity Cash Sweep (as defined in the Credit Agreement) thereunder was amended to conform it to the test in the Credit Agreement
(after giving effect to Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement), except that the Liquidity test under the Contribution Deferral Agreement subtracts any
commitment reduction or prepayment under the Credit Agreement.

We are actively seeking the additional amendments to the Contribution Deferral Agreement described in “—Credit Agreement Amendment – Sale of YRC
Logistics” above.
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At Market Issuance Sales Agreement

On May 3, 2010, we entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Wm Smith & Co and McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak
LLC (the “Sales Agents”), under which we may sell up to the amount available for offer and sale under the currently effective Registration Statement on
Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-159355) (the “Registration Statement”) of our common stock from time to time through the Sales Agents. The Registration
Statement permits the issuance, from time to time, by us of shares of the Company’s common stock, preferred stock and warrants up to an aggregate initial
offering price not to exceed $200 million. The Sales Agents may sell the common stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an ‘at the market’
offering as defined in Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including without limitation sales made directly on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market, on any other existing trading market for the common stock or to or through a market maker. The Sales Agents may also sell the common stock in
privately negotiated transactions, subject to our approval. The compensation to the Sales Agents for sales of common stock sold pursuant to the Sales
Agreement will be an aggregate of 3.0% of the gross proceeds of the sales price of common stock sold with respect to the first $25.0 million of gross
proceeds and an aggregate of 2.0% of the gross proceeds with respect to gross proceeds in excess of that amount.

The Sales Agreement will terminate on the earliest of (1) the sale of all of the common stock subject to the Sales Agreement, or (2) termination of the Sales
Agreement by the Company or the Sales Agents. Either Sales Agent may terminate the Sales Agreement as to itself at any time in certain circumstances,
including the occurrence of a material adverse change that, in such Sales Agent’s judgment, may impair its ability to sell the common stock, or a
suspension or limitation of trading of the Company’s common stock on NASDAQ. We may terminate the Sales Agreement at any time upon five days prior
notice while either Sales Agent may terminate the Sales Agreement as to itself at any time upon five days prior notice. The Sales Agreement contains
customary representations, warranties and covenants.

On May 4, 2010, we filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement that contemplates the sale of up to $103 million in gross proceeds of shares of the
Company’s common stock from time to time in at-the-market offerings pursuant to the Sales Agreement. Sales pursuant to the Sales Agreement will be
made only upon instructions by the Company to the Sales Agents, and we cannot provide any assurances that we will issue any additional shares pursuant
to the Sales Agreement.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, we completed the sale of 44.9 million shares for net proceeds of $15.4 million as part of our at the market
offerings.

Sale of YRC Logistics

In June 2010, we entered into an Equity Interest Purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with CEG Holdings, Inc. (“CEG”), a subsidiary of Austin Ventures
to sell YRC Logistics for an aggregate of approximately $37.0 million in cash. Approximately $2.8 million of the purchase price will be deposited into an
escrow account at closing to be held for 12 and 18 months to satisfy certain indemnification claims by CEG that may arise. The Agreement is subject to
various closing conditions and contains certain termination rights for both the Company and CEG, and further provides that, upon termination of the
Agreement under specified circumstances, the Company may be required to pay CEG a termination fee of $1.25 million plus any costs of collection
incurred by CEG.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, net cash used in operating activities for YRC Worldwide was $14.5 million of which YRC Logistics portion was
approximately $4.5 million.

Risks and Uncertainties Regarding Future Liquidity

In light of our recent operating results, we have satisfied our short term liquidity needs through a combination of borrowings under our credit facilities,
retained proceeds from asset sales, sale/leaseback financing transactions, issuances of our common stock, and 6% Notes and an income tax refund from the
IRS. In an effort to further manage liquidity, we have also instituted the deferral of pension plan payments and certain interest and fees. As our operating
results improve, we expect that cash generated from operations will reduce our need to continue to rely upon these sources of liquidity to meet our short
term funding requirements. In August 2009, the employees in most of our bargaining units who are represented by the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters (the “Teamsters”) ratified a modification to our collective bargaining agreement to (among other things) implement a 15% wage reduction
(which includes the 10% wage reduction previously implemented in January 2009) and a temporary cessation of the requirement for the Company’s
subsidiaries to make contributions to union multi-employer pension funds. The wage reduction and the temporary pension contribution cessation have also
improved our liquidity position; however, the temporary pension contribution cessation ends at the end of 2010. Based on expected levels of employment
in 2011, we estimate that we will contribute approximately $25-30 million per month to multi-employer pension funds in 2011. To continue to have
sufficient liquidity to meet our cash flow requirements during 2010:
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•  our operating results must continue to stabilize or recover quarter-over-quarter and shipping volumes must continue to stabilize or recover quarter-

over-quarter;
 

 •  we must continue to have access to our credit facilities;
 

 •  we must renew our ABS Facility in October 2010;
 

 •  we must continue to defer at least through 2010 payment of:
 

 •  interest and fees to our lenders under the Credit Agreement
 

 •  interest and facility fees to purchasers of our accounts receivable pursuant to the ABS Facility
 

 •  interest and principal to our pension funds pursuant to the Contribution Deferral Agreement;
 

 •  our wage reductions and temporary cessation of pension contributions must continue;
 

 •  we must complete the sale/leaseback and real estate sale transactions currently under contract as anticipated; and
 

 
•  we must continue to implement and realize substantial cost savings measures to match our costs with business levels and to continue to become

more efficient.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The uncertainty regarding the
Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows and liquidity to fund operations raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern (which contemplates the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future). These
financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. If we are unable to fund our operations through
operating cash flows, existing credit facilities, sales of non-strategic assets and business lines and other capital market transactions, we would consider in
court and out of court restructuring alternatives.

We expect to continue to monitor our liquidity carefully, work to reduce this uncertainty and address our cash needs through a combination of one or more
of the following actions:

 

 •  we continue to, and expect to implement further cost actions and efficiency improvements;
 

 •  we will continue to aggressively seek additional and return business from customers;
 

 
•  if appropriate, we may sell additional equity or pursue other capital market transactions, including pursuant to the Sales Agreement described

above;
 

 •  we may consider selling non-strategic assets or business lines, such as the sale of YRC Logistics; and
 

 
•  we expect to carefully manage receipts and disbursements, including amounts and timing, focusing on reducing days sales outstanding and

managing days payables outstanding.

At the end of 2010, the temporary cessation of our requirement to make contributions to the multi-employer pension funds in which we participate will end
absent a new agreement with the Teamsters to address this requirement. Based upon expected levels of employment in 2011, we estimate that we will be
required to contribute approximately $25-30 million per month to multi-employer pension funds in 2011. Absent the consent of two-thirds in interest of the
lenders under the Credit Agreement to continue the deferral of interest and fees under the Credit Agreement during 2011, the deferral will terminate at the
end of 2010. In addition, for us to continue our deferral of the payment of future interest and the amortized principal to the pension funds during 2011
under the Contribution Deferral Agreement, 90% in interest of the pension funds that are a party to the Contribution Deferral Agreement must vote to
continue the deferral.

Previously deferred interest and fees under the Credit Agreement of $90.8 million are not due until the end of 2011, unless a majority in interest of the
lenders accelerate the payment because of a termination of the deferral under the Contribution Deferral Agreement or to the extent our cash and unblocked
availability under the Credit Agreement and the ABS Facility in 2011 exceeds certain levels set forth in the Credit Agreement. Likewise, under the
Contribution Deferral Agreement, previously deferred interest and amortized principal payments of $150.4 million are not due until the end of 2011, unless
a majority in interest of the funds elect to accelerate the payments after termination of the deferral. The Company must also renew its ABS Facility in
October 2010 and expects to address the continuation of the deferral of ABS Facility fees of $18.8 million in this renewal. In addition, if the fee and
interest deferrals under the Credit Agreement do not continue in 2011, the Teamsters have the right to terminate the Amended and Restated Memorandum
of Understanding on the Job Security Plan dated July 9, 2009, which, among other things, would eliminate the 15% wage reduction in place since August
2009 through March 2013 for employees of bargaining units that have ratified that plan.

We do not expect that we will have sufficient liquidity to make these payments in 2011. As a result, we are in discussions with all of our stakeholders and
we are exploring the restructuring and possible recapitalization of these obligations, which may include the issuance of a significant amount of additional
equity. Among other discussions with all of our stakeholders, the Company and the Teamsters are engaged in discussions regarding this requirement and
the competitiveness of the Company through two joint labor/management committees that have been formed. A failure to address these obligations prior to
2011 would materially and adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to continue to operate our business in the ordinary course.
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4. Debt and Financing

Total debt consisted of the following:
 

(in millions)   June 30, 2010  December 31, 2009 
Revolving credit facility   $ 358.0   $ 329.1  
Term loan    112.4    112.6  
ABS borrowings, secured by accounts receivable    147.4    146.3  
USF senior notes    —      45.3  
Contingent convertible senior notes    21.7    21.7  
6% convertible senior notes    46.7    —    
Pension contribution deferral obligations    145.4    153.0  
Lease financing obligations    326.3    318.9  
Other    1.0    6.0  

    
 

   
 

Total debt   $ 1,158.9   $ 1,132.9  
Current maturities of contingent convertible senior notes    (21.7)   (27.6) 
Current maturities of lease financing obligations    (2.9)   (2.7) 
Current maturities of pension contribution deferral obligations    (72.5)   (20.5) 
ABS borrowings    (147.4)   (146.3) 
Other    (1.0)   —    

    
 

   
 

Long-term debt   $ 913.4   $ 935.8  
    

 

   

 

As of June 30, 2010, we were in compliance with the various debt covenants under our lending agreements.

Asset-Backed Securitization Facility

At June 30, 2010, our underlying accounts receivable supported total capacity under our ABS Facility of $220.5 million. In addition to the $147.4 million
outstanding, the ABS Facility capacity was also reduced by outstanding letters of credit of $72.2 million resulting in unused capacity of $0.9 million at
June 30, 2010.

6% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2014

In February 2010, we entered into a note purchase agreement with certain investors pursuant to which the investors agreed to purchase up to $70 million in
aggregate principal amount of our 6% convertible senior notes due 2014 (the “6% Notes”). The 6% Notes bear interest at 6%, payable in February and
August of each year. The sale of the 6% Notes was structured to occur in two closings. Pursuant to the note purchase agreement, we sold $49.8 million of
the 6% Notes to the investors at the first closing in February 2010 and were obligated to sell an additional $20.2 million of 6% Notes to the investors in the
second closing, assuming the closing conditions in the note purchase agreement were met. At the first closing, the investors also funded the remaining
$20.2 million into an escrow account to be released at the second closing, subject to the escrow agent receiving a certificate from the investors that the
closing conditions had been satisfied.

The 6% Notes are convertible, at the note holder’s option, prior to the maturity date into shares of our common stock. The 6% Notes were initially
convertible at a conversion price of $0.43 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of approximately 2,326 shares per $1,000 principal amount of
6% Notes, subject to certain adjustments. The 6% Notes provide for caps within the second anniversary of the first closing such that a holder and its
affiliates is not entitled to convert its 6% Notes to the extent that the holder and its affiliates would hold greater than 4.9% of the then outstanding common
stock after such conversion, unless timely waived by the holder. The 6% Notes also provide a cap through stated maturity such that any holder and its
affiliates is not entitled to convert its notes to the extent that the holder and its affiliates would own greater than 9.9% of the voting power of our stock.
Beginning on February 23, 2012, we may convert the 6% Notes pursuant to a mandatory conversion into shares of its common stock if the market price of
our common stock meets certain thresholds.

Noteholders who convert their 6% Notes at their option or whose 6% Notes are converted in a mandatory conversion at our option will also receive a make
whole premium paid in shares of our common stock. The make whole premium will be payable in additional shares of common stock and will be
calculated based on the remaining interest payments on the 6% Notes that would have been received through the original scheduled maturity date of the 6%
Notes.

The 6% Notes indenture provides that the maximum number of shares of our common stock that can be issued in respect of the 6% Notes upon conversion
or with respect to the payment of interest or in connection with the make whole premium or otherwise
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shall be limited to 201,880,000 shares of common stock for $70 million in aggregate principal amount of the 6% Notes as of February 23, 2010, subject to
certain adjustments. If the limit is reached, no holder is entitled to any other consideration on account of shares not issued. This limitation terminates if the
holders of our common stock approve the termination of this limitation.

As part of the Company’s exchange offer in late 2009, the holders of our 5.0% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the “5%
CoCos”) voted to amend the indenture for the 5% Notes to eliminate the right of the holders of the 5% CoCos to put their 5% CoCos to us for repayment in
August 2010. The trustee of the Indenture refused to give effect to this amendment claiming that a majority of the holders was insufficient to effect the
amendment. We sued to seek a court order to direct the trustee to effect the amendment. We lost our claim.

The purchase agreement for the 6% Notes provided, in effect, that if we were to win this claim with respect to the 5% CoCos, we could retain the
$20.2 million in proceeds for general corporate purposes; however, if we lost this claim, we would use the proceeds to satisfy its requirements to
repurchase any of the 5% CoCos that were put in August 2010. As we lost this claim, the proceeds will be used to retire any of the 5% CoCos that are put
for repurchase.

On August 2, 2010, we entered into a letter agreement (the “Letter Agreement”) with the investors to facilitate the issuance of the remaining $20.2 million
of 6% Notes, and on August 3, 2010, the issuance and sale of those remaining 6% Notes to the investors was completed. Pursuant to the Letter Agreement,
the investors accepted our required certifications that were conditions to closing under the note purchase agreement and, in turn, provided a certificate to
the escrow agent to release the $20.2 million in escrowed purchase price. Also pursuant to the Letter Agreement, we temporarily increased the conversion
rate under the 6% Note indenture on the date of the second closing for a period of 20 days to 100,000 shares of our Common Stock per $1,000 in principal
amount of Notes (the “Adjusted Conversion Rate”). This has the effect of reducing the conversion price to $0.01 per share. Using this Adjusted Conversion
Rate, the investors converted $590,000 of principal amount of their 6% into an aggregate of 59 million shares of our common stock. The 59 million shares
of common stock did not include any common stock to be issued to holders of 6% Notes in respect of interest on the 6% Notes that we are required to pay
on August 16, 2010 (in respect of the August 15  interest payment date set forth in the Notes). Immediately following the 20-day period, the Conversion
Rate will revert back to the initial conversion rate of approximately 2,326 shares of common stock per $1,000 in principal amount of the 6% Notes (thereby
reverting back to the initial conversion price of $0.43 per share). Following the end of the 20-day period, any future conversions will continue to be subject
to the 6% Note indenture limitation that provides that no more than 201,880,000 shares of common stock may be issued in respect of the 6% Notes.

The net proceeds from the second closing were deposited with the 5% CoCos trustee and will be used by the Company to fund the repurchase of up to
$20.1 million of the Company’s outstanding 5.0% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 pursuant to put options exercisable as
of August 9, 2010.

Assuming that the entire outstanding aggregate principal amount of $49.8 million and $69.4 million of 6% Notes had been converted at the note holders’
option as of June 30, 2010 and August 4, 2010, respectively, an aggregate of 147,091,848 and 142,880,000 shares, respectively, of our common stock
would have been issued as a result of such conversion, including the make whole premium described above. As of the date of this report, 59 million shares
of common stock have been issued on account of the 6% Notes and a maximum of 142,880,000 additional shares of our common stock may be issued in
respect of the 6% Notes.

We have evaluated the terms of the conversion feature included in the 6% Notes under applicable accounting literature, and determined that a portion of the
proceeds should be allocated to the beneficial conversion feature as it was in-the-money at the commitment date. Accordingly, we allocated $3.3 million of
the proceeds from the first closing to the conversion feature and account for this as a component of equity to be amortized over the term of the 6% Notes.
The resulting yield on the 6% Notes as a result of this allocation is 6.4%. We have not yet finalized the accounting as it relates to the various components of
the second closing of the indenture.
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5. Intangibles

We have the following amortizable intangible assets:
 
      June 30, 2010   December 31, 2009

(in millions)   

Weighted
Average

Life (years)  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization

Customer related   11.9  $ 216.9  $ 96.7  $ 215.0  $ 87.2
Marketing related   6.5   5.1   3.4   3.6   3.2
Technology based   5.0   25.6   25.6   25.6   25.0

                   

Intangible assets     $ 247.6  $ 125.7  $ 244.2  $ 115.4
                   

Pre-tax changes in the carrying amount of our indefinite lived tradenames are below:
 

(in millions)   
National

Transportation  
Regional

Transportation  Total  
Balances at December 31, 2009   $ 14.0   $ 20.7   $34.7  
Impairment charges    (3.3)   (2.0)   (5.3) 
Change in foreign currency exchange rates    0.2    —      0.2  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balances at June 30, 2010   $ 10.9   $ 18.7   $29.6  
    

 

   

 

   

 

The above intangible amounts include $2.8 million and $3.1 million as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively which relate to YRC
Logistics which is included in the “Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations” caption in our accompanying consolidated balance sheet for all periods
presented.

During the three months ended March 31, 2010, we determined indicators of impairment were present, primarily reduced actual and forecasted revenue, as
it relates to our tradenames. Accordingly we performed an impairment test that consisted of a comparison of the fair value of the intangible asset with its
carrying amount. We recognized an impairment loss in the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the fair value of the asset. In making this
assessment, we utilized the relief from royalty method, an income approach (level three measurement as defined in SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements” now included in FASB ASC Topic 820) that includes assumptions as to future revenue, applicable market-based royalty rate and cost of
capital, among others.

The impairment charges net of tax were $3.2 million and $2.0 million for National Transportation (the YRC Reimer tradename) and Regional
Transportation (the New Penn tradename), respectively.

Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets for all of 2010 and each of the next five years is as follows:
 
(in millions)   2010   2011   2012   2013   2014   2015
Estimated amortization expense   $20.9  $19.6  $19.6  $19.6  $19.6  $19.3

6. Other Assets

The primary components of other assets are as follows:
 

(in millions)   June 30, 2010  December 31, 2009
Equity method investments:     

JHJ International Transportation Co., Ltd.   $ 40.9  $ 42.0
Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd.    —     16.1

Deferred debt costs    79.2   87.4
Other    23.5   24.7

        

Total   $ 143.6  $ 170.2
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During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we received dividends in the amount of $1.9 million from our China joint venture, JHJ International
Transportation Co., Ltd.

Through March 31, 2010, we have accounted for our 65% ownership in Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Jiayu”) as an equity method investment as the
rights of the minority shareholder were considered extensive and allowed for their ability to veto many business decisions. These rights were primarily
provided as a part of the General Manager role held by the minority shareholder. Effective April 1, 2010, the minority shareholder no longer has a role in
the management of the operations of the business which changes the conclusions from an accounting perspective regarding the relationship of this joint
venture and accordingly, requires that we consolidate Jiayu in our financial statements effective April 1, 2010. In accordance with SFAS No. 141(R)
“Business Combinations”, (now included in FASB ASC Topic 805), we completed a fair value analysis of Jiayu as of April 1, 2010, the date of
consolidation, and determined the fair value to be less than the carrying value of the equity method investment and as a result, we recorded a $12.3 million
impairment charge during the three months ended June 30, 2010. The fair value analysis utilized a discounted cash flow model, an income approach (level
three measurement as defined in SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” now included in FASB ASC Topic 820) that includes assumptions as to future
revenue, operating income, and cost of capital, among others. Additionally as part of the fair value analysis we recorded a tradename and customer list
intangible asset and attributed $1.6 million and $2.0 million, respectively, to these intangibles as of April 1, 2010 and attributed lives of 5.3 years and 8.3
years, respectively. The results of Jiayu are included in the ‘Corporate and other’ segment.

7. Restructuring and Reorganization

During the first half of 2010, we incurred additional severance costs of $6.1 million, including $1.9 million in the National Transportation segment, $3.5
million at the Corporate and other segment and $0.7 million in the YRC Logistics segment as we reduced headcount in response to lower volumes. We also
incurred $6.7 million of contract terminations related to lease cancellations related to certain discontinued operations described in Note 15. This is offset by
$3.6 million in our National segment where we were able to use or sublease locations in excess of our previously recorded estimate.

During 2010, we also made payments under previous restructuring programs, primarily those charges incurred as a result of the headcount reductions and
lease cancellations.

We assess the accrual requirements under our restructuring efforts at the end of each reporting period. A rollforward of the restructuring accrual is set forth
below:

 

(in millions)   
Employee
Separation  

Contract Termination
and Other Costs   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2009   $ 6.5   $ 19.6   $ 26.1  
Restructuring charges, net    6.1    3.1    9.2  
Payments    (8.8)   (3.8)   (12.6) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at June 30, 2010   $ 3.8   $ 18.9   $ 22.7  
    

 

   

 

   

 

8. Employee Benefits

Components of Net Periodic Pension and Other Postretirement Cost

The following table sets forth the components of our company-sponsored pension costs for the three and six months ended June 30:
 

   Three Months   Six Months  
(in millions)   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Service cost   $ 0.9   $ 0.8   $ 1.8   $ 1.6  
Interest cost    15.0    15.2    30.1    30.5  
Expected return on plan assets    (13.1)   (13.1)   (26.2)   (27.1) 
Amortization of net loss    1.6    0.7    3.1    1.6  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net periodic pension cost   $ 4.4   $ 3.6   $ 8.8   $ 6.6  
Settlement cost    0.1    0.8    0.1    5.8  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total periodic pension cost   $ 4.5   $ 4.4   $ 8.9   $ 12.4  
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We expect to contribute $14.1 million to our pension plans in 2010 of which $5.4 million has been paid during the six months ended June 30, 2010.

9. Stock-Based Compensation

On March 1, 2010, we formalized the Second Union Employee Option Plan that provides for a grant of up to 263.7 million options to purchase our
common stock at an exercise price equal to $0.48 per share, of which substantially all have been granted. These options vest immediately and were
exercisable upon shareholder approval, which was received on June 29, 2010, at our annual meeting.

On March 1, 2010, we also formalized the Second Union Employee Stock Appreciation Right Plan that provides for a grant of up to 263.7 million cash
settled stock appreciation rights (“SARs”). These SARs terminated on June 29, 2010, upon approval of the Union Employee Option Plan discussed above.

The fair value of each option award was estimated on the date the grant was approved by shareholders using the Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model.
Expected volatilities were estimated using historical volatility of our common stock. We used historical data to estimate option exercise and employee
termination within the valuation model. The expected term of options granted was derived from the output of the valuation model and represents the period
of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

We valued the award granted under the Union Employee Option Plan in 2010 using the above described model with the following weighted average
assumptions:

 
   2010  
Dividend yield    —  % 
Expected volatility    173.2% 
Risk-free interest rate    0.61% 
Expected life of options (years)    2  
Fair value per option   $ 0.09  

Based on the fair value calculation above, we recognized compensation expense of $25.0 million related to these outstanding awards for six months ended
June 30, 2010, which is included in ‘Equity-based compensation expense’ in our accompanying statement of consolidated operations.

In the first quarter of 2010, we recognized expense of $108.0 million representing our estimate of the fair value of SARs issued to our union employees at
the date of issuance on March 1, 2010. Upon approval at the June 29, 2010 shareholder meeting, we issued stock options to our union employees and
recorded an expense reduction of $83 million.

10. Income Taxes

Effective Tax Rate

Our effective tax rate for continuing operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 was 17.7% and 2.1%, respectively, compared to 17.8%
and 26.6% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. Significant items impacting the 2010 rate include certain permanent items and a
valuation allowance established for the net deferred tax asset balance projected for December 31, 2010. We recognize valuation allowances on deferred tax
assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation allowances
are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, we evaluate factors such as prior
years’ earnings history, expected future earnings, loss carry-back and carry-forward periods, reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities and tax planning
strategies that potentially enhance the likelihood of the realization of a deferred tax asset.
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11. Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)

On February 17, 2010, the Company’s stockholders at a special meeting approved the following:
 

 
•  an amendment to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation to reduce the par value of the Company’s common stock from $1.00 to $0.01 per

share; and increase the number of authorized shares of the Company’s capital stock from 125 million shares to 2.05 billion shares of which
five million shares are preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share, and two billion shares are common stock, par value $0.01 per share; and

 

 

•  an amendment to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock following the
effectiveness of the par value reduction and the authorized share increase described above, at a ratio that will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and that will be within a range of one-to-five to one-to-25; and reduce the number of authorized shares of the Company’s
common stock by the reverse split ratio.

On February 17, 2010, the Company filed the amendment to its Certificate of Incorporation to increase its authorized common stock and change the par
value of the stock. Effective with that amendment, 4,345,514 shares of the Class A preferred stock converted into 957,229,822 shares of common stock at a
ratio of 220.28 shares of common stock for each share of Class A preferred stock.

As discussed in Note 3 “Liquidity”, on May 3, 2010, we entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement. During the three months ended June 30,
2010, we sold 44.9 million shares for net proceeds of $15.4 million.

In connection with Amendment No. 18 to the ABS Facility, we paid fees to the Co-Agents (the “Closing Fees”). The Closing Fees were paid by the
Company by the issuance to the Co-Agents (or their designees) of an aggregate of 25.4 million shares of common stock of the Company, par value $0.01
per share, of which 20.7 million were issued as of June 30, 2010 and the remaining 4.7 million were issued on July 22, 2010.

The following reflects the activity in the shares of our common stock for the six months ended June 30:
 

(in thousands)   2010
Beginning balance   99,122
Issuance of equity awards, net   278
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock   957,230
Shares issued for amendment closing fees   20,743
At the market issuances   44,876

   

Ending balance   1,122,249
   

12. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Dilutive securities, consisting of options to purchase our common stock or rights to receive common stock in the future, are included in our calculation of
diluted weighted average common shares and totaled 1,029,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2010. Given our net loss position for the six months
ended June 30, 2010 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 there were no dilutive securities for these periods.

Antidilutive options and share units were 270,508,000 and 271,537,000 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, respectively, and 17,510,000 for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively. Antidilutive convertible senior note conversion shares were 177,000 for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2009 with no corresponding amounts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010. Antidilutive 6% convertible senior note
conversion shares, including the make whole premium, were convertible into 147,092,000 common shares on June 30, 2010 with no corresponding amount
at June 30, 2009.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, the dilutive securities included preferred stock.

13. Business Segments

We report financial and descriptive information about our reportable operating segments on a basis consistent with that used internally for evaluating
segment performance and allocating resources to segments. We evaluate performance primarily on operating income and return on committed capital.

 
20



Table of Contents

We have the following reportable segments, which are strategic business units that offer complementary transportation services to their customers. National
Transportation includes carriers that provide comprehensive regional, national and international transportation services. Regional Transportation is
comprised of carriers that focus primarily on business opportunities in the regional and next-day delivery markets. Truckload consists of Glen Moore, a
domestic truckload carrier. YRC Logistics was reported as a separate segment and is now classified as a discontinued operation. Effective April 1, 2010,
the results of Jiayu are reflected in our consolidated results as part of the Corporate segment.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Summary of Accounting Policies note in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2009. We charge management fees and other corporate services to our segments based on the direct benefits received or as
a percentage of revenue. In addition to Jiayu, corporate and other operating losses represent residual operating expenses of the holding company, including
compensation and benefits and professional services for all periods presented. Corporate identifiable assets primarily refer to cash, cash equivalents,
investments in equity method affiliates and deferred debt issuance costs. Intersegment revenue primarily relates to transportation services between our
segments.

The following table summarizes our operations by business segment:
 

(in millions)   
National

Transportation  
Regional

Transportation  Truckload  
Corporate/

Eliminations  Consolidated 
As of June 30, 2010       

Identifiable assets   $ 1,642.5   $ 1,067.6   $ 53.5   $ (17.4)  $ 2,746.2  

As of December 31, 2009       
Identifiable assets    1,807.8    1,023.0    59.6    13.3    2,903.7  

Three months ended June 30, 2010       
External revenue    741.6    351.3    19.1    7.1    1,119.1  
Intersegment revenue    —      0.2    9.2    (9.4)   —    
Operating income (loss)    33.1    22.4    (2.0)   (5.2)   48.3  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      —      12.3    12.3  

Three months ended June 30, 2009       
External revenue    873.7    337.9    17.5    (2.8)   1,226.3  
Intersegment revenue    —      —      10.0    (10.0)   —    
Operating income (loss)    (239.5)   (48.3)   (2.4)   (4.0)   (294.2) 
Equity investment impairment    —      —      —      30.4    30.4  

Six months ended June 30, 2010       
External revenue    1,404.7    660.3    36.7    4.6    2,106.3  
Intersegment revenue    —      0.3    18.4    (18.7)   —    
Operating income (loss)    (152.0)   (17.3)   (5.0)   (10.6)   (184.9) 
Equity investment impairment    —      —      —      12.3    12.3  

Six months ended June 30, 2009       
External revenue    1,896.3    692.8    33.9    (6.1)   2,616.9  
Intersegment revenue    —      0.2    19.6    (19.8)   —    
Operating income (loss)    (539.2)   (122.5)   (4.6)   (6.6)   (672.9) 
Equity investment impairment    —      —      —      30.4    30.4  
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14. Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30 follows:
 

   Three Months   Six Months  
(in millions)   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Net loss attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $ (9.5)  $(309.0)  $(283.6)  $(582.8) 
Other comprehensive income attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc., net of tax:      

Pension:      
Net actuarial gains    1.0    0.4    1.9    1.0  
Deferred tax rate adjustment    —      —      (1.1)   —    

Changes in foreign currency translation adjustments    (7.4)   3.8    (5.6)   3.5  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.    (6.4)   4.2    (4.8)   4.5  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Comprehensive loss attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $(15.9)  $(304.8)  $(288.4)  $(578.3) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2010, other comprehensive loss for our minority interest was immaterial.

15. Discontinued Operations

In November 2009, we sold our dedicated contract carriage or “fleet” business to Greatwide Dedicated Transport, LLC for $34 million including certain
holdback amounts of $1.8 million for indemnification and working capital adjustments to be settled by the second quarter of 2011. Fleet was a part of our
YRC Logistics segment and had revenue of $73.8 million and operating income of $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The disposition of
this business line did not have a material impact on our financial statements and thus was not originally classified separately as discontinued operations. As
a result of this transaction, we recorded a net loss on sale of approximately $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2009.

In June 2010, we entered into an Equity Interest Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) with CEG Holdings, Inc. (“CEG”), a subsidiary of Austin
Ventures, to sell the majority of YRC Logistics for an aggregate of approximately $37.0 million in cash. Approximately $2.8 million of the purchase price
will be deposited into an escrow account at closing to be held for 12 and 18 months to satisfy certain indemnification claims by CEG that may arise. The
Agreement is subject to various closing conditions and contains certain termination rights for both the Company and CEG, and further provides that, upon
termination of the Agreement under specified circumstances, the Company may be required to pay CEG a termination fee of $1.25 million plus any costs
of collection incurred by CEG. We expect to record an immaterial gain on disposition upon closing this transaction.

CEG is not acquiring the YRC Logistics pooled distribution business line and instead this activity was shut down during the second quarter of 2010. Pooled
distribution had revenue of $10.8 million and incurred an operating loss of $19.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 including shut down costs,
primarily lease cancellations and severance of $7.4 million. Revenue activity for pooled distribution ceased in June 2010 and the results are included in
discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Historically, YRC Logistics was reported as a separate segment in our consolidated operations and was comprised of the YRC Logistics business, the Flow
Through business and the Fleet business. As of June 30, 2010, as a result of the proposed sale to CEG and the closure of the pooled distribution business
line, we have met the criteria requiring us to present the related financial results of YRC Logistics as discontinued operations and the related assets and
liabilities as held-for-sale in the consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. Accordingly, the results of operations of our YRC Logistics
segment are separately presented as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Similarly, the assets and liabilities of this segment have been
reclassified for all periods presented.

Shared services and corporate overhead costs previously allocated to this segment, totaled $2.5 million and $2.8 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and $6.6 million and $6.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively, are included in
continuing operations in our ‘Corporate and other’ segment.
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The major classes of assets and liabilities included in our consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
 

(in millions)   June 30, 2010  December 31, 2009
Accounts receivable   $ 69.0  $ 73.0
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net    3.2   2.6

        

Current assets    72.2   75.6
        

Property and equipment, net    8.6   18.3
Intangibles, net    2.8   3.1
Other assets, net    0.7   0.1

        

Noncurrent assets    12.1   21.5
        

Accounts payable    51.8   44.1
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits    2.6   2.3
Other current and accrued liabilities    5.1   5.5

        

Current liabilities    59.5   51.9
        

Claims and other liabilities    —     1.0
        

Long term liabilities    —     1.0
        

Net assets   $ 24.8  $ 44.2
        

Approximately $7.4 million of the liabilities included in the table above represents the restructuring accruals related to the shut down of flow through.

The financial results included in discontinued operations for the three and six months ended June 30 are as follows:
 

   Three months   Six months  
(in millions)   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Revenue   $ 76.3   $101.8   $152.4   $213.9  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating loss    (11.6)   (5.5)   (15.2)   (6.0) 

Income (loss) from operations before income taxes provision (benefit)    (11.9)   (4.2)   (16.0)   (5.5) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (0.6)   5.3    (0.6)   5.8  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from discontinued operations   $(11.3)  $ (9.5)  $ (15.4)  $ (11.3) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

16. Commitments and Contingencies

401(k) Class Action Suit

Four class action complaints were filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Kansas against the Company and certain of its officers and directors,
alleging violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), based on similar allegations and causes of action. On
November 17, 2009, Eva L. Hanna and Shelley F. Whitson, former participants in the Yellow Roadway Corporation Retirement Plan, filed a class action
complaint on behalf of certain persons participating in the plan (or plans that merged with the plan) from April 6, 2009 to the present; on December 7,
2009, Daniel J. Cambra, a participant in the Yellow Roadway Corporation Retirement Savings Plan, filed a class action complaint on behalf of certain
persons participating in the plan (or plans that merged with the plan) from October 25, 2007 to the present; on January 15, 2010, Patrick M. Couch, a
participant in one of the merged 401(k) plans, filed a class action complaint on behalf of certain persons participating in the plan (or plans that merged with
the plan) from March 23, 2006 to the present; and on April 21, 2010, Tawana Franklin, a participant in the YRC Worldwide 401(k) Plan, filed a class action
complaint on behalf of certain persons participating in the plan (or plans that merged with the plan) from October 25, 2007 to the present.

In general, the complaints allege that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties under ERISA by providing participants Company common stock as part
of their matching contributions and by not removing the stock fund as an investment option in the plans in light of the Company’s financial condition.
Although some Company matching contributions were made in Company common stock, participants were not permitted to invest their own contributions
in the Company stock fund. The complaints allege that the defendants failed to prudently and loyally manage the plans and assets of the plans; imprudently
invested in
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Company common stock; failed to monitor fiduciaries and provide them with accurate information; breached the duty to properly appoint, monitor, and
inform the Benefits Administrative Committee; misrepresented and failed to disclose adverse financial information; breached the duty to avoid conflict of
interest; and are subject to co-fiduciary liability. Each of the complaints seeks, among other things, an order compelling defendants to make good to the
plan all losses resulting from the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty, attorneys’ fees, and other injunctive and equitable relief. Based on the four separate
complaints previously filed, the Company believes the allegations are without merit and intends to vigorously contest the claims.

On March 3, 2010, the Court entered an order consolidating three of the four cases and, on April 1, 2010, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint. The
consolidated complaint asserts the same claims as the previously-filed complaints but names as defendants certain former officers of the Company in
addition to those current officers and directors that have already been named. The fourth case (Franklin) was consolidated with the first three cases on
May 12, 2010. The defendants moved to dismiss the consolidated complaint on June 1, 2010 and the plaintiffs’ filed their memorandum in opposition on
August 6, 2010. Defendants intend to submit a reply brief on or before September 15, 2010.

Put Litigation

On January 28, 2010, the Company filed a petition for declaratory judgment in the district court of Johnson County, Kansas against Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as trustee (the “Trustee”), under the indenture, dated as of December 31, 2004, relating to the Company’s 5% Net Share Settled
Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the “5% Notes”) and the indenture, dated as of December 31, 2004, relating to the Company’s 3.375% Net
Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the “3.375% Notes”), seeking a declaratory judgment that each of the indentures should be
amended to eliminate the option of each holder to have its 5% Notes and 3.375% Notes, as applicable, repurchased by the Company as of the dates set forth
in each of the indentures, including August 9, 2010 in respect of the 5% Notes and November 26, 2012 in respect of the 3.375% Notes (the “Put Option”),
as a result of the consents the Company received in connection with its debt-for-equity exchange offers that were completed on December 31, 2009. The
Trustee subsequently removed the case to the United States District Court for the District of Kansas (the “Court”). Both parties submitted motions for
summary judgment. On July 1, 2010, the Court ordered that each motion for summary judgment be granted in part and denied in part. With respect to the
Put Option, the Court ruled in favor of the Trustee with respect to its motions for summary judgment and concluded that the Company could not eliminate
the Put Option without the consent of each holder of 5% Notes and 3.375% Notes, as applicable, affected.
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17. Guarantees of the Contingent Convertible Senior Notes

In August 2003, YRC Worldwide issued 5.0% contingent convertible senior notes due 2023. In November 2003, we issued 3.375% contingent convertible senior
notes due 2023. In December 2004, we completed exchange offers pursuant to which holders of the contingent convertible senior notes could exchange their
notes for an equal amount of net share settled contingent convertible senior notes. Substantially all notes were exchanged as part of the exchange offers. In
connection with the net share settled contingent convertible senior notes, the following 100% owned subsidiaries of YRC Worldwide have issued guarantees in
favor of the holders of the net share settled contingent convertible senior notes: YRC Inc., YRC Enterprise Services, Inc., YRC Logistics, Inc., YRC Logistics
Global, LLC, Globe.com Lines, Inc., Roadway LLC and Roadway Next Day Corporation. Each of the guarantees is full and unconditional and joint and several.
Effective August 4, 2010, Globe.com Lines, Inc. was merged with and into its parent YRC Logistics Global, LLC.

The condensed consolidating financial statements are presented in lieu of separate financial statements and other related disclosures of the subsidiary guarantors
and issuer because management does not believe that separate financial statements and related disclosures would be material to investors. There are currently no
significant restrictions on the ability of YRC Worldwide or any guarantor to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.

The following represents condensed consolidating financial information as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 with respect to the financial position and for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 for results of operations and for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 for the statements of cash
flows of YRC Worldwide and its subsidiaries. The Parent column presents the financial information of YRC Worldwide, the primary obligor of the contingent
convertible senior notes. The Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all guarantor subsidiaries of the net share settled contingent
convertible senior notes. The Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all non-guarantor subsidiaries, including those subsidiaries
that are governed by foreign laws and Yellow Roadway Receivables Funding Corporation, the special-purpose entity that is associated with our ABS agreement.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets
 

June 30, 2010 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 115   $ 6   $ 23   $ —     $ 144  
Intercompany advances receivable    —      (45)   45    —      —    
Accounts receivable, net    9    (15)   484    (1)   477  
Prepaid expenses and other    (26)   123    68    —      165  
Current assets of discontinued operations    —      44    28    —      72  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets    98    113    648    (1)   858  
Property and equipment    —      2,421    954    2    3,377  
Less – accumulated depreciation    —      (1,365)   (331)   —      (1,696) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net property and equipment    —      1,056    623    2    1,681  
Investment in subsidiaries    2,214    (115)   233    (2,332)   —    
Receivable from affiliate    (334)   210    124    —      —    
Intangibles and other assets    331    191    123    (353)   292  
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations    —      4    8    —      12  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets   $2,309   $ 1,459   $ 1,759   $ (2,684)  $ 2,843  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Intercompany advances payable   $ 147   $ 235   $ (182)  $ (200)  $ —    
Accounts payable    31    88    52    (1)   170  
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits    18    126    62    —      206  
Other current and accrued liabilities    263    131    74    —      468  
Current maturities of long-term debt    97    —      149    —      246  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations    —      27    32    —      59  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    556    607    187    (201)   1,149  
Payable to affiliate    —      —      —      —      —    
Long-term debt, less current portion    904    (65)   224    (150)   913  
Deferred income taxes, net    79    (32)   99    —      146  
Pension and postretirement    353    —      —      —      353  
Claims and other liabilities    352    6    1    —      359  
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations    —      —      —      —      —    
Commitments and contingencies       
YRC Worldwide Inc. Shareholders’ equity (deficit)    65    943    1,249    (2,333)   (76) 
Non-controlling interest    —      —      (1)   —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)    65    943    1,248    (2,333)   (77) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)   $2,309   $ 1,459   $ 1,759   $ (2,684)  $ 2,843  
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December 31, 2009 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 69   $ 9   $ 20   $ —     $ 98  
Intercompany advances receivable    —      (54)   54    —      —    
Accounts receivable, net    10    (21)   455    (1)   443  
Prepaid expenses and other    71    130    41    —      242  
Current assets of discontinued operations    —      38    38    —      76  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets    150    102    608    (1)   859  
Property and equipment    —      2,565    964    —      3,529  
Less – accumulated depreciation    —      (1,402)   (306)   —      (1,708) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net property and equipment    —      1,163    658    —      1,821  
Investment in subsidiaries    2,999    (38)   237    (3,198)   —    
Receivable from affiliate    (314)   213    101    —      —    
Intangibles and other assets    337    192    152    (350)   331  
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations    —      6    15    —      21  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets   $3,172   $ 1,638   $ 1,771   $ (3,549)  $ 3,032  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Intercompany advances payable   $ 146   $ 212   $ (158)  $ (200)  $ —    
Accounts payable    32    83    41    (1)   155  
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits    33    131    50    —      214  
Other current and accrued liabilities    194    151    47    —      392  
Current maturities of long-term debt    45    6    146    —      197  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations    —      24    28    —      52  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    450    607    154    (201)   1,010  
Payable to affiliate    —      —      —      —      —    
Long-term debt, less current portion    891    (75)   270    (150)   936  
Deferred income taxes, net    85    (36)   98    —      147  
Pension and postretirement    352    —      —      —      352  
Claims and other liabilities    414    5    1    —      420  
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations    —      —      1    —      1  
Commitments and contingencies       
Shareholders’ equity    980    1,137    1,247    (3,198)   166  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $3,172   $ 1,638   $ 1,771   $ (3,549)  $ 3,032  
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
 

For the three months ended June 30, 2010 (in millions)   Parent  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue   $ —     $ 702   $ 428   $ (11)  $ 1,119  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    3    366    232    —      601  
Operating expenses and supplies    (4)   148    100    —      244  
Purchased transportation    —      99    33    (11)   121  
Depreciation and amortization    —      31    19    —      50  
Other operating expenses    1    35    21    —      57  
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net    —      (3)   1    —      (2) 
Impairment charges    —      —      —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    —      676    406    (11)   1,071  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    —      26    22    —      48  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    32    —      9    —      41  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      12    —      12  
Other, net    43    (18)   (31)   —      (6) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    75    (18)   (10)   —      47  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (75)   44    32    —      1  
Income tax provision (benefit)    1    (1)   —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    (76)   45    32    —      1  
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      2    (14)   —      (12) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)    (76)   47    18    —      (11) 
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest    —      —      (1)   —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $ (76)  $ 47   $ 19   $ —     $ (10) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

For the three months ended June 30, 2009 (in millions)   Parent  
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue   $ —     $ 828   $ 411   $ (13)  $ 1,226  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    8    651    321    —      980  
Operating expenses and supplies    (8)   213    78    (1)   282  
Purchased transportation    —      109    28    (13)   124  
Depreciation and amortization    —      41    19    —      60  
Other operating expenses    —      53    22    —      75  
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net    —      (2)   1    —      (1) 
Impairment charges    —      —      —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    —      1,065    469    (14)   1,520  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    —      (237)   (58)   1    (294) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    26    1    11    —      38  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      30    —      30  
Other, net    16    10    (25)   1    2  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    42    11    16    1    70  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (42)   (248)   (74)   —      (364) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (60)   (8)   3    —      (65) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    18    (240)   (77)   —      (299) 
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      (6)   (4)   —      (10) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)   $ 18   $ (246)  $ (81)  $ —     $ (309) 
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For the six months ended June 30, 2010 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue   $ —     $ 1,329   $ 800   $ (23)  $ 2,106  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    8    872    482    —      1,362  
Operating expenses and supplies    (8)   286    203    —      481  
Purchased transportation    —      182    56    (23)   215  
Depreciation and amortization    —      62    39    —      101  
Other operating expenses    2    81    37    —      120  
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net    —      1    6    —      7  
Impairment charges    —      —      5    —      5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    2    1,484    828    (23)   2,291  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    (2)   (155)   (28)   —      (185) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    64    1    17    —      82  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      12    —      12  
Other, net    81    (27)   (58)   —      (4) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    145    (26)   (29)   —      90  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (147)   (129)   1    —      (275) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (5)   (1)   —      —      (6) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    (142)   (128)   1    —      (269) 
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      4    (20)   —      (16) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss    (142)   (124)   (19)   —      (285) 
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest    —      —      (1)   —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $(142)  $ (124)  $ (18)  $ —     $ (284) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

For the six months ended June 30, 2009 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue   $ —     $ 1,807   $ 836   $ (26)  $ 2,617  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    19    1,427    671    —      2,117  
Operating expenses and supplies    (19)   482    158    (1)   620  
Purchased transportation    —      221    58    (26)   253  
Depreciation and amortization    —      83    40    —      123  
Other operating expenses    1    119    56    —      176  
Losses on property disposals, net    —      —      1    —      1  
Impairment charges    —      —      —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    1    2,332    984    (27)   3,290  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    (1)   (525)   (148)   1    (673) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    48    2    20    —      70  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      30    —      30  
Other, net    18    (8)   (6)   1    5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    66    (6)   44    1    105  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes    (67)   (519)   (192)   —      (778) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (202)   (8)   3    —      (207) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    135    (511)   (195)   —      (571) 
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      (5)   (6)   —      (11) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)   $ 135   $ (516)  $ (201)  $ —     $ (582) 
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
 

For the six months ended June 30, 2010 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating activities:        

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ (16)  $ (66)  $ 67   $ —    $ (15) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Investing activities:        
Acquisition of property and equipment    —      (5)   (6)   —     (11) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment    —      32    4    —     36  
Other    2    —      3    —     5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by investing activities    2    27    1    —     30  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Financing activities:        
Asset backed securitization borrowings, net    —      —      1    —     1  
Borrowing of long-term debt, net    92    (6)   (45)   —     41  
Debt issuance costs    (9)   —      (1)   —     (10) 
Equity issuance costs    (17)   —      —      —     (17) 
Equity issuance proceeds    16    —      —      —     16  
Intercompany advances / repayments    (22)   42    (20)   —     —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    60    36    (65)   —     31  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    46    (3)   3    —     46  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    69    9    20    —     98  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 115   $ 6   $ 23   $ —    $ 144  
    

 

   

 

   

 

       

 

For the six months ended June 30, 2009 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating activities:        

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ 94   $ (139)  $ (197)  $ —    $ (242) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Investing activities:        
Acquisition of property and equipment    —      (22)   (4)   —     (26) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment    —      36    1    —     37  
Other    —      —      —      —     —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    —      14    (3)   —     11  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Financing activities:        
Asset backed securitization borrowings, net    —      —      58    —     58  
Borrowing of long-term debt, net    62    (1)   —      —     61  
Debt issuance costs    (37)   —      (11)   —     (48) 
Intercompany advances / repayments    (293)   128    165    —     —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (268)   127    212    —     71  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (174)   2    12    —     (160) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    295    9    21    —     325  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 121   $ 11   $ 33   $ —    $ 165  
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18. Guarantees of the 6% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2014

On February 23, 2010, and August 3, 2010, we issued $70 million in aggregate principal amount of our new 6% convertible senior notes due 2014 (the “6%
notes”). In connection with the 6% notes, the following 100% owned subsidiaries of YRC Worldwide have issued guarantees in favor of the holders of the notes:
YRC Inc., YRC Enterprise Services, Inc., YRC Logistics, Inc., YRC Logistics Global, LLC, Globe.com Lines, Inc., Roadway LLC, Roadway Next Day
Corporation, YRC Regional Transportation, Inc., USF Sales Corporation, USF Holland Inc., USF Reddaway Inc., USF Glen Moore Inc., YRC Logistics Services,
Inc. and IMUA Handling Corporation. Each of the guarantees is full and unconditional and joint and several. Effective August 4, 2010, Globe.com Lines, Inc.
was merged with and into its parent YRC Logistics Global, LLC.

The condensed consolidating financial statements are presented in lieu of separate financial statements and other related disclosures of the subsidiary guarantors
and issuer because management does not believe that such separate financial statements and related disclosures would be material to investors. There are
currently no significant restrictions on the ability of YRC Worldwide or any guarantor to obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.

The following represents condensed consolidating financial information as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, with respect to the financial position and for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, for results of operations and for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 for the statement of cash
flows of YRC Worldwide and its subsidiaries. The Parent column presents the financial information of YRC Worldwide, the primary obligor of the 6% notes. The
Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents the financial information of all guarantor subsidiaries of the 6% notes. The Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries column presents
the financial information of all non-guarantor subsidiaries, including those subsidiaries that are governed by foreign laws and Yellow Roadway Receivables
Funding Corporation, the special-purpose entity that is associated with our ABS agreement.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets
 

June 30, 2010 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 115   $ 8   $ 21   $ —     $ 144  
Intercompany advances receivable, net    —      (52)   52    —      —    
Accounts receivable, net    9    (5)   473    —      477  
Prepaid expenses and other    (26)   163    28    —      165  
Current assets of discontinued operations    —      49    23    —      72  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets    98    163    597    —      858  
Property and equipment    —      3,185    192    —      3,377  
Less – accumulated depreciation    —      (1,609)   (87)   —      (1,696) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net property and equipment    —      1,576    105    —      1,681  
Investment in subsidiaries    2,214    118    —      (2,332)   —    
Receivable from affiliate    (334)   499    (165)   —      —    
Intangibles and other assets    331    239    72    (350)   292  
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations    —      10    2    —      12  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets   $2,309   $ 2,605   $ 611   $ (2,682)  $ 2,843  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Intercompany advances payable   $ 147   $ 182   $ (129)  $ (200)  $ —    
Accounts payable    31    109    30    —      170  
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits    18    172    16    —      206  
Other current and accrued liabilities    263    175    30    —      468  
Current maturities of long-term debt    97    —      149    —      246  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations    —      40    19    —      59  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    556    678    115    (200)   1,149  
Payable to affiliate    —      —      —      —      —    
Long-term debt, less current portion    904    7    152    (150)   913  
Deferred income taxes, net    79    53    14    —      146  
Pension and postretirement    353    —      —      —      353  
Claims and other liabilities    352    7    —      —      359  
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations    —      —      —      —      —    
Commitments and contingencies       
YRC Worldwide Inc. Shareholders’ equity (deficit)    65    1,860    331    (2,332)   (76) 
Non-controlling interest    —      —      (1)   —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)    65    1,860    330    (2,332)   (77) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)   $2,309   $ 2,605   $ 611   $ (2,682)  $ 2,843  
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December 31, 2009 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 69   $ 10   $ 19   $ —     $ 98  
Intercompany advances receivable, net    —      (59)   59    —      —    
Accounts receivable, net    10    (18)   451    —      443  
Prepaid expenses and other    71    162    9    —      242  
Current assets of discontinued operations    —      51    25    —      76  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current assets    150    146    563    —      859  
Property and equipment    —      3,338    191    —      3,529  
Less – accumulated depreciation    —      (1,628)   (80)   —      (1,708) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net property and equipment    —      1,710    111    —      1,821  
Investment in subsidiaries    2,999    164    35    (3,198)   —    
Receivable from affiliate    (313)   486    (173)   —      —    
Intangibles and other assets    337    245    99    (350)   331  
Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations    —      19    2    —      21  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total assets   $3,173   $ 2,770   $ 637   $ (3,548)  $ 3,032  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Intercompany advances payable   $ 146   $ 178   $ (124)  $ (200)  $ —    
Accounts payable    32    99    24    —      155  
Wages, vacations and employees’ benefits    34    167    13    —      214  
Other current and accrued liabilities    194    186    12    —      392  
Current maturities of long-term debt    45    6    146    —      197  
Current liabilities of discontinued operations    —      35    17    —      52  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    451    671    88    (200)   1,010  
Payable to affiliate    —      —      —      —      —    
Long-term debt, less current portion    891    43    152    (150)   936  
Deferred income taxes, net    85    49    13    —      147  
Pension and postretirement    352    —      —      —      352  
Claims and other liabilities    414    6    —      —      420  
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations    —      1    —      —      1  
Commitments and contingencies       

Total shareholders’ equity (deficit)    980    2,000    384    (3,198)   166  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficit)   $3,173   $ 2,770   $ 637   $ (3,548)  $ 3,032  
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
 

For the three months ended June 30, 2010 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Operating revenue   $ —     $ 1,016   $ 104   $ (1)  $ 1,119  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    3    548    50    —      601  
Operating expenses and supplies    (4)   228    20    —      244  
Purchased transportation    —      102    20    (1)   121  
Depreciation and amortization    —      46    4    —      50  
Other operating expenses    1    53    3    —      57  
Gains on property disposals, net    —      (2)   —      —      (2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    —      975    97    (1)   1,071  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    —      41    7    —      48  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    33    —      8    —      41  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      12    —      12  
Other, net    43    (30)   (19)   —      (6) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    76    (30)   1    —      47  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (76)   71    6    —      1  
Income tax provision (benefit)    1    (1)   —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    (77)   72    6    —      1  
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      (12)   —      —      (12) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)    (77)   60    6    —      (11) 
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest    —      —      (1)   —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $ (77)  $ 60   $ 7   $ —     $ (10) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

For the three months ended June 30, 2009 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Operating revenue   $ —     $ 1,122   $ 107   $ (3)  $ 1,226  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    8    914    58    —      980  
Operating expenses and supplies    (8)   260    30    —      282  
Purchased transportation    —      112    15    (3)   124  
Depreciation and amortization    —      55    5    —      60  
Other operating expenses    —      71    4    —      75  
Gains on property disposals, net    —      (1)   —      —      (1) 
Reorganization and settlements    —      —      —      —      —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    —      1,411    112    (3)   1,520  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    —      (289)   (5)   —      (294) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    26    4    8    —      38  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      30    —      30  
Other, net    16    (1)   (13)   —      2  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    42    3    25    —      70  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (42)   (292)   (30)   —      (364) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (60)   (8)   3    —      (65) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    18    (284)   (33)   —      (299) 
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      (10)   —       (10) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)   $ 18   $ (294)  $ (33)  $ —     $ (309) 
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For the six months ended June 30, 2010 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Operating revenue   $ —     $ 1,920   $ 190   $ (4)  $ 2,106  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    8    1,249    105    —      1,362  
Operating expenses and supplies    (8)   449    40    —      481  
Purchased transportation    —      186    33    (4)   215  
Depreciation and amortization    —      93    8    —      101  
Other operating expenses    2    112    6    —      120  
Losses on property disposals, net    —      5    2    —      7  
Impairment charges    —      —      5    —      5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    2    2,094    199    (4)   2,291  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    (2)   (174)   (9)   —      (185) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    65    2    15    —      82  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      12    —      12  
Other, net    81    (51)   (34)   —      (4) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    146    (49)   (7)   —      90  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (148)   (125)   (2)   —      (275) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (5)   (1)   —      —      (6) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    (143)   (124)   (2)   —      (269) 
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      (16)   —      —      (16) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss    (143)   (140)   (2)   —      (285) 
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest    —      —      (1)   —      (1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) attributable to YRC Worldwide Inc.   $ (143)  $ (140)  $ (1)  $ —     $ (284) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

For the six months ended June 30, 2009 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Operating revenue   $ —     $ 2,422   $ 201   $ (6)  $ 2,617  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating expenses:       
Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits    19    1,984    114    —      2,117  
Operating expenses and supplies    (19)   573    66    —      620  
Purchased transportation    —      227    32    (6)   253  
Depreciation and amortization    —      114    9    —      123  
Other operating expenses    1    166    9    —      176  
Losses on property disposals, net    —      1    —      —      1  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses    1    3,065    230    (6)   3,290  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating income (loss)    (1)   (643)   (29)   —      (673) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Nonoperating (income) expenses:       
Interest expense    48    8    14    —      70  
Equity investment impairment    —      —      30    —      30  
Other, net    18    (28)   15    —      5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Nonoperating (income) expenses, net    66    (20)   59    —      105  
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes    (67)   (623)   (88)   —      (778) 
Income tax provision (benefit)    (202)   (8)   3    —      (207) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations    135    (615)   (91)   —      (571) 
Net loss from discontinued operations, net of tax    —      (10)   (1)   —      (11) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income (loss)   $ 135   $ (625)  $ (92)  $ —     $ (582) 
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
 

For the six months ended June 30, 2010 (in millions)   
Primary
Obligor   

Guarantor
Subsidiaries  

Non-Guarantor
Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 

Operating activities:        
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ (16)  $ (18)  $ 19   $ —    $ (15) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Investing activities:        
Acquisition of property and equipment    —      (8)   (3)   —     (11) 
Proceeds from disposal of property
and equipment    —      35    1    —     36  
Other    2    —      3    —     5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by investing activities    2    27    1    —     30  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Financing activities:        
Asset backed securitization borrowings, net    —      —      1    —     1  
Borrowing of long-term debt, net    92    (51)   —      —     41  
Debt issuance costs    (9)   —      (1)   —     (10) 
Equity issuance costs    (17)   —      —      —     (17) 
Equity issuance proceeds    16    —      —      —     16  
Intercompany advances / repayments    (22)   40    (18)   —     —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    60    (11)   (18)   —     31  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    46    (2)   2    —     46  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
Period    69    10    19    —     98  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 115   $ 8   $ 21   $ —    $ 144  
    

 

   

 

   

 

       

 

For the six months ended June 30, 2009 (in millions)   Parent   
Guarantor

Subsidiaries  
Non-Guarantor

Subsidiaries   Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating activities:        

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   $ 94   $ (151)  $ (185)  $ —    $ (242) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Investing activities:        
Acquisition of property and equipment    —      (25)   (1)   —     (26) 
Proceeds from disposal of property
and equipment    —      37    —      —     37  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    —      12    (1)   —     11  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Financing activities:        
Asset backed securitization borrowings, net    —      —      58    —     58  
Borrowing of long-term debt, net    62    (1)   —      —     61  
Debt issuance costs    (37)   —      (11)   —     (48) 
Intercompany advances / repayments    (293)   145    148    —     —    

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (268)   144    195    —     71  
    

 
   

 
   

 
       

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (174)   5    9    —     (160) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period    295    13    17    —     325  

    
 

   
 

   
 

       
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 121   $ 18   $ 26   $ —    $ 165  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of YRC Worldwide Inc. (also referred to as “YRC Worldwide”, the “Company”, “we”
or “our”). MD&A and certain statements in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements include forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (each a “forward-looking
statement”). Forward-looking statements include those preceded by, followed by or include the words “should,” “could,” “would,” “may,” “expect,” “believe,”
“estimate” or similar expressions. Our actual results could differ materially from those projected in such forward-looking statements because of a number of
factors, including (among others) our ability to generate sufficient cash flows and liquidity to fund operations, which raises substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern, inflation, inclement weather, price and availability of fuel, sudden changes in the cost of fuel or the index upon which the Company
bases its fuel surcharge, competitor pricing activity, expense volatility, including (without limitation) expense volatility due to changes in rail service or pricing
for rail service, ability to capture cost reductions, changes in equity and debt markets, a downturn in general or regional economic activity, effects of a terrorist
attack, labor relations, including (without limitation) the impact of work rules, work stoppages, strikes or other disruptions, any obligations to multi-employer
health, welfare and pension plans, wage requirements and employee satisfaction, and the risk factors that are from time to time included in the Company’s reports
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Results of Operations

This section focuses on the highlights and significant items that impacted our operating results during the second quarter. We have presented a discussion
regarding the operating results of each of our operating segments: National Transportation, Regional Transportation and Truckload. In June 2010, we signed an
agreement whereby the majority of YRC Logistics will be sold to a third party after the satisfaction of certain closing conditions. In addition, certain other
operations ceased during the quarter ended June 30, 2010. As a result, the YRC Logistics segment has been reported as discontinued operations for all periods
presented. See Note 15 “Discontinued Operations” for further discussion.

Consolidated Results

Our consolidated results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 include the results of each of the operating segments discussed below and
corporate expenses. A more detailed discussion of the operating results of our segments is presented below.

The table below provides summary consolidated financial information for the three and six months ended June 30:
 
   Three months   Six months  

(in millions)   2010   2009   
Percent
Change  2010   2009   

Percent
Change 

Operating revenue   $1,119.1  $1,226.3   (8.7%)  $2,106.2   $2,616.9   (19.5%) 
Operating income (loss)    48.3   (294.2)  n/m    (184.9)   (672.9)  72.5% 
Nonoperating expenses, net    47.0   70.2   (33.0%)   89.9    105.4   (14.7%) 
Net income (loss) from continuing operations    1.0   (299.5)  n/m    (269.1)   (571.5)  52.9% 
 

(a) Not meaningful.

Three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to three months ended June 30, 2009

Our consolidated operating revenue decreased 8.7% during the three months ended June 30, 2010 versus the same period in 2009 due to decreased revenue of
15.1% from our National Transportation segment partially offset by operating revenue increases of 4.0% and 2.4% at the Regional and Truckload segments,
respectively. The decline at National Transportation is attributed to a decline in volume versus the same period in 2009 including those related to customer losses.
Our volume declines are primarily attributed to the diversion of freight by customers to other carriers and a continued weakened economy. We believe that
customers diverted freight beginning in 2009 due to uncertainty around our financial stability and the integration of our former Yellow Transportation and
Roadway networks. That deterioration continued throughout the latter part of 2009 as concerns surrounding the bond exchange lingered into December 2009.
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Consolidated operating revenue includes fuel surcharge revenue. Fuel surcharges are common throughout our industry and represent an amount that we charge to
customers that adjusts with changing fuel prices. We base our fuel surcharges on a published national index and adjust them weekly. Rapid material changes in
the index or our cost of fuel can positively or negatively impact our revenue and operating income versus prior periods as there is a lag in the Company’s
adjustment of base rates in response to changes in fuel surcharge. Fuel surcharge is an accepted and important component of the overall pricing of our services to
our customers. Without an industry accepted fuel surcharge program, our base pricing for our transportation services would require changes. We believe the
distinction between base rates and fuel surcharge has blurred over time, and it is impractical to clearly separate all the different factors that influence the price that
our customers are willing to pay. In general, under our present fuel surcharge program, we believe rising fuel costs are beneficial to us and falling fuel costs are
detrimental to us, in the short term.

Operating expenses for the 2010 quarter decreased $449.7 million or 29.6% as compared to the same period in 2009 and were comprised of a $303.8 million
decrease in salaries, wages and benefits, a $39.4 million decrease in operating expenses and supplies, a $3.1 million decrease in purchased transportation, a $9.8
million decrease in depreciation and amortization due to reduced facilities and fleet downsizing and a $17.2 million decrease in other operating expenses. In
addition, the second quarter of 2010 showed higher equity based compensation benefit of $75.3 million compared to the same period in 2009.

The non-cash benefit arises from the replacement of stock appreciation rights granted to union employees with stock options as required by a labor agreement
modification that we entered into in 2009. The expense reduction reflects the adjusted fair value of the replacement stock option awards which were re-measured
as of the June 29, 2010 shareholder meeting at which time they were formally approved.

The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits in the second quarter of 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009 is largely due to the increased wage reduction,
from 10% to 15%, taken by a majority of our union employees in August of 2009 and the suspension of pension contributions and related expense for the
majority of our multi-employer union pension funds effective beginning in the second half of 2009. Additionally, the decrease in salaries and benefits is a result of
lower headcount in the current year as we reacted to lower volumes. The decrease in operating expenses and supplies is a result of lower vehicle and facility
maintenance of $22.6 million or 30.5%, lower bad debt expense of $22.0 million or 77.9% and lower professional services expense of $16.7 million or 37.4%
related to a decrease in restructuring professional fees as compared to the same period in 2009. Finally, other operating expenses decreased mostly due to lower
operating taxes and licenses of $7.0 million or 16.1% primarily due to lower fuel taxes reflective of lower miles driven and thus fuel consumed, a general liability
claims expense decrease of $3.9 million or 26.4% related to lower volume and lower cargo claims expense of $6.3 million or 44.4% due to fewer shipments and
improved claim experience.

Our consolidated operating income during the second quarter of 2010 includes a $2.2 million net gain from the sale of property and equipment net of fair value
adjustments for property and equipment held for sale compared to a $1.0 million net gain for the same period in 2009.

Nonoperating expenses decreased $23.2 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to the same period in 2009. The 2010 amount consisted primarily of a
$12.3 million impairment of our equity investment in Jiayu in the second quarter of 2010 compared to $30.4 million impairment in the second quarter of 2009.
The adjustment was required as the estimated fair value, using a discounted cash flow model, was less than our investment. The impairment charge is reflective of
a change in revenue growth assumptions in the fair value model. Offsetting the reduced equity investment impairment was an increase in interest expense of $3.1
million attributable to increased amortization of deferred debt cost of $5.3 million, additional interest expense related to new lease financing obligations of $5.5
million and additional interest expense on our deferred pension obligations of $0.9 million all offset by a $1.7 million decrease in interest expense for the ABS
facility and a $7.1 million decrease in interest expense related to the 8.5% USF senior notes and the 5% and 3.375% contingent convertible senior notes for the
three months ended June 30, 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009. Finally, the additional decrease in nonoperating expenses is related to a net foreign
exchange gain of $7.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2010 versus a gain of $0.7 million for the same period in 2009 of which approximately $5.5
million relates to the recognition of the foreign currency translation adjustment from the dissolution of a certain wholly owned subsidiary.

Our effective tax rate for continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was 17.7% and 17.8%, respectively. Significant items
impacting the 2010 rate include certain permanent items and a valuation allowance based on the deferred tax asset balance projected for December 31, 2010. We
recognize valuation allowances on deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Changes in valuation allowances are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted,
we evaluate factors such as prior years’ earnings history, expected future earnings, loss carry-back and carry-forward periods, reversals of existing deferred tax
liabilities and tax planning strategies that potentially enhance the likelihood of the realization of a deferred tax asset.
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Six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to six months ended June 30, 2009

Consolidated operating revenue decreased by 19.5% during the six months ended June 30, 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009, which is reflective of
decreased revenue at all of our segments with the exception of Truckload. The decreased operating revenue is a result of lower volumes primarily attributed to the
diversion of freight by customers to other carriers and a continued weakened economy. We believe that customers diverted freight beginning in 2009 due to
uncertainty around our financial stability and the integration of our former Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks. That deterioration continued
throughout the latter part of 2009 as concerns surrounding the bond exchange lingered into December 2009. Once the debt exchange was finalized, our industry
was hampered by severe winter weather in January and February 2010.

Consolidated operating loss improved $488.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2010 as compared to the operating loss for the same period in 2009.
Revenue decreased $510.7 million in the first half of 2010 compared to the same period in 2009 while operating expenses decreased $998.7 million as compared
to the same period in 2009. Expense reductions were comprised of a $756.2 million decrease in salaries, wages and benefits, a $139.8 million decrease in
operating expenses and supplies, a $38.1 million decrease in purchased transportation, which is attributable to declining volumes, a $22.1 million decrease in
depreciation and amortization due to reduced facilities and reduced fleet size, and a $55.4 million decrease in other operating expenses.

The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits in the second quarter of 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009 is largely due to the increased wage reduction,
from 10% to 15%, taken by a majority of our union employees in August of 2009 and the suspension of pension contributions and related expense for the
majority of our multi-employer union pension funds beginning in the second half of 2009. Additionally, the decrease in salaries and benefits is a result of lower
headcount in the current year due to lower volumes. The decrease in operating expenses and supplies is a result of lower vehicle and facility maintenance of $54.6
million or 34.1%, lower bad debt expense of $27.0 million or 80.3%, and a decrease in travel and employee activities of $18.7 million or 60.6% due to a decrease
in discretionary spending. Finally, other operating expenses decreased mostly due to lower operating taxes and licenses of $20.7 million or 22.1% primarily due
to lower fuel taxes reflective of lower miles driven and thus fuel consumed, a general liability claims expense decrease of $21.2 million or 46.8% related to lower
volume, and lower cargo claims expense of $13.3 million or 40.8% due to fewer shipments and improved claim experience.

Consolidated operating loss for the six months ended June 30, 2010 also includes non-cash impairment charges of $5.3 million representing a reduction in the
tradename values attributed to YRC Reimer (a part of the National Transportation segment) and New Penn (a part of the Regional Transportation segment). The
impairment charge is reflective of a change in revenue growth assumptions in the fair value model. There were no impairment charges during the six months
ended June 30, 2009. During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we also recognized net losses on the sale of property and equipment and the fair value
adjustments for property held for sale of $6.6 million compared to losses of $0.6 million for the same period in 2009.

Nonoperating expenses decreased $15.5 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to the same period in 2009. The 2010 balance consisted primarily of a
$12.3 million impairment of our equity investment in Jiayu in the second quarter of 2010 compared to $30.4 million impairment in the second quarter of 2009.
The adjustment was required as the estimated current fair value, using a discounted cash flow model, was less than our investment. The impairment charge is
reflective of a change in revenue growth assumptions in the fair value model. Offsetting the reduced equity investment impairment was an increase in interest
expense attributable to increased net deferred debt cost amortization of $12.2 million, additional interest expense related to our lease financing obligations of
$12.5 million and an increase in interest expense on our deferred pension obligations of $2.8 million all offset by a $1.4 million decrease in interest expense
related to the ABS facility and a $13.6 million decrease in interest expense for the to the 8.5% USF senior notes and the 5% and 3.375% contingent convertible
senior notes for the six months ended June 30, 2010 as compared to the same period in 2009. Finally, the additional decrease in nonoperating expenses is related
to a net foreign exchange gain of $7.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010 versus a gain of $0.2 million for the same period in 2009 of which
approximately $5.5 million relates to the recognition of the foreign currency translation adjustment from the dissolution of a certain wholly owned subsidiary.

Our effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 was 2.1% and 26.6%, respectively. Significant items impacting the 2010 rate include
certain permanent items and a valuation allowance based on the deferred tax asset balance projected for December 31, 2010. We recognize valuation allowances
on deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of the evidence, we believe that some or all of our deferred tax assets will not be realized. Changes in valuation
allowances are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, we evaluate factors such as prior
years’ earnings history, expected future earnings, loss carry-back and carry-forward periods, reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities and tax planning
strategies that potentially enhance the likelihood of the realization of a deferred tax asset.
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National Transportation Results

National Transportation represented approximately 66% and 71% of our consolidated revenue in the second quarter of 2010 and 2009, respectively, and
approximately 67% and 72% of our consolidated revenue in the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The table below provides summary financial information for National Transportation for the three and six months ended June 30:
 
   Three Months   Six Months  

(in millions)   2010   2009   
Percent
Change   2009   2009   

Percent
Change  

Operating revenue   $741.6   $ 873.7   (15.1%)  $1,404.7   $1,896.3   (25.9%) 
Operating income (loss)    33.1    (239.5)  n/m    (152.0)   (539.2)  71.8% 
Operating ratio    95.5%   127.4%  31.9pp    110.8%   128.4%  17.6pp  
 

(a) Represents total operating expenses divided by operating revenue.
(b) Not meaningful.
(c) Percentage points.

Three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to three months ended June 30, 2009

National Transportation reported second quarter 2010 operating revenue of $741.6 million, representing a decrease of $132.1 million or 15.1% from the second
quarter of 2009. The two primary components of operating revenue are volume, comprised of the number of shipments and the weight per shipment resulting in
tonnage, and price, usually evaluated on a per hundred weight basis. The decline in operating revenue was largely driven by an 18.6% decline in picked up
tonnage due to a decline in total shipments per day. The decline in tonnage was offset by a 3.9% increase in revenue per hundred weight resulting mostly from
higher fuel surcharge revenue. Higher fuel surcharge revenue was driven by higher diesel fuel prices in the second quarter of 2010 as compared to the same
period in 2009.

The decline in shipments and tonnage resulted from the diversion of freight by customers to other carriers and a continued weakened economy. We believe that
customers diverted freight beginning in 2009 due to uncertainty around our financial stability and the integration of our former Yellow Transportation and
Roadway networks. That deterioration continued throughout the latter part of 2009 as concerns surrounding the bond exchange lingered into December 2009. Our
volumes improved sequentially month over month during the second quarter of 2010 as we began to secure additional business from existing and new customers.

Operating income for National Transportation was $33.1 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to operating loss of $239.5 million in the same period in
2009. Revenue was lower by $132.1 million while total costs decreased by $404.7 million. The cost declines consisted primarily of lower salaries, wages and
benefits of $320.1 million, lower operating expenses and supplies of $47.8 million, lower purchased transportation costs of $12.5 million, and lower other
operating expenses of $24.2 million.

The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits (excluding workers’ compensation expense) of $299.3 million during the second quarter of 2010 is a result of
substantial headcount reductions, an additional 5% wage reduction for most union employees which became effective August 2009. In addition to volume
decreases, a further reduction in benefits expense resulted from the ratification by certain labor unions of a temporary cessation of pension contributions to certain
of our multi-employer union pension funds beginning in the second half of 2009. Workers’ compensation expense (included in salaries, wages and benefits in the
statement of operations) decreased $20.8 million or 40.1% which is reflective of fewer hours worked and improved claim frequency.

The non-cash equity based compensation benefit of $64.3 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to $5.8 million benefit in the second quarter of 2009
arises from the replacement of stock appreciation rights granted to union employees with stock options as required by a labor agreement modification that we
entered into in 2009. The expense reduction in both periods reflects the adjusted fair value of the replacement stock option awards which were re-measured as of
the June 29, 2010 shareholder meeting at which time they were formally approved and replaced previously issued union stock appreciation rights.

Operating expenses and supplies were lower due mostly to decreases in facility and fleet operating and maintenance costs due to reduced facilities, fleet
downsizing, and lower volumes. The decline was also impacted by a decrease in bad debt expense of $10.9 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to the
same period in 2009 and is reflective of lower bankruptcies in our customer base and improvements in our revenue management processes. These decreases were
offset by increased fuel costs year over year.
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The decline in purchased transportation during the second quarter of 2010 versus the same period in 2009 resulted primarily from lower volumes yet did not keep
pace with the volume decline as the unit costs of the services increased. Rail costs decreased 6.8% due to lower volume compared to the same period in 2009
while other purchased transportation costs decreased 12.8%.

Other operating expenses decreased mostly due to lower operating taxes and licenses of 25.3% primarily due to lower fuel taxes reflective of lower miles driven
and thus fuel consumed, a general liability claims expense decrease of 35.9% related to lower volume, lower cargo claims expense of 52.5% due to fewer
shipments and improved claim experience, and lower depreciation of 17.2% due to reduced facilities and fleet downsizing. The gain on disposal of property was
$2.6 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to a gain of $1.7 million during the same period in 2009.

Six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to six months ended June 30, 2009

National Transportation revenue decreased $491.6 million or 25.9% in the six months ended June 30, 2010 versus the same period in 2009. The decline in
operating revenue was largely driven by a 27.0% decline in total picked up tonnage offset by a 1.9% increase in revenue per hundred weight resulting mostly
from higher fuel surcharge revenue. The decline in shipments and tonnage resulted from the diversion of freight by customers to other carriers and a continued
weakened economy. We believe that customers diverted freight beginning in 2009 due to uncertainty around our financial stability and the integration of our
former Yellow Transportation and Roadway networks. That deterioration continued throughout the latter part of 2009 as concerns surrounding the bond exchange
lingered into December 2009. Once the debt exchange was finalized, our industry was hampered by severe winter weather in January and February 2010. Our
volumes improved sequentially month over month during the first six months of 2010 as we began to secure additional business from existing and new customers.

Operating loss for National Transportation improved $387.2 million in the six months ended June 30, 2010 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2009.
Revenue decreased $491.6 million in the first half of 2010 compared to the same period in 2009 while operating costs decreased $878.8 million. The cost declines
consisted primarily of lower salaries, wages and benefits of $634.5 million, lower operating expenses & supplies of $153.5 million, lower purchased
transportation costs of $46.7 million, and lower other operating expenses of $44.2 million.

The decrease in salaries, wages and benefits (excluding workers’ compensation expense) of $600.8 million during the six months ended June 30, 2010 is a result
of substantial headcount reductions and an additional 5% wage reduction for most union employees which became effective August 2009. In addition to volume
decreases, a further reduction in benefits expense resulted from the ratification by certain labor unions of a temporary cessation of pension contributions to certain
of our multi-employer union pension funds beginning in the second half of 2009. Workers’ compensation expense (included in salaries, wages and benefits in the
statement of operations) decreased $33.7 million or 35.4% which is reflective of fewer hours worked and improved claim frequency.

These reductions were partially offset by an equity based compensation expense of $18.8 million in the first six months of 2010 compared to a $16.1 million
expense in the first six months of 2009. The charges relate to equity based consideration associated with union wage and benefit reductions implemented in 2009.

Operating expenses and supplies were lower due mostly to decreases in facility and fleet operating and maintenance costs due to reduced facilities, fleet
downsizing, and lower volumes. The decline was also impacted by a decrease in bad debt expense of $24.2 million in the six months ended June 30, 2010
compared to the same period in 2009 and is reflective of lower bankruptcies in our customer base and improvements in our revenue management processes.

The decline in purchased transportation during the six months ended June 30, 2010 versus the same period in 2009 resulted primarily from lower volumes yet did
not keep pace with the volume decline as the unit costs of the services increased. Rail costs decreased 17.8% due to lower volume compared to the same period in
2009 while other purchased transportation costs decreased 19.7%.

Other operating expenses decreased mostly due to lower operating taxes and licenses of $19.5 million primarily due to lower fuel taxes reflective of lower miles
driven, a general liability claims expense decrease of $6.4 million related to lower volume, lower cargo claims expense of $12.5 million due to fewer shipments
and improved claim experience, lower depreciation of $11.7 million due to reduced facilities and fleet downsizing, offset by an impairment charge of $3.3 million
related to a reduction in fair value of the Reimer tradename, primarily due to a decline in future revenue assumptions. The loss on disposal of property was $2.3
million in the six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to a gain of $0.4 million during the same period in 2009. Increased costs were the result of writing down
certain revenue equipment and facilities held for sale to fair market value.
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Regional Transportation Results

Regional Transportation represented approximately 31% and 27% of our consolidated revenue in the second quarter of 2010 and 2009, respectively, and
approximately 31% and 26% in the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The table below provides summary financial information for
Regional Transportation for the three and six months ended June 30:
 
   Three months   Six months  

(in millions)   2010   2009   
Percent
Change   2010   2009   

Percent
Change  

Operating revenue   $351.5   $337.9   4.0%  $660.6   $ 693.0   (4.7%) 
Operating income (loss)    22.4    (48.3)  n/m    (17.3)   (122.5)  85.9% 
Operating ratio    93.6%   114.3%  20.7pp    102.6%   117.7%  15.1pp   
 

(a) Represents total operating expenses divided by operating revenue.
(b) Not meaningful.
(c) Percentage points.

Three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to three months ended June 30, 2009

Regional Transportation reported operating revenue of $351.5 million for the second quarter 2010, representing an increase of $13.6 million, or 4.0% from the
second quarter in 2009. Total weight per day was up 4.6% in the second quarter 2010, representing a 3.1% decline in total shipments per day and an 8.0%
improvement in total weight per shipment compared to the same period in 2009. Year-over-year shipment volumes were negatively impacted by a continued weak
economy, the diversion of freight due to uncertainty around our financial stability and the closure of service centers during the first half of 2009.

Total revenue per hundred weight decreased 2.8% in the second quarter 2010 as compared to the second quarter 2009, primarily due to continued market pricing
pressure impacts on our base rates and a slightly higher mix of corporate business, partially offset by higher fuel surcharge revenue associated with higher diesel
fuel prices. A meaningful portion of our regional footprint is concentrated in the Upper Midwest where business levels and pricing negotiations have been
especially difficult due to the economic challenges in this geographic area.

Operating income for Regional Transportation was $22.4 million for the second quarter 2010, compared to $48.3 million operating loss for the second quarter
2009, consisting of a $13.6 million improvement in revenue and a $57.1 million decrease in operating expenses. Regional Transportation has reduced most
operating expenses in proportion to lower business volumes. Expense decreases in the second quarter 2010 were comprised of salaries, wages and benefits of
$62.7 million, depreciation and amortization of $1.1 million and other operating expenses of $0.4 million. Expense increases in the second quarter 2010 included
operating expenses and supplies of $6.1 million and purchased transportation of $1.2 million.

Salaries, wages and benefits expense decreased 24.0% as a result of lower employee levels, an additional 5% wage reduction for most union employees which
became effective August 2009 and decreased workers’ compensation expense. In addition to volume decreases, a further reduction in benefits expense resulted
from the ratification by certain labor unions of a temporary cessation of pension contributions to certain of our multi-employer union pension funds which
beginning in the second half of 2009.

The non-cash equity based compensation expense reduction of $18.3 million in the second quarter of 2010 compared to $1.6 million reduction in the second
quarter of 2009 arises from the replacement of stock appreciation rights granted to union employees with stock options as required by a labor agreement
modification that we entered into in 2009. The expense reduction in both periods reflects the adjusted fair value of the replacement stock option awards which
were re-measured as of the June 29, 2010 shareholder meeting at which time they were formally approved.

Operating expenses and supplies increased 8.3% reflecting a 43.2% increase in fuel costs (primarily due to higher fuel prices) and 12.3% reduction in costs other
than fuel. Costs were lower in the areas of facility maintenance, communications, travel, driver expenses, and uncollectible revenue as a result of effective cost
management and terminal closures. Purchased transportation was 8.4% higher due to increased volumes relating to certain segments of business which utilize a
higher percentage of purchased transportation. Depreciation and amortization was also lower by 6.4% primarily due to impacts from a smaller equipment fleet.
Finally, other operating expenses were 2.0% lower, mainly due to lower provision for general liability claims due to favorable claim development factors and
actuarial adjustments and lower licensing and use taxes offset by higher cargo claims costs.
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Six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to six months ended June 30, 2009

Regional Transportation reported operating revenue of $660.6 million for the first six months of 2010, representing a decrease of $32.4 million, or 4.7% from the
first six months of 2009. Total weight per day was down 2.2%, representing a 7.9% decline in total shipments per day offset by a 6.2% higher total weight per
shipment compared to 2009. Shipment volumes were negatively impacted by a continued weak economy, unseasonably severe winter weather, the diversion of
freight due to uncertainty around our financial stability and the closure of service centers during the first half of 2009.

Total revenue per hundred weight decreased 2.6% in the first six months of 2010 as compared to the first six months of 2009, due to the impact of continued
pricing pressure on our base rates, and a slightly higher mix of corporate business, partially offset by higher fuel surcharge revenue associated with higher diesel
fuel prices.

Operating loss for Regional Transportation was $17.3 million for the first six months of 2010, an improvement of $105.2 million from the first six months of
2009, consisting of a $32.4 million decline in revenue and a $137.6 million reduction in operating expenses. Regional Transportation has reduced most operating
expenses in proportion to lower tonnage and shipment volumes and has benefited from our comprehensive recovery plan, including cost reduction initiatives as
described below. Material expense decreases were comprised of salaries, wages and benefits of $123.1 million, purchased transportation of $0.7 million,
depreciation and amortization of $1.4 million, and other operating expenses of $19.5 million. Expense increases included operating expenses and supplies of $1.9
million.

Salaries, wages and benefits expense decreased 22.5% as a result of lower employee levels, an additional 5% wage reduction for most union employees which
became effective August 2009, and decreased workers’ compensation expense. In addition to volume decreases, a further reduction in benefits expense resulted
from the ratification by certain labor unions of a temporary cessation of pension contributions to certain of our multi-employer union pension funds beginning in
the second half of 2009.

Operating expenses and supplies increased 1.3% reflecting a 35.4% increase in fuel costs (primarily due to higher fuel prices partially offset by lower volumes)
and a 17.7% reduction in costs other than fuel. Costs were lower in the areas of equipment maintenance, facility maintenance, travel, driver expenses, tolls and
uncollectible revenue as a result of lower business volumes, effective cost management and terminal closures. Purchased transportation was 2.4% lower due
mostly to lower business volumes. Other operating expenses were also lower by 37.1% mainly due to a much lower provision for bodily injury and property
damage claims due to favorable claim development factors and actuarial adjustments, as well as reduced volume. Additionally, fuel taxes, licenses and cargo
claims costs were lower primarily due to lower business volumes.

Losses on property disposals were $4.1 million in the first six months of 2010 compared to $0.9 million in the first six months of 2009. Increased costs were the
result of writing down certain revenue equipment and facilities held for sale to fair market value. The first six months of 2010 operating loss included an
impairment charge of $2.0 million related to a reduction in fair value of the New Penn tradename, primarily due to a decline in future revenue assumptions.

YRC Truckload Results

YRC Truckload represented approximately 3% and 2% of our consolidated revenue in the second quarter of 2010 and 2009, respectively, and approximately 2%
for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The table below provides summary financial information for Truckload for the three and six
months ended June 30:
 
   Three Months   Six Months  

(in millions)   2010   2009   
Percent
Change  2010   2009   

Percent
Change 

Operating revenue   $ 28.3   $ 27.5   2.4%  $ 55.1   $ 53.5   3.0% 
Operating loss    (2.0)   (2.4)  16.7%   (5.0)   (4.6)  (8.7%) 
Operating ratio     107.0%   108.6%  1.6pp     109.2%   108.6%  0.6pp   
 

(a) Represents total operating expenses divided by operating revenue.
(b) Percentage points.

Three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to three months ended June 30, 2009

Truckload reported operating revenue of $28.3 million for the second quarter 2010, representing an increase of $0.8 million or 2.4% from the second quarter
2009. The two primary components of truckload operating revenue are volume, comprised of the miles driven, and price, usually evaluated on a revenue per mile
basis. Total miles driven per day were down 4.2% in the second quarter
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2010 as compared to 2009 due primarily to lower business volume related to the soft economy. Revenue per mile was up 6.9%, due primarily to higher fuel
surcharge revenue associated with higher diesel fuel prices.

Operating loss for Truckload was $2.0 million for the second quarter 2010, as compared to an operating loss of $2.4 million for the second quarter 2009,
consisting of a $0.8 million increase in revenue offset by a $0.4 million increase in operating expenses. Expense increases were primarily due to increases in fuel
costs (higher diesel prices), higher driver recruiting costs, and a higher provision for general liability claims due to unfavorable claim development factors and
actuarial adjustments. Expense decreases were primarily related to lower salaries, wages and related benefits costs as a result of lower employee levels.

Six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to six months ended June 30, 2009

Truckload reported operating revenue of $55.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2010, representing an increase of $1.6 million or 3.0% from the six
months ended June 30, 2009. Total miles driven per day were down 2.5% in the first six months of 2010 as compared to 2009 due primarily to lower business
volume related to the soft economy. However, revenue per mile was up 5.1%, due primarily to higher fuel surcharge revenue associated with higher diesel fuel
prices.

Operating loss for Truckload was $5.0 million for the first half of 2010, a decline of $0.4 million from the first half of 2009, consisting of a $1.6 million
improvement in revenue offsetting a $2.0 million increase in operating expenses. Expense increases were primarily due to increases in fuel costs (higher diesel
prices), vehicle maintenance costs, and driver recruiting costs. Decreased operating expenses were primarily related to lower salaries, wages, and related benefits
costs as a result of lower employee levels.

Discontinued Operations - YRC Logistics Results

In June 2010, we signed an agreement whereby the majority of YRC Logistics will be sold to a third party after the satisfaction of certain closing conditions. In
addition, certain other operations ceased during the quarter ended June 30, 2010. As a result, the YRC Logistics segment has been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented. See Note 15 “Discontinued Operations” for further discussion. For the presentation below, shared services and corporate
overhead costs are included in the operating loss amounts. These fees will be absorbed by the remaining segments after the sale of YRC Logistics is complete.
The table below provides summary financial information for YRC Logistics for the three and six months ended June 30:
 
   Three Months   Six Months  

(in millions)   2010   2009   
Percent
Change  2010   2009   

Percent
Change 

Operating revenue   $ 76.3   $101.8   (25.0%)  $152.4   $213.9   (28.8%) 
Operating loss    (14.0)   (8.0)  (75.0%)   (21.4)   (11.4)  (87.7%) 
Operating ratio    118.3%   107.8%  (10.5)pp     114.0%   105.3%  (8.7)pp   
 

(a) Percentage points.

Three months ended June 30, 2010 compared to three months ended June 30, 2009

In the second quarter of 2010, YRC Logistics operating revenue was $76.3 million, a decrease of $25.5 million or 25.0% from the second quarter of 2009. The
second quarter of 2009 includes $20.2 of revenue million from our Fleet business line with no corresponding amount in 2010, as the business line was sold in
November 2009. Additional revenue declines were experienced in the Transportation and Distribution service offerings. Decreases in 2010 revenue for
distribution services were a result of significant customer losses throughout 2009 primarily due to concerns about our financial stability and contributed to the
decision to exit our pooled distribution offering in June 2010. Revenue declines in transportation services were largely attributed to an amendment to a certain
customer contract which resulted in a change to the revenue recognized but no change to the operating income related to this customer. Global services revenue
increased, which partially offset the previously mentioned declines as shipment counts continued to rebound internationally.

YRC Logistics second quarter 2010 operating loss was $14.0 million compared to an operating loss of $8.0 million in the second quarter of 2009. Included in the
2009 amount is operating income of $1.5 million related to the now sold Fleet business line. Restructuring charges associated with YRC Logistics decision to exit
its pooled distribution business offering totaled $7.4 million. Pooled distribution incurred operating losses of $13.7 million and $3.0 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Six months ended June 30, 2010 compared to six months ended June 30, 2009

In the first half of 2010, YRC Logistics revenue decreased by $61.5 million or 28.8% from the first half of 2009. In the first half of 2009, the Fleet business line
had $38.6 million of revenue with no corresponding amount in 2010 as the business line was sold in November 2009. Decreases in 2010 revenue for distribution
services were a result of significant customer losses throughout 2009 primarily due to concerns about our financial stability and were also a result of the decision
to exit our pooled distribution offering in June 2010. Additional revenue declines in transportation services can be for the most part attributed to a revision to a
certain customer contract which resulted in a change to the revenue recognized but no change to the operating income related to this customer. In the first half of
2010, Global services revenue increased as shipment volumes improved internationally compared to the same period in 2009.

Operating loss increased from $11.4 million in the first half of 2009 to a loss of $21.4 million in the first half of 2010. Included in the 2009 amount is operating
income of $3.2 million related to the now sold Fleet business line. The pooled distribution business offering incurred operating losses of $19.1 million and $5.2
million, including restructuring charges, for the six months ended June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Certain Non-GAAP financial measures

Our adjusted EBITDA improved from $2.7 million in April to $22.2 million in June and that National Transportation achieved positive adjusted EBITDA for the
quarter and Regional Transportation reported the fourth straight quarter of positive adjusted EBITDA. We have included the reconciliation of consolidated
adjusted EBITDA below and provided the adjusted EBITDA amounts by segment.

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure that reflects the company’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization expense, and further
adjusted for letter of credit fees, equity-based compensation expense, net gains or losses on property disposals, and certain other items as defined in the
company’s Credit Agreement. “Adjusted EBITDA” is used for internal management purposes as a financial measure that reflects the company’s core operating
performance. In addition, management uses adjusted EBITDA to measure compliance with financial covenants in the company’s Credit Agreement. However,
this financial measure should not be construed as a better measurement than operating income or earnings per share, as defined by generally accepted accounting
principles.

The second quarter 2010 monthly reconciliation of operating income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA is as follows:
 

(in millions)   April 2010  May 2010  June 2010  

Three Months
ended

June 30, 2010  
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA:      
Operating income (loss)   $ (13.6)  $ (8.0)  $ 69.9   $ 48.3  

Depreciation & amortization    16.5    16.0    17.6    50.1  
Equity based compensation expense (benefit)    0.4    0.4    (82.3)   (81.5) 
Letter of credit expense    2.8    2.8    2.7    8.3  
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net    (8.0)   (6.4)   12.2    (2.2) 
Restructuring professional fees    3.7    3.6    2.0    9.3  
Other, net    0.9    6.6    0.1    7.6  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 2.7   $ 15.0   $ 22.2   $ 39.9  
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The reconciliation of operating income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA for the three and six months ended June 30 is as follows:
 
   Three Months   Six Months  
(in millions)   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to adjusted EBITDA:      
Operating income (loss)   $ 48.3   $(294.2)  $(184.9)  $(672.9) 

Depreciation & amortization    50.1    59.9    100.7    122.8  
Equity based compensation expense (benefit)    (81.5)   (6.3)   28.3    26.8  
Letter of credit expense    8.3    9.0    16.6    14.5  
(Gains) losses on property disposals, net    (2.2)   (1.0)   6.6    0.6  
Impairment charges    —      —      5.3    —    
Restructuring professional fees    9.3    —      9.4    —    
Other, net    7.6    (1.4)   6.9    (2.6) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 39.9   $(234.0)  $ (11.1)  $(510.8) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The following represents adjusted EBITDA by segment for the three months ended June 30:
 
   Three Months   Six Months  
(in millions)   2010   2009   2010   2009  
Adjusted EBITDA by segment:      

YRC National Transportation   $ 6.2   $(207.5)  $(54.1)  $(446.0) 
YRC Regional Transportation    22.0    (30.6)   30.3    (80.5) 
YRC Truckload    (0.1)   —      (0.3)   0.2  
Corporate and other    11.8    4.1    13.0    15.5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Adjusted EBITDA   $39.9   $(234.0)  $ (11.1)  $(510.8) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Adjusted EBITDA has the following limitations:
 

 
•  Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our

outstanding debt;
 

 
•  Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future,

and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;
 

 
•  Equity based compensation is an element of our overall long-term incentive compensation package, although we exclude it as an expense when

evaluating our ongoing operating performance for a particular period; and
 

 •  Other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered a substitute for performance measures calculated in accordance with GAAP. We
compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using Adjusted EBITDA as a secondary measure.
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Financial Condition

Liquidity

The following table provides details of the outstanding components and unused available (deficit) capacity under the Credit Agreement and ABS Facility (each,
as defined below) at June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009:
 
(in millions)   June 30, 2010  December 31, 2009 
Capacity:    

Revolving loan   $ 950.0   $ 950.0  
ABS Facility    350.0    400.0  

    
 

   
 

Total maximum capacity    1,300.0    1,350.0  
    

 
   

 

Amounts outstanding:    
Revolving loan    (358.0)   (329.1) 
Letters of credit (6/30/10: $454.7 revolver; $72.2 ABS Facility)    (526.9)   (538.3) 
ABS Facility borrowings    (147.4)   (146.3) 

    
 

   
 

Total outstanding    (1,032.3)   (1,013.7) 
    

 
   

 

ABS limitations    (129.5)   (178.2) 
Revolver reserve    (128.8)   (159.8) 

    
 

   
 

Total restricted capacity    (258.3)   (338.0) 
    

 
   

 

Unrestricted unused capacity (deficit) (6/30/10: $8.5 revolver; $0.9 ABS Facility)   $ 9.4   $ (1.7) 
    

 

   

 

During the quarter ended June 30, 2010, we amended our credit agreements and entered into a new sales agreement for at the market issuances as discussed
below.

Credit Agreement Amendments

On May 3, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 17 and on July 28, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 18 to our Credit Agreement, dated as of August 17,
2007 (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”). The amendments are described below.

Amendment No. 17

We have entered into an arrangement to sell up to $103 million shares of common stock (on a gross proceeds basis) in an at-the-market issuance program. See “—
At Market Issuance Sales Agreement” below. Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement permits us to retain the net proceeds from any such sales as described
below:

Equity Issuances

Amendment No. 17 provides that we may receive up to $100 million of net cash proceeds from the issuance of equity interests during the period commencing on
May 3, 2010 and ending on the earlier of December 31, 2010 or the date on which we receive $100 million of net cash proceeds from such equity issuances,
without having to use such net cash proceeds to make a mandatory prepayment under the Credit Agreement. The net cash proceeds from such equity issuances are
deposited into a new deposit account (the “New Account”). We will be able to use the funds in the New Account for general corporate purposes. While any funds
are in the New Account, they will not count toward the calculation of Liquidity (as defined in the Credit Agreement), the calculation of Unrestricted Cash (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) or the calculation of Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in each case for purposes of the mandatory
prepayment requirements. The funds in the New Account will count as Available Cash (as defined in the Credit Agreement). Additionally, we will not be able to
request loans under the Credit Agreement until the balance in the New Account is zero. Other than the net cash proceeds from the issuance of such equity interest,
no funds may be deposited into the New Account, and once funds have been withdrawn they may not be re-deposited. As of June 30, 2010 the balance in this
New Account was $15.4 million which represents our net proceeds from our at the market issuances.

Voluntary Prepayments of Certain Obligations

Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement modifies the restriction on voluntary prepayments of any amounts owing under the Contribution Deferral Agreement
or indebtedness, including a prohibition on the Company using the up to $100 million of net cash proceeds from the equity issuance described above to make
such voluntary prepayments.
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Amendment No. 18

We have entered into an agreement to sell the majority of its logistics business for $37 million (prior to any purchase price adjustments). See “—Sale of YRC
Logistics” below. Amendment No. 18 to the Credit Agreement permits us to retain the net proceeds from the sale as described below:

Sale of YRC Logistics

The Credit Agreement requires us to prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement with 100% of the net cash proceeds received from the sale of YRC
Logistics. Pursuant to Amendment No. 18, these net cash proceeds will be applied as follows:

—We have entered into a Contribution Deferral Agreement (as amended, the “Contribution Deferral Agreement”) with certain of the multi-employer
pension funds to which the Company contributes. If we enter into an amendment (the “CDA Amendment”) to the Contribution Deferral Agreement to approve
Amendment No. 18, 100% of the net cash proceeds from the sale of YRC Logistics will be applied to outstanding unblocked revolver loans under the Credit
Agreement (without a corresponding commitment reduction to the unblocked revolver) and the new revolver reserve block under the Credit Agreement will be
permanently reduced by 50% of that amount. Amendment No. 18 provides that we must enter into the CDA Amendment prior to August 13, 2010 (or August 27,
2010 if we have received approval from the Supermajority Funds (as defined in the Contribution Deferral Agreement)).

—If the closing of the CDA Amendment and the sale of YRC Logistics occur after the dates described above, then the net cash proceeds will be applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement that were applicable to the sale of YRC Logistics prior to giving effect to Amendment No. 18.

Mandatory Prepayments

Pursuant to the terms of Amendment No. 18, from July 28, 2010 through the date of the CDA Amendment, upon a Prepayment Event (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) or an Excess Cash Flow Sweep (as defined in the Credit Agreement), a mandatory prepayment will be made in an amount, and in accordance with
the provisions of the Credit Agreement, prior to giving effect to Amendment No. 18. Upon effectiveness of the CDA Amendment, the new revolver reserve block
will automatically and permanently decrease by the amount by which the new revolver reserve block increased by virtue of any mandatory prepayments during
the period above.

On and after the date of the CDA Amendment, upon a Prepayment Event (except for certain sale and leaseback transactions described below) or an Excess Cash
Flow Sweep (as defined in the Credit Agreement), a mandatory prepayment will be made in an amount, and in accordance with the provisions of, the Credit
Agreement prior to giving effect to Amendment No. 18, except that:
 

 
(iii) outstanding permitted interim loans will be repaid after (rather than before) new revolver reserve block loans, existing revolver reserve block

(performance) loans and unblocked revolver loans (in each case (other than permitted interim loans) with a corresponding permanent commitment
reduction), and

 

 (iv) outstanding term loans are paid ratably with the unblocked revolver.

The first $20 million of net cash proceeds received from sale and leaseback transactions received on and after the date of the CDA Amendment will be treated as
follows:

—If certain cost reduction criteria established by our lenders under Amendment No. 18 are satisfied:
 

 
(iv) 25% of the net cash proceeds will be applied in accordance with the provisions applicable after effectiveness of the CDA Amendment

described in the paragraph above,
 

 
(v) 75% of the net cash proceeds will be applied to outstanding unblocked revolver loans (without a corresponding commitment reduction to the

unblocked revolver), and
 

 (vi) the new revolver reserve block will be permanently reduced by 50% of the net cash proceeds.

—If we do not satisfy the criteria, then 75% of the net cash proceeds will be treated in accordance with (i) above and 25% of the net cash proceeds will be
treated in accordance with (ii) above.
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Conversion of Revolving Loans and LC Limits

On the date of the CDA Amendment, Amendment No. 18 converts $150 million of outstanding revolving loans to term loans. In addition, Amendment No. 18
reduces the letter of credit sublimit to $550 million and limits foreign currency letters of credit to $25 million. As a result, on the date of the CDA Amendment,
the Credit Agreement will provide the Company with an $800 million senior revolving credit facility, which is subject to further reductions, and a senior term
loan in an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately $261.5 million.

Consolidated EBITDA

The definition of Consolidated EBITDA was amended to include a new add back for charges, expenses and losses incurred with any Permitted Disposition (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) or discontinued operations.

Financial Covenants

Our minimum Available Cash covenant requires that we maintain at least $25 million of Available Cash through December 31, 2010 and at least $50 million of
Available Cash from and after January 1, 2011.

Our minimum Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement) covenant in respect of the periods ending June 30, 2010, September 30, 2010 and
December 31, 2010 is as follows:
 

Period   Minimum Consolidated EBITDA
For the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2010   $ 5 million
For the two consecutive fiscal quarters ending September 30,

2010   $ 50 million
For the three consecutive fiscal quarters ending December 31,

2010   $ 100 million

Asset-Backed Securitization Amendment

On May 3, 2010, we, as Performance Guarantor, and the parties to the Third Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2008
(as amended, the “ABS Facility”), entered into Amendment No. 17 to the ABS Facility, which implemented minimum consolidated EBITDA and minimum
available cash requirements that are consistent with Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement described above.

On June 11, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 18 to the ABS Facility. The amended facility (i) reduced the aggregate commitments under the ABS Facility
from $400 million to $350 million; and (ii) modified certain calculations under the ABS Facility to reduce the impact of negative effects that the integration of
Yellow Transportation and Roadway has had on the ability of the Seller to borrow under the ABS Facility. As a result, solely for the period beginning on June 11,
2010 and ending on July 2, 2010, we were able to borrow additional amounts of approximately $22 million under the ABS Facility.

In connection with Amendment No. 18 to the ABS Facility, we paid fees to the Co-Agents (the “Closing Fees”). The Closing Fees were paid by the Company by
the issuance to the Co-Agents (or their designees) of an aggregate of 25.4 million shares of unregistered restricted common stock of the Company of which
20.7 million were issued as of June 30, 2010 and the remaining 4.7 million were issued on July 22, 2010. To value these shares issued in lieu of cash fees, we
completed a fair value analysis and concluded that the value of these shares as of June 30, 2010 was $3.0 million.

Interest and Fee Deferrals

In 2009, the Credit Agreement lenders agreed to defer the payment of revolver and term loan interest, letter of credit fees and commitment fees, subject to the
deferral exceptions and termination events, for the period:
 

 •  beginning December 31, 2009, and
 

 •  ending on December 31, 2010, subject to an extension until December 31, 2011 if agreed to by 66 2/3 % of the lenders.

As of June 30, 2010 the amounts deferred under the above provision were $59.0 million.

Additionally, we deferred amendment fees of $31.8 million in October 2009, which are fully earned but not due and payable until the earlier of December 31,
2011 or the occurrence of a termination event.
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Additionally, some of the fees and interest due during the term of the ABS Facility have also been deferred. The $10.0 million fee that was due on October 30,
2009 has been deferred until the earliest to occur of the following dates or events (the “Deferred Fee Payment Date”):
 

 •  October 26, 2010,
 

 •  the Amortization Date (as defined in the ABS Facility), and
 

 •  the occurrence of a Deferral Termination Event.

The portion of current letter of credit fees, program fees and administration fees under the ABS Facility in excess of the fees in place prior to February 12, 2009
were deferred also until the Deferred Fee Payment Date. As of June 30, 2010, amounts deferred under this provision was $8.8 million.

Contribution Deferral Agreement Amendment

On May 3, 2010, we entered into Amendment No. 4 to the Contribution Deferral Agreement. Pursuant to the Contribution Deferral Agreement, we have deferred
the payment of contributions to these funds. Under Amendment No. 4, the calculation of Liquidity (as defined in the Contribution Deferral Agreement) for the
Liquidity Cash Sweep (as defined in the Credit Agreement) thereunder was amended to conform it to the test in the Credit Agreement (after giving effect to
Amendment No. 17 to the Credit Agreement), except that the Liquidity test under the Contribution Deferral Agreement subtracts any commitment reduction or
prepayment under the Credit Agreement.

We are actively seeking the additional amendments to the Contribution Deferral Agreement described in “—Credit Agreement Amendment – Sale of YRC
Logistics” above.

At Market Issuance Sales Agreement

On May 3, 2010, we entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Wm Smith & Co and McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak LLC (the
“Sales Agents”), under which we may sell up to the amount available for offer and sale under the currently effective Registration Statement on Form S-3
(Registration No. 333-159355) (the “Registration Statement”) of our common stock from time to time through the Sales Agents. The Registration Statement
permits the issuance, from time to time, by us of shares of the Company’s common stock, preferred stock and warrants up to an aggregate initial offering price not
to exceed $200 million. The Sales Agents may sell the common stock by any method permitted by law deemed to be an ‘at the market’ offering as defined in Rule
415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including without limitation sales made directly on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, on any other existing
trading market for the common stock or to or through a market maker. The Sales Agents may also sell the common stock in privately negotiated transactions,
subject to our approval. The compensation to the Sales Agents for sales of common stock sold pursuant to the Sales Agreement will be an aggregate of 3.0% of
the gross proceeds of the sales price of common stock sold with respect to the first $25.0 million of gross proceeds and an aggregate of 2.0% of the gross
proceeds with respect to gross proceeds in excess of that amount.

The Sales Agreement will terminate on the earliest of (1) the sale of all of the common stock subject to the Sales Agreement, or (2) termination of the Sales
Agreement by the Company or the Sales Agents. Either Sales Agent may terminate the Sales Agreement as to itself at any time in certain circumstances,
including the occurrence of a material adverse change that, in such Sales Agent’s judgment, may impair its ability to sell the common stock, or a suspension or
limitation of trading of the Company’s common stock on NASDAQ. We may terminate the Sales Agreement at any time upon five days prior notice while either
Sales Agent may terminate the Sales Agreement as to itself at any time upon five days prior notice. The Sales Agreement contains customary representations,
warranties and covenants.

On May 4, 2010, we filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement that contemplates the sale of up to $103 million in gross proceeds of shares of the Company’s
common stock from time to time in at-the-market offerings pursuant to the Sales Agreement. Sales pursuant to the Sales Agreement will be made only upon
instructions by the Company to the Sales Agents, and we cannot provide any assurances that we will issue any additional shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, we completed the sale of 44.9 million shares for net proceeds of $15.4 million as part of our at the market
offerings.

6% Notes
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In February 2010, we entered into a note purchase agreement with certain investors pursuant to which the investors agreed to purchase up to $70 million in
aggregate principal amount of our 6% convertible senior notes due 2014 (the “6% Notes”). The 6% Notes bear interest at 6%, payable in February and August of
each year. The sale of the 6% Notes was structured to occur in two closings. Pursuant to the note purchase agreement, we sold $49.8 million of the 6% Notes to
the investors at the first closing in February 2010 and were obligated to sell an additional $20.2 million of 6% Notes to the investors in the second closing,
assuming the closing conditions in the note purchase agreement were met. At the first closing, the investors also funded the remaining $20.2 million into an
escrow account to be released at the second closing, subject to the escrow agent receiving a certificate from the investors that the closing conditions had been
satisfied.

The 6% Notes are convertible, at the note holder’s option, prior to the maturity date into shares of our common stock. The 6% Notes were initially convertible at a
conversion price of $0.43 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of approximately 2,326 shares per $1,000 principal amount of 6% Notes, subject to
certain adjustments. The 6% Notes provide for caps within the second anniversary of the first closing such that a holder and its affiliates is not entitled to convert
its 6% Notes to the extent that the holder and its affiliates would hold greater than 4.9% of the then outstanding common stock after such conversion, unless
timely waived by the holder. The 6% Notes also provide a cap through stated maturity such that any holder and its affiliates is not entitled to convert its notes to
the extent that the holder and its affiliates would own greater than 9.9% of the voting power of our stock. Beginning on February 23, 2012, we may convert the
6% Notes pursuant to a mandatory conversion into shares of its common stock if the market price of our common stock meets certain thresholds.

Noteholders who convert their 6% Notes at their option or whose 6% Notes are converted in a mandatory conversion at our option will also receive a make whole
premium paid in shares of our common stock. The make whole premium will be payable in additional shares of common stock and will be calculated based on the
remaining interest payments on the 6% Notes that would have been received through the original scheduled maturity date of the 6% Notes.

The 6% Notes indenture provides that the maximum number of shares of our common stock that can be issued in respect of the 6% Notes upon conversion or
with respect to the payment of interest or in connection with the make whole premium or otherwise shall be limited to 201,880,000 shares of common stock for
$70 million in aggregate principal amount of the 6% Notes as of February 23, 2010, subject to certain adjustments. If the limit is reached, no holder is entitled to
any other consideration on account of shares not issued. This limitation terminates if the holders of our common stock approve the termination of this limitation.

As part of the Company’s exchange offer in late 2009, the holders of our 5.0% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the “5%
CoCos”) voted to amend the indenture for the 5% Notes to eliminate the right of the holders of the 5% CoCos to put their 5% CoCos to us for repayment in
August 2010. The trustee of the Indenture refused to give effect to this amendment claiming that a majority of the holders was insufficient to effect the
amendment. We sued to seek a court order to direct the trustee to effect the amendment. We lost our claim.

The purchase agreement for the 6% Notes provided, in effect, that if we were to win this claim with respect to the 5% CoCos, we could retain the $20.2 million in
proceeds for general corporate purposes; however, if we lost this claim, we would use the proceeds to satisfy its requirements to repurchase any of the 5% CoCos
that were put in August 2010. As we lost this claim, the proceeds will be used to retire any of the 5% CoCos that are put for repurchase.

On August 2, 2010, we entered into a letter agreement (the “Letter Agreement”) with the investors to facilitate the issuance of the remaining $20.2 million of 6%
Notes, and on August 3, 2010, the issuance and sale of those remaining 6% Notes to the investors was completed. Pursuant to the Letter Agreement, the investors
accepted our required certifications that were conditions to closing under the note purchase agreement and, in turn, provided a certificate to the escrow agent to
release the $20.2 million in escrowed purchase price. Also pursuant to the Letter Agreement, we temporarily increased the conversion rate under the 6% Note
indenture on the date of the second closing for a period of 20 days to 100,000 shares of our Common Stock per $1,000 in principal amount of Notes (the
“Adjusted Conversion Rate”). This has the effect of reducing the conversion price to $0.01 per share. Using this Adjusted Conversion Rate, the investors
converted $590,000 of principal amount of their 6% into an aggregate of 59 million shares of our common stock. The 59 million shares of common stock did not
include any common stock to be issued to holders of 6% Notes in respect of interest on the 6% Notes that we are required to pay on August 16, 2010 (in respect
of the August 15  interest payment date set forth in the Notes). Immediately following the 20-day period, the Conversion Rate will revert back to the initial
conversion rate of approximately 2,326 shares of common stock per $1,000 in principal amount of the 6% Notes (thereby reverting back to the initial conversion
price of $0.43 per share). Following the end of the 20-day period, any future conversions will continue to be subject to the 6% Note indenture limitation that
provides that no more than 201,880,000 shares of common stock may be issued in respect of the 6% Notes.

The net proceeds from the second closing were deposited with the 5% CoCos trustee and will be used by the Company to fund the repurchase of up to $20.1
million of the Company’s outstanding 5.0% Net Share Settled Contingent Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 pursuant to put options exerciseable as of August 9,
2010.
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Sale of YRC Logistics

In June 2010 we entered into an Equity Interest Purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with CEG Holdings, Inc. (“CEG”), a subsidiary of Austin Ventures to sell
YRC Logistics for an aggregate of approximately $37.0 million in cash. Approximately $2.8 million of the purchase price will be deposited into an escrow
account at closing to be held for 12 and 18 months to satisfy certain indemnification claims by CEG that may arise. The Agreement is subject to various closing
conditions and contains certain termination rights for both the Company and CEG, and further provides that, upon termination of the Agreement under specified
circumstances, the Company may be required to pay CEG a termination fee of $1.25 million plus any costs of collection incurred by CEG.

For the six months ended June 30, 2010, net cash used in operation activities for YRC Worldwide was $14.5 million of which YRC Logistics portion was
approximately $4.5 million and as such our future cash flows from operating activities will be positively impacted by the absence of YRC Logistics to some
extent.

Risks and Uncertainties Regarding Future Liquidity

In light of our recent operating results, we have satisfied our short term liquidity needs through a combination of borrowings under our credit facilities, retained
proceeds from asset sales and sale/leaseback financing transactions issuances of our common stock and 6% Notes and an income tax refund from the IRS. In an
effort to further manage liquidity, we have also instituted the deferral of pension plan payments and certain interest and fees. As our operating results improve, we
expect that cash generated from operations will reduce our need to continue to rely upon these sources of liquidity to meet our short term funding requirements. In
August 2009, the employees in most of our bargaining units who are represented by the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the “Teamsters”) ratified a
modification to our collective bargaining agreement to (among other things) implement a 15% wage reduction (which includes the 10% wage reduction
previously implemented in January 2009) and a temporary cessation of the requirement for the Company’s subsidiaries to make contributions to union multi-
employer pension funds. The wage reduction and the temporary pension contribution cessation have also improved our liquidity position. To continue to have
sufficient liquidity to meet our cash flow requirements during 2010:
 

 
•  our operating results must continue to stabilize or recover quarter-over-quarter and shipping volumes must continue to stabilize or recover quarter-

over-quarter;
 

 •  we must continue to have access to our credit facilities;
 

 •  we must renew our ABS Facility in October 2010;
 

 •  we must continue to defer at least through 2010 payment of:
 

 •  interest and fees to our lenders under the Credit Agreement
 

 •  interest and facility fees to purchasers of our accounts receivable pursuant to the ABS Facility
 

 •  interest and principal to our pension funds pursuant to the Contribution Deferral Agreement;
 

 •  our wage reductions and temporary cessation of pension contributions must continue;
 

 •  we must complete the sale/leaseback and real estate sale transactions currently under contract as anticipated; and
 

 
•  we must continue to implement and realize substantial cost savings measures to match our costs with business levels and to continue to become more

efficient.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The uncertainty regarding the
Company’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows and liquidity to fund operations raises substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern (which contemplates the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future). These financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. If we are unable to fund our operations through operating cash
flows, existing credit facilities, sales of non-strategic assets and business lines and other capital market transactions, we would consider in court and out of court
restructuring alternatives.

We expect to continue to monitor our liquidity carefully, work to reduce this uncertainty and address our cash needs through a combination of one or more of the
following actions:
 

 •  we continue to, and expect to implement further cost actions and efficiency improvements;
 

 •  we will continue to aggressively seek additional and return business from customers;
 

 •  if appropriate, we may sell additional equity or pursue other capital market transactions, including pursuant to the Sales Agreement described above;
 

 •  we may consider selling non-strategic assets or business lines, such as the sale of YRC Logistics; and
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•  we expect to carefully manage receipts and disbursements, including amounts and timing, focusing on reducing days sales outstanding and managing

days payables outstanding.
 

At the end of 2010, the temporary cessation of our requirement to make contributions to the multi-employer pension funds in which we participate will end absent
a new agreement with the Teamsters to address this requirement. Based upon expected levels of employment in 2011, we estimate that we will be required to
contribute approximately $25-30 million per month to multi-employer pension funds in 2011. Absent the consent of two-thirds in interest of the lenders under the
Credit Agreement to continue the deferral of interest and fees under the Credit Agreement during 2011, the deferral will terminate at the end of 2010. In addition,
for us to continue our deferral of the payment of future interest and the amortized principal to the pension funds during 2011 under the Contribution Deferral
Agreement, 90% in interest of the pension funds that are a party to the Contribution Deferral Agreement must vote to continue the deferral.

Previously deferred interest and fees under the Credit Agreement of $90.8 million are not due until the end of 2011, unless a majority in interest of the lenders
accelerate the payment because of a termination of the deferral under the Contribution Deferral Agreement or to the extent our cash and unblocked availability
under the Credit Agreement and the ABS Facility in 2011 exceeds certain levels set forth in the Credit Agreement. Likewise, under the Contribution Deferral
Agreement, previously deferred interest and amortized principal payments of $150.4 million are not due until the end of 2011, unless a majority in interest of the
funds elect to accelerate the payments after termination of the deferral. The Company must also renew its ABS Facility in October 2010 and expects to address
the continuation of the deferral of ABS Facility fees of $18.8 million in this renewal. In addition, if the fee and interest deferrals under the Credit Agreement do
not continue in 2011, the Teamsters have the right to terminate the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding on the Job Security Plan dated July 9,
2009, which, among other things, would eliminate the 15% wage reduction in place since August 2009 through March 2013 for employees of bargaining units
that have ratified that plan.

We do not expect that we will have sufficient liquidity to make these payments in 2011. As a result, we are in discussions with all of our stakeholders and we are
exploring the restructuring and possible recapitalization of these obligations, which may include the issuance of a significant amount of additional equity. Among
other discussions with all of our stakeholders, the Company and the Teamsters are engaged in discussions regarding this requirement and the competitiveness of
the Company through two joint labor/management committees that have been formed. A failure to address these obligations prior to 2011 would materially and
adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to continue to operate our business in the ordinary course.

Our board of directors continues to evaluate the timing of a reverse stock split, and at this time, has not finalized a date. Assuming the closing price of our
common stock price is not above $1.00 for ten consecutive business days by August 30, 2010, we expect to receive a delisting notice from NASDAQ. If we
receive a delisting notice from NASDAQ, we would intend to request a hearing with NASDAQ to present a plan of compliance. The request for a hearing will
stay the delisting of our common stock. We expect that a hearing would be scheduled 30 to 45 days after NASDAQ receives our request for a hearing. Although
there is no assurance the exception would be granted which would extend the period to regain compliance with the NASDAQ marketplace rules, we believe its
continued progress with all of its stakeholders would provide a solid basis for the exception.

Additional risks regarding our liquidity in 2011 if our current deferral arrangements are not extended beyond their current expected expiration dates are described
in Item 1A – Risk Factors in the quarterly report.

Forward-Looking Statements in “Liquidity”

Our beliefs regarding liquidity sufficiency are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are indicated by words such as “expected” and other similar words.
Our actual liquidity may differ from our projected liquidity based on a number of factors, including those listed in “—Risks and Uncertainties regarding Future
Liquidity”.

Contingent Convertible Notes

The balance sheet classification of our contingent convertible notes between short-term and long-term is dependent upon certain conversion triggers, as defined in
the applicable indenture. The contingent convertible notes include a provision whereby the note holder can require immediate conversion of the notes if, among
other reasons, the credit rating on the contingent convertible notes assigned by Moody’s is lower than B2 or if the credit rating assigned by S&P is lower than B.
At June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, the conversion trigger was met, and accordingly, the contingent convertible notes have been classified as a short-term
liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Based upon this particular conversion right and based upon an assumed market price of our stock of
$0.35 per share, our aggregate obligation for full satisfaction of the $21.7 million par value of contingent convertible notes would require cash payments of $0.2
million. Our Credit Agreement will not allow us to pay more than $1 million in cash payments with respect to the conversion of these notes unless 66 2/3% of the
lenders approve the excess payments.

Cash Flow Measurements

We use free cash flow as a measurement to manage working capital and capital expenditures. Free cash flow indicates cash available to fund additional capital
expenditures, to reduce outstanding debt (including current maturities) or to invest in our growth strategies.
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This measurement is used for internal management purposes and should not be construed as a better measurement than net cash from operating activities as
defined by generally accepted accounting principles.

The following table illustrates our calculation for determining free cash flow for the six months ended June 30:
 

(in millions)   2010   2009  
Net cash used in operating activities   $(14.5)  $(243.4) 
Net property and equipment proceeds    24.9    11.5  

    
 

   
 

Free cash flow   $ 10.4   $(231.9) 
    

 

   

 

Operating cash flows increased $228.9 million during the six months ended June 30, 2010 versus the same period in 2009. The increase in cash from operations
was largely due to a reduced net loss combined with the receipt of an $82.4 million income tax refund in February 2010 and $1.9 million in April 2010.
Additionally, an increase in business volumes during the second quarter of 2010 contributed to an increase in accounts receivable and accounts payable from
December 2009 to June 2010 of $27.6 million and $17.7 million, respectively. Operating cash flows used by our discontinued operations were $4.5 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2010 versus cash provided by operations of $18.1 million for the same period in 2009. This decrease is mainly attributable to working
capital changes.

Net property and equipment additions were $13.4 million lower in 2010 versus 2009 and reflect our continued focus on managing overall capital expenditures
during the period of reduced volumes.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $30.8 million in 2010 versus $71.3 million in 2009. During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we received
proceeds of $49.8 million from the sale of our 6% Notes and increased borrowings under our credit facility by $28.9 million, which in turn, provided us with the
funds to pay off our 8 /2% USF notes in the amount of $45.3 million. We also received proceeds of $15.9 million from our at the market issuance sales which are
discussed further within our liquidity section. We incurred debt issuance costs of $9.6 million in 2010 in conjunction with our 6% Notes and credit facility
amendments. We also paid $17.3 million of equity issuance costs related to the December 31, 2009 bond exchange and at the market transactions.
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Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

The following tables provide aggregated information regarding our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of June 30, 2010.

Contractual Cash Obligations
 
   Payments Due By Period
(in millions)   Less than 1 year    2-3 years  4-5 years  After 5 years  Total
Balance sheet obligations:           

ABS borrowings   $ 147.4  $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 147.4
Long-term debt including interest    70.6   537.3   51.3   —     659.2

Lease financing obligations including interest    39.7   83.1   86.8   205.2   414.8
Pension deferral obligations including interest    84.9   77.4   —     —     162.3
Workers’ compensation and other claims obligations    130.4   152.0   69.3   129.7   481.4

Off balance sheet obligations:           
Operating leases    67.9   66.0   22.7   21.5   178.1
Capital expenditures    3.6   —     —     —     3.6

                    

Total contractual obligations   $ 544.5  $ 915.8  $ 230.1  $ 356.4  $2,046.8
                    

 

(a) Total liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits as of June 30, 2010, were $84.1 million and are classified on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet
within “Other Current and Accrued Liabilities”.

(b) Long-term debt maturities are reflected by contractual maturity for all obligations other than the contingent convertible senior notes. These notes are
instead presented based on the earliest possible redemption date defined as the first date on which the note holders have the option to require us to purchase
their notes at par. At June 30, 2010, these notes are convertible for cash payments of approximately $0.2 million based on an assumed market price of $0.35
per share for our common stock. Should the note holders elect to exercise the conversion options, cash payments of $0.2 million would be less than those
presented in the table above.

(c) Obligations for operating leases for YRC Logistics, a discontinued operation, have been excluded from the obligations included herein.

During the six months ended June 30, 2010, we entered into no new operating leases for revenue equipment.

Other Commercial Commitments

The following table reflects other commercial commitments or potential cash outflows that may result from a contingent event, such as a need to borrow short-
term funds due to insufficient free cash flow.
 
   Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period    
(in millions)   Less than 1 year  2-3 years  4-5 years  After 5 years  Total
Unused line of credit   $ 0.9  $ 137.3  $ —    $ —    $138.2
Letters of credit    526.9   —     —     —     526.9
Surety bonds    65.6   3.5   —     —     69.1

                    

Total commercial commitments   $ 593.4  $ 140.8  $ —    $ —    $734.2
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are primarily exposed to the market risk associated with unfavorable movements in interest rates, foreign currencies, and fuel price volatility. The risk
inherent in our market risk sensitive instruments and positions is the potential loss or increased expense arising from adverse changes in those factors. There have
been no material changes to our market risk policies or our market risk sensitive instruments and positions as described in our annual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2009.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our filings under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Our
principal executive and financial officers have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures and concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of June 30, 2010.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2010 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We discuss legal proceedings in the “Commitments, Contingencies and Uncertainties” note to our consolidated financial statements.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors

If we are unable to meet the continued listing requirements of NASDAQ, our common stock currently listed on the NASDAQ may be delisted which
would have an adverse effect on the market liquidity for our common stock.

The NASDAQ’s continued listing requirements provide, among other requirements, that the minimum bid price of our common stock not fall below $1.00 per
share for 30 consecutive business days. On March 3, 2010, we received from the NASDAQ a notice of non-compliance with the minimum bid price requirement
and we have a grace period of 180 calendar days, or until August 30, 2010, to regain compliance with this requirement. In order to regain compliance, the closing
price of our common stock must be $1.00 or greater for a minimum of ten consecutive business days during the 180-day grace period. On February 17, 2010, we
received shareholder approval of an amendment to our certificate of incorporation that permits our board of directors to effect a reverse stock split within a range
from 5:1 to 25:1 at anytime prior to February 17, 2011.

Our board of directors continues to evaluate the timing of a reverse stock split, and at this time, has not finalized a date. Assuming the closing price of our
common stock price is not above $1.00 for ten consecutive business days by August 30, 2010, we expect to receive a delisting notice from NASDAQ. If we
receive a delisting notice from NASDAQ, we would intend to request a hearing with NASDAQ to present a plan of compliance. The request for a hearing will
stay the delisting of our common stock. We expect that a hearing would be scheduled 30 to 45 days after NASDAQ receives our request for a hearing. There can
be no assurance that an exception would be granted to extend the period we have to regain compliance with the NASDAQ marketplace rules and our common
stock will not be subject to delisting.

Delisting of our common stock would have an adverse effect on the market liquidity of our common stock and, as a result, the market price for our common stock
could become more volatile. Further, delisting also could make it more difficult for us to raise additional capital.

We do not believe we will be able to meet our liquidity requirements if our current deferral arrangements are not extended beyond their current
respective expiration dates.

At the end of 2010, the temporary cessation of our requirement to make contributions to the multi-employer pension funds in which we participate will end absent
a new agreement with the Teamsters to address this requirement. Based upon expected levels of employment in 2011, we estimate that we will be required to
contribute approximately $25-30 million per month to multi-employer pension funds in 2011. Absent the consent of two-thirds in interest of the lenders under the
Credit Agreement to continue the deferral of interest and fees under the Credit Agreement during 2011, the deferral will terminate at the end of 2010. In addition,
for us to continue our deferral of the payment of future interest and the amortized principal to the pension funds during 2011 under the Contribution Deferral
Agreement, 90% in interest of the pension funds that are a party to the Contribution Deferral Agreement must vote to continue the deferral.

Previously deferred interest and fees under the Credit Agreement of $90.8 million are not due until the end of 2011, unless a majority in interest of the lenders
accelerate the payment because of a termination of the deferral under the Contribution Deferral Agreement or to the extent our cash and unblocked availability
under the Credit Agreement and the ABS Facility in 2011 exceeds certain levels set forth in the Credit Agreement. Likewise, under the Contribution Deferral
Agreement, previously deferred interest and amortized principal payments of $150.4 million are not due until the end of 2011, unless a majority in interest of the
funds elect to accelerate the payments after termination of the deferral. The Company must also renew its ABS Facility in October 2010 and expects to address
the continuation of the deferral of ABS Facility fees of $18.8 million in this renewal. In addition, if the fee and interest deferrals under the Credit Agreement do
not continue in 2011, the Teamsters have the right to terminate the Amended and Restated Memorandum of Understanding on the Job Security Plan dated July 9,
2009, which, among other things, would eliminate the 15% wage reduction in place since August 2009 through March 2013 for employees of bargaining units
that have ratified that plan.

We do not expect that we will have sufficient liquidity to make these payments in 2011. As a result, we are in discussions with all of our stakeholders and we are
exploring the restructuring and possible recapitalization of these obligations, which is likely to include the issuance of a significant amount of additional equity.
Among other discussions with all of our stakeholders, the Company and the Teamsters are engaged in discussions regarding this requirement and the
competitiveness of the Company through two joint
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labor/management committees that have been formed. A failure to address these obligations prior to 2011 would materially and adversely affect our liquidity and
our ability to continue to operate our business in the ordinary course.

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Financial Condition—Liquidity” for additional information
regarding our liquidity.
 
Item 6. Exhibits
 

  2.1*  Equity Interest Purchase Agreement, dated June 25, 2010, between the Company and CEG Holdings, Inc.

  3.1
  

Certificate of Elimination of Class A Convertible Stock of YRC Worldwide Inc., dated April 30, 2010 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 30, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

10.1
  

Amendment No. 17, dated May 3, 2010, to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form
8-K, filed on May 4, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

10.2
  

Amendment No. 17, dated May 3, 2010, to the ABS Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on May 4, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

10.3
  

Amendment No. 18, dated June 11, 2010, to the ABS Facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on June 14, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

10.4
  

Amendment No. 4, dated May 3, 2010 to Contribution Deferral Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on May 4, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

10.5
  

YRC Worldwide Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive and Equity Award Plan, as amended with effect from June 29, 2010 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on June 29, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

10.6*  YRC Worldwide Inc. Director Compensation Plan.

10.7*  Amendment No. 7 to Yellow Pension Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2004.

10.8
  

At Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2010, among the Company, Wm Smith & Co. and McNicoll, Lewis & Vlak
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 4, 2010, File No. 000-12255).

31.1*
  

Certification of William D. Zollars pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*
  

Certification Sheila K. Taylor pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*
  

Certification William D. Zollars pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.2*
  

Certification Sheila K. Taylor pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

 
* Indicates documents filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

   YRC Worldwide Inc.
   Registrant

Date: August 9, 2010    /s/ William D. Zollars
   William D. Zollars
   Chairman of the Board of
   Directors, President & Chief
   Executive Officer

Date: August 9, 2010    /s/ Sheila K. Taylor
   Sheila K. Taylor
   Executive Vice President
   & Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 2.1

EQUITY INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT

For the Acquisition of

THE COMPANIES (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED)

By and Among

YRC WORLDWIDE INC.,

YRC INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS, INC.,

YRC LOGISTICS ASIA LIMITED,

YRC LOGISTICS CHINA (HONG KONG) LIMITED,

YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES, INC.

And

YRC ENTERPRISE SERVICES, INC., As Sellers,

And

YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES, INC., As Seller Representative,

And

THE COMPANIES (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED)

And

THE COMPANY SUBSIDIARIES (AS HEREINAFTER DEFINED)

And

CEG HOLDINGS, INC., As Purchaser

Dated as of June 25, 2010
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EQUITY INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS EQUITY INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of June 25, 2010, is entered into by and among CEG HOLDINGS,
INC., a Delaware corporation (“Purchaser”), YRC WORLDWIDE INC., a Delaware corporation (“YRCW”), YRC INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS,
INC., a Delaware corporation (“YRC International”), YRC LOGISTICS ASIA LIMITED, a Hong Kong private company limited by shares (“YRCL Asia”),
YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES, INC., an Illinois corporation (“YRC Logistics Services”), YRC LOGISTICS CHINA (HONG KONG) LIMITED, a Hong
Kong private company limited by shares (“YRCL China Hong Kong”), YRC ENTERPRISE SERVICES, INC., a Delaware corporation (“YRC Enterprise”),
YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES, INC., an Illinois corporation, as the Seller Representative (the “Seller Representative”), the undersigned COMPANIES (as
hereinafter defined) and the undersigned COMPANY SUBSIDIARIES (as hereinafter defined). YRCW, YRC International, YRCL Asia, YRCL China Hong
Kong, YRC Logistics Services and YRC Enterprise are sometimes collectively referred to herein as the “Sellers” and each individually as a “Seller.”

RECITALS

WHEREAS, YRC International is the owner of (A) ninety-nine percent (99%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of (i) YRC Logistics Inc.,
S.R.L., an entity formed under the laws of Peru (“YRC Peru”), (ii) YRC Logistics Inc. Ltda., an entity formed under the laws of Colombia (“YRC Colombia”),
and (iii) YRC Logistics, Inc. Limitada, an entity formed under the laws of Chile (“YRC Chile”); (B) ninety percent (90%) of the issued and outstanding Equity
Interests of YRC Logistics Inc., S.R.L., an entity formed under the laws of Argentina (“YRC Argentina”); and (C) all of the issued and outstanding Equity
Interests of (i) YGPS (EU) Limited (registered number 05021332), an entity formed under the laws of England and Wales, and (ii) YRC Logistics B.V., an entity
formed under the laws of the Netherlands (such entities listed in clauses (A) through (C) above, the “YRC International Companies”); and YRC Logistics, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“YRC Logistics”), is the owner of all of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of the Persons in clauses (A) and (B) above not owned
by YRC International;

WHEREAS, YRCL Asia is the owner of (A) forty nine percent (49%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRC Logistics (Thailand) Co.,
Ltd., an entity formed under the laws of Thailand (“YRCL Thailand”); and (B) fifty-nine percent (59%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRC
Logistics Philippines, Inc., an entity formed under the laws of the Philippines (“YRCL Philippines”); (C) ninety-nine and ninety-five hundredths percent
(99.95%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRC Logistics India Private Limited, an entity formed under the laws of India (“YRCL India”), and
(D) all of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of (i) YRC Logistics Japan Limited, an entity formed under the laws of Japan (“YRCL Japan”), (ii) YRC
Logistics Hong Kong Limited, an entity formed under the laws of Hong Kong (“YRCL Hong Kong”), which entity in turn is the owner of five hundredths percent
(0.05%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRCL India, (iii) YRC Logistics Korea Limited, an entity formed under the laws of Korea, (iv) YRC
Logistics Taiwan Limited, an entity formed under the laws of Taiwan (“YRCL Taiwan”), (v) YRC Logistics Singapore Pte. Ltd., an entity formed under the laws
of Singapore (“YRCL Singapore”), (vi) YRC Logistics Vietnam Limited, an entity formed under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, and (vii) YRC Logistics
Vietnam Limited, an entity formed under the laws of Vietnam (“YRCL Vietnam” and such entities listed in clauses (A) through (D) above and YRCL Malaysia
below, the “YRCL Asia Companies”);



WHEREAS, YRCL China Hong Kong is the owner of thirty percent (30%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRC Logistics Malaysia Sdn.
Bhd., an entity formed under the laws of Malaysia (“YRCL Malaysia”);

WHEREAS, Mrs. Nualsri Pattarathammas and Mr. Eric Alan Friedlander, as nominee shareholders of YRCL Asia (the “YRCL Thailand Nominees”), are
the holders of legal title to all of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRCL Thailand not held by YRCL Asia (with YRCL Asia having beneficial
ownership of such Equity Interests in YRCL Thailand);

WHEREAS, Eric Alan Friedlander, Fred H. Yturzaeta, Robecca M. Cuenca, Jacinta G. Mendoza, Reid Anthony Schultz and Tam Kwok Shing, as
nominee shareholders of YRCL Asia (the “YRCL Philippines Nominees”), are the holders of legal title to all of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of
YRCL Philippines not held by YRCL Asia (with YRCL Asia having beneficial ownership of such Equity Interests);

WHEREAS, Kais A/K Luta, as the nominee shareholder of YRCL China Hong Kong (the “YRCL Malaysia Nominee” and together with the YRCL
Thailand Nominees and the YRCL Philippines Nominees, the “Nominees”), is the holder of legal title to all of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of
YRCL Malaysia not held by YRCL China Hong Kong (with YRCL China Hong Kong having beneficial ownership of such Equity Interests);

WHEREAS, YRC Logistics Services is the owner of all the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of (i) YRC Logistics Services Inc., an entity formed
under the laws of Quebec (“YRC Logistics Services Quebec”), (ii) YRC Logistics Supply Chain Solutions Inc., an entity formed under the laws of Ontario (“YRC
Logistics Supply Chain Solutions”), (iii) USF Logistics (Mexico) Inc., a Delaware corporation, (iv) USF Logistics Services (Puerto Rico) Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and (v) MIQ Distribution, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (such entities listed in clauses (i) through (v) above, the “YRC Logistics
Services Companies”);

WHEREAS, YRC Enterprise is the owner of all the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRC Logistics (YRC Logistics, together with the YRC
International Companies, the YRCL Asia Companies and the YRC Logistics Services Companies, collectively referred to herein as the “Companies”);

WHEREAS, as a material inducement to Purchaser to enter into this Agreement, (i) each of the individuals set forth on Exhibit H (each a “Key Employee”
and, collectively, the “Key Employees”) shall, as a condition to Purchaser’s obligation to close the transaction contemplated herein, enter into an employment
offer letter in the form presented to them by Purchaser prior to the date hereof and a Non-Solicitation Agreement (together, the “Key Employment Agreements”),
and (ii) each of the individuals set forth on Exhibit I (except as set forth therein) shall, as a condition to Purchaser’s obligation to close the transaction
contemplated herein, enter into a Non-Solicitation Agreement, and

WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, Purchaser desires to purchase from the Sellers, and the Sellers desire to sell to Purchaser, all of the
issued and outstanding Equity Interests of the Companies; and

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Exhibit A attached hereto.
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AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these recitals and the respective representations, warranties and covenants contained herein, and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
PURCHASE AND SALE; CLOSING

Section 1.1 Purchase and Sale of Equity Interests. Subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing
or the Delayed Closing (as applicable), Purchaser will purchase, or will cause an Affiliate designated by Purchaser (a “Purchaser Designee”) to purchase, from
each Seller, and each Seller will sell, and if requested by Purchaser will cause the Nominees (where applicable and provided the Purchaser Designee is permitted
to be a nominee under local Law) to sell, to Purchaser or a Purchaser Designee or other Person designated by Purchaser, the Equity Interests of the Companies
listed opposite each Seller’s and Nominee’s name in Exhibit B attached hereto (collectively, the “Company Interests”); provided that as a condition to any
Purchaser Designee’s purchase of any Company Interests, such Purchaser Designee shall execute an instrument in form and substance reasonably acceptable to
the Sellers pursuant to which such Purchaser Designee agrees to be bound as a “Purchaser” under this Agreement.

Section 1.2 Purchase Price. Subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement:

(a) The aggregate purchase price for the Company Interests shall equal $34,225,000 (the “Pre-Adjustment Purchase Price”), increased or decreased
pursuant to the purchase price adjustments set forth in Section 1.2(c) and Section 1.3 (the “Purchase Price”).

(b) The Purchase Price shall be allocated in accordance with the methodology set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto.

(c) The Purchase Price shall be paid as follows:

(i) $34,225,000, minus (a) the Closing Adjustment Amount minus (b) any Transaction Cost Deficiency minus (c) the Payment Obligations
minus (d) Borrowed Money Debt minus (e) the Delayed Payment Amounts plus (f) the Retained Insurance Claims Value (the “Closing Amount”),
shall be delivered by Purchaser by wire transfer to the Sellers as directed by the Seller Representative at the Closing;

(ii) $2,775,000 (the “Indemnification Escrow Amount”) shall be deposited at the Closing by Purchaser, by wire transfer into an escrow
account (the “Indemnification Escrow Account”) designated by the Escrow Agent. The Indemnification Escrow Amount shall be Purchaser’s until
such amounts are disbursed by the Escrow Agent in accordance with this Agreement and an Escrow Agreement, in form and substance as set forth
on Exhibit D attached hereto (the “Escrow Agreement”), to be entered into at the Closing among the Seller Representative, Purchaser and the
Escrow Agent. Except as otherwise provided in the Escrow Agreement, interest accrued on the Indemnification Escrow Amount shall be paid to the
Sellers and Purchaser, as the case may be, in proportion to the disbursements of the Indemnification Escrow Amount made to the Sellers and
Purchaser and each party to this Agreement shall be responsible
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for any Taxes payable on the portion of the Indemnification Escrow Amount and accrued interest thereon disbursed to such party to this Agreement;
provided, however, that to the extent Taxes are payable on the income earned on the Indemnification Escrow Amount or any portion thereof, prior to
the disbursement of such amounts to the Sellers or Purchaser, Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of such Taxes; and

(iii) the Delayed Payment Amounts shall be deposited into an escrow account (the “Delayed Payment Escrow Account”) designated by the
Escrow Agent, to be held and disbursed by the Escrow Agent in accordance with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. The Delayed Payment
Amounts shall be Purchaser’s until such amounts are disbursed by the Escrow Agent in accordance with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.
Except as otherwise provided in the Escrow Agreement, interest accrued on the Delayed Payment Amounts shall be paid to the Sellers and
Purchaser, as the case may be, in proportion to the disbursements of the Delayed Payment Amount made to the Sellers and Purchaser and each party
to this Agreement shall be responsible for any Taxes payable on the Delayed Payment Amounts and accrued interest thereon disbursed to such party
to this Agreement; provided, however, that to the extent Taxes are payable on the income earned on the Delayed Payment Amounts or any portion
thereof, prior to the disbursement of such amounts to the Sellers or Purchaser, Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of such Taxes. In the
event that the Delayed Closing of a Delayed Closing Company fails to occur on or before the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the Parties agree
to instruct the Escrow Agent to release the Delayed Payment Amount relating to such Delayed Closing Company to Purchaser.

(d) If required to deposit an amount into escrow pursuant to Section 1.3(a), Purchaser shall deposit such amount at the Closing by wire transfer into
an escrow account (the “Working Capital Escrow Account”) designated by the Escrow Agent, to be held and disbursed by the Escrow Agent in accordance
with the Escrow Agreement. The Seller Representative and Purchaser shall execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written instructions directing the
Escrow Agent to disburse the funds in the Working Capital Escrow Account upon (and in accordance with) the final resolution of Net Working Capital
pursuant to Section 1.3. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything else contained herein to the contrary, Purchaser may in its sole election furnish to the
Sellers a letter of credit equal to the amount that Purchaser would have been required to contribute to the Working Capital Escrow Account in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Seller Representative in lieu of depositing an amount into escrow pursuant to Section 1.3(a), and upon furnishing
such letter of credit to the Sellers, shall have satisfied its obligations under Section 1.3(a) with respect to the deposit of amounts into the Working Capital
Escrow Account. The amount deposited into the Working Capital Escrow Account, if any, shall remain Purchaser’s until such amounts are disbursed by the
Escrow Agent in accordance with this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in the Escrow Agreement, interest accrued on
the amount deposited into the Working Capital Escrow Account shall be paid to the Sellers and Purchaser, as the case may be, in proportion to the
disbursements of such amount made to the Sellers and Purchaser and each party to this Agreement shall be responsible for any Taxes payable on such
amount from the Working Capital Escrow Account and accrued interest thereon disbursed to such party to this Agreement; provided, however, that to the
extent Taxes are payable on the income earned on the Working Capital Escrow Account or any portion thereof, prior to the disbursement of such amounts
to the Sellers or Purchaser, Purchaser shall be responsible for the payment of such Taxes.

(e) Each Seller hereby agrees that none of Purchaser or its Affiliates shall have any responsibility to see to the payment of the appropriate portion of
the Purchase Price to the
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appropriate Seller (including any amounts distributed pursuant to Section 1.2(c), Section 1.3(d) or ARTICLE VIII of this Agreement or pursuant to the
Escrow Agreement), and that Purchaser’s sole responsibility with respect to payment of the Purchase Price shall be to (i) make payment of the Closing
Amount to such accounts of the Sellers as are specified in writing by the Seller Representative, (ii) make payment of the Indemnification Escrow Amount
to the Indemnification Escrow Account and, if applicable, the payment of the amount required in Section 1.3(a) into the Working Capital Escrow Account,
(iii) execute and deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent in accordance with Section 1.6, (iv) make payment of the Seller Favorable Final
Adjustment Amount, if any, and (v) pay applicable withholding Taxes described in Section 1.7.

Section 1.3 Adjustments to Pre-Adjustment Purchase Price.

(a) No later than seven (7) Business Days prior to the Closing, the Seller Representative will deliver to Purchaser a good faith estimate of the Net
Working Capital of the Business at and as of 11:59 p.m. CDT on June 30, 2010 (the “Initial Net Working Capital Estimate”). Purchaser and its
representatives, including Ernst & Young LLP or such other similar firm as Purchaser shall designate, will be entitled to review all work papers of the
Sellers, the Companies and Company Subsidiaries and their respective representatives, including their independent accountants, relating to the calculation
of the Initial Net Working Capital Estimate. If Purchaser disputes in good faith the Initial Net Working Capital Estimate (or any portion thereof) prior to the
Closing, then Purchaser and the Sellers will negotiate in good faith for sixty (60) days, if necessary, to attempt to resolve any such dispute at or prior to the
Closing; provided, however, that:

(i) if Purchaser and the Sellers cannot agree on the Initial Net Working Capital Estimate prior to the Closing and the difference between the
estimated Net Working Capital calculated by Purchaser in good faith and the estimated Net Working Capital calculated by the Seller Representative
in good faith, in each case at and as of 11:59 p.m. CDT on June 30, 2010, is $1,000,000 or less, the Net Working Capital of the Business at and as of
11:59 p.m. CDT on June 30, 2010 shall be deemed to equal the average of Purchaser’s good faith calculation of such estimated Net Working Capital
and the Sellers’ good faith calculation of such estimated Net Working Capital; and

(ii) if Purchaser and the Sellers cannot agree on the Initial Net Working Capital Estimate prior to the Closing and the difference between the
estimated Net Working Capital calculated by Purchaser and the estimated Net Working Capital calculated by the Sellers, in each case at and as of
11:59 p.m. CDT on June 30, 2010, is greater than $1,000,000, then (A) the Net Working Capital of the Business at and as of 11:59 p.m. CDT on
June 30, 2010 shall be equal to Purchaser’s good faith calculation of such estimated Net Working Capital and (B) such estimated Net Working
Capital calculations of Purchaser and the Sellers shall be submitted to the Referee in accordance with the dispute resolution mechanisms set forth in
Section 1.3(c).

The estimated Net Working Capital of the Business at and as of 11:59 p.m. CDT on June 30, 2010, as it may be agreed upon by Purchaser and the Sellers or
determined pursuant to clauses (i) or (ii) of this Section 1.3(a) above, shall be the referred to as the “Estimated Net Working Capital.” If the Estimated Net
Working Capital is determined pursuant to clause (ii)(A) above, then Purchaser shall deposit, into the Working Capital Escrow Account in accordance with
Section 1.2(d), the amount by which the Estimated Net Working Capital exceeds the Base Amount. If the Estimated Net Working Capital is less than the
Base Amount, then the
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Pre-Adjustment Purchase Price shall be decreased at Closing by the amount of such deficit (the “Closing Adjustment Amount”).

(b) As promptly as practicable, but in any event within 75 days after the Closing Date, Purchaser will prepare and deliver to the Seller Representative
a balance sheet of the Business at and as of immediately prior to the Closing (the “Final Balance Sheet”) and a calculation of the Net Working Capital as
derived from the Final Balance Sheet. The Final Balance Sheet will be prepared in accordance with this Agreement and consistent with past practice in the
operation of the Business. Following the delivery of the Final Balance Sheet to the Seller Representative, Purchaser will afford the Seller Representative
and its representatives an opportunity to examine the Final Balance Sheet and such supporting schedules and analyses, and the relevant portions of the
books and records of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries, as are reasonably necessary and appropriate to evaluate the Final Balance Sheet and
Purchaser’s calculation of the Net Working Capital as derived from the Final Balance Sheet.

(c) If within 30 days following delivery of the Final Balance Sheet to the Seller Representative, the Seller Representative has not delivered to
Purchaser written notice of its objections to the Final Balance Sheet (such notice must contain a statement describing in reasonable detail the basis of such
objections) (the “Objection Notice”), then the Final Balance Sheet shall be deemed final and conclusive. If the Seller Representative delivers the Objection
Notice within such 30-day period, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall endeavor in good faith to resolve the objections, for a period not to
exceed 15 days from the date of delivery of the Objection Notice. If at the end of such 15-day period there are any objections that remain in dispute, then
the remaining objections in dispute shall be submitted for resolution to the Houston office of Deloitte & Touche, or if Deloitte & Touche is unable or
unwilling to accept the engagement, then to a Person mutually acceptable to the Seller Representative and Purchaser (in each case, the “Referee”). The
Referee shall determine any unresolved items within 30 days after the objections that remain in dispute are submitted to it, and Purchaser and the Seller
Representative shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with any investigations of the Referee. If any remaining objections are
submitted to the Referee for resolution:

(i) the Sellers and Purchaser shall furnish to the Referee such work papers and other documents and information relating to such objections as
the Referee may request and are available to that party or its Subsidiaries (or its independent public accountants) and will be afforded the opportunity
to present to the Referee any material relating to the determination of the matters in dispute and to discuss such determination with the Referee;

(ii) to the extent that a value has been assigned to any objection that remains in dispute, the Referee shall not assign a value to such objection
that is greater than the greatest value for such objection claimed by either the Seller Representative or Purchaser or less than the smallest value for
such objection claimed by either such party;

(iii) the determination by the Referee as set forth in a written notice delivered to the Seller Representative and Purchaser by the Referee, shall
be made in accordance with this Agreement and shall be binding and conclusive on the parties to this Agreement, shall constitute an arbitral award
that is final, binding and unappealable and upon which a judgment may be entered by a court having jurisdiction thereof and shall be in substitution
of and precludes the bringing of any Proceedings in any court in
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connection with any dispute under this Section 1.3 (other than for enforcement of the final award); and

(iv) the fees and expenses of the Referee shall be paid by the party whose aggregate claimed value of matters submitted to the Referee for
resolution is further from the final aggregate value for such matters determined by the Referee.

(d) As used in this Agreement, the “Purchaser Favorable Final Adjustment Amount” means an amount equal to (i) the positive number, if any,
resulting from the following calculation: (a) the Base Amount minus (b) the Net Working Capital as derived from the Final Balance Sheet minus (c) the
Closing Adjustment Amount, or (ii) zero, if the calculation set forth in clause (i) of this sentence does not result in a positive number or results in a positive
number equal to or less than $25,000. As used in this Agreement, the “Seller Favorable Final Adjustment Amount” means an amount equal to (i) the
positive number, if any, resulting from the following calculation: (a) the Net Working Capital as derived from the Final Balance Sheet minus (b) the Base
Amount plus (c) the Closing Adjustment Amount, or (ii) zero, if the calculation set forth in clause (i) of this sentence does not result in a positive number
or results in a positive number equal to or less than $25,000. To the extent that the Seller Favorable Final Adjustment Amount exceeds zero, Purchaser will
pay to the Sellers, as directed by the Seller Representative, within ten (10) Business Days of the final determination of the Net Working Capital in
accordance with this Section 1.3, an amount equal to the Seller Favorable Final Adjustment Amount. To the extent that the Purchaser Favorable Final
Adjustment Amount exceeds zero, the Sellers shall pay to Purchaser, within ten (10) Business Days of the final determination of the Net Working Capital
in accordance with this Section 1.3, an amount equal to the Purchaser Favorable Final Adjustment Amount, or if Purchaser elects and notifies the Seller
Representative of its election in writing within five (5) Business Days of the final determination of Net Working Capital, Purchaser shall be entitled to a
disbursement from the Working Capital Escrow Account, if applicable, or the Indemnification Escrow Account in an amount equal to the Purchaser
Favorable Final Adjustment Amount (in lieu of payment of such amount by the Sellers). In the event a party that is obligated to make a payment pursuant
to this Section 1.3(d) fails to make such payment in full on or before the deadline for making such payment pursuant to this Section 1.3(d), the unpaid
amount shall bear interest at the Past Due Rate from (and including) the deadline for making such payment pursuant to this Section 1.3(d) to (but
excluding) the date on which such unpaid amount is paid; provided, however, that that if Purchaser has made the election in the preceding sentence and,
prior to the deadline for making such payment to Purchaser the Seller Representative has executed and delivered a joint written instruction directing the
Escrow Agent to disburse the Purchaser Favorable Final Adjustment Amount from the Working Capital Escrow Account, if applicable, or the
Indemnification Escrow Account to Purchaser and none of the Sellers or the Seller Representative otherwise interferes with, objects to or impedes the
release of such amount to Purchaser, then the Sellers shall not be liable as a result of the Escrow Agent’s failure to disburse such funds to Purchaser on or
prior to the deadline for making such payment.

Section 1.4 Closing Date. Subject to ARTICLE VII, and excluding the Post-Closing Transfers which are addressed in Section 1.6, the purchase and sale
(the “Closing”) provided for in this Agreement will take place at the offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, 900 S. Capital of
Texas Highway, Las Cimas IV, Fifth Floor, Austin, Texas 78746, or remotely via the exchange of executed documents and other closing deliverables, at 10:00
A.M., CDT, on the date that is two Business Days following the satisfaction or waiver of all conditions to Closing in ARTICLE VI (other than those conditions
that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the fulfillment or waiver of those conditions), or at such other time and place as the Seller
Representative and
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Purchaser may agree in writing. The date and time on which the Closing actually takes place is referred to herein as the “Closing Date.”

Section 1.5 Closing Deliveries.

(a) At the Closing, the Sellers will deliver to Purchaser:

(i) certificates representing all of the certificated Company Interests of the Companies other than the Delayed Closing Companies, which
certificates shall be duly endorsed (or accompanied by duly executed stock powers), along with any transfer documentation or corporate
authorizations necessary to effect the transfer of Company Interests of the Companies other than the Delayed Closing Companies whether
certificated or non-certificated;

(ii) resignations or evidence satisfactory to Purchaser of the removal, in each case effective as of the Closing Date, of all of the directors,
officers and managers (of manager-managed limited liability companies), as applicable, of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries other than
the directors, officers and managers listed on Schedule 1.5(a)(ii) and such others as are requested in writing by Purchaser at least ten Business Days
prior to the Closing not to resign or be removed;

(iii) all corporate books and accounting books and records of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries (which, with respect to non-U.S.
Companies and Company Subsidiaries, shall include certified copies of resolutions approving the resignations contemplated hereby (if necessary)
and financial statements for the most recently ended fiscal year);

(iv) certified copies of the resolutions duly adopted by the boards of directors (or similar governing body) of the Sellers and the Companies
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the other agreements contemplated herein, and the consummation of all
transactions contemplated herein and therein;

(v) a certificate with respect to the matters set forth in Section 6.4(b);

(vi) an affidavit of each Seller (other than YRCL Asia and YRCL China Hong Kong) stating that such Seller is not a “foreign person” within
the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser, dated as of the Closing Date and duly executed
by each such Seller;

(vii) a Transition Services Agreement, executed by the YRC Companies (as defined therein), in substantially the form and substance as set
forth on Exhibit E attached hereto (the “TSA”);

(viii) a PowerForward License Agreement, executed by YRCW, in substantially the form and substance as set forth on Exhibit F attached
hereto (the “License Agreement”);

(ix) a Commercial Services Agreement, executed by YRC Logistics (as may be renamed as MIQ Logistics, LLC), YRC Logistics Global, LLC
(as may be renamed as MIQ Global, LLC), YRCW and YRC Inc., in substantially the form and substance as set forth on Exhibit G attached hereto
(the “Commercial Services Agreement”);
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(x) an Assignment and Assumption of Lease in form and substance as set forth in Exhibit L attached hereto executed by the tenant entity as
assignor and a Company Subsidiary designated by Purchaser as assignee, relating to each of the Assigned Leases, and an executed landlord consent
to each such Assignment Agreement where required pursuant to the terms of the Assigned Lease, the form and substance of which is subject to
Purchaser’s review and approval;

(xi) the Nominee Agreement, executed by YRC International, YRC China Hong Kong and YRCL Asia, in substantially the form and substance
as set forth on Exhibit M attached hereto (the “Nominee Agreement”);

(xii) an Assignment and Assumption Agreement, executed by each of the Sellers, Companies and Company Subsidiaries, in substantially the
form and substance as set forth on Exhibit Q attached hereto (the “Assignment and Assumption Agreement”);

(xiii) the Escrow Agreement, executed by the Seller Representative; and

(xiv) such other executed instruments of transfer or assignment, or such other documents as Purchaser reasonably may request to evidence or
perfect Purchaser’s right, title and interest in and to the Company Interests and any Intellectual Property Rights to be assigned to Purchaser pursuant
to this Agreement or any other Transaction Document.

(b) At the Closing, Purchaser will deliver:

(i) the Closing Amount in immediately available funds as set forth in Section 1.2(c);

(ii) the Indemnification Escrow Amount in immediately available funds as set forth in Section 1.2(c)(ii);

(iii) the Delayed Payment Amounts in immediately available funds as set forth in Section 1.2(c)(iii);

(iv) if applicable, the amount required to be deposited (or the letter of credit, if Purchaser elects) pursuant to Section 1.2(d) and Section 1.3(a);

(v) certified copies of the resolutions duly adopted by Purchaser’s board of directors authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of
this Agreement and the other agreements contemplated herein, and the consummation of all transactions contemplated herein and therein;

(vi) a certificate with respect to the matters set forth in Section 6.3(b);

(vii) the TSA, executed by Purchaser;

(viii) the License Agreement, executed by Purchaser;

(ix) the Commercial Services Agreement, executed by Purchaser;

(x) the Nominee Agreement, executed by Purchaser; and
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(xi) the Escrow Agreement, executed by Purchaser.

Section 1.6 Post-Closing Transfers.

(a) The consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in a Delayed Closing Company (each, a “Delayed Closing”) will take place at the
offices of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, 900 S. Capital of Texas Highway, Las Cimas IV, Fifth Floor, Austin, Texas 78746,
or remotely via the exchange of executed documents and other closing deliverables, at 10:00 A.M., CDT, on the date that is two Business Days following
the completion of the actions set forth in the Step Plan with respect to such Delayed Closing Company, or at such other time and place as the Seller
Representative and Purchaser may agree in writing. The date and time on which any such transfer actually takes place is referred to herein as a “Delayed
Closing Date.”

(b) At each Delayed Closing, (i) the Sellers will deliver to Purchaser certificates representing all of the certificated Company Interests of the
applicable Delayed Closing Company, which certificates shall be duly endorsed (or accompanied by duly executed stock powers), along with any transfer
documentation or corporate authorizations necessary to effect the transfer of such Company Interests whether certificated or non-certificated, and
(ii) Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written instructions directing the Escrow Agent to disburse
to the Sellers from the Delayed Payment Escrow Account, as directed by the Seller Representative, the Delayed Payment Amount for the applicable
Delayed Closing Entity.

(c) Exclusively for purposes of registering the transfer of the ninety percent (90%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRC Argentina
with the Public Registry of Commerce of the City of Buenos Aires (Inspección General de Justicia), at the Delayed Closing with respect to YRC
Argentina, YRC International and Purchaser agree to execute and deliver a short form quota assignment agreement, in substantially the form and substance
as set forth on Exhibit S attached hereto (the “Quota Assignment Agreement”). The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Quota Assignment Agreement
shall not be deemed a separate or independent agreement for any purpose whatsoever, including without limitation, for stamp tax purposes. In case of
inconsistency between this Agreement and the Quota Assignment Agreement the terms of this Agreement shall prevail.

Section 1.7 Withholding. Purchaser shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any consideration payable or otherwise deliverable pursuant to this
Agreement such amounts as may be required to be deducted or withheld therefrom under any applicable provision of U.S. federal, state, local or non-U.S. Law.
To the extent such amounts are so deducted or withheld, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes under this Agreement as having been paid to the Person to
whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid. Any such withholdings by Purchaser shall be properly documented to the Sellers in the form of a
withholding tax certificate or other documentation evidencing the payment of the withholding tax to the applicable jurisdiction.

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES AS TO THE SELLERS

The Sellers have delivered to Purchaser the Disclosure Schedules to this Agreement referred to in this ARTICLE II. Each of the Sellers hereby represents
and warrants to Purchaser that, except as otherwise set forth in the Disclosure Schedules, the following statements are true and correct:
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Section 2.1 Authorization. Each Seller is duly organized or formed, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization
or formation and has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform
its obligations hereunder and thereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents by each Seller and the
performance of each Seller’s obligations hereunder and thereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary action (whether corporate or otherwise), including
the execution and delivery of all required stockholder consents and obtaining any required stockholder votes, on the part of such Seller. This Agreement and each
of the other Transaction Documents to be executed by any Seller has been, or upon execution and delivery will be, duly executed and delivered by each Seller
and, assuming that this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which Purchaser is a party has been, or upon execution and delivery by Purchaser
will be, duly executed and delivered by Purchaser, this Agreement and each other Transaction Document constitutes, or upon execution and delivery will
constitute, the valid and binding obligation of such Seller, enforceable against each such Seller in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws affecting
the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general equitable principles.

Section 2.2 Title to Company Interests. Each Seller owns legally, beneficially and of record the Equity Interests of the Companies listed on Exhibit B
opposite such Seller’s name, free and clear (except as set forth on Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedules) of any Liens other than the registration requirements
of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or transfer restrictions if no exemption is available, and similar restrictions under applicable securities
laws (“Transfer Restrictions”). Except as set forth on Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no restrictions on or agreements with respect to the
voting rights of any Seller’s Company Interests that would impair Purchaser’s rights under this Agreement or by which Purchaser would otherwise be bound at or
after the Closing, including, without limitation, any proxies or voting trusts. Upon the delivery of and payment for the Company Interests at the Closing as
provided for in this Agreement, Purchaser will receive good and valid title to each Seller’s Company Interests, free and clear of any Lien other than (a) Liens set
forth on Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, (b) Transfer Restrictions and (c) any legend reflecting only the limitations set forth in Section 4.5. Except as
described in Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, assuming that Purchaser or the applicable Purchaser Designee is permitted under Law to be a nominee, it is
permissible under the Law for each of the Nominees to sell and transfer to Purchaser or a Purchaser Designee the Company Interests listed opposite such
Nominee’s name in Exhibit B attached hereto. Except as set forth in Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, YRCL China Hong Kong has not engaged in any
aspect of the Business, except solely with respect to its ownership of thirty percent (30%) of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of YRCL Malaysia.

Section 2.3 No Conflicts; Consents and Approvals.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 2.3(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by each Seller and the
performance of each Seller’s obligations hereunder will not result in (i) any breach or violation of, or any conflict with, in any material respect, any
provision of such Seller’s Organizational Documents, (ii) any breach or violation of or default under, in each case in any material respect, any Law, statute,
regulation, judgment, order, decree, license or other Permit or any mortgage, lease, agreement, deed of trust, indenture or any other instrument to which
such Seller is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets are bound or (iii) the creation or imposition of any Liens on such Seller’s Company
Interests, except for any legend reflecting only the limitations set forth in Section 4.5.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 2.3(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, no consent, notice, approval, waiver, authorization or other order of, or
registration, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required on the part of or with respect to any Seller in connection
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with such Seller’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein or the performance of such Seller’s
obligations hereunder or to allow any of the Companies or any of the Company Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in the manner
operated by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice prior to the Closing.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 2.3(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, no material consent, notice, approval, waiver, authorization or other order of, or
registration, declaration or filing with, any third party is required on the part of or with respect to any Seller in connection with such Seller’s execution and
delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein or the performance of such Seller’s obligations hereunder.

(d) Except as set forth on Section 2.3(d) of the Disclosure Schedules, no consent, notice, approval, waiver, authorization or other order of, or
registration, declaration or filing with, any third party is required on the part of or with respect to any Seller to allow any of the Companies or any of the
Company Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in the manner operated by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practices prior to the Closing.

Section 2.4 Brokers. All negotiations relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein have been carried out without the services of any
Person acting on behalf of any Seller in such manner as to give rise to any valid claim against Purchaser, the Companies or any Company Subsidiary for any
brokerage or finder’s commission or similar compensation. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person is entitled to any broker’s, finder’s,
financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement
based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of any of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries.

Section 2.5 Acquisition Proposals. The Sellers, the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries and their respective Affiliates have ceased any and all
activities, discussions or negotiations with any third parties with respect to any Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or
their respective assets or the Business.

Section 2.6 Rights to Intellectual Property. Except as set forth on Section 2.6 of the Disclosure Schedules, none of the Sellers owns Intellectual Property
Rights or other assets used in the Business.

Section 2.7 Seller Representative. Each of the Sellers hereby consents to the delivery of the Purchase Price, including any payments pursuant to
Section 1.3(d) or ARTICLE VIII, by Purchaser to the Sellers as directed by the Seller Representative.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES AS TO THE COMPANY GROUP

The Sellers have delivered to Purchaser the Disclosure Schedules to this Agreement referred to in this ARTICLE III. Each of the Sellers hereby represents
and warrants to Purchaser that, except as otherwise set forth on the Disclosure Schedules, the following statements are true and correct:

Section 3.1 Corporate Status and Authorization of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries. Each of the Companies and each Company Subsidiary
is duly organized or formed, validly existing and in good standing (or, with respect to jurisdictions where such concept is not recognized, is
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current with applicable corporate filings and is not being wound up or otherwise dissolved) under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization or formation and has
the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations
hereunder and thereunder. Each Company and each Company Subsidiary has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business and to own or lease its
properties, as now conducted, owned or leased and as presently proposed to be conducted. Each Company and each Company Subsidiary is duly qualified to do
business and is in good standing (or, with respect to jurisdictions where such concept is not recognized, is current with applicable corporate filings and is not
being wound up or otherwise dissolved) in each jurisdiction where required, except to the extent the failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary is in violation in
any material respect of any of the provisions of its Organizational Documents. Except as set forth in Section 3.1 of the Disclosure Schedules, none of the
Companies or any Company Subsidiary owns, directly or indirectly, any Equity Interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any
Equity Interest in any Person (other than another Company or Company Subsidiary as disclosed in Section 3.3(c)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules). The execution
and delivery of this Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to which each Company or Company Subsidiary is a party by each such Company
or Company Subsidiary and the performance of each such Company’s or Company Subsidiary’s obligations hereunder and thereunder have been duly authorized
by all necessary action (whether corporate or otherwise) on the part of such Company or Company Subsidiary or any holder of any Equity Interest of such
Company or Company Subsidiary. This Agreement and each of the other Transaction Documents to be executed by any Company or Company Subsidiary has
been, or upon execution and delivery will be, duly executed and delivered by such Company or Company Subsidiary and, assuming that this Agreement and each
other Transaction Document to which Purchaser is a party has been, or upon execution and delivery by Purchaser will be, duly executed and delivered by
Purchaser, this Agreement and each other Transaction Document constitutes, or upon execution and delivery will constitute, the valid and binding obligation of
such Company or Company Subsidiary, enforceable against each such Company or Company Subsidiary in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general equitable principles. Each director, officer and manager (of manager-managed limited
liability companies) of each Company and Company Subsidiary is listed in Schedule 1.5(a)(ii).

Section 3.2 No Conflicts; Consents and Approvals.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 3.2(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated herein will not result in (i) any breach or violation of, default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under or conflict
with, in each case in any material respect, any Law, Order or Permit applicable to any of the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or their assets or, in any
material respect, any provision of the Organizational Documents of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary, (ii) any breach or violation in any material
respect of, default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) in any material respect under, termination or right of termination, amendment,
acceleration or cancellation of, required payment under or increase in the burden of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary or alteration of the rights or
obligations of any third party under, any Material Contract, Permit or any other material arrangement, obligation or instrument to which any of the
Companies or any Company Subsidiary is a party or by which any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary or any of their respective properties or
assets are bound or affected or (iii) the creation or imposition of any Liens on any asset of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary, except for such
Liens that do not (y) adversely affect the ability of any of the Companies or any of the Company Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in
the manner operated by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of
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business consistent with past practice prior to the Closing or (z) adversely affect in any material respect the assets used in the Business or the use of such
assets, in each case individually or in the aggregate.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 3.2(b) of the Disclosure Schedules and in the Step Plan, no consent, notice, approval, order or authorization of, or
filing, registration or declaration with, any Governmental Authority is required on the part of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary in connection
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and
therein or the performance of such Company’s or Company Subsidiary’s obligations hereunder or thereunder or to allow any of the Companies or any of
the Company Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in the manner operated by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries in the
ordinary course of business prior to the Closing.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 3.2(c) of the Disclosure Schedules and in the Step Plan, no material consent, notice, approval, order or
authorization of, or filing, registration or declaration with, any third party is required on the part of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, the consummation of the transactions contemplated
herein and therein or the performance of such Company’s or Company Subsidiary’s obligations hereunder or thereunder.

(d) Except as set forth on Section 3.2(d) of the Disclosure Schedules and in the Step Plan, no consent, notice, approval, waiver, authorization or other
order of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any third party is required on the part of or with respect to any Company or any Company Subsidiary to
allow any of the Companies or any of the Company Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in the manner operated by the Companies and the
Company Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices prior to the Closing.

(e) None of the items listed on Schedule 5.8 constitute a deposit, security interest or prepayment.

(f) No consent from any bank or any pension fund, other than those listed on Schedule 6.4(m) is required (i) in connection with the execution and
delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, (ii) in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein and
therein, (iii) in connection with the performance of any Company’s or Company Subsidiary’s obligations hereunder or thereunder, or (iv) to allow any of
the Companies or any of the Company Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in the manner operated by the Companies and the Company
Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices prior to the Closing.

Section 3.3 Capitalization of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries.

(a) The Companies. Section 3.3(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth the authorized and outstanding Equity Interests of the Companies. The
outstanding Equity Interests of the Companies, as indicated on Section 3.3(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, constitute all of the outstanding Equity
Interests of the Companies, have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid, are duly registered before the pertinent currency exchange
authorities (where applicable) and nonassessable, and are owned beneficially and of record by the Sellers and the
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Nominees as set forth on Section 3.3(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules. No Equity Interests are held in treasury. The Sellers have provided to Purchaser
complete and correct copies of the Companies’ Organizational Documents, all of which have been identified in Section 3.3(a)(ii) of the Disclosure
Schedules; such Organizational Documents have not been amended, modified or repealed.

(b) Agreements with Respect to Companies’ Equity Interests. Except as disclosed on Section 3.3(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no
(i) issued and outstanding bonds, debentures, notes or other Debt having the right to vote on any matter on which the holders of Equity Interests of a
Company may vote (“Voting Debt”), (ii) preemptive or similar rights on the part of any holder of any class of securities of any Company or on the part of
any other Person with respect to Equity Interests of a Company, (iii) calls, subscriptions, options, warrants, conversion, exchange or other rights,
agreements or commitments of any kind obligating a Company or any holder of Equity Interests of a Company to issue or sell, or cause to be issued and
sold, any Equity Interests or Voting Debt of such Company or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such Equity Interests or Voting Debt,
or any commitments to issue or execute any of the foregoing or securities convertible into or exchangeable for the foregoing, (iv) stockholder agreements,
voting trusts or other agreements or understandings relating to the voting, purchase, redemption or other acquisition of any Equity Interests of a Company
or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for Equity Interests of a Company or (v) unpaid dividends, whether current or accumulated, due or
payable on any Equity Interests of a Company. None of the Companies has a stock plan or similar incentive plan. None of the outstanding Equity Interests
of a Company has been issued in violation of any preemptive rights, rights or first refusal or similar rights or in violation of applicable securities Laws or
any other Law of any jurisdiction applicable to such issuance.

(c) Company Subsidiaries. Set forth on Section 3.3(c)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules for each Company Subsidiary is (i) its name and jurisdiction of
creation, formation, or organization, (ii) the number of authorized Equity Interests of each class of its Equity Interests and (iii) the number of issued and
outstanding Equity Interests of each class of its Equity Interests, the names of the holders thereof and the number of Equity Interests held by each such
holder. All of the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of each Company Subsidiary have been duly authorized and validly issued, are fully paid, duly
registered before the pertinent currency exchange authorities (if applicable) and nonassessable, and are held of record and beneficially owned by the
holders thereof indicated on Section 3.3(c)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, free and clear (except as set forth on Section 3.3(c)(i) of the Disclosure
Schedules) of any Liens other than Transfer Restrictions. Except as otherwise disclosed on Section 3.3(c)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, there is no
(v) issued and outstanding Voting Debt of any Company Subsidiary, (w) preemptive or similar right on the part of any holders of any class of Equity
Interests of any Company Subsidiary or on the part of any other Person with respect to Equity Interests of any Company Subsidiary, (x) call, subscription,
option, warrant, conversion, exchange or other right, agreement or commitment of any kind obligating any Company Subsidiary or any holder of Equity
Interests of any Company Subsidiary to issue or sell, or cause to be issued and sold, any Equity Interests or Voting Debt of such Company Subsidiary or
any securities convertible into or exchangeable for any such Equity Interests or Voting Debt, or any commitment to issue or execute any of the foregoing or
securities convertible into or exchangeable for the foregoing, (y) stockholder agreement, voting trust or other agreement or understanding relating to the
voting, purchase, redemption or other acquisition of any Equity Interests of any Company Subsidiary or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for
Equity Interests of any Company Subsidiary or (z) unpaid dividend, whether current or accumulated, due or payable on any Equity Interests of any
Company Subsidiary. None of the Company Subsidiaries has a stock plan or similar
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incentive plan. None of the outstanding Equity Interests of a Company Subsidiary has been issued in violation of any preemptive rights, rights or first
refusal or similar rights or in violation of applicable securities Laws or any other Law of any jurisdiction applicable to such issuance. The Sellers have
provided to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the Company Subsidiaries’ Organizational Documents, all of which have been identified in
Section 3.3(c)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules; such Organizational Documents have not been amended, modified or repealed.

(d) Books and Records. With respect to non-U.S. Companies and Company Subsidiaries only, (i) the books of account of the Companies and
Company Subsidiaries that have been made available to Purchaser have been fully, properly and accurately maintained, and contain in detail true, complete
and accurate records in each case of all matters required by Law to be recorded therein, and (ii) the corporate books of the Companies and Company
Subsidiaries that have been made available to Purchaser contain true and complete records of all formally constituted meetings of the management (and any
committee thereof) and shareholders of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries (to the extent such meetings have been held), and accurately reflect all
material actions referred to in such minutes.

Section 3.4 Financial Statements. Section 3.4 of the Disclosure Schedules contains complete and correct copies of (a) the unaudited consolidated
statement of income of the combined Companies and the Company Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, (b) the unaudited consolidated
balance sheet and related statement of income of the combined Companies and the Company Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, and
(c) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries as of April 30, 2010 (the “April Balance Sheets” and such date, the
“April Balance Sheet Date”), and the related statement of income of the combined Companies and the Company Subsidiaries for the four-month period then
ended (collectively, such items in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above, the “Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements have been prepared from, are in
accordance in all material respects with, and in all material respects accurately reflect the books and records of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries and
the Business, present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries as of the
dates and for the periods indicated, and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for the jurisdictions in which the
Companies and Company Subsidiaries are located (“GAAP”), consistently applied (except for the absence of notes thereto and normal, recurring year-end
adjustments, which shall not be material individually or in the aggregate).

Section 3.5 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Except for (a) liabilities reflected or reserved against in the April Balance Sheets, (b) liabilities disclosed
in Section 3.5 of the Disclosure Schedules or (c) obligations under agreements, commitments or contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice that are not required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 3.8 and are not required under GAAP to be reflected or reserved against in
the Financial Statements, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries have no liabilities, whether known or unknown, matured or unmatured, absolute, accrued
or contingent, that would reasonably be expected to exceed $50,000 individually or $250,000 in the aggregate, other than liabilities incurred in the ordinary
course of business consistent with past practice since the April Balance Sheet Date.

Section 3.6 Debt. The Companies, Company Subsidiaries and the Business, taken as a whole, do not have any Debt (whether accrued, absolute, contingent,
matured, unmatured or otherwise and whether or not required to be reflected in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP) representing, in the
aggregate, an obligation in excess of $200,000 that is not fully reflected in the Financial Statements or on Section 3.6 of the Disclosure Schedules. Section 3.6 of
the Disclosure
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Schedules lists each item of Debt in excess of $50,000 and any Debt disclosed pursuant to the foregoing sentence, in each case, identifying the creditor (including
name and address), the type of instrument under which the Debt is owed and the amount of the Debt as of the close of business on the Business Day immediately
prior to the date hereof. With respect to each such item of Debt, no Company or Company Subsidiary is in default, no payments are past due and, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, no circumstance exists that, with or without notice, the passage of time or both, would reasonably be expected to constitute a default by
any Company or Company Subsidiary under any such item of Debt. None of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries has received any written
notice of a (a) default, (b) alleged failure to perform or (c) offset or counterclaim with respect to any item of Debt that has not been fully remedied or withdrawn.
Except as disclosed on Section 3.6 of the Disclosure Schedules, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Transaction
Document will not cause a default, breach or an acceleration, automatic or otherwise, of any conditions, covenants or any other terms of any item of Debt. Except
as disclosed on Section 3.6 of the Disclosure Schedules, none of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries is a guarantor or otherwise liable for any liability or
obligation (including Debt) of any other Person.

Section 3.7 Real Property; Assets.

(a) None of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries owns or has owned in the past three years any real property. Section 3.7(a)(i) of the Disclosure
Schedules lists all material items of real property leased by any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary (the “Company Leased Real Property”).
Section 3.7(a)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all material items of real property leased by the Sellers or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Sellers that
are not a Company or Company Subsidiary and at which the Business is conducted and/or employees of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries are
primarily located (the “Non-Company Leased Real Property”, together with the Company Leased Real Property, the “Leased Real Property”). All lessees,
sublessees and licensees of Leased Real Property have valid leasehold interests in the Leased Real Property leased by each of them, in each case, free and
clear of Liens, except for (i) Liens for Taxes that are not yet due and payable or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for
which adequate reserves are reflected on the Financial Statements, (ii) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and materialmen and other like Liens
arising in the ordinary course of business, (iii) statutory Liens in favor of lessors arising in connection with any Leased Real Property, (iv) easements,
encroachments, rights-of-way or other encumbrances reflected on an accurate survey of any Leased Real Property and which do not adversely affect the
use of such Leased Real Property by the lessee thereof in any material respect, (v) Liens that will be removed prior to or in connection with the Closing
with no expenditure required on the part of Purchaser or any Affiliate of Purchaser and (vi) such other Liens as are immaterial in nature and amount and do
not materially detract from the value of or materially interfere with the present use, or any use presently anticipated, of the Leased Real Property subject
thereto or affected thereby (collectively, “Permitted Liens”).

(b) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, each lease, sublease, license or other agreement (including any option to purchase contained therein) pursuant to
which any Company or Company Subsidiary occupies any Leased Real Property listed on Section 3.7(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules (the “Company
Leases”), and each lease, sublease, license or other agreement (including any option to purchase contained therein) pursuant to which the Sellers or any
Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Sellers that are not a Company or Company Subsidiary occupy any Leased Real Property listed on Section 3.7(a)(ii) of the
Disclosure Schedules (the “Non-Company Leases”, and together with the Company Leases, the “Leases”), is valid, in good standing and in full force and
effect and is enforceable against the landlord that is party thereto in accordance with its terms. For the purpose of this Section 3.7, Leases shall include the
Assigned
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Leases. Except as set forth on Section 3.7(b) of the Disclosure Schedules or referenced in the Leases, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the Leases are not
subject to any ground leases, mortgages, deeds of trust or other superior Liens or interests that would entitle the holder thereof to interfere with or disturb in
any material respect the lessee’s use and enjoyment of the leased premises or the exercise of the lessee’s rights under the Leases so long as the lessee is not
in default. There exists no default or event of default, in any material respect, on the part of a Company or Company Subsidiary (as applicable) or, to the
Knowledge of the Sellers, on the part of any other party under any Lease. There is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened condemnation
or similar proceeding affecting any Leased Real Property or any portion thereof, and none of the Sellers has Knowledge that any such action is currently
contemplated. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, each Leased Real Property is supplied with utilities and other services sufficient to operate the business of
the applicable Company or Company Subsidiary as presently conducted. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, none of the operations of any of the Companies
or any of the Company Subsidiaries on the Leased Real Property, nor such Leased Real Property, nor the improvements thereon, violate in any material
respect any applicable building code or zoning requirement. The Sellers have made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of all Leases,
including all amendments or written modifications thereto and to the Knowledge of the Sellers any other modifications thereto, and no term or condition of
any of the Leases has been waived in writing, modified or amended except as shown in such copies; each of the Leases constitutes the entire agreement of
the landlord and the tenant thereunder; and there are no other agreements or arrangements whatsoever relating to a Company’s or a Company Subsidiary’s
use or occupancy of any of the premises described in any of the Leases. None of the Sellers, the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has received any
written notice of any default under any Lease that has not been cured or any other termination notice with respect thereto. No Company or Company
Subsidiary would be required to expend more than $25,000 in causing the Leased Real Property located at 8550 W. Bryn Mawr., Chicago, Illinois or 5220
110th Street, Overland Park, Kansas to comply with the surrender conditions set forth in the applicable Lease, based on the current condition of such
Leased Real Property.

(c) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, each lease (including any option to purchase contained therein) pursuant to which a Company or Company
Subsidiary leases any fixtures, furniture, equipment or any other personal property (the “Personal Property Leases”) is valid and in full force and effect
and is enforceable against the lessor that is party thereto in accordance with its terms. There exists no default or event of default (or, to the Knowledge of
the Sellers, any event which with or without notice or lapse of time or both would become a default or event of default), in any material respect, on the part
of any Company or Company Subsidiary (as applicable) or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any other party under any Personal Property Lease. The
Sellers have made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of each Personal Property Lease under which a Company or any Company
Subsidiary is required to make payments in excess of $30,000 per annum or $100,000 in the aggregate over the remaining term of such Personal Property
Lease, including all amendments thereto. None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has received any written notice of any default under any
Personal Property Lease that has not been cured and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, none of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has received any
other termination notice with respect thereto.

(d) Either a Company or a Company Subsidiary has legal and beneficial ownership to each item of the material tangible personal property and
material assets included in the most recent Financial Statements, except for immaterial properties and assets disposed of in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice since such date, free and clear of Liens other than Permitted Liens. The Companies and the Company Subsidiaries own or,
pursuant to
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the Leases and Personal Property Leases provided to Purchaser, have the right to use all of the properties and assets that, taken together as a whole, are in
all material respects necessary for the conduct of the Business.

(e) All of the material properties and material assets of each of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries, in the aggregate, are, to the Knowledge of
the Sellers, free from defects (patent and latent) in all material respects, and such properties and assets, in the aggregate, have been maintained in
accordance with normal industry practice, are in good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear), and are suitable for the purposes for
which they have been used in the ordinary course of business in the Business.

(f) There are no existing leasehold mortgages, leasehold deeds of trust, or other similar security interests affecting the leasehold interest of the tenant
under any Company Lease or Assigned Lease (“Leasehold Mortgages”) granted in connection with the Contribution Deferral Agreement dated as of
June 17, 2009, by and between YRC, Inc., USF Holland, Inc., New Penn Motor Express, Inc., USF Reddaway Inc., the trustees for the Central States,
Southeast and Southwest Areas Pension Fund and the other Funds from time to time party thereto and Wilmington Trust Company (as amended, amended
and restated, restated, supplanted or otherwise modified to date and through the Closing Date (the “Contribution Deferral Agreement”)), all required
actions have been taken to remove any such Leasehold Mortgages from the real property records of the jurisdiction in which the applicable Leased Real
Property is located, and no party to the Contribution Deferral Agreement has a right to require a Company or a Company Subsidiary to grant a mortgage or
other interest in the Leased Real Property pursuant thereto.

(g) No Company or Company Subsidiary has granted a security interest in any of its assets in connection with, or is a guarantor of the obligations
arising under, the Third Amended and Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2008, among Yellow Roadway Receivables
Funding Corporation (now YRC, Inc.), Falcon Asset Securitization Company, LLC, Three Pillars Funding LLC, Amsterdam Funding Corporation, YRC
Assurance Co. Ltd., the financial institutions party thereto, Wachovia Bank, National Association, Suntrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., ABN AMRO Bank
N.V. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (as amended, amended and restated, restated, supplanted or otherwise modified to date and through the Closing Date
(the “Receivables Purchase Agreement”)), and no party to the Receivables Purchase Agreement has a right to require a Company or a Company
Subsidiary to grant a security interest or enter into a guaranty of the obligations thereunder.

(h) All Leases for real property used in the Business and all Contracts related to the Business, in each case, to which YRC Logistics Inc. (Ontario) is
a party (excluding intercompany debt obligations solely between YRC Logistics Inc. (Ontario) and the Sellers), are included under the heading “YRC
Logistics Inc. (Ontario) Contracts and Leases” in Annex 2 to Schedule 5.3.

Section 3.8 Contracts.

(a) Section 3.8 of the Disclosure Schedules contains a complete and correct list, as of the date hereof, of all Material Contracts (with specific
reference to the subsection of this Section 3.8 to which such Material Contract relates). The term “Material Contracts” means all of the following types of
Contracts to which any Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party or bound or to which any of its properties or assets are subject:
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(i) each employment, contractor, and consulting agreement and other similar Contract with any Employee that is not terminable at will by the
applicable Company or Company Subsidiary both without any penalty and without any obligation of the Company or Company Subsidiary to pay
severance or other amounts (other than accrued but unpaid base salary, commissions, bonuses, and vacation pay);

(ii)(1) each Labor Agreement or other Contract with any union, works council or similar labor-relations body, (2) each plan, program, or
Contract that provides for the payment of a bonus, severance, change in control, termination or any similar type of compensation or benefits, and
(3) each plan, program, or Contract that provides for medical, life insurance or similar benefits for former Employees or for current Employees upon
their retirement from, or termination of employment with, a Company or Company Subsidiary (other than health coverage continuation provided
under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, or any similar state statute);

(iii) each loan agreement, note, mortgage, indenture, security agreement or guarantee of the obligations of a third party (other than a Company
or any Company Subsidiary) and each other Contract under which a Company or any Company Subsidiary has incurred any Debt, other than
instruments related to Debt that will be paid at or prior to Closing and that will no longer be in effect after the Closing;

(iv) each Contract creating or granting a Lien (including Liens upon properties acquired under conditional sales, capital leases or other title
retention or security devices);

(v) each Contract that requires consent, approval or waiver of, or notice to, a Governmental Authority or other third party in the event of or
with respect to any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in order to avoid termination of or loss of a material benefit under any such
Contract;

(vi) each Contract (A) providing for future performance by a Company or any Company Subsidiary in consideration of amounts in excess of
$50,000 previously paid to a Company or any Company Subsidiary, or (B) which has resulted or will result in deferred revenue under GAAP in
excess of $50,000;

(vii) each Contract entered into since November 30, 2009 that provides for receipts by a Company or Company Subsidiary in excess of
$100,000 or is otherwise material to the Business and provides for future performance by a Company or any Company Subsidiary with less than the
historical standard or usual charges of such Company or Company Subsidiary to be due for such performance;

(viii) each Contract containing (whether in the Contract itself or by operation of law) any provisions (1) dealing with a “change of control” or
similar event with respect to a Company or any Company Subsidiary, (2) requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 3.2, or (3) having the effect of
providing that the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (alone or in combination with any other event) or the
execution, delivery or effectiveness of this Agreement will conflict with, result in a violation or breach of, or constitute a default under (with or
without notice or lapse of time, or both), such Contract or give rise under such Contract to any right of, or result in, a termination, right of first
refusal, amendment, revocation, cancellation or
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acceleration, or loss of material benefit, or to any increased, guaranteed, accelerated or additional rights or entitlements of any Person;

(ix) each Contract providing for payments of royalties or other license fees to third parties;

(x) each Contract granting the other party to such Contract or a third party “most favored nation” or similar status;

(xi) each Contract that expressly guarantees or warrants that any of the products or services of a Company or any Company Subsidiary is fit for
any particular purpose or that guarantees a result or commits to performance levels;

(xii) each Contract providing for monetary liquidated damages in excess of $100,000 (but not including other kinds of provisions that provide
for limiting the maximum amounts payable or for refunds of amounts in the event of a breach or termination of the Contract);

(xiii) except with respect to Retained Insurance Claims, (A) each currently effective Contract entered into in connection with the settlement or
other resolution of any Proceeding involving more than $100,000 individually or, when aggregated with other similar Contracts, $200,000 in the
aggregate, or any non-monetary relief that restricts, in any material respect, the activities or businesses conducted by a Company or a Company
Subsidiary, and (B) each other Contract entered into since the date that is three years preceding the date of this Agreement in connection with the
settlement or other resolution of any Proceeding involving more than $1,000,000 individually or, when aggregated with other similar Contracts or
Contracts pertaining to the settlement or other resolution of Proceedings involving substantially similar facts, $1,000,000 in the aggregate;

(xiv) each joint venture, partnership and limited partnership Contract (excluding the Organizational Documents of the Companies and the
Company Subsidiaries);

(xv) each Contract (excluding individual purchase orders) for the purchase by a Company or any Company Subsidiary of materials, supplies,
products or services, and each Contract (excluding individual purchase orders) for the sale or provision by a Company or any Company Subsidiary
of materials, supplies, products or services (including, without limitation, distribution, marketing and brokerage agreements), in each case not
terminable on notice of 30 days or less without penalty, and under which the amount that would reasonably be expected to be paid or received by the
applicable Company or the applicable Company Subsidiary exceeds $200,000 per year;

(xvi) each Contract with any of the Customers or Suppliers;

(xvii) each Lease and Assigned Lease;

(xviii) each Contract prohibiting or restricting the ability of a Company or any Company Subsidiary to compete with or solicit any Person,
engage in any business or operate in any geographical area, or pursuant to which any material benefit is required to be given or lost as a result of so
competing, soliciting, engaging or operating;
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(xix) each stock purchase agreement, asset purchase agreement and other acquisition or divestiture Contracts relating to the acquisition, lease
or disposition by a Company or any Company Subsidiary of material assets and properties (other than in the ordinary course of business) or any
capital stock or other Equity Interest of a Company or any Company Subsidiary;

(xx) each Contract involving a remaining commitment by a Company or a Company Subsidiary to pay capital expenditures in excess of
$500,000 individually or, when aggregated with other similar Contracts, $1,000,000 in the aggregate;

(xxi) each Contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any capital assets having a fair market value in excess of $100,000 individually or, when
aggregated with other similar Contracts, $250,000 in the aggregate;

(xxii) each license or franchise granted by a Company or any Company Subsidiary pursuant to which such Company or Company Subsidiary
has agreed to refrain from granting license or franchise rights to any other Person;

(xxiii) each Contract with (1) any Seller, (2) any other Affiliate of a Seller, of a Company or of any Company Subsidiary or (3) any current or
former director, officer or employee of a Company or any Company Subsidiary or an Affiliate of a Company or any Company Subsidiary (other than
Contracts customarily entered into in connection with the employment of such Person);

(xxiv) each Contract entered into since November 30, 2009 outside the ordinary course of business or not consistent with past practice;

(xxv) each Contract pursuant to which a Company or any Company Subsidiary is restricted in any material respect in the conduct of the
Business;

(xxvi) each material noncompetition Contract running in favor of a Company or any Company Subsidiary;

(xxvii) each currency exchange, interest rate exchange, commodity exchange or similar Contract;

(xxviii) each performance bond and surety agreement;

(xxix) each material Contract pursuant to which a Company or any Company Subsidiary is a member or participates in any trade organization;
and

(xxx) each Contract which is not disclosed pursuant to the above subsections of this Section 3.8 and is otherwise material to the Business.

(b) The Sellers have furnished or made available to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the Material Contracts listed on Section 3.8 of the
Disclosure Schedules as in effect on the date hereof. Each Material Contract is in full force and effect and is a valid and binding agreement of the
applicable Company or Company Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, of each other party thereto, enforceable against the applicable Company
or Company Subsidiary, as the case may be, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, against the other party or parties thereto, in each case, in accordance with
its terms. The applicable Company or Company
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Subsidiary, as the case may be, has performed or is performing in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under the Material
Contracts and none of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries, or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any other party thereto, is (with or without notice or
lapse of time or both) in breach or default, in any material respect, under any Material Contract, and each Material Contract is in full force and effect as to
the applicable Company or the applicable Company Subsidiary, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, as to each other party thereto. None of the Companies
or any Company Subsidiary has received any written notice of any default under any Material Contract that has not been cured or any other termination
notice with respect thereto, other than defaults that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.9 Employment Agreements and Employee Benefits.

(a) “Employee Plan” means every plan, fund, Contract, program and arrangement (whether written or not, and whether mandatory under any
applicable legal requirement or not), regardless of the number of individuals covered, that is maintained or contributed to by the Companies or any
Company Subsidiary for the benefit of present or former employees or directors of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary, including those intended to
provide: (i) medical, surgical, health care, hospitalization, dental, vision, retiree, health care reimbursement, workers’ compensation, life insurance, death,
disability, short term disability, long term disability, severance, sickness or accident benefits, legal services, dependent care, dependent care reimbursement,
on-site day care facilities, sick child care, cafeteria or flexible benefit plan benefits, flexible spending account, adoption assistance, tuition assistance,
transportation plan (whether or not defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA); (ii) pension, profit sharing, stock bonus, retirement, supplemental retirement or
deferred compensation benefits (whether or not tax qualified and whether or not defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA); (iii) bonus, incentive compensation,
stock option, stock appreciation right, phantom stock, stock purchase benefits or other equity compensation or (iv) salary continuation, unemployment,
supplemental unemployment, termination pay, vacation or holiday benefits (whether or not defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA).

(b) “Employee Agreement” means each management, employment, severance, separation, settlement, consulting, contractor, relocation, change of
control, retention, bonus, repatriation, expatriation, loan, visa, work permit or other agreement, or Contract (including, any offer letter or any agreement
providing for acceleration of options or unvested common stock, or any other agreement providing for compensation or benefits) between the Companies, a
Company Subsidiary and any Employee. For the avoidance of doubt, an Employee Agreement shall not be deemed to create or to refer to an employment
relationship unless the Employee who signed such agreement has an employment relationship with the relevant Company or Company Subsidiary under
Law.

(c) Section 3.9(c) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a complete and correct list of all Employee Plans and Employee Agreements by name.

(d) With respect to each Employee Plan that is sponsored by the Companies or a Company Subsidiary, the Sellers have made available to Purchaser
complete and correct copies of (i) all documents embodying each such Employee Plan and each Employee Agreement including (without limitation) all
amendments thereto and all related trust documents, administrative service agreements, group annuity contracts, group insurance contracts, and policies
pertaining to fiduciary liability insurance covering the fiduciaries for each Employee Plan; (ii) the most recent annual actuarial valuations, if any, prepared
for each Employee Plan; (iii) the three (3) most
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recent annual reports (Form Series 5500 and all schedules and financial statements attached thereto), if any, required under ERISA or the Code in
connection with each Employee Plan; (iv) if the Employee Plan is funded, the most recent annual and periodic accounting of Employee Plan assets; (v) the
most recent summary plan description together with the summary(ies) of material modifications thereto, if any, required under ERISA with respect to each
Employee Plan; (vi) all IRS determination, opinion, notification and advisory letters, and all applications and correspondence to or from the IRS or the
DOL with respect to any such application or letter; (vii) all communications material to any Employee or Employees relating to any Employee Plan and
any proposed Employee Plans, in each case, relating to any amendments, terminations, establishments, increases or decreases in benefits, acceleration of
payments or vesting schedules or other events which would result in any material liability to the Companies or Company Subsidiary; and (viii) all
correspondence to or from any governmental agency relating to any Employee Plan. With respect to any Employee Plan that is sponsored by a Company
ERISA Affiliate other than the Companies or a Company Subsidiary (collectively, “Affiliate Employee Plan(s)”), the Sellers have made available to
Purchaser (i) the most recent summary plan description together with the summary or summaries of material modifications thereto, if any, required under
ERISA with respect to each Affiliate Employee Plan, (ii) the most recent IRS determination or opinion letters and (iii) all communications material to any
Employee or Employees relating to any Affiliate Employee Plan and any proposed Affiliate Employee Plans, in each case, only to the extent such material
relates to any amendments, terminations, establishments, increases or decreases in benefits, acceleration of payments or vesting schedules or other events
that would result in any material liability to the Companies or Company Subsidiaries.

(e) All contributions, premium payments and other payments required to be made in connection with the Employee Plans and any Employee
Agreement, as applicable, as of the date of this Agreement have been made in full. A proper accrual has been made on the books of the applicable
Companies or the applicable Company Subsidiary for all contributions, premium payments and other payments due in the current fiscal year but not made
as of the date of this Agreement. All of the Employee Plans have been established, registered, qualified, funded, invested and administered in accordance
with, and are in good standing under, all Laws, the terms of such Employee Plans and all understandings, written or oral, between the Companies or any
Company Subsidiary and the employees or former employees of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary.

(f) Except as set forth on Section 3.9(f)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will
not cause any Employee Plan or Employee Agreement to increase benefits payable to any participant or beneficiary who is an employee of the Companies
or the Company Subsidiaries. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or as set forth on Section 3.9(f)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not: (x) entitle any current or former employee of the Companies or any Company
Subsidiary to severance pay, unemployment compensation or any other payment, benefit or award or (y) accelerate or modify the time of payment or
vesting, or increase the amount of any benefit, award or compensation due any such employee. Except as set forth in Section 3.9(f)(i) of the Disclosure
Schedules, there are no Payment Obligations.

(g) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (A) none of the Companies or
any Person (whether or not incorporated) that is treated as a single employer together with the Companies or any Company Subsidiary under Code
Section 414 (a “Company ERISA Affiliate”) has incurred any liability
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under Title IV of ERISA that has not been satisfied (other than liability to the PBGC for the payment of premiums pursuant to Section 4007 of ERISA) and
(B) no condition exists for which the PBGC is authorized to seek from the Companies or a Company ERISA Affiliate, a late payment charge under
Section 4007(b) of ERISA. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no condition exists that presents a risk that the Companies or a Company ERISA Affiliate will
incur any liability under Title IV of ERISA (other than liability to the PBGC for the payment of premiums pursuant to Section 4007 of ERISA) that would,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(h) Each Employee Plan that is a “nonqualified deferred compensation plan” (as defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code) has been operated since
January 1, 2005 in good faith compliance with IRS Notice 2005-1 and Section 409A of the Code and the applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated
thereunder.

(i) None of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries is a participating employer in, or has any liability or obligation under, the Yellow Corporation
Pension Plan.

(j) Except for Purchaser’s payment obligations under the TSA, after the Closing, none of the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or Purchaser will
have any liability or obligation with respect to Employee Plans that are sponsored by YRCW for the benefit of the employees of YRCW and its Affiliates,
including the YRCW Plans and the post-retirement rights provided under YRCW’s medical benefit plans.

(k) None of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries, upon the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, will have, any obligation
arising out of, in connection with or related to that certain letter dated August 11, 2009 from Central States, Southeast and Southwest Areas Pension Fund
addressed to YRCW.

Section 3.10 Intellectual Property Rights.

(a) Section 3.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists (i) all Registered Intellectual Property Rights owned by, filed in the name of, or applied for by
the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries (the “Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights”); and (ii) any proceedings or actions before any
court, tribunal (including the PTO or equivalent authority anywhere in the world) related to any of the Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights or
the Company Intellectual Property.

(b) Each item of the Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights is, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, valid and subsisting. All necessary
registration, maintenance and renewal fees in connection with the Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights have been paid and, to the Knowledge
of the Sellers, all necessary documents and certificates in connection with such Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights have been filed with the
relevant patent, copyright, trademark or other authorities in the United States or foreign jurisdictions, as the case may be, for the purposes of maintaining
such Registered Intellectual Property Rights. Except as set forth in Section 3.10(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no actions that must be taken by
the Companies or any Company Subsidiary before the end of calendar year 2010, including the payment of any registration, maintenance or renewal fees or
the filing of any responses to PTO office actions, documents, applications or certificates for the purposes of obtaining, maintaining, perfecting or
preserving or renewing any Company Registered Intellectual Property Right.
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(c) Except as set forth on Section 3.10(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, each item of Company Intellectual Property is free and clear of any Liens.

(d) The Sellers do not have any Knowledge of any facts or circumstances that (i) may render any of the Company Intellectual Property invalid or
unenforceable, including any information or fact that may constitute prior art, (ii) would render any of the Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights
invalid or unenforceable, or (iii) would adversely affect any pending application for any Company Registered Intellectual Property Right. Neither the
Companies nor Company Subsidiaries have misrepresented, or failed to disclose, nor do the Sellers have any Knowledge of any misrepresentation or
failure to disclose, any fact or circumstances in any application for any Company Registered Intellectual Property Right that would constitute fraud or a
misrepresentation with respect to such application or that would otherwise adversely affect the validity or enforceability of any Company Registered
Intellectual Property Right.

(e) Except as set forth on Section 3.10(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, other than general know how and information available in the public domain
without charge and without any restrictions or limitations, the Company Intellectual Property and the Intellectual Property Rights licensed to the Company
pursuant to the Contracts listed on Section 3.10(o) of the Disclosure Schedules constitutes all the Technology and Intellectual Property Rights used in or
necessary to the conduct of the Companies’ and Company Subsidiaries’ businesses as presently conducted, including the design, development,
manufacture, use, import and sale of products, technology and performances of services.

(f) The Companies and Company Subsidiaries have taken reasonable steps to protect their rights in their material confidential information that
comprises part of the Company Intellectual Property.

(g) The Companies or a Company Subsidiary, as applicable, has irrevocably obtained worldwide, perpetual ownership of, and is the exclusive owner
of, all Company Intellectual Property including the right to seek past and future damages with respect thereto by operation of law or by valid assignment;
and has received the waiver with respect thereto of all non assignable rights including but not limited to all author or moral rights.

(h) The Contracts listed in Section 3.10(h) of the Disclosure Schedules include all Contracts pursuant to which any person has licensed any Company
Intellectual Property. Neither the Companies nor the Company Subsidiaries are in breach of or have failed to perform under any of the foregoing Contracts
and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no other party to any such Contract is in breach thereof or has failed to perform thereunder.

(i) Except as set forth in Section 3.10(i) of the Disclosure Schedules, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the operation of the Companies’ and Company
Subsidiaries’ businesses as presently conducted, including the design, development, use, import, branding, advertising, promotion, marketing, manufacture,
sale and licensing of the products, technology or services of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries did not, does not, and will not when conducted by
Purchaser in the same manner following the Closing, infringe or misappropriate any Intellectual Property Right of any person, violate any right of any
person (including any right to privacy or publicity), or constitute unfair competition or trade practices under the Laws of any jurisdiction, and neither the
Companies nor Company Subsidiaries have received written notice from any person claiming that such operation or any act, product, technology or service
(including products, technology or services currently under development) of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries infringes or misappropriates any
Intellectual Property Right of any person
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or constitutes unfair competition or trade practices under the Laws of any jurisdiction (nor do the Sellers have Knowledge of any basis therefor).

(j) Except as set forth on Section 3.10(j) of the Disclosure Schedules, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no material Contracts between a
Company or Company Subsidiary on the one hand and any other person on the other hand with respect to the Company Intellectual Property under which
there is any material dispute regarding the scope of such agreement, or performance under such agreement including with respect to any payments to be
made or received by the Companies or Company Subsidiaries thereunder.

(k) Except as set forth on Section 3.10(k) of the Disclosure Schedules, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no person is infringing or misappropriating,
or has infringed or misappropriated, any Company Intellectual Property. No pending Proceeding brought by the Companies or Company Subsidiaries
alleges infringement of any Company Intellectual Property or breach of any license or agreement involving Company Intellectual Property against any
third party.

(l) No Company Intellectual Property is subject to any Proceeding or outstanding decree, order, judgment or settlement agreement or stipulation that
restricts the use, transfer or licensing thereof by a Company or Company Subsidiary or that may affect the validity, use or enforceability of the foregoing.

(m) Except as set forth in Section 3.10(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, all Company Intellectual Property is fully transferable, alienable or licensable
by Purchaser without restriction and without payment of any kind to any third party.

(n) Except as set forth on Section 3.10(n) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the Companies nor Company Subsidiaries have transferred to any
other Person ownership of, or granted exclusive rights to use, any Technology or Intellectual Property Right that is or was Company Intellectual Property.

(o) The Contracts listed in Section 3.10(o) of the Disclosure Schedules include all Contracts to which a Company or Company Subsidiary is a party
with respect to any Technology or Intellectual Property Rights (excluding non negotiated “shrinkwrap” or “clickwrap” license agreements that grant the
Company or a Company Subsidiary a license to standard software that is equally available to Purchaser on standard terms and conditions at a cost of less
than $1,000). Except as set forth in Section 3.10(o) of the Disclosure Schedules, no person who has licensed Technology or Intellectual Property Rights to
the Companies or Company Subsidiaries has ownership rights or license rights to improvements made by the Companies or Company Subsidiaries in such
Technology or Intellectual Property Rights which has been licensed to the Companies or Company Subsidiaries.

(p) Section 3.10(p) of the Disclosure Schedules lists all Contracts between the Company and any other person, other than those Contracts entered
into in the ordinary course of business, wherein or whereby a Company or Company Subsidiary has agreed to, or assumed, any obligation or duty to
indemnify, reimburse, hold harmless, guaranty or otherwise assume or incur any obligation or liability or provide a right of rescission with respect to the
infringement or misappropriation by a Company, Company Subsidiary, or such other person of the Intellectual Property Rights of any person other than the
Companies or Company Subsidiaries.
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(q) Neither this Agreement nor the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (with the exception of the License Agreement) will result in (i) any
third party being granted rights or access to, or the placement in or release from escrow, of any Company Intellectual Property, (ii) a Company or Company
Subsidiary granting to any third party any right, title or interest to or with respect to any Technology or Intellectual Property Rights owned by, or licensed
to, a Company or Company Subsidiary pursuant to any agreement to which such Company or Company Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound, (iii) a
Company or Company Subsidiary being bound by, or subject to, any non compete or other restriction on the operation or scope of its business, (iv) any
restriction on the ability of a Company or Company Subsidiary to share information relating to its ongoing business or operations, or (v) except as set forth
in Section 3.10(q)(v) of the Disclosure Schedules, a Company or Company Subsidiary being obligated to pay any royalties or other amounts to any third
party in excess of those payable by a Company or Company Subsidiary prior to the Closing Date pursuant to agreements to which a Company or Company
Subsidiary is a party or by which it is bound.

(r) Except as set forth in Section 3.10(r) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the Companies nor the Company Subsidiaries have used any Public
Software in connection with the development of their products or services or incorporated any Public Software into their products or services. The list on
Section 3.10(r) of the Disclosure Schedules shall contain (i) the name of the Public Software, (ii) the license name and version pursuant to which a
Company or Company Subsidiary has received a license to such Public Software, and (iii) a short statement regarding how the Public Software is being
used. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) the Companies and Company Subsidiaries are in full compliance with all Public Software license agreements to
which the Companies or Company Subsidiaries are a party, and (b) the Companies’ and Company Subsidiaries’ use or incorporation of Public Software has
not and does not (i) grant to any third party any rights in the Companies’ or Company Subsidiaries’ products, services or the Company Intellectual
Property, (ii) require the licensing, disclosure, or distribution of any source code developed by or for the Companies or Company Subsidiaries, (iii) require
the Companies or Company Subsidiaries to license the use of their products or services to third parties without charge, or (iv) create restrictions on or
immunities to the Companies’ or Company Subsidiaries’ enforcement of their Intellectual Property Rights. “Public Software” means any software that
contains, includes, incorporates, or has instantiated therein, or is derived in any manner (in whole or in part) from, any software that is distributed pursuant
to a license that (1) requires the licensee to distribute or provide access to the source code of such software or any portion thereof when the object code is
distributed, (2) requires the licensee to distribute the software or any portion thereof for free or at some reduced price, or (3) requires that other software or
any portion thereof combined with, linked to, or based upon such software (“Combined Software”) be licensed pursuant to the same license or requires the
distribution of all or any portion of such Combined Software for free or at some reduced price or otherwise adversely affects the Companies’ or Company
Subsidiaries’ exclusive ownership of such Combined Software. The term “Public Software” includes, without limitation, software licensed or distributed
under any of the following licenses or distribution models, or licenses or distribution models similar to any of the following: (i) GNU’s General Public
License (GPL) or Lesser/Library GPL (LGPL); (ii) the Artistic License (e.g., PERL); (iii) the Mozilla Public License; (iv) the Netscape Public License;
(v) the Sun Community Source License (SCSL); (vi) the Sun Industry Standards License (SISL); (vii) the BSD License; and (viii) the Apache License.

(s) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, all data which have been collected, stored, maintained or otherwise used by the Companies and Company
Subsidiaries have been collected, stored, maintained and used in accordance with all Laws, rules, regulations and Contracts. Neither the Companies nor
Company Subsidiaries have received a written notice of
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noncompliance with applicable data protection Laws, rules or regulations. The Companies and Company Subsidiaries have the full power and authority to
transfer to Purchaser their rights in any individual’s personal information in the Companies’ or Company Subsidiaries’ possession or control. Neither the
Companies nor Company Subsidiaries are subject to any obligation that would prevent the Companies, Company Subsidiaries, or Purchaser from using the
personal information in a manner consistent with any Law regarding the collection, retention, use, or disclosure of such information.

Section 3.11 Permits; Compliance with Law.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 3.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, each of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries and their respective
properties, assets, operations and businesses have been since May 31, 2006, and are being, operated and have been since May 31, 2006, and are, in
compliance in all material respects with all Laws and Orders applicable to their businesses or operations. No Company or Company Subsidiary has
received a written notice or other written communication alleging a possible violation of any Law or Order applicable to its businesses or operations.

(b) Except as set forth in Section 3.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, each of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries has in effect all Federal,
state, provincial and local, domestic and foreign, governmental consents, approvals, Orders, authorizations, certificates, filings, permits, concessions,
franchises and licenses (collectively, “Permits”) necessary for it to own, lease or operate its properties and assets and to carry on the Business as now
conducted. Each Company and Company Subsidiary is in compliance in all material respects with all terms and conditions of such Permits. There is no
event which, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, cancellation, non-renewal or adverse modification
of any such Permit and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement alone will not cause the revocation, cancellation, non-renewal or adverse
modification of any such Permit.

(c) There are no past or present events, conditions, circumstances, activities, practices, incidents, actions or plans that would reasonably be expected
to (i) interfere with or prevent compliance or continued compliance, in each case in any material respect, by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries
with any import/export Laws governing the Companies’ and the Company Subsidiaries’ present operations or with any Law, Order, notice or demand letter
issued, entered, promulgated or approved thereunder, (ii) give rise to any material liability of a Company or any Company Subsidiary under any
import/export Law governing a Company’s or any Company Subsidiary’s past or present operations or (iii) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, otherwise form
a valid basis of any Proceeding based on or related to importation or export of goods or services, and, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no such events,
conditions, circumstances, activities, practices, incidents, actions or plans are reasonably expected to arise in the future.

(d) For the purposes of the threshold set out at section 110(3) of the Competition Act, YRC Logistics Services Inc., an entity formed under the laws
of Quebec, YRC Logistics Inc., an entity formed under the laws of Ontario, YRC Supply Chain Solutions Inc., an entity formed under the laws of Ontario,
and their respective Affiliates do not have aggregate assets in Canada that exceed $70 million (CDN), nor do they have aggregate gross revenues from sales
in or from Canada generated from their assets in Canada that exceed $70 million (CDN), all as determined in accordance with Part IX of the Competition
Act.
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(e) The volume of business of YRC Argentina and its affiliates does not exceed the aggregate amount of 200,000,000 Argentine pesos in Argentina,
calculated as per Section 8 of Argentine Antitrust Act No. 25,156, as amended and regulated. Each Company and each Company Subsidiary is in
compliance with all applicable foreign exchange and trade regulations, including Argentine Law No. 19,359, reinstated by National Decree No. 480/1995,
as amended, National Decree No. 616/05 and relevant Communications issued by the Argentine Central Bank.

(f) Each of YRC Logistics Services Quebec and YRC Logistics Supply Chain Solutions has complied since January 1, 2007, with all Privacy Laws in
connection with the collection, use and disclosure of Personal Information by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries, as the case may be; and all
Personal Information has been collected, used and disclosed with the consent of each individual to whom such Personal Information relates and has been
used only for the purposes for which it was initially collected.

Section 3.12 Litigation. Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules lists (a) all material Proceedings involving any Company, any Company Subsidiary or, to
the Knowledge of the Sellers, any of the officers, directors, members, managers or general managers of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries (in their
capacities as such) with respect to which a Company or Company Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, such officer, director, member, manager or
general manager has been duly served or otherwise received notice or is a party and, (b) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, all threatened Proceedings against any
Company, any Company Subsidiary, any of their respective officers, directors, members, managers or general managers (in their capacities as such), or any of
their respective properties. None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary is a party to or in default under or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, subject to, any
Order. There is no pending investigation or audit of any Company, Company Subsidiary, or any of their respective officers, directors, members, managers or
general managers (in their capacities as such) by any Governmental Authority as to which any Company or Company Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge of the
Sellers, such officer, director, member, manager or general manager has been duly served or otherwise received notice or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers,
threatened investigation or audit of any Company, Company Subsidiary, or any of their respective officers, directors, members, managers or general managers (in
their capacities as such) by any Governmental Authority, other than routine environmental investigations in which no material violations or liabilities have been
identified. No Governmental Authority has at any time challenged or in written communications with any Company or any Company Subsidiary questioned the
legal right of any Company or any Company Subsidiary to conduct their respective operations as presently or previously conducted.

Section 3.13 Taxes.

(a) Each material Tax Return required to have been filed by or on behalf of any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has been timely filed.
Each such Tax Return has been prepared in compliance with all Laws and regulations. Each such Tax Return is correct in all material respects.

(b) All material Taxes due and payable by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries have been timely paid (whether or not shown as due on a
Tax Return). All employment and withholding Taxes required to be paid or withheld by or on behalf of the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries have
been timely paid or properly set aside in accounts for such purpose.

(c) No written agreement or other document extending or having the effect of extending the period of assessment or collection of any Taxes payable
by or with respect to the
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Companies or any Company Subsidiary, and no power of attorney with respect to any such Taxes, has been executed or filed with the IRS or any other
taxing authority that is currently in effect.

(d) None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary is the beneficiary, directly or indirectly, of any extension of time (other than an automatic
extension of time not requiring the consent of the IRS or any other taxing authority or extension requested by a Company or a Company Subsidiary and
permitted by the appropriate Governmental Authority) within which to file any Tax Return not previously filed.

(e) All pending audits, examinations, investigations or other Proceedings (“Tax Contests”) in respect of Taxes related to the Business or to a
Company or any Company Subsidiary and that could result in a proposed adjustment for such Taxes in an amount equal to or exceeding $100,000
individually or $250,000 in the aggregate are disclosed on Section 3.13(e) of the Disclosure Schedules. All Tax Contests completed within the past three
years that related either to the Business or to a Company or a Company Subsidiary are disclosed on Section 3.13(e) of the Disclosure Schedules. For
purposes of this Section 3.13(e), a Tax Contest is related to the Business or to a Company or a Company Subsidiary if the Tax Contest resulted in a
proposed adjustment to any Tax item or attribute of the Business, a Company or a Company Subsidiary, including an item of income, gain, deduction, loss,
basis, credit, or loss or credit carry-back or carry-forward.

(f) Except as set forth on Section 3.13 of the Disclosure Schedules, none of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary (i) is a party to, bound by or
owes any amount pursuant to any Tax allocation, indemnification or sharing agreement, (ii) is or has been a member of an Affiliated Group (other than
groups the common parent of which is or was YRCW), (iii) has any liability for the Taxes of any other Person as a transferee or successor, by Contract, by
operation of Law or otherwise or (iv) has ever been a party to any joint venture, partnership or other agreement or arrangement that could be treated as a
partnership for Tax purposes.

(g) No deficiency for Taxes of or with respect to any Company or any Company Subsidiary is currently outstanding, assessed or proposed in writing.
No adjustment relating to any Tax Return filed by, or related to, the Business, any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has been proposed in
writing by any taxing authority. No claim has ever been made by a taxing authority that any Company or any Company Subsidiary is or may be subject to
taxation in a jurisdiction in which it does not file Tax Returns. None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has any liabilities for unpaid Taxes that
has not been accrued or reserved on the Financial Statements, whether asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise. For purposes of this Section 3.13(g),
an adjustment to a Tax Return is related to the Business, any Company or any Company Subsidiary if it is with respect to any Tax item or attribute of the
Business, a Company or a Company Subsidiary, including any item of income, gain, deduction, loss, basis, credit, or loss or credit carry-back or carry-
forward.

(h) Each Company and each Company Subsidiary is in compliance with all terms and conditions of any Tax exemption, Tax holiday or other Tax
reduction agreement or order applicable to it (each, a “Tax Incentive”), and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not
have any adverse effect on the continued validity and effectiveness of any such Tax Incentive.
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(i) None of the Companies nor any of the Company Subsidiaries is subject to Tax in any country other than its country of incorporation or formation
by virtue of having a permanent establishment, place of business or source of income in that country.

(j) Each of the Companies and each Company Subsidiary is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable transfer pricing Laws and
regulations, including the execution and maintenance of documentation substantiating their transfer pricing practices and methodology. The prices charged
for any material property or services (or for the use of any property) provided by or to each of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries are arm’s length
prices for purposes of applicable transfer pricing laws.

(k) None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary will be required to include any income or gain or exclude any deduction or loss from income
for any taxable period or portion thereof after the Closing as a result of (i) any change in method of accounting made prior to the Closing, (ii) any closing
or settlement agreement executed prior to the Closing, (iii) being or having been a member of an Affiliated Group prior to the Closing, (iv) any installment
sale or open transaction disposition consummated prior to the Closing or (v) any prepaid amount received prior to the Closing.

(l) No position has been taken on any Tax Return by or with respect to any Company or any Company Subsidiary that is contrary to any publically
announced position of a taxing authority or that is substantially similar to any position that a taxing authority has successfully challenged in the course of
an examination of a Tax Return of or with respect to any Company or any Company Subsidiary.

(m) None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has been a party to any transaction or series of transactions which is or forms part of a
scheme for the primary purpose of Tax avoidance.

(n) No later than seven days prior to the Closing, Sellers shall provide to Buyer a list that sets forth, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, each
Governmental Authority (including the name and jurisdiction of such Governmental Authority) that could reasonably be expected to impose any
withholding taxes with respect to the payment of the Purchase Price.

Section 3.14 Absence of Changes. Since December 31, 2009, except as set forth on Section 3.14 of the Disclosure Schedules or as reflected in the April
Balance Sheets:

(a) the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries have conducted the Business in the ordinary course, in substantially the same manner in which it
has been previously conducted and have not suffered any state of facts, change, development, occurrence or effect on the Business or their respective
assets, properties, financial condition or results of operations, that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, a
Material Adverse Effect;

(b) there has not been any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend on, or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) in
respect of, any of the Equity Interests of the Companies or any of the Company Subsidiaries or any purchase, redemption or other acquisition of any of the
Companies’ or any of the Company Subsidiaries, Equity Interests or any options, warrants, calls or rights to acquire any such Equity Interests;
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(c) there has not been any split, combination or reclassification of any of the Equity Interests of the Companies or any of the Company Subsidiaries
or any issuance or the authorization of any issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for such Equity Interests;

(d) there has not been:

(i) any grant by the Companies or Company Subsidiary to any Employee (each, a “Participant”) of any increase in compensation, commission
opportunity, perquisites or benefits, any loan or any payment or award by the Companies or Company Subsidiary of any bonus or award other than
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(ii) any grant by the Companies or any Company Subsidiary to any Participant of, or any increase in or amendment of, severance, change in
control, termination or similar compensation or benefits,

(iii) any entry by the Companies or any Company Subsidiary into, any amendment of, or modification to or agreement to amend or modify (or
announcement of an intention to amend or modify) or any termination of, (A) any Employee Plan or Employee Agreement, or similar agreement,
commitment or obligation between the Companies or any Company Subsidiary and any Participant or any Labor Agreement, (B) any agreement
between the Companies or any Company Subsidiary and any Participant the benefits of which are contingent, or the terms of which are materially
altered, upon the occurrence of a transaction involving the Companies or any Company Subsidiary of the nature contemplated by this Agreement or
(C) any trust or insurance contract or other agreement to fund or otherwise secure payment of any compensation or benefit to be provided to any
Participant (all such agreements under this clause (iii), collectively, “Benefit Agreements”);

(iv) any payment to any Participant of any benefit not provided for under any Contract, or Benefit Agreement other than the payment of
regular cash compensation in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; or

(v) any hiring, termination, promotion, demotion or other such actions of any Employee;

(e) there has not been any damage, destruction or loss to any assets or properties of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries or any other Person,
whether or not covered by insurance, that individually or in the aggregate would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(f) there has not been any adoption of or change in financial accounting methods, principles or practices by any Seller, a Company or any Company
Subsidiary, except insofar as may have been required by a change in GAAP or Law;

(g) there has not been any material Tax election made or changed, any Tax accounting method or practice adopted or changed, any settlement or
compromise of any material Tax liability, any filing of any amended Tax Return, or any consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period
applicable to any material Tax claim or assessment, in each case relating to Taxes of or with respect to any Company or Company Subsidiary;
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(h) there has not been any payment, discharge, waiver or satisfaction, in any amount in excess of $100,000 in any one case, or $250,000 in the
aggregate, of any claim, liability, right or obligation (absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise of a Company or a Company
Subsidiary), other than payments, discharges or satisfactions of liabilities in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; and

(i) there has not been any licensing or other agreement with regard to the acquisition or disposition of any material Intellectual Property Rights or
rights thereto.

Since December 31, 2009, each Company and Company Subsidiary has continued all pricing, sales, receivables or payables practices in accordance with GAAP
and in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and has not engaged, other than in a manner that is materially consistent with past practice, in:

(j) any trade loading practices or any other promotional sales or discount activity with any customers or distributors with the effect of accelerating to
pre-Closing periods sales to the trade or otherwise that would otherwise be expected (based on past practice) to occur in post-Closing periods,

(k) any practice with the effect of accelerating to pre-Closing periods collections of receivables that would otherwise be expected (based on past
practice) to be made in post-Closing periods,

(l) any practice with the effect of postponing to post-Closing periods payments by the Company that would otherwise be expected (based on past
practice) to be made in pre-Closing periods or

(m) any other promotional sales, discount activity or inventory overstocking or understocking, in each case in this clause (d) in a manner outside the
ordinary course of business or inconsistent with past practice.

Section 3.15 Environmental Matters. Except for those matters disclosed on Section 3.15 of the Disclosure Schedules:

(a) the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries have conducted their operations (including any Hazardous Substance Activity) in compliance with
all applicable Environmental Laws and have obtained, maintained and complied with the terms of all Permits, identification numbers and other
authorizations required under or issued pursuant to all applicable Environmental Laws (“Environmental Permits”) to entitle the Companies and the
Company Subsidiaries to own or lease and operate their respective assets and to carry on and conduct the Business as currently conducted, except in each
case where the failure to so obtain, maintain or comply would not reasonably be expected to affect the Business in any material respect;

(b) there are no pending or threatened Proceedings, Orders, demands or Liens resulting from any Environmental Liabilities or arising under any
Environmental Law with respect to or affecting the Leased Real Property or any of the properties and assets (whether real, personal or mixed) currently or
formerly owned or operated by the Companies or any Company Subsidiary that would reasonably be expected to affect the Business in any material
respect;

(c) none of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has received any written notice from any Governmental Authority of any unresolved
violation of any Environmental Law
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by any Company or Company Subsidiary, or of any unresolved obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Environmental Liabilities with respect to the
Leased Real Property or any other properties in which any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has or had an interest or with respect to any
property at which Hazardous Substances were generated by any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary, or to which Hazardous Substances
generated by any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary were transferred that would reasonably be expected to affect the Business in any material
respect;

(d) As of the Closing, except in compliance with Environmental Laws in a manner that could not reasonably be expected to subject the Company or
any Company Subsidiary to any material Environmental Liability, no Hazardous Substances are present in, on or under any Leased Real Property currently
owned, operated, occupied, controlled or leased by the Company or any Company Subsidiary or were present in, on or under any real property formerly
leased, owned or otherwise occupied by the Company or any Company Subsidiary at the time it ceased to be owned, operated, occupied, controlled or
leased by the Company or Company Subsidiary. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, there are no underground storage tanks or asbestos which is friable that is
present on any Leased Real Property.

(e) the Sellers have made available to Purchaser copies of any environmental site assessment, remediation study, or notification to or from
Governmental Authorities (including but not limited to any inspection reports) in the Sellers’ possession, as well as any documents or correspondence
relating in any way to any Environmental Liabilities that relate to the Business or the Leased Real Property, in each case that would reasonably be expected
to affect the Business in any material respect;

(f) None of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries has entered into any Contract that may require it to guarantee, reimburse, pledge, defend, hold
harmless or indemnify any other party with respect to any Environmental Liability, or the Hazardous Substance activities of a Company, any Company
Subsidiary or any Person, or otherwise require the Company or Company Subsidiaries to undertake any remedial obligation or other corrective action, that
would reasonably be expected to affect the Business in any material respect; and

(g) The New Jersey Industrial Site Recovery Act, N.J.S.A. 13:1k-6 et seq. does not apply to the execution of this Agreement or the consummation of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 3.16 Affiliate Transactions. Except as set forth on Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules and for any of the Transaction Documents, none of
the Companies or any Company Subsidiary is a party to any agreement with (a) any of its current or former directors, officers, managers, members or general
managers or (b) any Seller or any Affiliate of such Seller other than any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary (such Affiliates, “Non-Company
Affiliates”). Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules describes all services provided by any Non-Company Affiliate to any of the Companies or any Company
Subsidiary. There are no loans, leases, royalty agreements or other continuing transactions between a Company or any Company Subsidiary, on the one hand, and
any current or former director, officer, employee, consultant, representative or equity holder of a Company or Company Subsidiary.

Section 3.17 Suppliers. Section 3.17 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth, for the year ended December 31, 2009, the names of the ten (10) largest
suppliers of each of the Global, Distribution – Warehouse, Transportation Management and Truckload Brokerage business lines of the Business based on the
dollar volume of purchases (the “Suppliers”). None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has received written notice from any Supplier to the effect, and
none of the Sellers has any Knowledge,
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that any such Supplier will stop supplying materials, products or services to the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries.

Section 3.18 Customers. Section 3.18 of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth for the year ended December 31, 2009, the names of the ten (10) largest
customers of each of the Global, Distribution – Warehouse, Transportation Management and Truckload Brokerage business lines of the Business based on the
dollar volume of sales (the “Customers”). None of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary has received written notice from any Customer to the effect, and
none of the Sellers has any Knowledge, that any such Customer will stop buying products or services of the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries.

Section 3.19 Insurance. Section 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedules lists each insurance policy maintained by any of the Sellers, the Companies or any
Company Subsidiary with respect to the properties, assets and operations of any of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries or of which a Company or any
Company Subsidiary is the owner, insured or beneficiary (collectively, “Insurance Policies”) and sets forth the date of expiration of each such Insurance Policy
and a list identifying each of the outstanding claims under each such Insurance Policy. Complete and correct copies of each of the Insurance Policies with open
claims have been provided to Purchaser. Each of the Insurance Policies is in full force and effect. Neither any Seller, any Company or any Company Subsidiary
nor, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, any other Person, is in breach or default under any such Insurance Policy (including with respect to the payment of
premiums or the giving of notices) in any material respect, and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, no event has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time
or both, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit termination, modification or acceleration, in any material respect, under any such Insurance Policy.
To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no party to any such Insurance Policy has repudiated any provision thereof. Section 3.19 of the Disclosure Schedules separately
identifies and describes any material self insurance arrangements affecting any Company or Company Subsidiary.

Section 3.20 Employment Matters

(a) Section 3.20(a)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth a table providing: (1) the name and job title; (2) employment type (full-time, part-time,
temporary); (3) employment status (active or leave of absence), (4) the specific entity for whom they provide services; (5) hire date, (6) annual salary;
(7) commission and bonus opportunity; (8) accrued but unused or unpaid vacation/paid time off balances; (9) the exempt and non-exempt status; and
(10) location of each employee of (i) any Company and each Company Subsidiary or (ii) any Affiliate of the Sellers, the Companies or any Company
Subsidiary who provides services primarily to the Business, in each case as of the date hereof.

(b) Each Company and each Company Subsidiary is in compliance in all material respects with all Laws respecting employment, employment
practices, terms and conditions of employment, worker classification, tax withholding, prohibited discrimination, equal employment, fair employment
practices, meal and rest periods, immigration status, occupational health and safety, wages (including overtime wages), compensation, hours of work, and
labor relations and in each case, with respect to their Employees: (i) has withheld and reported all amounts required by Law or by agreement to be withheld
and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments to such Employees, (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages, severance pay or any Taxes
or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing, (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or
on behalf of any governmental authority, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for such
Employees (other than routine payments to be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past practice), and (iv) is not liable for special
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commitments or obligations over and above those given by Law regarding severance compensation, bonus, vacation, and any other employee benefit.
There are no Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened against any Company, Company Subsidiary or their respective
Employees relating to any Employee, Employee Agreement or Employee Plan. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened
Proceedings against any Company, any Company Subsidiary, any Company trustee or any trustee of any Company Subsidiary under any worker’s
compensation policy or long-term disability policy.

(c) None of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries is party to a conciliation agreement, consent decree, or other agreement or order with any
federal, state, provincial or local agency or governmental authority with respect to employment practices. The services provided by each Company’s, each
Company Subsidiary’s and each Company ERISA Affiliate’s Employees in the U.S. are terminable at the will of the respective Company, Company
Subsidiary, and Company ERISA Affiliate and any such termination would result in no liability to any Company, Company Subsidiary, or any Company
ERISA Affiliate. None of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries has any material liability with respect to any misclassification of: (a) any Person as an
independent contractor rather than as an employee, (b) any employee leased or seconded from another employer, or (c) any employee currently or formerly
classified as exempt from overtime wages. Nor does any Company or any Company Subsidiary have any joint-employer liability with respect to any
service providers used or provided by any Company or Company Subsidiary.

(d) No strike, labor dispute, slowdown, concerted refusal to work overtime, or work stoppage against any Company or any Company Subsidiary is
pending, or to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened, or reasonably anticipated. None of the Sellers has Knowledge of any activities or proceedings of
any labor union or similar entity to organize any Employees. There are no actions, suits, claims, labor disputes or grievances pending or, to the Knowledge
of the Sellers, threatened or reasonably anticipated relating to any labor matters involving any Employee, including charges of unfair labor practices. None
of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries has engaged in any unfair labor practices within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act or any
similar statute or Law, including any similar Law of a non-U.S. jurisdiction. Except as set forth in Section 3.20 of the Disclosure Schedules, none of the
Companies and Company Subsidiaries is presently, nor has it been in the past, a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining agreement, union contract,
labor-related agreement or arrangement with any union, works council or similar labor-relations body, or any similar Contract or agreement with respect to
the Employees, (the “Labor Agreements”) and no Labor Agreements are being negotiated by any Company, any Company Subsidiary, or the Sellers. The
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not entitle any third party (including any union, works council, or other labor-
relations body) to any payments under any Labor Agreements or any similar arrangements or require any Company, Company Subsidiary, or Seller to
consult with any union, works council or similar labor relations body.

(e) None of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries has taken any action which would constitute a “plant closing” or “mass layoff” within the
meaning of WARN or any similar statute or Law, issued any notification of a plant closing or mass layoff required by WARN or any similar statute or Law,
or incurred any liability or obligation under WARN or any similar statute or Law that remains unsatisfied. No terminations prior to the Closing would
trigger any notice or other obligations under WARN or any similar statute or Law.
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(f) There are no outstanding inspection orders made under U.S or Canadian occupational health and safety legislation relating to the Companies or
any Company Subsidiary. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, threatened charges against the Companies or any Company Subsidiary
under applicable U.S. or Canadian occupational health and safety laws and there have been no fatal or critical accidents that have occurred in the course of
the operation of the Companies or any Subsidiary Company that would reasonably be expected to lead to charges under U.S. or Canadian occupational
health and safety legislation.

(g) All current assessments under U.S. or Canadian workers’ compensation legislation that relate to each of the Companies or any Company
Subsidiary have been paid or accrued, and each of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries has not been subject to any specialty or penalty assessment
under such legislation which has not been paid.

Section 3.21 Warranties; Defects; Liabilities. Each product manufactured, sold, licensed, leased, or delivered by a Company or any Company Subsidiary,
and each service rendered by a Company or any Company Subsidiary, has been in conformity with all applicable contractual commitments and all express and
implied warranties except where the failure to be in such conformity would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. None of the Companies
or Company Subsidiaries has any liability (and to the Knowledge of the Sellers, there is no current reasonable basis for any present or future action, suit,
proceeding, hearing, investigation, charge, complaint, claim, or demand giving rise to any liability) for replacement or repair of any such products or with respect
to any such services, or for other damages in connection therewith, other than warranty claims arising from warranty obligations incurred in the ordinary course
of business in amounts consistent with the historical experience of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries.

Section 3.22 Complete Copies of Documents. Each copy of a document that has been provided in the Data Room is a complete copy, in all material
respects, of the underlying document.

Section 3.23 Bankruptcy; Insolvency.

(a) None of the Sellers, Companies or Company Subsidiaries has (i) instituted voluntary proceedings under any Bankruptcy Law, (ii) had an
involuntary bankruptcy proceeding instituted against it under any Bankruptcy Law, (iii) filed a petition or other document seeking liquidation or
reorganization under any bankruptcy or any Bankruptcy Law, (iv) consented to the filing of any such petition, (v) had appointed a Custodian of it or any of
its assets or property, (vi) made a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (vii) admitted in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they
become due, or (viii) failed generally to pay its debts as they become due.

(b) The occurrence of the Closing and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement before and after Closing shall not cause any of the Sellers,
Companies or Company Subsidiaries to, and as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, none of the Sellers, Companies or Company
Subsidiaries shall be required to, (i) institute voluntary proceedings under any Bankruptcy Law, (ii) have an involuntary proceeding filed against it under
any Bankruptcy Law, (iii) file a petition or other document seeking liquidation or reorganization under any Bankruptcy Law, (iv) consent to the filing of
any such petition, (v) have appointed a Custodian (as defined below) of it or any of its assets or property, (vi) make a general assignment for the benefit of
creditors, (vii) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due, (viii) become insolvent within the meaning of any Bankruptcy
Law, (ix) fail generally to pay its debts as they become due, or (x) have unreasonably small assets in relation to its business.
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Section 3.24 Bank Accounts. Section 3.24 of the Disclosure Schedules lists each deposit or checking account maintained by any Company or Company
Subsidiary, including the name and location of the bank, trust company, savings and loan association or other financial institution at which such account is
maintained, the account number of such account and the names of all Persons authorized to draw thereon or make withdrawals therefrom.

Section 3.25 Payments. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, none of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries nor any of their respective representatives
acting on their behalf have, directly or indirectly, paid or delivered any fee, commission or other sum of money or property, however characterized, to any finder,
agent, government official or other party, in the U.S. or any other country which, to the Knowledge of the Sellers, was illegal under any Laws. To the Knowledge
of the Sellers, none of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries nor any of their representatives acting on their behalf, have accepted or received any unlawful
contributions, payments, gifts or expenditures.

Section 3.26 Brokers. All negotiations relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein have been carried out without the services of
any Person acting on behalf of the Companies in such manner as to give rise to any valid claim against Purchaser, the Companies or any Company Subsidiary for
any brokerage or finder’s commission or similar compensation. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person is entitled to any broker’s,
finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses, in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of any of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries.

Section 3.27 Purchaser’s Representations and Warranties. To the Knowledge of the Sellers, except as disclosed to Purchaser and except where
Purchaser has actual knowledge of such breach, no breach of any of Purchaser’s representations and warranties under this Agreement exists. For purposes of this
Section 3.27, the “due inquiry” component of the definition of “Knowledge of the Sellers” shall be disregarded and given no effect.

Section 3.28 Disclaimer of Implied Warranties. The Sellers are not making and have not made any representations and warranties, except as specifically
set forth in this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedules and, at the Closing, the certificates described in Section 6.4(d) and Section 6.4(j).

Section 3.29 Representations Complete. The representations and warranties made by the Sellers in this Agreement, in the Disclosure Schedules and in
any certificate executed and delivered in connection with the Closing, when all such documents are read together in their entirety, do not contain and will not
contain at the Closing any untrue statement of a material fact, and do not omit and will not omit at the Closing to state any material fact necessary in order to
make the statements contained herein or therein, in the light of the circumstances under which made, not misleading.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchaser represents and warrants to the Sellers that the following statements are true and correct:

Section 4.1 Corporate Status and Authority. Purchaser is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of Delaware
and has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party and to perform its obligations
hereunder and thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance by Purchaser of this Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party
have been duly authorized by all necessary action (whether corporate or otherwise) on the part of Purchaser. This Agreement and each of
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the other Transaction Documents to be executed by Purchaser has been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser and, assuming that this Agreement and each
other Transaction Document has been duly executed and delivered by the party seeking to enforce this Agreement or such other Transaction Document,
constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally or by general equitable principles.

Section 4.2 No Conflicts; Consents and Approvals.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Purchaser and the performance of Purchaser’s obligations under this Agreement will not result
in (i) any conflict with the Organizational Documents of Purchaser or (ii) any breach or violation of or default under any Law, statute, regulation, judgment,
order, decree or Permit or any mortgage, lease, agreement, deed of trust, indenture or any other instrument to which Purchaser is a party or by which
Purchaser or any of its properties or assets are bound.

(b) Except as provided in the Step Plan, no consent, approval or authorization of or filing with any third party or Governmental Authority is required
on the part of Purchaser in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein.

Section 4.3 Financial Ability to Perform. Purchaser will have as of the Closing available cash funds or credit facilities sufficient to pay the Pre-
Adjustment Purchase Price.

Section 4.4 Litigation. There are no judicial or administrative actions, Proceedings or investigations involving Purchaser that are pending or, to the
Knowledge of Purchaser, threatened, that question the validity of this Agreement or any action taken or to be taken by it in connection herewith.

Section 4.5 Purchase for Investment. Purchaser is acquiring the Company Interests solely for investment purposes and not with a view toward any resale
or distribution thereof. Purchaser acknowledges that the Company Interests have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
applicable securities laws and regulations of any state or other jurisdiction, and may not be transferred in the absence of such registration or an exemption
therefrom.

Section 4.6 Brokers. All negotiations relating to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein have been carried out without the services of any
Person acting on behalf of Purchaser or any Affiliate of Purchaser in such manner as to give rise to any valid claim against any Seller, any Company or any
Company Subsidiary for any brokerage or finder’s commission or similar compensation.

Section 4.7 Argentina Business Volume. Purchaser and its Affiliates in Argentina have not performed during the last 36 months any concentration under
the terms of section 8 of the Argentine Antitrust Act No. 25,156 as amended and regulated.

Section 4.8 Sellers’ Representations and Warranties. To Purchaser’s Knowledge, except as disclosed to the Seller Representative or the Sellers and
except where the Seller Representatives or any of the Sellers has actual knowledge of such breach, no breach of any of the Sellers’ representations and warranties
under this Agreement exists.
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Section 4.9 Disclaimer of Implied Warranties. Purchaser is not making and has not made any representations and warranties, except as specifically set
forth in this Agreement and, at the Closing, the certificate described in Section 6.3(d).

Section 4.10 Complete Copy of Stock Purchase Agreement. The copy of the Stock Purchase Agreement that has been provided by Purchaser to the
Sellers is a complete copy, in all material respects, of the underlying document.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS OF PARTIES

Section 5.1 Consents. Each party to this Agreement shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all consents of any Governmental Authority or
other third party required to be obtained to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or to enable Purchaser, the Companies and the Company
Subsidiaries to operate the Business after the Closing in the manner operated by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business
consistent with past practice prior to the Closing. The Sellers will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, and to cause each Company or Company
Subsidiary, as applicable, to obtain, each consent under any Material Contract required to be obtained in connection with the execution, delivery or performance
of this Agreement by the Sellers or the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein. The Sellers will also use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain,
and to cause each Company or Company Subsidiary, as applicable, to obtain, the termination of each Contract set forth on Schedule 5.1; provided that any
termination fees, claims or other expenses incurred or suffered as a result of such terminations shall be the responsibility of the Sellers. In the event that any other
party to a Lease or Material Contract conditions its grant of a consent, waiver or approval (including by threatening to exercise a “recapture” or other termination
right) upon or otherwise requires in response to a notice or consent request relating to this Agreement, the payment of a consent fee, “profit sharing” payment or
other consideration, including increased rent payments or other payments under a Lease or the provision of additional security (including a guaranty), (i) the
Company (or, if applicable, the Company Subsidiary) shall not make or commit to make any such payment or provide any such consideration without Purchaser’s
prior written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), and (ii) any such payment shall be the responsibility of the Sellers under this
Agreement.

Section 5.2 Satisfaction of Closing Conditions. The parties hereto will use their reasonable efforts to bring about the satisfaction as soon as possible of all
of the conditions contained in ARTICLE VI.

Section 5.3 Conduct of Business. From the date hereof until the Closing, except as contemplated by this Agreement (including Schedule 5.3), the Sellers
will cause the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries to conduct the Business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, and the Sellers will cause
the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries not to, in each case, without Purchaser’s prior written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed):

(a) take any action, or fail to take any action, that would be required to be listed on Section 3.14 of the Disclosure Schedules if such action or failure
to act had occurred after December 31, 2009 and prior to the date hereof;

(b) (i) merge or consolidate with or into any other Person; (ii) dissolve or liquidate; (iii) sell, lease or exclusively license all or substantially all of its
assets; or (iv) permit the sale or transfer of any Equity Interests;
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(c) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of, encumber or deliver (whether through the issuance or granting of any options, warrants, commitments,
subscriptions, rights to purchase or otherwise) any Equity Interests or any options, warrants, calls, rights, commitments, agreements, arrangements or
undertakings to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any Equity Interests;

(d) guarantee, endorse or otherwise become liable or responsible for the obligations of any other Person (other than endorsements of checks in the
ordinary course of business) or make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person, other than between the Companies or
Company Subsidiaries;

(e) incur any Debt, other than (i) up to $500,000 of Borrowed Money Debt and (ii) Debt incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with
past practice;

(f) except as required by GAAP applied on a basis consistent with prior periods, Law or circumstances that did not exist as of the date of this
Agreement, change any of the accounting principles or practices used by it;

(g) change its practices and procedures in any material respect with respect to the collection of accounts receivable or offer to discount the amount of
any account receivable or extend any other incentive (whether to the account debtor or any employee or third party responsible for the collection of
receivables) with respect thereto, other than in the ordinary course of business;

(h) fail to pay any Debt or any other accounts payable as they become due, or change in any material respect its existing practices and procedures for
the payment of Debt or other accounts payable;

(i) settle any Proceeding where the settlement involves ongoing obligations of a Company or Company Subsidiary or any non-monetary relief, except
Sellers, without Purchaser’s consent, may settle (A) Proceedings related to the Retained Insurance Claims and (B) any Proceeding where the settlement
involves only the payment of cash consideration paid prior to the Closing and the determination of the Estimated Net Working Capital and does not involve
any non-monetary relief;

(j) reduce the amount of any insurance coverage provided by existing insurance policies;

(k) make any loan to, or enter into any transaction directly or indirectly with, any of its directors, officers or employees, including any member of his
or her immediate family or Affiliates, as applicable, other than transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(l) enter into any Labor Agreement;

(m) hire or terminate (other than for cause) any management-level employee or make any material changes in headcount or key personnel;

(n) make or commit to make any material changes in salary, wages, bonuses, severance obligations or similar items or adopt or modify any Employee
Plan (other than as required by Law);
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(o) fail to maintain cash on its balance sheet in ordinary amounts necessary to maintain the continuing operations of the Business; provided, however,
that distributions of cash may be made on or prior to June 30, 2010, but only to the extent that (i) such reduction of cash on its balance sheet is fully
reflected in the Initial Net Working Capital Estimate and (ii) from the date of such reduction until the Closing there is sufficient cash to maintain the
continuing operations of the Business;

(p) acquire, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any material assets except inventories and supplies in the ordinary course of business consistent
with past practice;

(q) purchase services, lease, sublease or license real or personal property, acquire any real property or any interest in real property, make any other
expenditures or incur any other liabilities (including Debt) that in each case exceed $200,000 on an annual basis or $250,000 in the aggregate;

(r) cancel or terminate any current Insurance Policies that are specific to the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries (and not applicable to YRCW
and its Affiliates as a whole) or cause any of the coverage thereunder to lapse, unless simultaneously with such termination, cancellation or lapse,
replacement policies providing coverage equal to or greater than the coverage under the canceled, terminated or lapsed policies for substantially similar
premiums are in full force and effect;

(s) (i) make or change any Tax elections, or adopt or change any Tax accounting methods, or take any other discretionary positions with respect to
Taxes that relate to the Companies or any Company Subsidiary that would adversely affect the Business, a Company or any Company Subsidiary (except to
the extent such election or position is of a type previously made or taken by a Company or any Company Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business),
(ii) file or amend any Tax Return filed by the Companies or any Company Subsidiary or that would directly and adversely affect the Business, a Company
or any Company Subsidiary other than in accordance with Section 5.9, (iii) surrender the right to any refund or credit of Taxes to which a Company or any
Company Subsidiary is entitled, (iv) enter into any closing agreement or settle or compromise any Tax claim or assessment that relates primarily to a
Company or a Company Subsidiary, (v) consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or assessment that primarily
relate to the Companies or any Company Subsidiary (other than a limitation period applicable to a Tax claim or assessment with respect to a Tax Return of
an Affiliated Group of which YRCW or a Seller is the parent corporation), or (vi) fail to withhold, accrue and pay when due any payroll taxes and penalties
imposed on a Company or any Company Subsidiary but, for the avoidance of doubt, only to the extent such withholding, accrual or payment is required to
be made prior to the Closing; for purposes of clauses (i), (iv) and (v), a Tax matter is related to the Business, any Company or any Company Subsidiary if it
is with respect to any Tax item or attribute of the Business, a Company or a Company Subsidiary, including any item of income, gain, loss, basis, credit, or
loss or credit carry-back or carry-forward;

(t) enter into, amend or modify in any material respect, or take any affirmative action to terminate, any Material Contract other than (i) in the
ordinary course of business and (ii) any amendments to the Credit Agreement and the loan documents entered into in connection therewith that do not
directly impact the Business, the Equity Interests or the properties and assets of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries (for the avoidance of doubt,
neither reaffirming the guarantees, pledges and security interests obligating the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries
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in effect immediately prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, nor requesting the termination or release thereof, alone requires the consent of
Purchaser);

(u) make any material change to any partnership;

(v) delay or postpone the payment of accounts payable or other liabilities outside the ordinary course of business;

(w) make or authorize any change to, or repeal any provision of, the Organizational Documents of a Company or any Company Subsidiary;

(x) after June 30, 2010, make, declare, make provision for, pay or set aside assets for any dividend or otherwise or declare or make any other
distribution with respect to its Equity Interests, or purchase, redeem or acquire any Equity Interests, or make or declare any grants or charitable donations;
or

(y) approve, propose, authorize any of, or commit or agree to take any of the foregoing;

provided, however, that it shall not be a violation of this Section 5.3 for YRCW to (A) take any actions with respect to the Domestic Freight Forwarding,
Flow-Through Distribution and certain Hong Kong and China operations that are to be retained by YRCW and not acquired by Purchaser pursuant to this
Agreement, but only to the extent such actions do not adversely affect, in any material respect, any Company or Company Subsidiary, the Business or the
consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, or (B) conduct activities with respect to the conversion of any of the Companies to limited liability
companies, but only to the extent such activities have been approved in writing by Purchaser (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned
or delayed).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that this Agreement does not, and shall not be construed to, impose any condition on the ability
of any Seller, Company or Company Subsidiary or any Affiliate of a Seller, Company or Company Subsidiary to create, incur or permit to exist any lien
upon any of its property or assets to secure the Secured Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement); provided that in no event shall Purchaser be
required to consummate the sale and purchase of the Company Interests unless the conditions set forth in Section 6.2 and Section 6.4 have been fulfilled or
waived in accordance with the terms herein.

Section 5.4 Access and Information. The Sellers shall cause the Companies to give to Purchaser and its agents and representatives reasonable access
during normal business hours to (a) the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Business and other employees, members of management
and customers of the Companies and the Business to whom Purchaser reasonably requests access, provided that access to customers shall be subject to mutual
coordination by YRC Logistics and Purchaser, and (b) the properties, assets, books, records, business plans and budgets of the Companies and the Company
Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, access to any Leased Real Property for the purpose of performing any non-intrusive environmental investigations that
Purchaser shall desire, provided that (i) the Sellers shall only be obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to give access to any Leased Real Property if the
consent of the lessor of such Leased Real Property is required to perform environmental investigations, and (ii) Purchaser shall not perform any Phase II
Environmental Site Investigations without the express written approval of the Seller Representative), and will furnish such information and documents in their
possession relating to the Companies and the Company
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Subsidiaries as Purchaser and its agents and representatives may reasonably request. All such information and documents obtained by Purchaser or its
representatives shall be subject to the terms and conditions of that certain Confidentiality Agreement, dated February 5, 2009, by and between Austin Ventures X,
L.P. and YRC Logistics (the “Confidentiality Agreement”). The Sellers, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall promptly support the
provision of information to third party providers requested by Purchaser or its agents or representatives to evaluate establishing an independent bank line of credit
or insurance policies at the Companies or Company Subsidiaries, provided that Purchaser and such agents or representatives shall cooperate with the Sellers to
inform such third party providers of the confidential nature of such information provided to them.

Section 5.5 Publicity; Disclosure. Prior to the Closing, no press release or public announcement related to this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated herein may be issued or made by or on behalf of any party to this Agreement without the approval of the Seller Representative and Purchaser,
unless required by law or stock exchange requirement (in the reasonable opinion of counsel for the party making the disclosure), in which case the other party
shall have the right to review such press release or announcement prior to publication. In addition, prior to the Closing, the parties to this Agreement shall not
disclose, and shall cause their respective partners, officers, directors, employees, stockholders, members, managers and other agents not to disclose, to any third
party other than legal, tax and similar advisors in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any letter of intent related to this Agreement between any of the parties hereto (a “Letter of Intent”), and the
existence of the proposed transactions and of any Letter of Intent, except that the parties to this Agreement may (a) disclose such information to any bank, lender
(including a pension fund) or other financial institution (or such Person’s consultants and legal counsel) that provides financing to the Sellers or any of their
Affiliates (including YRCW), (b) disclose such information to any Person (including a Governmental Authority) for the sole purpose of obtaining a consent or
approval of such Person listed in Section 2.3(b), Section 3.2(a) or Section 3.2(b) to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (c) make any disclosure
required to be made by it under Law (including federal securities laws) provided that (i) in the case of a disclosure described in clause (c), the Sellers shall have
advised Purchaser at least two (2) Business Days prior to any such disclosure, if the Sellers determine that such disclosure is required under applicable securities
laws and (ii) prior to making any disclosure of information covered by this Section 5.5, such party will use commercially reasonable efforts to notify the other
parties thereof and cooperate with such other parties with respect thereto to the extent requested in order to preserve confidentiality. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the parties to this Agreement shall be allowed to inform key customers and suppliers and potential customers and suppliers of the Business that the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement are intended to be consummated upon satisfaction of the closing conditions; provided, however, that no party shall
be allowed to disclose this Agreement, the Letter of Intent or the terms or conditions of any of the foregoing to such key customers and suppliers and potential
customers and suppliers.

Section 5.6 Preservation. The Sellers shall cause each of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries to (a) use its reasonable efforts to preserve intact its
business organization and goodwill, keep available the services of its officers and employees as a group and maintain satisfactory relationships with suppliers,
distributors and customers, (b) confer on a regular and frequent basis, at Purchaser’s reasonable request, with representatives of Purchaser to report operational
matters and the general status of ongoing operations and (c) notify Purchaser of any material adverse development or material change in its business or in the
operation of its properties or in the Business.

Section 5.7 Confidential Information. From and after the Closing, except in response to legal process or stock exchange requirements (where a Seller has,
to the extent permitted by law, notified the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries in writing so that they may seek appropriate relief and has
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given the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries a reasonable period of time to seek such relief prior to any disclosure by such Seller), no Seller shall divulge,
disclose, furnish or make accessible to anyone or use in any way any confidential or secret knowledge or information of the Companies or the Company
Subsidiaries including, but not limited to, trade secrets, confidential or secret designs, processes, formulae, plans, devices or material (whether or not patented or
patentable) directly or indirectly used in the Business, any customer or supplier lists of the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries, any confidential or secret
development or research work of the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries, or any other confidential information or secret aspects of the Business. The Sellers
acknowledge that the above-described knowledge or information constitutes a unique and valuable asset of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries and
represents a substantial investment of time and expense by the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries, and that any disclosure or use of such knowledge or
information by a Seller would be wrongful and would cause irreparable harm to the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries, entitling the Companies and
Company Subsidiaries to obtain equitable relief without having to post bond. The foregoing obligations of confidentiality shall not apply to (a) any knowledge or
information that is now or subsequently becomes generally publicly known, other than as a direct or indirect result of the breach of this Agreement by a Seller, or
(b) disclosures by any Seller to its outside consultants or legal advisers or disclosures by any Seller to any bank, lender (including a pension fund) or other
financial institution (or such Person’s consultants and legal counsel) that provides financing to the Sellers or any of their Affiliates (including YRCW), so long as,
in each of the foregoing cases, the recipient of such disclosure has a legitimate need to know such knowledge or information in connection with professional
services being provided to Seller and has been informed of the confidential nature of the information provided to it.

Section 5.8 Seller Credit Enhancements. Schedule 5.8 sets forth a list of all performance, local import or other similar bonds, sureties, letters of credit or
other guaranties, excluding security deposits and prepayments, in connection with the operation of the Business posted by any of the Sellers or their respective
Affiliates (other than the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries) (collectively, “Seller Credit Enhancements”). Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to, effective as of the Closing Date, replace the Seller Credit Enhancements with new arrangements, including obtaining and posting substitute bonds,
sureties, letters of credit or guaranties or assuming existing Seller Credit Enhancements; provided, however, that Purchaser shall replace the Seller Credit
Enhancements listed under the heading “Bonds and Letters of Credit - US” on Schedule 5.8 in the manner described in this sentence within five (5) Business
Days after the Closing. The Sellers shall not, and shall cause the Companies and Company Subsidiaries not to, withdraw or replace the deposits in the amount of
£1,700,000 and €225,000 in connection with the Euler Hermes Guarantees (as defined in the Disclosure Schedules) prior to or upon Closing.

Section 5.9 Tax Matters.

(a) The Sellers shall have the right (at the Sellers’ sole risk, cost and expense) to control the conduct of any Tax Contest, that would, if pursued
successfully, result in or give rise to a claim for Indemnified Tax Losses (as defined in Section 5.10). Purchaser and the relevant Companies and Company
Subsidiaries shall be entitled to attend and participate in any such proceeding at their sole cost and expense. Purchaser (at Purchaser’s sole risk, cost and
expense) shall control all other Tax Contests with respect to the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries. If the Companies or the Sellers receive any
written or oral communication with respect to a claim for Indemnified Tax Losses, then the Sellers or Purchaser (on behalf of the Companies and Company
Subsidiaries) shall promptly notify the other party hereto in writing of the existence of such Tax claim. The party controlling any Tax Contest that would, if
pursued successfully, result in or give rise to a claim for Indemnified Tax Losses, shall not settle or compromise such Tax
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Contest without the prior written consent of the other party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(b) The Sellers and Purchaser shall, and Purchaser shall cause the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries to, cooperate and consult in good faith
with each other (i) during the course of the preparation of U.S. federal, state, regional, county, provincial, municipal, local or non-U.S. Tax Returns of the
Companies for periods ending on or before the Closing Date (collectively, the “Pre-Closing Tax Period”) and the portion of any Straddle Period ending on
the Closing Date, and (ii) in connection with any adjustment, claim or question asserted or raised by any Tax authority with respect to the Companies and
in respect of any Pre-Closing Tax Period or the portion of any Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date. Such cooperation shall include the retention as
set forth in the next sentence, and (upon the request and at the expense of the other party) the provision of records and information that are reasonably
relevant to any such Tax Return or Tax Contest, and making themselves and employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional
information and explanation of any material information provided hereunder. The Sellers and Purchaser agree, and Purchaser shall cause its Affiliates
(including the Companies and Company Subsidiaries), (A) to retain all books and records in their possession with respect to Tax matters relating to the
Companies and the Company Subsidiaries for any taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of limitations (and, to
the extent notified by Purchaser or the Sellers, any extensions thereof) of the respective taxable periods, and to abide by all record retention agreements
entered into with any Governmental Authority, and (B) to give the other party reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any
such books and records and, if the other party so requests, Purchaser or the Sellers shall, and Purchaser shall cause its Affiliates (including the Companies
and Company Subsidiaries) to, allow such party to take possession of such books and records. YRCW will provide to Purchaser on or prior to the Closing
Date a complete list of Tax Returns that are required to be filed for, by, on behalf of, or with respect to any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary,
including a list of the required filing date for each such Tax Return (determined as if the purchase and sale of the Company Interests would not occur). The
Sellers and Purchaser shall cooperate and consult in good faith with each other to determine which of such Tax Returns are required to be filed for a Pre-
Closing Tax Period and which Tax Returns cover a Straddle Period. Any information obtained by any Person in connection with any Tax matters to which
this Agreement applies shall be kept confidential, except as may be otherwise necessary in connection with the filing of Tax Returns or claims for refund or
in conducting a Tax Contest in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(c) To the extent permitted by Law, the Sellers shall cause the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries to elect with the appropriate Tax authority
to close the taxable periods of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries as of and including the Closing Date. In any case where Law does not require
or permit a taxable period of the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries to be closed as of and including the Closing Date, any Tax pertaining to a period
that begins on or before the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date (a “Straddle Period”) shall be allocated in accordance with the applicable
provisions of Section 5.9(d) hereof.

(d) In the case of any Tax pertaining to a Straddle Period and which is based on income, sales, revenue, production or similar items or other Taxes not
described in the next sentence, the portion of Tax pertaining or attributable to the Companies for the portion of a Straddle Period ending on and including
the Closing Date shall be determined on the basis of an interim closing of the books as of and including the Closing Date, provided, that exemptions,
allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis (including depreciation and amortization deductions), other than with respect to property
placed in service after the Closing,
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shall be allocated between the portion of the Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date and the portion of the Straddle Period beginning
after the Closing Date in proportion to the number of days in each such portion. Any real or personal property Tax assessed against or pertaining to any
asset of a Company for a Straddle Period shall be prorated as follows: the total amount of any such Taxes allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period
ending on and including the Closing Date shall be the product of (i) such Tax for the entirety of the Straddle Period, multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the
numerator of which is the number of days in such Tax period prior to and including the Closing Date, and the denominator of which is the total number of
days in the Tax period, and the balance of such Taxes shall be allocable to the Post-Closing Tax Period. To the extent that the party responsible pursuant to
this Agreement for filing a Tax Return (the “Filing Party”) is required to remit any Taxes that the other party is responsible pursuant to this Agreement to
pay (the “Paying Party”), the Paying Party shall pay to the Filing Party any such Taxes within 10 days after receipt of reasonably satisfactory evidence of
the amount of such Taxes.

(e) The Sellers shall prepare or cause to be prepared and timely filed any and all Tax Returns which are required to be filed for, by, on behalf of or
with respect to the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries on or before the Closing Date. The Sellers will prepare or cause to be prepared and timely filed
each Tax Return covering a Pre-Closing Tax Period (including, without limitation, any short taxable period, or Tax Return required or permitted to be filed
for a short taxable period ending on the Closing Date) which is required to be filed for, by, on behalf of or with respect to any of the Companies or any
Company Subsidiary after the Closing Date. Purchaser will prepare or cause to be prepared and timely filed each Tax Return covering a Straddle Period
which is required to be filed for, by, on behalf of or with respect to any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary after the Closing Date. Tax Returns
contemplated by the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.9(e) shall be prepared in accordance with Law and consistent with past practice. The party
required by the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.9(e) to prepare or cause to be prepared and timely filed any Tax Return shall permit the other party to
review and comment on each such Tax Return during a reasonable period prior to filing and shall revise such Tax Returns in accordance with such other
party’s reasonable comments. Any disputes regarding the Tax Returns referred to by the foregoing provisions of this Section 5.9(e) shall be timely resolved
by the Referee. Purchaser shall prepare and file or cause to be prepared and filed all other Tax Returns for the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries
required to be filed after the Closing Date.

(f) Any sales, use, value-added, goods and services and other transfer taxes, stamp duties, real estate or other excise taxes and other similar Taxes
imposed as a result of the transfer of the Company Interests to Purchaser or its Affiliates pursuant to this Agreement (“Transfer Taxes”) shall be the
liability of the Sellers, and, to the extent such Transfer Taxes are payable by Purchaser, Purchaser shall be entitled to treat such amounts as withholding
pursuant to Section 1.7 or require the Sellers to reimburse Purchaser for the amount of such Transfer Taxes. The parties hereto shall cooperate with each
other to the extent reasonably requested and legally permitted to minimize any such Transfer Taxes. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Section 5.9, the party required by Law to file any Tax Return with respect to Transfer Taxes shall do so in the time and manner prescribed by Law, and
shall permit the other party to review and comment on each such Tax Return during a reasonable period prior to filing and shall revise such Tax Returns in
accordance with the other party’s reasonable comments.

(g) In Purchaser’s sole discretion, any Tax sharing, indemnification or allocation agreement (or similar agreement or arrangement) to which any of
the Companies or Company Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of the Companies or Company
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Subsidiaries is bound shall be terminated effective as of the Closing, and neither the Companies nor the Company Subsidiaries shall have any liability
pursuant to any such agreement.

(h) The Sellers agree that elections may be made under Section 338(g) of the Code with respect to the purchase pursuant to this Agreement of any of
the Companies or Company Subsidiaries that is a non-U.S. corporation.

(i) Prior to the Closing, (i) the Sellers shall take all actions necessary to cause (A) any of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary that is
incorporated or formed under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, other than USF Logistics (Mexico) Inc. and USF Logistics
Services (Puerto Rico) Inc. to be disregarded as an entity separate from its owner within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 301.7701-3 for U.S.
federal Tax purposes, and (B) the complete liquidation of Globe.com Lines, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and (ii) YRCW shall join with Purchaser and take
all actions necessary to make an election under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code with respect to the purchase of the stock of each of USF Logistics (Mexico)
Inc. and USF Logistics Services (Puerto Rico) Inc. (collectively, the “Restructuring”). In addition, the Sellers shall cooperate as reasonably requested by
Purchaser and at Purchaser’s expense to take any and all other actions necessary or convenient in connection with Purchaser’s tax planning or structuring
with respect to the Business.

(j) The Sellers and Purchaser shall cooperate and consult in good faith with each other to determine, prior to the Closing Date, which Governmental
Authorities identified on the list provided pursuant to Section 3.13(n) will impose withholding tax with respect to the payment of the Purchase Price and
the amount of any such Tax.

(k) In the event of a conflict between any of the provisions of this Section 5.9 and any other provision of this Agreement, the provisions of this
Section 5.9 shall control.

Section 5.10 Tax Indemnification. The Sellers hereby agree, jointly and severally, to indemnify and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates (including
the Companies and Company Subsidiaries after the Closing) from and against any Tax, loss, damage, liability or expense, including reasonable fees for attorneys
and other outside consultants, incurred in contesting or otherwise in connection with: (i) any Taxes imposed on the Companies and /or the Company Subsidiaries
with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period or portion of any Straddle Period ending on and including the Closing Date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any
such Taxes resulting from the North America Business Transfer Transaction, the Hong Kong Business Transfer Transaction, the Restructuring, the matters
referred to in Section 5.15 or any other action taken on or prior to the Closing Date in order to facilitate, or otherwise prepare any Company or Company
Subsidiary for transfer pursuant to, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) any Taxes imposed on the Sellers that are collected or required to be
collected by means of withholding against the Purchase Price; (iii) any Taxes of another Person imposed on any Company and/or Company Subsidiary as a result
of being or having been a member of an Affiliated Group, as a transferee or successor, by contract, by operation of Law or otherwise during or with respect to any
period or portion of such period ending on or before the Closing Date; (iv) any obligation under any Tax allocation, indemnification or sharing agreement,
including the Tax Sharing Agreement, dated January 1, 2003 by and among Yellow Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries as set forth on Section 3.13 of the
Disclosure Schedules and the Tax Indemnification and Allocation Agreement, dated September 30, 2002, by and between Yellow Corporation and SCS
Transportation, Inc.; and (v) Taxes imposed on the Companies and/or the Company Subsidiaries as a result of any inaccuracy or breach of representation or
warranty under Section 3.13 or any covenant under Section 5.3(s) or Section 5.9 provided that no Seller shall be liable to Purchaser for any amount described in
this Section 5.10 until the aggregate amount of Taxes determined to be due and payable exceeds the aggregate amount that is
 

Page 49 of 81
Equity Interest Purchase Agreement



specifically accrued or reserved for such Taxes on the Final Balance Sheet. In addition, and notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, including
the foregoing, the Sellers hereby agree, jointly and severally, to indemnify and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates (including the Companies and Company
Subsidiaries after the Closing) from and against any Tax, loss, damage, liability or expense, including reasonable fees for attorneys and other outside consultants,
incurred in contesting or otherwise in connection with any Taxes of the Sellers for any taxable period or portion thereof, including, for the avoidance of doubt,
any such Taxes collected or required to be collected by means of withholding against the Purchase Price. Any amount described in this Section 5.10 plus any
Losses arising out of, in connection with or related to the Pending Tax Cases shall be referred to as “Indemnified Tax Losses.”

Section 5.11 Notification of Certain Matters.

(a) The Sellers will give prompt notice to Purchaser of, and prior to the Closing will update the applicable section or sections of the Disclosure
Schedules to describe (including the underlying event, condition, fact or circumstance that causes, caused, constitutes or constituted):

(i) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the existence of any breach or breaches of any representation or warranty in ARTICLE II or ARTICLE III
of this Agreement, if such breach or breaches individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to result in Purchaser Indemnified
Losses in excess of the Minimum Loss Amount; and

(ii) to the Knowledge of the Sellers, the failure by any of the Sellers to comply with or satisfy, or the failure by any of the Sellers to cause the
Companies and the Company Subsidiaries to comply with or satisfy, in any material respect any covenants to be complied with by the Sellers, the
Companies or the Company Subsidiaries hereunder as a condition to Purchaser’s obligation to close the transactions contemplated hereunder.

No such notification will affect the representations or warranties of the Sellers or the conditions to Purchaser’s obligation to close hereunder, and for
purposes of determining the accuracy of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and determination of the amount of Purchaser
Indemnified Losses related thereto, any update of or modification to the Disclosure Schedules made or purported to have been made by the Sellers after the
date of this Agreement shall be disregarded.

(b) Purchaser will give prompt notice to the Sellers of:

(i) to the Knowledge of Purchaser, the existence of any breach or breaches of any representation or warranty in ARTICLE IV of this
Agreement, if such breach or breaches individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to result in Seller Indemnified Losses in
excess of the Minimum Loss Amount; and

(ii) to the Knowledge of Purchaser, the failure of Purchaser to comply with or satisfy in any material respect any covenants to be complied
with by Purchaser hereunder as a condition to the Sellers’ obligation to close the transactions contemplated hereunder.

No such notification will affect the representations or warranties of Purchaser or the conditions to the Sellers’ obligation to close hereunder, and for
purposes of determining the accuracy of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement and determination of the amount of Seller
Indemnified Losses related thereto, any update of or modification to the Disclosure
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Schedules made or purported to have been made by Purchaser after the date of this Agreement shall be disregarded.

Section 5.12 Employee Benefits/Labor Matters.

(a) At or after the expiration date of the Employee Transition Period (as defined in the TSA) (such expiration date, the “Expiration Date”), Purchaser
shall, or shall cause one of its Subsidiaries to, take such actions as are necessary to grant those employees who (i) are, as of the Expiration Date, Leased
Employees (as defined in the TSA), (ii) are not included in a unit of employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement and (iii) have been offered
and accepted employment with Purchaser or one of its Subsidiaries following the Expiration Date (such employees meeting the conditions described in all
of clauses (i) through (iii) above, the “Company Employees”), credit for Past Service (as defined below) for purposes of initial eligibility to participate in,
and vesting and benefit accrual (other than benefit accrual under any defined benefit pension plan or plan providing post-retirement welfare benefits) under,
any employee benefit plans maintained by Purchaser and its Subsidiaries in which the Company Employees are eligible to participate (collectively,
“Purchaser Plans”). “Past Service” means a Company Employee’s service with the Companies, any Company Subsidiary, or the YRC Companies (as
defined in the TSA) pursuant to the terms of the TSA to the same extent recognized by the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries and the YRC Companies
(as defined in the TSA) pursuant to the terms of the TSA under the Employee Plans. Purchaser shall, or shall cause one of its Subsidiaries to, take such
actions as are necessary to give Company Employees credit for their Past Service for purposes of determining the amounts of sick pay, holiday pay and
vacation pay they are eligible to receive under any sick pay, holiday pay and vacation pay policies and programs maintained by Purchaser and its
Subsidiaries in which they are eligible to participate.

(b) With respect to each Company Employee who is an active participant in an Employee Plan (a “Company Employee Plan”) immediately prior to
the Expiration Date, Purchaser shall, or shall cause one of its Subsidiaries to, take such actions as are necessary to ensure that the group health plan
maintained by Purchaser or one of its Subsidiaries in which such Company Employee is eligible to participate during the calendar year in which the
Expiration Date occurs (the “Current Year”) shall, to the extent permitted under such Company Employee Plan (i) waive any preexisting condition
restrictions and waiting period requirements to the extent that such preexisting condition restrictions and waiting period requirements were waived or
satisfied under the applicable Company Employee Plan in which such Company Employee participated immediately prior to the Expiration Date, and
(ii) provide credit, for the Current Year, for any co-payments or deductible payments made by the Company Employee and out of pocket expenditures
incurred by the Company Employee under the applicable Company Employee Plan for the Current Year. For the period of time between the Closing Date
and the Expiration Date the Leased Employees shall continue to be eligible to participate in the Company Employee Plans, other than a Company
Employee Plan that is intended to include a Code Section 401(k) arrangement, subject to the terms and conditions of such Company Employee Plans and
on the same terms in effect as of the Closing Date, through the Expiration Date.

(c) Effective as of the day immediately preceding Closing, the Companies and/or the Company Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall, subject to Law, each
terminate (i) any and all group severance, separation or salary continuation plans, programs or arrangements, (ii) any and all plans intended to include a
Code Section 401(k) arrangement that are sponsored by a Company or a Company Subsidiary and (iii) participation in any and all plans intended to include
a Code Section 401(k) arrangement in which Employees of a Company or a Company Subsidiary

 
Page 51 of 81

Equity Interest Purchase Agreement



participate (collectively, “Company Terminated Plan(s)”). Effective as of the day immediately preceding Closing, and subject to Law, the Companies and
the Company Subsidiaries shall each terminate participation in any Affiliate Employee Plan (including any Affiliate Employee Plan that is an employee
pension benefit plan as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA, whether qualified or not qualified). No later than five Business Days prior to the Closing, the
Companies and Company Subsidiaries shall provide Purchaser with evidence that such Company Terminated Plan(s) and each of the Companies’ and
Company Subsidiaries’ participation in any Affiliate Employee Plan have been terminated (effective as of the day immediately preceding the Closing Date
and subject to the Closing) pursuant to resolutions of the Sellers’, Companies’ and Company Subsidiaries’ board of directors, members or managers, as
applicable. The form and substance of such resolutions shall be subject to review and approval of Purchaser, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Companies and Company Subsidiaries also shall take such other actions in furtherance of terminating such Company
Terminated Plan(s) and participation in such Affiliate Employee Plans as Purchaser may reasonably require, which may include, without limitation,
obtaining employees’ consent where required.

(d) Purchaser acknowledges that by operation of law the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall continue to be obligated to
comply with the terms of any non-U.S. Employee Plans that are sponsored by the Companies and any Company Subsidiary immediately prior to the
Closing Date; provided, however, that nothing herein shall restrict Purchaser’s, its Subsidiaries’, the Companies’ or a Company Subsidiary’s ability to
amend or terminate such Employee Plans in accordance with their terms and subject to Law. Nothing contained herein is intended to, nor shall it, amend
any Employee Plan or any similar plan, program or arrangement maintained by Purchaser or its Subsidiaries.

(e) Purchaser acknowledges that by operation of law after the Closing Date the Companies or Company Subsidiaries that are parties to the collective
bargaining agreements set forth on Section 5.12(e) of the Disclosure Schedules shall continue to be obligated to comply with the terms of such collective
bargaining agreements.

(f) Except as set forth in the TSA, the Sellers shall be responsible for, hereby covenant to pay or otherwise discharge, and shall indemnify and hold
harmless Purchaser against, any liability, claim or obligation (including reasonable attorney’s fees) for any liability, claim or obligation that was incurred
prior to the Expiration Date under, in connection with, relating to or arising out of any Employee Plan.

(g) Nothing herein shall alter the at-will employment of any employee of any Company or any Company Subsidiary in the U.S., including any
applicable employment in connection with the TSA.

(h) The Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts, and shall cause the Company and the Company Subsidiaries to use commercially
reasonable efforts, to cooperate with Purchaser in the preparation of communications announcing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the
other Transaction Documents to the Employees and shall not provide any Employee with a description or commitment of any compensatory arrangements
to be in effect after the Closing without first obtaining Purchaser’s prior written consent.

(i) Prior to the Closing, each employee listed on Exhibit I shall have resigned his or her employment with, or been terminated by, the Sellers, the
Companies and the Company Subsidiaries and the Sellers shall not provide any such employee a competing or alternative offer of employment with any
Seller or an Affiliate of any Seller; provided that (i) the Sellers shall be
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permitted to retain and continue to employ such employees who become Leased Employees to the extent necessary to perform the obligations of the Sellers
who are parties to the TSA and in accordance with the TSA and (ii) the resignation or removal of such employees who become Leased Employees may
become effective after the Closing Date but in no event later than the end of the Employee Transition Period (as defined in the TSA). Until the first
anniversary of the Closing Date, without the consent of Purchaser, the Sellers shall not directly or indirectly solicit for employment or rehire any employee
listed on Exhibit I who was terminated or who resigned employment with any of the Sellers, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries prior to the
Closing.

Section 5.13 Acquisition Proposals.

(a) No Solicitation. From the date hereof through the earlier of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 or the Closing, none of the
Sellers, the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers, directors, employees, partners, stockholders, members, managers and
other agents or representatives will, and the Sellers, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries will cause their own and their Affiliates’ officers,
directors, employees, partners, stockholders, members, managers and other agents or representatives not to (and will not authorize any of them to), directly
or indirectly (i) solicit, initiate, encourage, knowingly facilitate or knowingly induce any inquiry with respect to, or the making, or submission of, any
Acquisition Proposal with respect to any of the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or the Business; (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations
regarding, or furnish to any Person any nonpublic information with respect to, or take any other action to knowingly facilitate any inquiries or the making
of any proposal that constitutes or may reasonably be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal with respect to any of the Companies or the Company
Subsidiaries; (iii) engage in discussions with any Person with respect to any Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries
or the Business, except as to the existence of these provisions; (iv) approve, endorse, recommend or submit to a vote of holders of its Equity Interests any
Acquisition Proposal with respect to the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or the Business; or (v) enter into any letter of intent or similar document or
any Contract contemplating or otherwise relating to any Acquisition Proposal or transaction contemplated thereby with respect to the Companies, the
Company Subsidiaries or the Business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Seller, Company or Company Subsidiary may respond to an inquiry or other
expression of interest without being deemed to have violated this Section 5.13 if and only to the extent that such response states only that such Seller,
Company or Company Subsidiary is prohibited from, among other things, discussions regarding such inquiry or other expression of interest.

(b) Notification of Unsolicited Acquisition Proposals. From the date hereof until the earlier of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to
Section 7.1 or the Closing, immediately after receipt by any of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates
of any Acquisition Proposal or any request for nonpublic information or inquiry that it reasonably believes could lead to an Acquisition Proposal, the
Sellers will provide Purchaser with oral and written notice of the material terms and conditions of such Acquisition Proposal, request or inquiry, and the
identity of the Person or group making any such Acquisition Proposal, request or inquiry.

Section 5.14 Non-Reliance. Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Sellers have not made any implied representations or warranties in this
Agreement or otherwise. Specifically, but without limitation, the Sellers have not made in this Agreement or otherwise any implied representations and warranties
of merchantability or use or fitness for any particular purpose of the assets of the Companies or
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the Company Subsidiaries. Each of the Sellers acknowledges and agrees that Purchaser has not made any implied representations or warranties in this Agreement
or otherwise.

Section 5.15 Transfer of Equity Interests. The Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause YRCL Singapore to transfer any Equity Interests
of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia owned by YRCL Singapore to a Person other than a Company or a Company Subsidiary. If the Sellers are unable, prior to the
Closing, to cause YRCL Singapore to transfer such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia to a Person other than a Company or a Company Subsidiary,
then the Parties shall cooperate to cause such transfer to occur no later than one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing Date. Without limiting the
agreement of the Parties in the preceding sentence:

(a) the costs and expenses (including Taxes) associated with such transfer of such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia shall be borne by the
Sellers;

(b) from and after the Closing, until the transfer of such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia in accordance with this Section 5.15, Purchaser
shall cause YRCL Singapore not to transfer, sell, dispose of or otherwise encumber such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia, or to agree or
commit to do any of the foregoing;

(c) from and after the Closing, until the transfer of such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia in accordance with this Section 5.15, Purchaser
shall cause YRCL Singapore to vote such Equity Interests as directed by YRCL Asia on all matters on which a vote of such Equity Interests is required or
appropriate, including for the election of directors or other members of the governing body of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia; provided that Purchaser shall not
be required to cause YRCL Singapore to vote such Equity Interests in a manner that is prohibited by Law or Order or to approve any action that if approved
or taken would constitute a violation of Law or Order;

(d) Purchaser shall cause YRCL Singapore to pay and remit to YRCL Asia any dividends, distributions or other sums received by YRCL Singapore
in respect of its ownership of such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia; and

(e) the transfer of such Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia pursuant to this Section 5.15 shall be made pursuant to transfer documentation
mutually acceptable to the Parties and as outlined on Schedule 5.15.

Section 5.16 May Financial Statements. The Sellers shall deliver to Purchaser unaudited balance sheets of the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries
as of May 31, 2010 and the related statements of income for the five-month period then ended promptly upon preparation of such financial statements, but in any
event no later than the Closing.

Section 5.17 Name Changes; Use of Trademarks.

(a) The Sellers shall dissolve, or change the corporate names of, PT Meridian IQ Indonesia, Meridian IQ Jin Jiang Logistics Co., Ltd., and any other
Affiliates of the Sellers whose names include the phrase “Meridian IQ”, the word “Meridian”, the letter string “MIQ”, any other substantially similar word
or phrase to any of the foregoing, or any word or phrase that includes any of the foregoing (each a “Meridian Mark,” and collectively, the “Meridian
Marks”) no later than one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing Date. The Sellers agree, on their own behalf and on behalf of their Affiliates,
that from and after the Closing, none of them will use a Meridian Mark in any form whatsoever, including in respect of advertising and promotional
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materials. The Sellers agree that from and after the Closing, they will not use, license or authorize any third party to use, any other name, slogan, logo,
trade name or trademark (“Name”) or any abbreviation of or derivation from “Meridian IQ” or any Name similar to any Name used in connection with the
Business prior to or as of the Closing Date. The Sellers agree, on their own behalf and on behalf of their Affiliates, that from and after the Closing they
shall not register or attempt to register trademarks in any jurisdiction consisting of a Meridian Mark and shall not qualify to do business under any name
consisting of a Meridian Mark. The Sellers and their Affiliates shall not oppose Purchaser’s or a Purchaser Nominee’s registration or use of the Meridian
Marks alone or with other words or designs, in any jurisdiction. The Sellers shall take, and shall cause their Affiliates to take, all reasonable action, as and
when requested by Purchaser, to cancel or abandon any active trademark applications or registrations for a Meridian Mark.

(b) Purchaser shall change the corporate name of each Company and Company Subsidiary whose name includes the phrase “YRC Logistics” or the
words “YRCW” or “YRC” no later than one hundred and eighty (180) days after the Closing Date. Purchaser agrees, on its own behalf and on behalf of its
Affiliates, that from and after the Closing, except as permitted under the TSA, none of them will use the phrase “YRC Logistics” or the words “YRCW” or
“YRC” or any abbreviation of or derivation from such phase or words or any name similar to them in any form whatsoever, including in respect of
advertising and promotional materials. Purchaser agrees that from and after the Closing, except as permitted under the TSA, neither Purchaser, its
Affiliates, the Companies nor the Company Subsidiaries will use, license or authorize any third party to use, any other Name or any abbreviation of or
derivation from “YRC Logistics”, “YRCW” or “YRC” or any Name similar to such Name used in connection with the Business prior to or as of the
Closing Date. Purchaser agrees that from and after the Closing, neither Purchaser, its Affiliates, the Companies nor the Company Subsidiaries shall register
or attempt to register trademarks in any jurisdiction using the phrase “YRC Logistics” or the words “YRCW” or “YRC,” and shall not qualify to do
business under any name using the phrase “YRC Logistics” or the words “YRCW” or “YRC”. During the one hundred and eighty (180) day period
following the Closing Date, the Sellers and their Affiliates shall not use the phrase “YRC Logistics” in connection with the business of the Sellers or their
Affiliates, except that the Sellers may continue to use the phrase “YRC Logistics” in connection with the Retained Asia Business. After such 180-day
period, Purchaser shall not oppose the Sellers’ or the Sellers’ Affiliates’ registration or use of the name “YRC Logistics” alone or with other words or
designs, in any jurisdiction.

Section 5.18 Retained Obligations. Prior to the Closing, the Sellers shall cause the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries to assign to the Sellers and
prior to the Closing, the Sellers shall assume the Retained Obligations pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

Section 5.19 Certain Software Contracts and Applications. The Parties recognize and agree that the Contracts and applications identified in Schedule
5.19 will not be transferred at signing of this Agreement, and the Parties covenant to use commercially reasonable efforts between the date hereof and the Closing
Date and, to the extent necessary, after the Closing Date, to effect those transfers, as necessary to place adequate rights in such Contracts and applications with the
appropriate Party, as indicated in Schedule 5.19 (with “NewCo Needs” referring to Purchaser, a Company or a Company Subsidiary as the appropriate Party).

Section 5.20 UK Deposits. The Parties hereby agree that 61.5% of the UK Deposit Amount shall belong to the Sellers, and 38.5% of the UK Deposit
Amount shall belong to Purchaser. After the Closing Date, Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the release of the UK Deposit Amount,
which efforts shall include obtaining and posting substitute bonds, sureties, letters of credit or
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guaranties. If after the Closing Date the full UK Deposit Amount is released to one of the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or Purchaser, then Purchaser shall,
within 72 hours of such release, pay to the Sellers 61.5% of the UK Deposit Amount. If after the Closing Date less than the full UK Deposit Amount is released to
one of the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or Purchaser, then Purchaser shall, within 72 hours of such release, pay to the Sellers 61.5% of the amount released
to one of the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or Purchaser, and upon any subsequent partial release of the UK Deposit Amount, Purchaser shall pay to the
Sellers 61.5% of the amount released within 72 hours of such release to one of the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or Purchaser. For the avoidance of doubt,
the obligation of Purchaser to pay the portion of the UK Deposit Amount to the Sellers as specified in this Section 5.20 shall be not be subject to any condition
other than those specified in this Section 5.20.

Section 5.21 Intercompany Agreements; Third-Party Receivables and Payables.

(a) Prior to the Closing the Sellers shall, and shall cause the Companies and Company Subsidiaries to, amend the Agency Agreements and Master
Agreements listed on Section 3.16 of the Disclosure Schedules to which YRC Logistics Services is a party so as to remove YRC Logistics Services as a
party thereto, including obtaining any required third-party consents necessary for such amendment.

(b) Promptly following the Closing, but in any event within five (5) Business Days after the Closing Date, the Sellers shall notify all third-party
customers or suppliers who are party to agreements among such third-parties and the Sellers or their Affiliates (excluding the Companies and the Company
Subsidiaries), on one hand, and Companies or Company Subsidiaries, on the other, that all payments related to services provided by the Companies or
Company Subsidiaries shall be made to the applicable Company or Company Subsidiary and not to the Sellers or their Affiliates (excluding the Companies
and the Company Subsidiaries), and that only accounts payable arising from goods or services provided to the Companies or Company Subsidiaries shall
be payable by the Companies or Company Subsidiaries. Such notice shall be subject to Purchaser’s prior review and approval, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

(c) In the event that after the Closing any of the Sellers or any of their Affiliates (other than the Companies or Company Subsidiaries) receives any
instrument of payment with respect to any of the Companies’ or Company Subsidiaries’ accounts receivable, the Sellers shall, or shall cause their Affiliates
to, promptly deliver it to the applicable Company or Company Subsidiary, endorsed where necessary, without recourse, in favor of the applicable Company
or Company Subsidiary. In the event a Company or Company Subsidiary receives any instrument of payment with respect to any accounts receivable of the
Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Companies or Company Subsidiaries), such Company or Company Subsidiary shall, or Purchaser shall cause such
Company or Company Subsidiary to, promptly deliver it to the applicable Seller or their Affiliate after the Closing, endorsed where necessary, without
recourse, in favor of such Seller or their Affiliate.

(d) In the event that after the Closing any of the Sellers or any of their Affiliates (other than the Companies or Company Subsidiaries) receives any
invoice for goods or services provided to any of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries, the Sellers shall, or shall cause their Affiliates to, promptly
deliver such invoice to the applicable Company or Company Subsidiary. In the event a Company or Company Subsidiary receives any invoice for goods or
services provided to any of the Sellers or their Affiliates (other than the Companies or Company Subsidiaries), such Company or Company Subsidiary
shall, or Purchaser shall cause such
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Company or Company Subsidiary to, promptly deliver such invoice to the applicable Seller or their Affiliate after the Closing.

Section 5.22 Financing. Prior to the Closing Date, the Sellers will, and will cause the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries to, and will use their
commercially reasonable efforts to cause their respective Affiliates, attorneys and other agents or representatives to, provide to Purchaser all cooperation
reasonably requested by Purchaser in connection with the arrangement of the Financing, including, without limitation, (i) permitting Purchaser and the
prospective lenders involved in the Financing access during normal business hours, upon reasonable notice, to all of the properties, books, Contracts, personnel
and records of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries or otherwise related to the Business as Purchaser may reasonably request, including to evaluate the
Companies’ and Company Subsidiaries’ current assets, cash management and accounting systems, policies and procedures relating thereto for the purposes of
establishing collateral arrangements as of the Closing Date; (ii) using commercially reasonable efforts to assist Purchaser to establish or maintain, effective as of
the Closing Date, bank and other accounts and blocked account agreements and lock box arrangements in connection with the Financing; (iii) using commercially
reasonable efforts to assist Purchaser to obtain waivers, consents, estoppels and approvals from other parties to material leases, encumbrances and Contracts to
which any Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party and to arrange discussions among Purchaser and the prospective lenders in connection with the
Financing with other parties to material leases, encumbrances and Contracts as of the Closing Date; (iv) providing monthly financial statements (excluding
footnotes) within fifteen (15) days of the end of each month prior to the Closing Date; and (v) taking all corporate actions by the Companies and Company
Subsidiaries reasonably requested by Purchaser that are necessary or customary to permit the consummation of the Financing.

Section 5.23 Termination and Release of Post-Signing Liens, Guaranties, Etc. To the extent the approvals identified in items 1-4 of Schedule 6.4(m) are
obtained, the Sellers shall, and shall cause the Companies and Company Subsidiaries to, cause (a) any lien, security interest or other encumbrance upon the
Equity Interests or upon any assets of any Company or Company Subsidiary and (b) any guaranty and any other obligation by any Company or any Company
Subsidiary, in each case as imposed, created or entered into after the execution of this Agreement and prior to Closing in connection with the Note Purchase
Agreement, or the Credit Agreement and Loan Documents (as defined therein), or the Pledge Agreements, the 5% Notes Indenture, the 3.375% Notes Indenture
or the 6% Notes Indenture (as such terms are defined in Schedule 5.1), to be released or terminated pursuant to written releases or instruments of termination in
form and substance reasonably acceptable to Purchaser and delivered to Purchaser prior to or upon the Closing, which in the case of a release of a lien, security
interest or other encumbrance, shall obligate the holder thereof to execute such agreements or instruments and take such further actions as are necessary to
terminate any and all associated filings with any Governmental Authority evidencing such lien, security interest or encumbrance; provided, however, that if any
such lien, security interest or other encumbrance or guaranty or other obligation is released or terminated, as applicable, automatically prior to or upon the
Closing, then no such written release or instrument of termination shall be required, provided that the effectiveness of such automatic release is readily
ascertainable from the terms of the applicable instrument or agreement and the Sellers confirm in writing to Purchaser that such release or termination is effective.

Section 5.24 Lender and Pension Fund Approvals. Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the lender and pension fund approvals and
consents identified in Schedule 6.4(m) as soon as commercially practicable and, promptly upon receipt thereof, shall deliver to Purchaser copies of all such
approvals and consents.

ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CLOSING
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Section 6.1 General. The respective obligations of the Sellers and Purchaser to consummate the sale and purchase of the Company Interests at the Closing
shall be subject to the fulfillment, on or before the Closing Date, in the case of the Sellers, of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2 and Section 6.3, and in the
case of Purchaser, of the conditions set forth in Section 6.2 and Section 6.4.

Section 6.2 Conditions to Each Party’s Obligations.

(a) There will not be in effect any injunction or other final, non-appealable order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction materially restraining or
prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) All necessary consents, permits or approvals of and filings with any Governmental Authority relating to the consummation of the transactions
contemplated herein shall have been obtained and made.

Section 6.3 Conditions to Obligations of the Sellers.

(a) Deliveries. Each item required to be executed or delivered by Purchaser pursuant to Section 1.5(b) shall have been executed or delivered.

(b) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties set forth in ARTICLE IV above, to the extent not qualified as to materiality
or Material Adverse Effect, shall be true and correct, in all material respects, and to the extent qualified as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect, shall
be true and correct (in each case at and as of the Closing Date as though made as of the Closing Date, unless a specific date is set forth in such
representation or warranty).

(c) Covenants. Purchaser shall have performed and satisfied, in all material respects, all covenants, conditions and agreements required or
contemplated by this Agreement, in each case, to be performed by Purchaser prior to Closing.

(d) Certificate. The Sellers shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Purchaser by an executive officer or member of the board of directors
of Purchaser certifying without qualification or condition the satisfaction of the conditions in Section 6.3(b) and Section 6.3(c) above.

(e) Stock Purchase Agreement. A fund or funds associated with Austin Ventures IX, L.P. and/or Austin Ventures X, L.P. shall have executed and
delivered the Series A Preferred Stock and Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Purchaser (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) naming the Sellers as
intended third party beneficiaries, and such Stock Purchase Agreement shall not have been modified or amended in any material respect and shall remain in
full force and effect as of the Closing Date.

(f) Legal Opinion. The Sellers shall have received from Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation, counsel to Purchaser, an
opinion dated the Closing Date, in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit K.

Section 6.4 Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser.

(a) Deliveries. Each item required to be executed or delivered by the Sellers pursuant to Section 1.5(a) shall have been executed or delivered.
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(b) Representations and Warranties.

(i) The representations and warranties set forth in ARTICLE II and Section 3.1, Section 3.2 (except Section 3.2(c)), Section 3.3 through
Section 3.6, Section 3.7(c) through Section 3.7(e), Section 3.8 through Section 3.14, Section 3.15 (except Section 3.15(a)), Section 3.16,
Section 3.19, and Section 3.22 through Section 3.28 of ARTICLE III above, to the extent not qualified as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect,
shall be true and correct, in all material respects, and to the extent qualified as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect, shall be true and correct (in
each case at and as of the Closing Date as though made as of the Closing Date, unless a specific date is set forth in such representation or warranty).

(ii) The representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.2(c), Section 3.7(a), Section 3.7(b), Section 3.7(f), Section 3.7(g), Section 3.7(h),
Section 3.15(a), Section 3.17, Section 3.18, Section 3.20, Section 3.21 and Section 3.29 of ARTICLE III above, to the extent not qualified as to
materiality or Material Adverse Effect, shall be true and correct, in all material respects, and to the extent qualified as to materiality or Material
Adverse Effect, shall be true and correct (in each case at and as of the Closing Date as though made as of the Closing Date, unless a specific date is
set forth in such representation or warranty), except in each case where the failure to be so true and correct arises out of facts and circumstances that
did not exist prior to the date of this Agreement and where the failure would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Covenants. The Sellers shall have performed and satisfied in all material respects all covenants, conditions and agreements required or
contemplated by this Agreement, in each case, to be performed by the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries (or, in each case, any one of
them) prior to Closing.

(d) Certificate. Purchaser shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of each of the Sellers by an executive officer of each such Seller certifying
without qualification or condition the satisfaction of Section 6.4(b) and Section 6.4(c).

(e) Intercompany Agreements. Each of the intercompany agreements set forth on Schedule 6.4(e) shall have been terminated or amended effective as
of the Closing (in each case as described on Schedule 6.4(e)).

(f) Consents, Waivers. The Sellers shall have obtained the consents and waivers of third persons set forth on Schedule 6.4(f), and each such consent
and waiver shall have been delivered to Purchaser in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser in its sole discretion.

(g) Restructuring. The Restructuring shall have been completed.

(h) Contract Terminations. Each party to a Contract set forth on Schedule 6.4(h) shall have executed and delivered terminations to each such Contract
as described on Schedule 6.4(h) in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser in its sole discretion.

(i) Contract Amendments. An amendment to each Contract set forth on Schedule 6.4(i) shall have been executed and delivered by the parties thereto
providing terms as
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described on Schedule 6.4(i), in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser in its sole discretion.

(j) No Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, no change shall have occurred which would reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect. Purchaser shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of each of the Sellers by an executive officer of such Seller to such
effect.

(k) Employment Agreements. Purchaser shall have received executed copies of the Key Employee Agreements from the Key Employees listed on
Exhibit H, and all such Key Employee Agreements shall not have been terminated and shall remain in full force and effect as of the Closing.

(l) Non-Solicitation Agreements. Purchaser shall have received executed copies of the Non-Solicitation Agreements from the employees listed on
Exhibit I (except as provided therein), and all such Non-Solicitation Agreements shall not have been terminated and shall remain in full force and effect as
of the Closing.

(m) Lender and Pension Fund Approvals. Purchaser shall have received evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the approval of the execution and
delivery of this Agreement by the Sellers, the consummation of the transaction contemplated in this Agreement and the performance of the obligations of
the Sellers herein, from the Sellers’ lenders and pension funds listed on Schedule 6.4(m), or if such consents shall have been obtained prior to the execution
and delivery of this Agreement, such consents shall continue to be in full force and effect and shall not have been rescinded or revoked.

(n) Other Third Party Approvals. Purchaser shall have received evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the approval of the execution and delivery of
this Agreement by the Sellers, the consummation of the transaction contemplated in this Agreement and the performance of the obligations of the Sellers
herein, from the third parties listed on Schedule 6.4(n).

(o) Legal Opinion. Purchaser shall have received from Fulbright & Jaworski L.L.P., counsel to the Sellers, an opinion dated the Closing Date, in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit J.

(p) Permits. The Sellers, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries shall have transferred to Purchaser, or to the extent not transferable,
Purchaser shall have obtained the Permits set forth on Schedule 6.4(p).

(q) Security Deposits. The Sellers shall have delivered to Purchaser all security deposits and prepayments of the Companies and the Company
Subsidiaries.

(r) Certificates of Good Standing. The Sellers shall have provided Purchaser with a certificate from each jurisdiction in which the Companies and
Company Subsidiaries are organized or qualified to do business, as to such Company’s or Company Subsidiary’s good standing (or, with respect to
jurisdictions where such concept is not recognized, reasonably equivalent evidence (if available) that such Company or Company Subsidiary is current with
applicable corporate filings and is not being wound up or otherwise dissolved) and payment of all applicable franchise Taxes.
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(s) Payment Obligations. Purchaser shall have reviewed and approved, in its sole discretion, the Contracts providing for the Payment Obligations
other than the Contracts providing for Payment Obligations that are listed as of the date of this Agreement on Schedule 6.4(s) as to which Purchaser
acknowledges it has reviewed and approved prior to the date of this Agreement.

(t) Debt. The Companies and the Company Subsidiaries shall have no Borrowed Money Debt.

(u) Bankruptcy; Insolvency. None of the Sellers, Companies or Company Subsidiaries shall have (i) instituted voluntary proceedings under any
Bankruptcy Law, (ii) had an involuntary proceeding filed against it under any Bankruptcy Law, (iii) filed a petition or other document seeking liquidation
or reorganization under any Bankruptcy Law, (iv) consented to the filing of any such petition, (v) had appointed a Custodian of it or any of its assets or
property, (vi) made a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (vii) admitted in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due or
(viii) failed generally, to an extent greater than existed on March 8, 2010, to pay its debts as they become due.

(v) Lien Release and Guaranty Release; Termination of Related Filings. Any lien, security interest or other encumbrance upon the Equity Interests,
including those described in Section 2.2 of the Disclosure Schedules, or upon any of the assets of any Company or Company Subsidiary, and any guaranty
by any Company or any Company Subsidiary, shall be released pursuant to written releases (unless otherwise automatically released prior to or upon the
Closing; provided that, with respect to the 6% Notes Indenture (as such terms are defined in Schedule 5.1), written evidence of release in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to Purchaser shall be obtained), and any and all other obligations of the Companies and Company Subsidiaries under or in
connection with the Credit Agreement and Loan Documents (as defined therein), or the Pledge Agreements, the 5% Notes Indenture, the 3.375% Notes
Indenture or the 6% Notes Indenture (as such terms are defined in Schedule 5.1) or the Note Purchase Agreement, to the extent such Note Purchase
Agreement is amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified after the date hereof and prior to the Closing, shall be terminated pursuant to written
terminations (unless otherwise automatically terminated prior to or upon the Closing; provided that, with respect to the 6% Notes Indenture, written
evidence of termination in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Purchaser shall be obtained), in each case delivered to Purchaser prior to the
Closing, which in the case of a release of a lien, security interest or other encumbrance, shall obligate the holder thereof to execute such agreements or
instruments and take such further actions as are necessary to terminate any and all associated filings with any Governmental Authority evidencing such
lien, security interest or encumbrance.

(w) Assignment of Assigned Leases. Each of the Assigned Leases (as further described in Schedule 6.4(w)) shall have been assigned to the
appropriate Company Subsidiary and all required consents thereto shall have been obtained and approved by Purchaser.

(x) Retained Obligations. The Retained Insurance Claims and the obligations related to the other matters described in clause (v) of the definition of
Purchaser Indemnified Losses shall have been assigned to and assumed by the Sellers pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

(y) Transfer of YRCL Asia Service Business and Employees. The Hong Kong Business Transfer Transaction shall have been consummated.
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(z) North America Business Transfer Transaction. The North America Business Transfer Transaction shall have been consummated.

(aa) Japan Freight Forwarder Registration. YRCL Japan shall have applied for a port-to-port ocean-freight forwarder registration with MLIT for a
foreign company.

(bb) Section 2.6 Transfer. The Sellers shall have transferred to Purchaser each item required to be set forth on Section 2.6 of the Disclosure
Schedules (other than any such item that is also listed in Schedule 5.19) pursuant to transfer documentation in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
to Purchaser in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE VII
TERMINATION

Section 7.1 Termination. Anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, this Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to
the Closing:

(a) By the mutual written consent of Purchaser and the Seller Representative;

(b) By Purchaser in the event of any breach in any material respect by the Sellers of any of their representations, warranties, covenants or agreements
contained herein and either (i) such breach cannot be cured or (ii) if it can be cured, such breach has not been cured prior to 5:00 p.m. CDT on the date
immediately preceding the Termination Date;

(c) By the Seller Representative in the event of any breach in any material respect by Purchaser of any of Purchaser’s representations, warranties,
covenants or agreements contained herein and either (i) such breach cannot be cured or (ii) if it can be cured, such breach has not been cured prior to
5:00 p.m. CDT on the date immediately preceding the Termination Date;

(d) By Purchaser or the Seller Representative if any court of competent jurisdiction in the United States or other Governmental Authority will have
issued a final and non-appealable order, decree or ruling permanently restraining, rejoining or otherwise prohibiting the purchase of the Equity Interests in
any of the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries or otherwise prohibiting the transfer of any Equity Interests contemplated herein to be consummated
concurrent with the Closing or the consummation of any other material transaction contemplated herein to be consummated concurrent with the Closing,
except for the Post-Closing Transfers;

(e) By Purchaser if any court of competent jurisdiction in the United States or other Governmental Authority will have issued a final and non-
appealable order, decree or ruling permanently restraining, rejoining, or otherwise prohibiting the ability of any of the Companies and the Company
Subsidiaries to operate the Business in all material respects as the Business was operated in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice
prior to the Closing;

(f) By Purchaser if there has occurred a Material Adverse Effect;

(g) By the Seller Representative at any time after 5:00 p.m. (Central Time) on the Termination Date if any condition to the Sellers’ obligation to
consummate the Closing has not then been satisfied or waived, unless such date is extended by the written agreement of Purchaser and the Seller
Representative; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this clause (g) of Section 7.1 shall not be available to the Seller
Representative if the breach by any of the Sellers of this Agreement has resulted in the failure to satisfy one or more of the
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conditions to Purchaser’s obligation to consummate the Closing on or before the Termination Date; and

(h) By Purchaser at any time after 5:00 p.m. (Central Time) on the Termination Date if any condition to Purchaser’s obligation to consummate the
Closing has not then been satisfied or waived, unless such date is extended by the written agreement of Purchaser and the Seller Representative; provided,
however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this clause (h) of Section 7.1 shall not be available to Purchaser if Purchaser’s breach of this
Agreement has resulted in the failure to satisfy one or more of the conditions to the Sellers’ obligation to consummate the Closing on or before the
Termination Date.

Section 7.2 Effect of Termination. Except as set forth in this Section 7.2, in the event of termination by the Sellers or Purchaser pursuant to Section 7.1,
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will be terminated without further action by any party to this Agreement. If the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement are terminated pursuant to Section 7.1:

(a) Purchaser will destroy or return to the Sellers all documents and other materials received from the Sellers, the Companies, any Company
Subsidiary and their respective agents (including all copies of or materials developed from any such documents or other materials) relating to the
transactions contemplated herein, whether obtained before or after the execution hereof;

(b) The Sellers will destroy or return to Purchaser all documents and other materials received from Purchaser and its affiliates and agents (including
all copies of or materials developed from any such documents or other materials) relating to the transactions contemplated herein, whether obtained before
or after the execution hereof;

(c) Purchaser shall remain bound by its obligations, if any, under the Confidentiality Agreement in accordance with the terms thereof; and

(d) The Sellers shall remain bound by the obligations of YRCW, if any, as if they are YRCW, under the Confidentiality Agreement in accordance
with the terms thereof; and

(e) If this Agreement is terminated as provided in Section 7.1, this Agreement will become null and void and of no further force or effect, except for
Section 5.5 (relating to publicity), this ARTICLE VII, Section 9.5 (relating to certain expenses), Section 9.14 (relating to governing law) and Section 9.15
(relating to jurisdiction and venue); provided that nothing in this Section 7.1 will be deemed to release any party from any liability for any breach by such
party of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, to preclude any party to this Agreement from recovering for the breach of another party to this
Agreement of the terms and provisions of this Agreement or to impair the right of any party to compel specific performance by any other party to this
Agreement of its obligations under this Agreement, and provided further that:

(i) in the event that (A) any of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries breach any provision of Section 5.13 and this
Agreement is terminated, (B) the Sellers fail to obtain any of the approvals from the Sellers’ lenders and pension funds listed on Schedule 6.4(m)
and this Agreement is terminated, or (C) any of the Sellers has taken any action that interferes with or frustrates, in each case in any material respect,
the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and this Agreement is terminated other than pursuant to Section 7.1(b) (the
matters described in clauses (A), (B) and (C) are collectively referred to as the “Termination Fee Trigger Events”), then in
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any such event the Sellers, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries shall promptly pay to Purchaser or its designee, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds, a termination fee equal to $1,250,000 (the “Termination Fee”), plus any costs of collection incurred by Purchaser,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses. The obligation to pay the Termination Fee, plus any costs of collection incurred by Purchaser,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, shall be joint and several obligations of the Sellers, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries.
The parties agree that the right to receive the Termination Fee, plus the collection costs described in this clause (i), shall be the sole and exclusive
remedy of Purchaser and its Affiliates against the Sellers, the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries and their respective Affiliates for any and all
claims and losses suffered with respect to any Termination Fee Trigger Event, and upon payment of the Termination Fee, plus the collection costs
described in this clause (i), to Purchaser, neither the Sellers, the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries nor any of their respective Affiliates shall
have any further liability or obligation of any kind or nature whatsoever arising out of a Termination Fee Trigger Event.

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.1 Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification by the Sellers. Subject to the provisions of this ARTICLE VIII, from and after the Closing each of the Sellers shall, jointly and
severally, indemnify and hold harmless the Purchaser Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Purchaser Indemnified Losses:

(i) up to an aggregate amount equal to the Indemnification Escrow Amount; and

(ii) otherwise to the extent indemnification in excess of an amount equal to the Indemnification Escrow Amount is permitted pursuant to
Section 8.6 or Section 9.2.

For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided in the TSA, and without limiting the indemnification obligations of the Seller Indemnifying
Parties hereunder (including the indemnification obligations of the Seller Indemnifying Parties hereunder with respect to the Retained Insurance Claims),
the Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that the Sellers shall not have responsibility under this Agreement with respect to Post-Closing Claims. When
determining the amount of any Indemnified Losses resulting from a breach or inaccuracy of a representation or warranty or a breach of a covenant, in each
case contained in this Agreement or any other Transaction Document, any and all materiality qualifications contained in such representation, warranty or
covenant, including the term “Material Adverse Effect,” will be ignored and not given effect.

(b) Indemnification by Purchaser. Subject to the provisions of this ARTICLE VIII, from and after the Closing, Purchaser shall indemnify and hold
harmless the Seller Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Seller Indemnified Losses:

(i) up to an aggregate amount equal to the Indemnification Escrow Amount; and
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(ii) otherwise to the extent indemnification in excess of an amount equal to the Indemnification Escrow Amount is permitted pursuant to
Section 8.6 or Section 9.2.

(c) Remedies. Except as permitted pursuant to Section 9.2 and except for a dispute that is subject to the dispute resolution procedures set forth in
Section 1.3 or Section 5.9(e), from and after the Closing the indemnification rights of the Indemnified Parties contained in this ARTICLE VIII shall
constitute the sole and exclusive remedy of the Indemnified Parties for any and all Indemnified Losses arising out of or related to this Agreement
(including breaches of any representations and warranties set forth herein).

Section 8.2 Defense of Third-Party Claims.

(a) In the event an Indemnified Party becomes aware of a claim by a Person not a party to this Agreement (a “Third-Party Claim”) which such
Indemnified Party believes may result in an indemnification claim pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII by or on behalf of such Indemnified Party, such
Indemnified Party shall promptly (but in no event more than fifteen (15) days) after becoming aware of such Third-Party Claim, give written notice to the
Seller Representative (if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party) or Purchaser (if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser) of such Third-Party
Claim, but the failure to promptly notify the Indemnifying Party will not relieve the Indemnifying Party of any liability that it may have to the Indemnified
Party, except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party demonstrates that the defense of such action is materially and adversely prejudiced by the
Indemnified Party’s failure to give such prompt notice. For avoidance of doubt and solely for purposes of the preceding sentence, any claim by Austin
Ventures IX, L.P. or Austin Ventures X, L.P. shall be a direct claim and not a Third Party Claim. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right in its sole
discretion to conduct the defense of and to settle or resolve any such claim if:

(i) the Indemnifying Party:

(A) acknowledges and agrees that:

(1) any and all damages, losses, claims, liabilities, demands, charges, suits, judgments, penalties, fines, fees, costs, and out-of-
pocket expenses (including court costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred in investigating
and preparing for, or otherwise in connection with, any Proceeding) (collectively, “Losses”) sustained, suffered or incurred by
the Indemnified Parties arising out of or relating to such Third Party Claim, excluding all fees, expenses and costs with respect
to the defense of such Third Party Claim incurred while the Indemnifying Party satisfies the conditions in this Section 8.2(a),
shall be deemed to be Purchaser Indemnified Losses; and

(2) except for the limits on indemnification in Section 8.6, the Indemnifying Party shall not have any power or authority to
object under any provision of this ARTICLE VIII to the amount of any such Losses or to the characterization of such Losses as
Purchaser Indemnified Losses;
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(B) indemnifies the Indemnified Parties for all Indemnified Losses sustained, suffered or incurred by any of the Indemnified
Parties in connection with, or related to, or arising out of, such Third-Party Claim;

(C) diligently conducts the defense of such Third-Party Claim; and

(D) provides promptly evidence that it possesses the financial resources to conduct the defense;

(ii) within thirty (30) days of receiving notice of such Third-Party Claim from the Indemnified Party (or such shorter period as may be required
to respond to such Third-Party Claim under requirements of Law), the Indemnifying Party confirms in a written instrument delivered to the
Indemnified Party its obligation and willingness to take each of the actions described in clause (i) above; and

(iii) the total potential liability to the Indemnified Party from such Third-Party Claim (based on the good faith estimates of the Indemnifying
Party and the Indemnified Party) is less than two hundred percent (200%) of the amount:

(A) then remaining in the Indemnification Escrow Account and not subject to prior claims for Purchaser Escrow Losses, if the
Indemnified Party is a Purchaser Indemnified Party; or

(B) determined by subtracting all amounts paid by Purchaser and subject to outstanding claims for Seller Escrow Losses from
the total amount of the Indemnification Escrow Amount at Closing, if the Indemnified Party is a Seller Indemnified Party (such
items in clauses (i) through (iii) collectively, the “Conditions”).

If all of the Conditions are met and the Indemnifying Party elects to conduct the defense of such Third-Party Claim:

(I) Purchaser (if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party) or the Sellers (if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser) shall have the
right to:

(A) receive copies of all pleadings, notices and communications with respect to the Third-Party Claim to the extent that receipt
of such documents does not adversely affect the availability of any privilege relating to any Indemnifying Party; and

(B) have reasonable access to counsel to the Indemnifying Party;

(II) the Indemnifying Party shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Parties, settle or compromise, or consent to the entry
of any judgment with respect to, such Third Party Claim if such settlement, compromise or judgment:

(A) involves non-monetary obligations that would reasonably be expected to have a direct, significant and adverse effect on the
business of the Indemnified Parties; or
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(B) involves obligations other than the payment of money by the Indemnifying Parties and customary mutual releases or does
not include as an unconditional term thereof the release by the Persons making such Third Party Claim of the Indemnified
Parties from all liability with respect to such Third Party Claim; and

(III) the Indemnifying Party must diligently conduct the defense of such Third-Party Claim in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner and fulfill its indemnification obligations described in Section 8.2(a)(i).

(b) If any of the Conditions are not met, or if any of the Conditions fail to continue to be met after an Indemnifying Party has elected to conduct the
defense of a Third-Party Claim pursuant to Section 8.2(a) above, the Indemnified Party may, by notice to the Indemnifying Party, elect at any time to
assume the exclusive right to defend, compromise or settle such Third-Party Claim, in which case:

(i) the Indemnified Party must diligently conduct the defense of such Third-Party Claim in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner;

(ii) Purchaser (if the Indemnified Party is a Seller Indemnified Party) or the Sellers (if the Indemnified Party is a Purchaser Indemnified Party)
shall have the right to:

(A) receive copies of all pleadings, notices and communications with respect to the Third-Party Claim to the extent that receipt
of such documents does not adversely affect the availability of any privilege relating to any Indemnified Party; and

(B) have reasonable access to counsel to the Indemnified Parties;

(iii) the Indemnified Parties shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party, settle or compromise, or consent to the entry
of any judgment with respect to, such Third Party Claim if such settlement, compromise or judgment:

(A) involves non-monetary obligations that would reasonably be expected to have a direct, material and adverse effect on the
business of the Indemnifying Party or its Subsidiaries; or

(B) involves obligations other than the payment of money by the Indemnified Parties and customary mutual releases or does not
include as an unconditional term thereof the release by the Persons making such Third Party Claim of the Indemnified Parties
from all liability with respect to such Third Party Claim;

(iv) except with the consent of the Seller Representative if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party, or Purchaser if the
Indemnifying Party is Purchaser, no settlement or resolution by the Indemnified Party of any claim that gives rise to an indemnification claim by or
on behalf of such Indemnified Party shall be determinative of the existence of or amount of Indemnified Losses relating to such matter, provided,
however, such settlement or resolution will be determinative of the existence of and the amount of Indemnified Losses relating to such matter if the
Indemnified Party shall have
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assumed control of the defense of the claim because one or more of the Conditions fail to continue to be met after an Indemnifying Party has elected
to conduct the defense of a Third-Party Claim pursuant to Section 8.2(a) above; and

(v) in the event that the Seller Representative, if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party, or Purchaser, if the Indemnifying Party
is a Purchaser Indemnifying Party, has consented to any such settlement or resolution by the Indemnified Party, none of the Indemnifying Parties
shall have any power or authority to object under any provision of this ARTICLE VIII to the amount of any claim by or on behalf of any Indemnified
Party for indemnity with respect to such settlement or resolution.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 8.2(b), at least two Business Days prior to any settlement, compromise or entry of a judgment to
resolve such Third Party Claim if such resolution involves only monetary obligations and customary mutual releases, the Indemnified Parties shall notify
the Indemnifying Party of the amount of such settlement, compromise or judgment. If within two Business Days of receiving such notice, the Indemnifying
Party proposes in writing to the Indemnified Parties an alternative settlement, compromise or judgment amount to be paid to the Persons making such Third
Party Claim that is not less than 90% of the amount proposed by the Indemnified Parties and includes in such alternative proposal an unconditional
commitment to the Indemnified Parties to indemnify them for all Losses incurred or suffered by them arising out of or related to such Third Party Claim,
including all amounts in excess of the Cap (less the extent to which the settlement, compromise or judgment amount proposed by the Indemnified Parties
exceeds the Cap), then the Indemnified Parties must either:

(I) settle, compromise or consent to the entry of a judgment at their proposed settlement amount and acknowledge and agree that the maximum
amount of the Indemnified Losses payable by the Indemnifying Party with respect to such Third Party Claim is such alternative settlement amount
proposed by the Indemnifying Party (which shall not be less than 90% of the settlement amount proposed by the Indemnified Parties); or

(II) elect not to settle, compromise or consent to the entry of such a judgment for their proposed settlement amount, in which case, the
Indemnifying Party shall be obligated to fulfill such unconditional indemnification commitment set forth in its response to the Indemnified Parties’
proposed settlement.

(c) If the Indemnified Party assumes the defense of a Third-Party Claim pursuant to Section 8.2(b) above and fails to diligently conduct the defense
of such Third-Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party may, by notice to the Indemnified Party, assume the exclusive right to defend, compromise or settle such
Third-Party Claim, but the Indemnified Party will not be bound by any determination of a Third-Party Claim so defended or any compromise or settlement
effected without its consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Section 8.3 Direct Claims. If an Indemnified Party seeks indemnification hereunder which is not subject to Section 8.2 because no Third-Party Claim is
involved, the Indemnified Party will notify Purchaser (if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser) or the Seller Representative (if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller
Indemnifying Party), in writing of any Indemnified Losses which such Indemnified Party claims are subject to indemnification under the terms hereof. Such
notice shall contain:
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(a) a description and a good faith estimate of the amount of any Purchaser Indemnified Losses or Seller Indemnified Losses, as applicable, incurred
or reasonably expected to be incurred by the Indemnified Party;

(b) a statement that the Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this ARTICLE VIII for such Purchaser Indemnified Losses or Seller
Indemnified Losses, as applicable; and

(c) a description in reasonable detail of the basis therefor. Subject to the limitations set forth in this ARTICLE VIII and in Section 9.1, the failure of
the Indemnified Party to exercise promptness in such notification will not amount to a waiver of such claim except to the extent the resulting delay
materially and adversely prejudices the position of the Indemnifying Party with respect to such claim.

In connection with a claim subject to this Section 8.3, Purchaser (if the Indemnified Party is a Purchaser Indemnified Party) and the Seller Representative (if the
Indemnified Party is a Seller Indemnified Party) shall provide the Seller Representative (if the Indemnifying Parties are Seller Indemnifying Parties) or Purchaser
(if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser), as applicable, copies of, the material documents that are then in the possession of or otherwise readily available to
Purchaser (if the Indemnified Party is a Purchaser Indemnified Party) or the Sellers (if the Indemnified Party is a Seller Indemnified Party) that the Indemnified
Party reasonably believes in good faith support such claim.

Section 8.4 No Circular Recovery; No Contribution. The Seller Representative hereby agrees that it will not, and no Seller Indemnifying Party shall,
make any claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses against Purchaser by reason of the fact that such Seller Indemnifying Party was a controlling
person, director, officer, stockholder, employee, agent or representative of any of the Sellers, the Companies or Company Subsidiaries or was serving as such for
another Person at the request of the Sellers, the Companies or Company Subsidiaries (whether such claim is pursuant to any statute, Organizational Document,
contractual obligation or otherwise) with respect to any claim brought by a Purchaser Indemnified Party for indemnification pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII;
provided, however, that this provision shall not prevent recovery of insurance proceeds by any such Seller Indemnifying Party to the extent that the Purchaser
Indemnified Party has recovered full compensation for related Purchaser Indemnified Losses, and in such case, Purchaser shall pay the Seller Representative for
the benefit of such Seller Indemnifying Party the amount of such remaining insurance proceeds (after the Purchaser Indemnified Party has recovered full
compensation for related Purchaser Indemnified Losses) to which such Seller Indemnifying Party is entitled, except that the payment of such insurance proceeds
by Purchaser shall be subject to the offset right set forth in Section 8.7 below. Effective as of the Closing, the Seller Representative, on behalf of itself and each
Seller Indemnifying Party, expressly waives and releases any and all right of subrogation, contribution, advancement, indemnification or other claim against
Purchaser.

Section 8.5 Procedures for Claims.

(a) Escrow Claims.

(i) Upon the making by a Purchaser Indemnified Party of any indemnification claim for reimbursement from the Indemnification Escrow
Account pursuant to Section 8.2 or Section 8.3 (an “Escrow Claim”), Purchaser shall notify the Seller Representative and the Escrow Agent in
writing of such claim and the amount
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necessary to satisfy and pay such claim (each such amount, a “Pending Escrow Claims Amount” and each such notice, a “Pending Escrow Claims
Notice”).

(ii) If Purchaser delivers a Pending Escrow Claims Notice setting forth a Pending Escrow Claims Amount and the Seller Representative does
not deliver a written objection to such Pending Escrow Claims Amount to Purchaser and the Escrow Agent within thirty (30) days after Purchaser’s
delivery of such Pending Escrow Claims Notice to the Seller Representative and the Escrow Agent, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative
shall execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written instructions directing the Escrow Agent to disburse to Purchaser from the Indemnification
Escrow Account the Pending Escrow Claims Amount within two (2) Business Days after the expiration of such thirty (30) day period.

(iii) If Purchaser delivers a Pending Escrow Claims Notice setting forth a Pending Escrow Claims Amount and the Seller Representative
delivers a written objection to such Pending Escrow Claims Amount to Purchaser and the Escrow Agent within thirty (30) days after delivery of such
Pending Escrow Claims Notice by Purchaser, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall promptly use their commercially reasonable efforts
to settle the dispute as to whether and to what extent the Purchaser Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification with respect to such Escrow
Claim.

(iv) If Purchaser and the Seller Representative are able to reach agreement within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Pending Escrow
Claims Notice by Purchaser, and such agreement involves the payment to Purchaser of an amount in satisfaction of such Purchaser Indemnified
Losses, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written instructions directing the Escrow
Agent to disburse to Purchaser from the Indemnification Escrow Account the agreed upon amount within two (2) Business Days after Purchaser and
the Seller Representative reach agreement.

(v) If Purchaser and the Seller Representative are unable to reach agreement within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Pending Escrow
Claims Notice by Purchaser, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall deliver joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent instructing the
Escrow Agent to disburse to Purchaser the amount of the Escrow Claim not in dispute (if any) and the portion of such Escrow Claim in dispute may
be submitted to a court of competent jurisdiction by Purchaser or the Seller Representative. Thereafter, such Pending Escrow Claims Amount (or
portion thereof) shall only be disbursed from the Indemnification Escrow Account either in accordance with (A) a final, non-appealable judgment of
a court of competent jurisdiction finally determining the amount, if any, of Purchaser Indemnified Losses to which a Purchaser Indemnified Party is
entitled for the claim related to such Pending Escrow Claims Amount (an “Escrow Claim Final Court Order”) or (B) joint written instructions of
Purchaser and the Seller Representative directing the Escrow Agent to disburse the amount, if any, of Purchaser Indemnified Losses to which a
Purchaser Indemnified Party is entitled for the claim relating to such Pending Escrow Claims Amount.

(b) Non-Escrow Claims.

(i) Upon the making by an Indemnified Party of any indemnification claim for reimbursement other than from the Indemnification Escrow
Account pursuant to
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Section 8.2 or Section 8.3 (a “Non-Escrow Claim”), the Indemnified Party shall notify Purchaser (if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser) or the
Seller Representative (if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party), of such claim and the amount necessary to satisfy and pay such
claim (each such amount, a “Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount” and each such notice, a “Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice”).

(ii) If an Indemnified Party delivers a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice setting forth a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount and Purchaser
(if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser) or the Seller Representative (if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party) does not deliver a
written objection to such Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount to Purchaser or the Seller Representative, as applicable, within thirty (30) days after
delivery of such Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice by the Indemnified Party, then such Indemnifying Party shall become liable for such
Indemnified Losses, subject to the limitations contained in this ARTICLE VIII and in Section 9.1.

(iii) If an Indemnified Party delivers a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice setting forth a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount and Purchaser
(if the Indemnifying Party is Purchaser) or the Seller Representative (if the Indemnifying Party is a Seller Indemnifying Party) delivers a written
objection to such Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount to Purchaser or the Seller Representative, as applicable, within thirty (30) days after delivery
of such Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice by the Indemnified Party, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall promptly use their
commercially reasonable efforts to settle the dispute as to whether and to what extent the Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification with
respect to such Non-Escrow Claim.

(iv) If Purchaser and the Seller Representative are able to reach agreement within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Pending Non-Escrow
Claims Notice by the Indemnified Party, then Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall document such agreement in writing (a “Non-Escrow
Claims Settlement Letter”).

(v) If Purchaser and the Seller Representative are unable to reach agreement within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Pending Non-Escrow
Claims Notice by the Indemnified Party, then the Indemnifying Parties shall be bound to pay to the Indemnified Parties the portion of such Non-
Escrow Claim not in dispute (if any) and the dispute may be submitted to a court of competent jurisdiction by either the Indemnified Parties or the
Indemnifying Parties, after which the Indemnifying Parties shall be bound to pay any amounts set forth in a final, non-appealable judgment of such
court of competent jurisdiction finally determining the amount, if any, of Indemnified Losses to which an Indemnified Party is entitled for the claim
related to such Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount (a “Non-Escrow Claims Final Court Order”). Any Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount or
portion thereof to which an Indemnified Party is entitled in accordance with a Non-Escrow Claims Settlement Letter or a Non-Escrow Claims Final
Court Order will be paid by the Indemnifying Party to such Indemnified Party within five (5) Business Days following execution and delivery of
such Non-Escrow Claims Settlement Letter or a Non-Escrow Claims Final Court Order.

(c) Distributions.

(i) Two (2) Business Days following the date that is twelve (12) months after the Closing Date (the “First Escrow Release Date”), Purchaser
and the Seller Representative shall execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written instructions
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directing the Escrow Agent to disburse to the Sellers from the Indemnification Escrow Account, as directed by the Seller Representative:

(A) one-half (1/2) of the amount of funds remaining in the Indemnification Escrow Account as of the First Escrow Release
Date; minus

(B) the amount, if any, of any adjustment to the Purchase Price or Transaction Cost Deficiency that has not already been
disbursed from the Indemnification Escrow Account or otherwise paid by the Sellers to Purchaser or deducted by Purchaser
from the Closing Amount of the Purchase Price; minus

(C) to the extent such Purchaser Indemnified Losses have not already been disbursed from the Indemnification Escrow
Account, all Purchaser Indemnified Losses with respect to which a Purchaser Indemnified Party delivered a Pending Escrow
Claims Notice to the Seller Representative setting forth a Pending Escrow Claims Amount that was not objected to by the Seller
Representative within thirty (30) days after delivery of such Pending Escrow Claims Notice; minus

(D) to the extent such Purchaser Indemnified Losses have not already been disbursed from the Indemnification Escrow
Account, all Purchaser Indemnified Losses to which a Purchaser Indemnified Party is entitled pursuant to any Escrow Claim
Final Court Order; minus

(E) all Pending Escrow Claims Amounts that have not been previously resolved by Purchaser and the Seller Representative or
pursuant to an Escrow Claim Final Court Order (such amounts described in clauses (B) through (E) collectively, the
“Deductions”); provided, however, that if an audit relating to Taxes which relate to the Business, a Company or any Company
Subsidiary has been initiated by a Governmental Authority on or prior to the First Escrow Release Date and such audit has not
been concluded and/or the final results thereof have not been delivered to Purchaser as of such date, then the Seller
Representative and Purchaser shall not be required to direct the Escrow Agent to distribute the portion of any amounts
remaining in the Indemnification Escrow Account that would reasonably be expected to be due and payable related to the
matters covered by such audit, in which event such amount shall not be released until the date that is thirty (30) days after
Purchaser has received the final results of the audit, at which time Purchaser and the Seller Representative will follow the
procedures with respect to distribution of amounts in the Indemnification Escrow Account outlined above in this Section 8.5(c)
with respect to the First Escrow Release Date. For purposes of this Section 8.5(c), a Tax audit is related to the Business, a
Company or a Company Subsidiary if it, in whole or in part, is with respect to any Tax item
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or attribute of the Business, a Company or a Company Subsidiary, including any item of income, gain, deduction, loss, basis, credit, or loss or credit
carry-back or carry-forward.

(ii) Two (2) Business Days following the date that is eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date (the “Second Escrow Release Date”),
Purchaser and the Seller Representative shall execute and deliver to the Escrow Agent joint written instructions directing the Escrow Agent to
disburse to the Sellers from the Indemnification Escrow Account, as directed by the Seller Representative, all funds remaining in the Indemnification
Escrow Account as of the Second Escrow Release Date, minus the Deductions; provided that:

(A) if an audit relating to Taxes which relate to the Business, a Company or any Company Subsidiary has been initiated by a
Governmental Authority on or prior to the Second Escrow Release Date and such audit has not been concluded and/or the final
results thereof have not been delivered to Purchaser as of such date, then the Seller Representative and Purchaser shall not be
required to direct the Escrow Agent to distribute the portion of any amounts remaining in the Indemnification Escrow Account
that would reasonably be expected to be due and payable related to the matters covered by such audit, in which event such
amount shall not be released until the date that is thirty (30) days after Purchaser has received the final results of the audit, at
which time Purchaser and the Seller Representative will follow the procedures with respect to distribution of amounts in the
Indemnification Escrow Account outlined above in this Section 8.5(c) with respect to the Second Escrow Release Date;

(B) any amounts remaining in the Indemnification Escrow Account after the Second Escrow Release Date as a result of
unresolved Escrow Claims shall be disbursed in accordance with Section 8.5(a); and

(C) upon resolution of all such unresolved Escrow Claims any amounts then remaining in the Indemnification Escrow Account
shall be disbursed to the Sellers pursuant to joint written instructions so instructing the Escrow Agent executed by Purchaser
and the Seller Representative within two (2) Business Days after the resolution of the last such Escrow Claim to be resolved.

Section 8.6 Indemnification Limits.

(a) Except with respect to Purchaser Indemnified Losses in connection with, related to, or arising out of:

(i) fraud, willful misconduct or intentional misrepresentation of any of the Sellers, Companies, Company Subsidiaries or the Seller
Representative (such matters described in this clause (i) collectively, “Seller Fraud Losses”);
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(ii) willful breach of any of the Sellers, Companies, Company Subsidiaries or the Seller Representative (such matters described in this
clause (ii) collectively, “Seller Willful Breach Losses”);

(iii) breaches of or defaults under any of the representations and warranties contained in Section 2.1 (Authorization), Section 2.2 (Title to
Company Interests), Section 3.7(d) (Real Property; Assets), Section 3.11(a) (Permits; Compliance with Law), Section 3.13 (Taxes) and Section 3.15
(Environmental Matters) (collectively, the “Exceptional Seller Representations”);

(iv) any Purchase Price adjustment or Transaction Cost Deficiency, Payment Obligation or Debt;

(v) any liabilities retained by the Sellers pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including any Retained Insurance Claims, Peruvian Claims,
Japan License Claims, JHJ Litigation Claims, P&G Claims, Pending Tax Cases, YRC Logistics Capitalization Matters, Thailand License Claims,
India License Claims, Transfer Failure Claims, Argentinean Capitalization Claims, Berefo Claims, YRC Colombia Capitalization Claims, YRC
Philippines Capitalization Claims, ArrivalStar Claims and Philippines NVOCC License Claims (collectively, the “Retained Obligations”);

(vi) any Employee Plan Liabilities; and

(vii) Indemnified Tax Losses (such Purchaser Indemnified Losses resulting from matters described in clauses (i) through (vii) above
collectively, the “Exceptional Purchaser Losses”),

(A) the Indemnification Escrow Amount is the sole source of recovery available to satisfy any indemnification claim for
Purchaser Indemnified Losses pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII (“Purchaser Escrow Losses”) and

(B) the Purchaser Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to be indemnified for any Purchaser Indemnified Losses (other than
any Exceptional Purchaser Losses) unless and until the aggregate amount of all Purchaser Indemnified Losses exceeds
$300,000.00 (the “Minimum Loss Amount”); provided, that after the Minimum Loss Amount is exceeded, the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to be paid the amount of any Purchaser Indemnified Losses including the Minimum Loss
Amount, subject to the limitations contained in this ARTICLE VIII and in Section 9.1. With respect to Exceptional Purchaser
Losses other than those involving any Indemnified Tax Losses, Seller Fraud Losses, Seller Willful Breach Losses, Employee
Plan Liabilities or the Retained Obligations, the indemnification obligations of the Seller Indemnifying Parties shall not in the
aggregate exceed $5,550,000.00 (the “Cap”). With respect to Transfer Failure Claims, the indemnification obligations of the
Seller Indemnifying Parties shall not in the aggregate exceed $10,000,000.00. Except for Indemnified Tax Losses, with respect
to Exceptional Purchaser Losses involving any Seller Fraud Losses, Seller Willful Breach Losses, Employee Plan Liabilities or
the Retained Obligations (other than Transfer Failure Claims), the indemnification
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obligations of the Seller Indemnifying Parties shall not in the aggregate exceed the Purchase Price. With respect to Indemnified
Tax Losses, nothing in this Agreement shall limit the Seller Indemnifying Parties’ obligation to indemnify the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties of Indemnified Tax Losses.

(b) Except with respect to Seller Indemnified Losses in connection with, related to, or arising out of:

(i) fraud, willful misconduct or intentional misrepresentation of Purchaser (such matters described in this clause (i) collectively, “Purchaser
Fraud Losses”);

(ii) willful breach of Purchaser (such matters described in this clause (ii) collectively, “Purchaser Willful Breach Losses”); and

(iii) breaches of any representations and warranties contained in Section 4.1 (Corporate Status and Authority) and Section 4.3 (Financial
Ability to Perform) (collectively, the “Exceptional Purchaser Representations” and together with the Exceptional Seller Representations, the
“Exceptional Representations” and such Indemnified Losses resulting from matters described in clauses (i) through (iii) above collectively, the
“Exceptional Seller Losses”),

(A) the indemnification obligations of Purchaser shall not in the aggregate exceed an amount equal to the Indemnification Escrow Amount
(“Seller Escrow Losses”) and

(B) the Seller Indemnified Parties shall not be entitled to be indemnified for any Seller Indemnified Losses (other than any Exceptional Seller
Losses) unless and until the aggregate amount of all Seller Indemnified Losses exceeds the Minimum Loss Amount; provided, after the Minimum
Loss Amount is exceeded, the Seller Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to be paid the amount of any Seller Indemnified Losses including the
Minimum Loss Amount, subject to the limitations contained in this ARTICLE VIII and in Section 9.1. With respect to Exceptional Seller Losses
other than those involving any Purchaser Fraud Losses or Purchaser Willful Breach Losses, the indemnification obligations of Purchaser shall not in
the aggregate exceed the amount of the Cap. With respect to Exceptional Seller Losses involving any Purchaser Fraud Losses or Purchaser Willful
Breach Losses, the indemnification obligations of Purchaser shall not in the aggregate exceed the Purchase Price.

(c) The indemnification obligations pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII of the Seller Indemnifying Parties with respect to Purchaser Indemnified Losses
(other than any Exceptional Purchaser Losses) and of the Purchaser Indemnifying Parties with respect to Seller Indemnified Losses (other than any
Exceptional Seller Losses) shall survive the Closing until the second anniversary of the Closing Date (the “Second Anniversary”); provided, however, that
any such indemnification obligations with respect to any claim for which a Pending Escrow Claims Notice or a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice has
been delivered prior to the Second Anniversary shall survive (solely with respect to such claim) until the final resolution of such claim. The
indemnification obligations pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII of the Seller Indemnifying Parties
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with respect to Exceptional Purchaser Losses and of the Purchaser Indemnifying Parties with respect to Exceptional Seller Losses shall survive the Closing
until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations period (the “Statute Expiration Date”); provided, however, that any such indemnification
obligations with respect to any claim for which a Pending Escrow Claims Notice or a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice has been delivered prior to the
Statute Expiration Date shall survive (solely with respect to such claim) until the final resolution of such claim.

Section 8.7 Offset. The parties acknowledge and agree that any Purchaser Indemnified Party may deal directly with the Seller Representative with respect
to an indemnification claim and the Seller Indemnifying Parties will be bound by any action or agreement of the Seller Representative made on their behalf.
Purchaser shall have the right to offset any amounts due and payable to any Seller Indemnifying Party under this Agreement against any Purchaser Indemnified
Losses owed by the Person to whom such amount is due and payable.

Section 8.8 Calculation of Indemnified Losses. The Indemnified Party shall reimburse the Indemnifying Party with respect to an indemnification claim to
the extent the Indemnified Party receives insurance proceeds with respect to such indemnification claim, net of costs of collection and net of retrospective
premium adjustments, premium increases and similar charges paid to insurers.

Section 8.9 Duty to Mitigate; No Double Recovery. Each Indemnified Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue recovery under any
available insurance policies or arrangements in order to reimburse the Indemnifying Party for Indemnified Losses paid by such Indemnifying Party under this
ARTICLE VIII; provided, however, that the indemnification obligations of the Indemnifying Party under this ARTICLE VIII shall not be conditioned upon the
prior resolution of any such attempt to recover insurance proceeds. None of the parties shall be entitled to recover duplicate indemnification payments under this
ARTICLE VIII for the same Losses, and none of the parties shall be entitled to indemnification for Losses to the extent such party was compensated for such
Losses by an adjustment to the Pre-Adjustment Purchase Price pursuant to Section 1.3.

Section 8.10 Treatment of Payment. The parties hereto agree to treat any indemnity payment made pursuant to this Agreement as an adjustment to the
Purchase Price for federal, state, regional, provincial, local and foreign income Tax purposes to the extent permitted by Law.

ARTICLE IX
GENERAL PROVISIONS; MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1 Survival of Representations and Warranties. All of the representations and warranties of a party to this Agreement contained in this
Agreement or in any certificate delivered by a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 1.5 shall survive the Closing hereunder until the Second Anniversary;
provided, however, that the Exceptional Representations shall survive the Closing until the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations period; provided
further, however, that if a Pending Escrow Claims Notice or a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice has been delivered as a result of a breach of a representation or
warranty prior to the expiration of the survival period for such representation or warranty set forth in this sentence, then such representation or warranty shall
survive (solely with respect to such claim) until the final resolution of such claim. Each of the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement and each
other Transaction Document will survive in accordance with their terms (or in the absence of any specific survival period thereto, shall survive until satisfied or
waived); provided, however, that if a Pending Escrow Claims Notice or a Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice has been delivered as a result of a breach of a
covenant or agreement prior to the expiration of the survival period
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for such covenant or agreement set forth in this sentence, then such covenant or agreement shall survive (solely with respect to such claim) until the final
resolution of such claim.

Section 9.2 No Waiver Relating to Claims for Fraud. The liability of any party to this Agreement under ARTICLE VIII will be in addition to, and not
exclusive of, any other liability that such party may have at law or equity based on such party’s fraudulent acts or omissions, fraudulent inducement, intentional
misrepresentation or willful misconduct. None of the provisions set forth in this Agreement, including the provisions set forth in ARTICLE VIII, will be deemed
a waiver by any party to this Agreement of any right or remedy which such party may have at law or equity based on the fraudulent acts or omissions, fraudulent
inducement, intentional misrepresentation or willful misconduct, in each case of any other party to this Agreement, nor will any such provisions limit, or be
deemed to limit, (a) the amounts of recovery sought or awarded in any such claim for fraudulent acts or omissions, fraudulent inducement, intentional
misrepresentation or willful misconduct; (b) the time period during which a claim for fraudulent acts or omissions, fraudulent inducement, intentional
misrepresentation or willful misconduct may be brought; or (c) the recourse which any such party may seek against another party with respect to a claim for
fraudulent acts or omissions, fraudulent inducement, intentional misrepresentation or willful misconduct; provided, that with respect to such rights and remedies
at law or equity, the parties to this Agreement further acknowledge and agree that none of the provisions of this Section 9.2, nor any reference to this Section 9.2
throughout this Agreement, will be deemed a waiver of any defenses which may be available in respect of actions or claims for fraudulent acts or omissions,
fraudulent inducement, intentional misrepresentation or willful misconduct, including defenses of statutes of limitations or limitations of damages.

Section 9.3 Modification; Waiver. This Agreement may be modified only by a written instrument executed by Purchaser and the Seller Representative.
Any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement may be waived in writing at any time on or prior to the Closing Date by the party to this Agreement or parties
to this Agreement, entitled to the benefits thereof.

Section 9.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including the Disclosure Schedules and exhibits hereto, the documents, instruments and schedules
referred to herein, constitutes the entire agreement among the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior
agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties or any of them with respect to the subject matter hereof, including the Letter of Intent;
provided, however, that this Agreement does not supersede the Confidentiality Agreement, the terms and conditions of which the parties hereto hereby expressly
reaffirm.

Section 9.5 Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in Section 1.3(c), Section 5.9(f) and Section 7.2(a), each party to this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document will bear all fees and expenses incurred by such party in connection with, relating to or arising out of the negotiation, preparation,
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, including investment bankers’, financial
advisors’, attorneys’, accountants’ and other professional fees and expenses; provided, that any Seller Transaction Costs that have not been paid by the Sellers
prior to the Closing or that have not been accrued as a liability on the Final Balance Sheet and taken into account in the calculation of the Net Working Capital
derived from the Final Balance Sheet (such Seller Transaction Costs, the “Transaction Cost Deficiency”) shall be borne by the Sellers and shall constitute
Purchaser Indemnified Losses.

Section 9.6 Further Actions. Each party to this Agreement will execute and deliver such certificates and other documents and take such other actions as
may reasonably be requested by the other party to this Agreement in order to consummate or implement the transactions contemplated herein. Without further
consideration, (i) the Sellers, at their own respective expense, shall cooperate with
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Purchaser and shall execute and deliver such instruments of transfer or assignment, or such other documents as Purchaser reasonably may request, to evidence or
perfect Purchaser’s right, title and interest in and to the Intellectual Property Rights to be assigned to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document, and (ii) the Sellers shall, and shall cause the Nominees, at the expense of the Sellers to, cooperate with Purchaser or the Purchaser
Designee, as applicable, and shall take such actions and execute and deliver such instruments of transfer or assignment, or such other documents as Purchaser or
the Purchaser Designee may reasonably request, to evidence or perfect Purchaser’s right, title and interest in and to the Company Interests. Without limiting the
foregoing, the Sellers shall, and shall cause the Nominees to, promptly execute and deliver such instruments of transfer and take such actions as are set forth in
Schedule 9.6.

Section 9.7 Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given
or made as follows: (a) if sent by registered or certified mail in the United States return receipt requested, upon receipt; (b) if sent by reputable overnight air
courier (such as DHL or Federal Express), one Business Day after mailing; (c) if sent by facsimile transmission, when transmitted and receipt is confirmed by the
recipient by telephone or (d) if otherwise actually personally delivered, when delivered, and shall be delivered as follows:

If to the Sellers:

c/o YRC Worldwide Inc.
10990 Roe Avenue, MS E217
Overland Park, Kansas 66211
Fax: (913) 982-5977
Attention: General Counsel

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Fulbright & Jaworski L.L.P.
Fulbright Tower
1301 McKinney Street
Suite 5100
Houston, Texas 77010
Fax: (713) 651-5246
Attention: Charles L. Strauss

If to Purchaser:

c/o Austin Ventures
300 West 6  Street
Suite 2300
Austin Texas 78701
Fax: (512) 476-3952
Attention: David Lack
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With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation
900 South Capital of Texas Highway
Las Cimas IV, Fifth Floor
Austin, Texas 78746
Fax: (512) 338-5499
Attention: Paul Tobias

or to such other address or to such other Person as any party hereto has last designated by notice to the other parties hereto.

Section 9.8 Injunction; Specific Performance. The Sellers, on the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, acknowledge and agree that the other party
to this Agreement would be damaged irreparably if any provision of this Agreement is not performed in accordance with its specific terms or is otherwise
breached. Accordingly, the Sellers, one the one hand, and Purchaser, on the other hand, agree that the other will be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to
prevent breach of the provisions of this Agreement and to enforce specifically this Agreement and its terms and provisions, without the necessity of proving the
inadequacy of money damages as a remedy, in addition to any other remedy to which they may be entitled, at law or in equity.

Section 9.9 Assignment. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted
assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned (whether by operation of law, recapitalization or
otherwise) by any party hereto without the prior written consent of the Seller Representative in the case of an assignment by Purchaser, and without the prior
written consent of Purchaser in the case of an assignment by any Seller or the Seller Representative; provided, however, that no such consent will be required for
(a) an assignment by Purchaser to any of its wholly-owned Subsidiaries that remains a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Purchaser from and after such assignment,
(b) an assignment by any Seller of its rights but not its obligations under this Agreement, to lenders and other creditors, or agents or trustees acting on behalf of
any of the foregoing, as security for the performance of obligations of such Seller or its Affiliates to such financing sources and (c) an assignment by Purchaser of
its rights but not its obligations under this Agreement, to lenders and other creditors, or agents or trustees acting on behalf of any of the foregoing, as security for
the performance of obligations of Purchaser or its Affiliates to such financing sources. No assignment shall release the assigning party from its obligations and
liabilities under this Agreement. Any transfer or assignment by Purchaser of substantially all of the Business or substantially all of the assets of the Business to a
third Person shall be conditioned upon such third Person agreeing to be bound by the post-Closing obligations of Purchaser then in effect under this Agreement.

Section 9.10 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except for the Purchaser Indemnified Parties and the Seller Indemnified Parties, nothing in this Agreement
shall confer any rights upon any Person that is not a party to, or a successor or permitted assignee of a party to, this Agreement.

Section 9.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and shall be
binding upon each party to this Agreement who executed the same, but all of such counterparts shall constitute the same agreement. The exchange of copies of
this Agreement and of signature pages by facsimile transmission (whether directly from one facsimile device to another by means of a dial-up connection or
whether otherwise transmitted via electronic transmission), by electronic mail in “portable document format” (“.pdf”) form, or by any other electronic means
intended to preserve the original graphic and pictorial appearance of a document, or by a
 

Page 79 of 81
Equity Interest Purchase Agreement



combination of such means, shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties to this Agreement and may be used in lieu of an
original agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties to this Agreement transmitted by facsimile or other electronic transmission shall be deemed to be
original signatures for all purposes.

Section 9.12 Headings. The Table of Contents and Section headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and will not be deemed to
alter or affect the meaning or interpretation of any provision hereof.

Section 9.13 Terms Generally; Interpretation. The parties to this Agreement have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement.
Consequently, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto,
and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement. The words
“hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole (including any exhibits and schedules hereto) and not
merely to the specific section, paragraph or clause in which such word appears. All references in this Agreement to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules are
references to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires. The words “include”, “includes” and
“including” are deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation.” The definitions given in this Agreement apply equally to both the singular and plural
forms of the terms defined, and all terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or
delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. Whenever the context requires, any pronoun includes the corresponding masculine, feminine and
neuter forms. All references to “day” or “days” shall mean calendar days unless specified as a “Business Day.” Any statute defined or referred to herein or in any
agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of statutes)
by succession of comparable successor statutes. Any agreement or other contract defined or referred to herein means such agreement or other contract as from
time to time amended, modified or supplemented. References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. All references to “dollars” or “$” refer
to currency of the United States of America, except where the language explicitly provides otherwise. All non-U.S. dollar currency amounts referenced herein
shall refer to the U.S. dollar equivalent determined based on the following: (i) when referring to amounts determined or determinable on or prior to the Closing
Date, the applicable exchange rate in late New York trading on the date hereof provided in the online edition of the Wall Street Journal; or (ii) when referring to
amounts determined or determinable after the Closing Date, the applicable exchange rate in late New York trading on the Closing Date provided in the online
edition of the Wall Street Journal. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a “director” of any of the Sellers, Companies or Company Subsidiaries, or any
of their respective Affiliates, such reference shall be to a member of the board of directors or equivalent board of such entity. The term “or” is not exclusive. For
purposes of the representations and warranties in ARTICLE II and ARTICLE III, a document or other instrument shall be deemed to have been “provided”,
“furnished”, “delivered” or “made available” when such document or other instrument has been uploaded onto the Data Room prior to the date hereof and not
removed prior to the date hereof. Any U.S. legal term for any action, remedy, method of judicial proceeding, legal document, legal status, court, official or any
other legal concept or thing will, in respect of any jurisdiction other than the U.S., be deemed to include what most nearly approximates in that jurisdiction to the
U.S. legal term, and any U.S. statutory provision will be construed so as to include equivalent or analogous Laws of any other jurisdiction.

Section 9.14 Governing Law. This Agreement and all claims and causes of action (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise
out of, or relate to this Agreement or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement (including any claim or cause of action based
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upon, arising out of, or related to any representation or warranty made in or in connection with this Agreement or as an inducement to enter into this Agreement)
will be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflicts of law principles of such state that would require the substantive laws of
another state to apply.

Section 9.15 Jurisdiction and Venue. Any process against Purchaser or any Seller in, or in connection with, any Proceeding arising out of or relating to
this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated herein may be served personally or by certified mail at the address set forth in Section 9.7 with the same
effect as though served on it personally. Any and all Proceedings against any party to this Agreement arising out of this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated herein (other than those decided by the Referee under this Agreement) shall be brought in any federal or state court of appropriate jurisdiction in
New Castle County, Delaware and each party to this Agreement submits to and accepts the jurisdiction of such courts for the purpose of any such Proceeding.

Section 9.16 Recovery of Certain Expenses. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties to this Agreement agree that the
prevailing party in any action, proceeding or dispute relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated herein, other than a dispute
governed by Section 1.3, shall have the right to recover from the non-prevailing party in such action, proceeding or dispute all of the prevailing party’s reasonable
fees and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorney’s fees) incurred in connection with such action, proceeding or dispute.

Section 9.17 Disclosure Schedules. For the purposes of the Disclosure Schedules, any disclosure set forth under any section or subsection heading of the
Disclosure Schedules shall be deemed to modify both (i) the representation and warranty contained in the portion of the section or subsection of this Agreement
to which such disclosure corresponds pursuant to the number and language of the applicable Schedule and (ii) any other representation and warranty set forth in
ARTICLE II and ARTICLE III of this Agreement to the extent that a reasonable person reading such disclosure would conclude that it also should apply to such
other representation and warranty. Inclusion of information in a Schedule shall not be construed as an admission that such information is material. Where a
description of the basis for disclosure of an item is provided in the Disclosure Schedules, such description represents the sole basis of disclosure of such
agreement or other matter for the particular section or subsection of the Disclosure Schedules in which it appears.

Section 9.18 Seller Representative. The Sellers hereby appoint the Seller Representative as the representative of the Sellers to (a) receive service of
process on behalf of each of the Sellers, (b) direct payment of the Purchase Price by Purchaser to the Sellers (including any amounts distributed pursuant to
Section 1.2(c), Section 1.3(d) or ARTICLE VIII of this Agreement or pursuant to the Escrow Agreement) and (c) take any action on the Sellers’ behalf in
connection with the Sellers’ performance or enforcement of, and exercise of rights under, this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement, including (i) the delivery of
the estimated Net Working Capital as of the Closing Date and negotiating, settling or compromising any adjustment to the Pre-Adjustment Purchase Price,
(ii) negotiating, asserting, prosecuting, settling or compromising on behalf of the Sellers any claim for indemnification against Purchaser, and (iii) negotiating,
defending, settling or compromising on behalf of the Sellers any claims arising against the Sellers or any one of them under this Agreement; provided, however,
that nothing in this Section 9.18 shall relieve any of the Sellers from any of their obligations to Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other
Transaction Document.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

PURCHASER:

CEG HOLDINGS, INC.

By:  /s/ David Lack
 David Lack, President & CEO
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

SELLERS:

YRC WORLDWIDE INC.

By:  /s/ James G. Kissinger
Name:  James G. Kissinger
Title:  Executive Vice President

YRC INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS, INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Secretary

YRC LOGISTICS ASIA LIMITED

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS CHINA (HONG KONG) LIMITED

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES, INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Secretary

YRC ENTERPRISE SERVICES, INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Assistant Secretary
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

SELLER REPRESENTATIVE:

YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES, INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Secretary
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

COMPANIES:

YRC LOGISTICS, INC. (DELAWARE)

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Secretary

YRC LOGISTICS INC., S.R.L (PERU)

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Authorized Signatory

YRC LOGISTICS INC. LTDA.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Authorized Signatory

YRC LOGISTICS, INC. LIMITADA

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Authorized Signatory

By:  /s/ Brenda Stasiulis
Name:  Brenda Stasiulis
Title:  Authorized Signatory

YRC LOGISTICS INC., S.R.L. (ARGENTINA)

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Authorized Signatory
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

COMPANIES:

YGPS (EU) LIMITED

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS B.V.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS (THAILAND) CO., LTD.

By:  /s/ Loo Leong Hwee
Name:  Loo Leong Hwee
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS PHILIPPINES, INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

COMPANIES:

YRC LOGISTICS JAPAN LIMITED

By:  /s/ Tadayoshi Fukuda
Name:  Tadayoshi Fukuda
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS HONG KONG LIMITED

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS KOREA LIMITED

By:  /s/ James G. Kissinger
Name:  James G. Kissinger
Title:  Authorized Representative

YRC LOGISTICS INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED

By:  /s/ Loo Leong Hwee
Name:  Loo Leong Hwee
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS MALAYSIA SDN. BHD.

By:  /s/ Mohamed Ashraf Bin Mohamed Ariff
Name:  Mohamed Ashraf Bin Mohamed Ariff
Title:  Director
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

COMPANIES:

YRC LOGISTICS TAIWAN LIMITED

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS VIETNAM LIMITED (B.V.I.)

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director

YRC LOGISTICS VIETNAM LIMITED (VIETNAM)

By:  /s/ Do Huu Loc
Name:  Do Huu Loc
Title:  Managing Director
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

COMPANIES:

YRC LOGISTICS SERVICES INC. (QUEBEC)

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President and Secretary

YRC LOGISTICS SUPPLY CHAIN SOLUTIONS INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President and Secretary

USF LOGISTICS (MEXICO) INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Secretary

USF LOGISTICS SERVICES (PUERTO RICO) INC.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Assistant Secretary

MIQ DISTRIBUTION, LLC

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Secretary
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.
 

COMPANY SUBSIDIARIES

YRC LOGISTICS, S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Secretary

MERIDIAN IQ SERVICIOS, S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Secretary

MERIDIAN IQ LEASING, S. DE R.L. DE C.V.

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Secretary

YRC LOGISTICS GLOBAL, LLC

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Vice President – Legal and Secretary

YRC LOGISTICS LIMITED

By:  /s/ Reid A. Schultz
Name:  Reid A. Schultz
Title:  Director
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EXHIBIT A
DEFINITIONS

“Acquisition Proposal” means any offer or proposal relating to any transaction or series of related transactions other than the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement involving (i) a merger with a non-Affiliate, (ii) a merger with an Affiliate that would materially and adversely affect the Business or make it
difficult for Purchaser or its Affiliates to effect an acquisition of the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or the Business, (iii) any direct or indirect investment
in or with respect to, or direct or indirect purchase of, stock or other equity interests of any of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries, (iv) any direct or indirect
purchase of all or any substantial portion of the assets of any of the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or the Business, taken individually or together as a
whole, or (v) any similar arrangements with respect thereto.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any specified Person, a Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Person specified. For purposes of this definition, “control” (including the correlative terms “controlling,” “controlled
by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a
Person, whether through the ownership of voting equity interest, by Contract or otherwise.

“Affiliate Employee Plans” means any group severance, separation or salary continuation plans, programs or arrangements and any and all plans intended
to include a Code Section 401(k) arrangement that is sponsored by a Company ERISA Affiliate other than the Companies or a Company Subsidiary.

“Affiliated Group” has the meaning given such term in the definition of “Taxes.”

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“April Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

“April Balance Sheets” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

“Argentinean Capitalization Claims” means any Proceeding or liability, including any Tax or withholding obligation, related to (i) the undercapitalization
of YRC Argentina on or prior to the Closing Date, or (ii) the assignment of the Loan Agreement by and between YRC Peru and YRC Argentina, dated as of
May 21, 2008 (the “Argentinean Loan Agreement”), to YRC Logistics and YRC International and the subsequent capitalization of debt arising under the
Argentinean Loan Agreement into quotas of YRC Argentina.

“ArrivalStar Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to claims alleged by Martin Kelly Jones, ArrivalStar S.A. or Melvino Technologies Limited
in connection with the “ArrivalStar Patents” described in the June 7, 2010 letter from McMahon Law Firm, LLC to Jim Ritchie on behalf of Meridian IQ, Inc.,
including any settlement of such claims and any license, royalty or similar fees arising in connection with such claims.

“Assigned Leases” means all agreements set forth on Schedule 6.4(w).

“Assignment Agreement” means any agreement in form and substance as set forth in Exhibit L attached hereto, and which assigns an Assigned Lease
required by this Agreement.
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“Bankruptcy Law” means any Law for relief of debtors applicable to the Sellers, a Company or any Company Subsidiary, and including Title 11 of the
U.S. Code.

“Base Amount” means $21,358,180, determined pursuant to a spreadsheet, a copy of which is set forth on Exhibit T.

“Benefit Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.14.

“Berefo Claims” means any Proceeding or liability relating to the accident involving former employee Eddie Berefo, as disclosed in Section 3.5 of the
Disclosure Schedules.

“Borrowed Money Debt” means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness (including the principal amount thereof or, if applicable, the accreted amount
thereof and the amount of accrued and unpaid interest thereon) of any Company or Company Subsidiary, whether or not represented by bonds, debentures, notes
or other securities, for the repayment of money borrowed, whether owing to banks, or financial institutions; (b) all deferred indebtedness of any Company or
Company Subsidiary for the payment of the purchase price of property or assets purchased; (c) all obligations of any Company or Company Subsidiary to pay
rent or other payment amounts under a lease of real or personal property which is required to be classified as a capital lease or a liability on the face of a balance
sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP; (d) any outstanding reimbursement obligation of any Company or Company Subsidiary with respect to letters of credit,
bankers’ acceptances, deferment bonds or similar facilities issued for the account of any Company or Company Subsidiary; (e) any payment obligation of the
Company or a Company Subsidiary under any interest rate swap agreement, forward rate agreement, interest rate cap or collar agreement or other financial
agreement or arrangement entered into for the purpose of limiting or managing interest rate risks; and (f) all indebtedness for borrowed money secured by any
Lien existing on property owned by any Company or Company Subsidiary; provided that Borrowed Money Debt will not include any of the foregoing that (i) is
solely between the Companies, between a Company and a Company Subsidiary of such Company or between the Company Subsidiaries of a Company or (ii) is
repaid, discharged or satisfied prior to, at or in connection with the Closing.

“Business” means the business lines commonly referred to within YRC Logistics as “Distribution – Dedicated Warehousing,” “Transportation
Management,” “Truckload Brokerage,” “Global – North American,” “Global – Asia,” “Global – Latin America,” Global – UK” and “Canada,” and any portion
thereof. For the avoidance of doubt, “Global – Asia” means the international freight forwarding, customs brokerage, warehouse services and logistics business
operated by the YRCL Asia Companies since November 30, 2009.

“Business Day” means any day of the year other than (a) a Saturday, Sunday or federal holiday or (b) a day on which national banking institutions in
Kansas City are required or authorized to be closed.

“Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).

“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4.

“Closing Adjustment Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a).

“Closing Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c)(i).

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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“Combined Software” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(r).

“Commercial Services Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a)(vii).

“Companies” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“Company Employee Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(b).

“Company Employees” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Company ERISA Affiliate” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(g).

“Company Group” means, collectively, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries.

“Company Intellectual Property” means any and all Technology and any and all Intellectual Property Rights, including without limitation the Company
Registered Intellectual Property Rights, that (i) is or are owned (in whole or in part) by or exclusively licensed to any Company or Company Subsidiary, or (ii) is
or are claimed to be owned (in whole or in part) by or exclusively licensed to, any Company or Company Subsidiary.

“Company Interests” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

“Company Leased Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Company Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Company Registered Intellectual Property Rights” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

“Company Subsidiary” means any of (i) YRC Logistics, S. de R.L. de C.V., an entity formed under the laws of Mexico, (ii) Meridian IQ Servicios, S. de
R.L. de C.V., an entity formed under the laws of Mexico, (iii) Meridian IQ Leasing, S. de R.L. de C.V., an entity formed under the laws of Mexico, (iv) YRC
Logistics Global, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and (v) YRC Logistics Limited (registered number 02773769), an entity formed under the laws of
England and Wales, and “Company Subsidiaries” means all of the foregoing.

“Company Terminated Plans” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(c).

“Competition Act” means the Competition Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-34, and the regulations thereunder.

“Condition” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).

“Confidentiality Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

“Contract” shall mean any mortgage, indenture, contract, covenant, plan, insurance policy, or other agreement, instrument, arrangement, understanding or
commitment, permit, concession, franchise or license, in each case, whether oral or written.

“Contribution Deferral Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(f).

“Copyrights” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property Rights.
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“Credit Agreement” means the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2007, by and among YRCW; The Canadian Borrowers and UK Borrowers Parties
Thereto; The Lenders Party Thereto; Bank of America, N.A. and SunTrust Bank, as Syndication Agents; U.S. Bank National Association, Wachovia Bank, N.A.
and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi-UFJ, Chicago Branch, as Documentation Agents; JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, Toronto Branch, as Canadian
Agent; J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as UK Agent; and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, as amended, modified or
supplemented from time to time.

“Current Assets” means the current assets of the Company Group, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP and the Sellers’ past
practice, consistently applied, as of the relevant date of determination.

“Current Liabilities” means the current liabilities of the Company Group, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP and the Sellers’
past practice, consistently applied, as of the relevant date of determination.

“Current Year” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(b).

“Custodian” means any receiver, trustee, assignee, liquidator, sequestrator or similar official under any Bankruptcy Law.

“Customers” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.18.

“Data Room” means (i) the Sellers’ electronic data room established in connection with the transactions contemplated herein to which Purchaser and its
representatives have been granted access since December 21, 2009 and prior to the date hereof and (ii) the documents included in a disc provided to the Purchaser
on or prior to the date hereof labeled “Data Room Supplementary Disc,” which shall be deemed to have been included in the data room described in clause (i) of
this definition for all purposes in this Agreement.

“Debt” means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness (including the principal amount thereof or, if applicable, the accreted amount thereof and the
amount of accrued and unpaid interest thereon) of any Company or Company Subsidiary, whether or not represented by bonds, debentures, notes or other
securities, for the repayment of money borrowed, whether owing to banks, financial institutions, on equipment leases or otherwise; (b) all deferred indebtedness
of any Company or Company Subsidiary for the payment of the purchase price of property or assets purchased; (c) all obligations of any Company or Company
Subsidiary to pay rent or other payment amounts under a lease of real or personal property which is required to be classified as a capital lease or a liability on the
face of a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP; (d) any outstanding reimbursement obligation of any Company or Company Subsidiary with respect
to letters of credit, bankers’ acceptances or similar facilities issued for the account of any Company or Company Subsidiary; (e) any payment obligation of the
Company or a Company Subsidiary under any interest rate swap agreement, forward rate agreement, interest rate cap or collar agreement or other financial
agreement or arrangement entered into for the purpose of limiting or managing interest rate risks; (f) all indebtedness for borrowed money secured by any Lien
existing on property owned by any Company or Company Subsidiary, whether or not indebtedness secured thereby will have been assumed; (g) all guaranties,
endorsements, assumptions and other contingent obligations of any Company or Company Subsidiary in respect of, or to purchase or to otherwise acquire,
indebtedness for borrowed money of others; (h) all premiums, penalties and change of control payments required to be paid in respect of any of the foregoing as a
result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement regardless if any of such are actually paid; (i) all Payment Obligations; and (j) all
obligations of any Company or Company Subsidiary, whether interest bearing or otherwise, owed to any
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equityholder or Affiliate of an equityholder; provided, that Debt will not include any of the foregoing that is solely between the Companies, between a Company
and a Company Subsidiary of such Company or between the Company Subsidiaries of a Company.

“Deductions” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(c).

“Delayed Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6.

“Delayed Closing Company” means each of YRC Argentina, YRC Chile, YRC Colombia, YRC Peru, YRCL Japan, YRCL Malaysia, YRCL Philippines,
YRCL Taiwan, YRCL Thailand and YRCL Vietnam.

“Delayed Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6.

“Delayed Payment Amounts” means (i) $133,008 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests
in YRC Argentina, (ii) $970,517 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in YRC Chile,
(iii) $143,239 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in YRC Colombia, (iv) $1,277,165 to be
paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in YRC Peru, (v) $208,135 to be paid in accordance with
Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in YRCL Japan, (vi) $135,346 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon
consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in YRCL Malaysia, (vii) $374,468 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the
transfer of the Company Interests in YRCL Philippines, (viii) $153,470 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the
Company Interests in YRCL Taiwan, (ix) $93,544 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in
YRCL Thailand and (x) $150,000 to be paid in accordance with Section 1.6 upon consummation of the transfer of the Company Interests in YRCL Vietnam.

“Delayed Payment Escrow Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c).

“Disclosure Schedules” means the disclosure schedules delivered by the Sellers to Purchaser concurrently with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement.

“Employee” means each current or former officer, employee, consultant, independent contractor or director of (i) the Companies or any Company
Subsidiary or (ii) any Affiliate of the Sellers, the Companies or any Company Subsidiary who provides services primarily to the Business. For the purposes of
each current or former officer, employee, consultant, independent contractor or director of the Companies or any Company Subsidiary in the Philippines, an
individual shall not be deemed to have an employment relationship with the Companies or any Company Subsidiary where he or she is an officer, employee,
consultant, independent contractor or director, unless he or she has an employment Contract with the said Companies or Company Subsidiary in accordance with
Law in the Philippines.

“Employee Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(b).

“Employee Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9(a).

“Employee Plan Liabilities” means any liabilities in connection with, or related to, or arising out of any Employee Plan prior to the Closing or a breach of
Section 3.9(k).
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“Environmental Laws” means any Laws relating to pollution (including the emission of greenhouse gases), contamination of soils or ground water,
protection of the environment, natural resources, or exposure of any individual to a Hazardous Substance (including, without limitation, any required labeling,
payment of waste fees or charges (including so-called e-waste fees), in effect as of the Closing Date.

“Environmental Liabilities” means any loss, liability, claim, damage, expense, remediation cost or obligation (including costs of investigation and defense
and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) arising from or required under any applicable Environmental Laws or the requirements of any Governmental
Authority, including, without limitation, as arising out of any exposure to Hazardous Substances; provided, however, that in no event shall such term be deemed
to include the cost to remediate any real property to anything other than commercial or industrial remediation standards unless required by the terms of any Lease.

“Environmental Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).

“Equity Interest” means (i) with respect to a corporation, any and all shares of capital stock of such corporation; (ii) with respect to a partnership, limited
liability company, trust, or similar Person, any and all units, interests or other partnership/limited liability company interests; (iii) any other direct or indirect
equity ownership or participation in a Person; and (iv) all of the economic and other rights pertaining to the equity interests being acquired hereunder (other than
the rights of the Sellers to receive the consideration contemplated to be delivered to the Sellers under this Agreement), including: (A) all the rights of any of the
Sellers and other parties to uncapitalized capital contributions made, and issuance premiums paid, by any of the Sellers and such other parties to any of the
Companies or Company Subsidiaries and existing at the Closing Date; (B) all the rights to stock or other non-cash dividends declared by any of the Companies or
Company Subsidiaries up to the Closing Date and paid or unpaid and/or not collected by any of the Sellers as of the Closing Date and to unpaid cash dividends or
other cash distributions payable, in each case, after the Closing Date; (C) all the rights to subscribe shares in the capital of any of the Companies or Company
Subsidiaries corresponding to subscriptions called by such Companies up to the Closing Date and subscribed or not subscribed as of the Closing Date; (D) all the
rights to receive shares in any of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries subscribed prior to the Closing Date and issued or not issued by the Closing Date;
(E) all the rights to stock distributions declared by any of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries up to the Closing Date, whether as capitalization of capital
adjustment accounts or reserves or for any other reason, and distributed or not distributed as of the Closing Date; and (F) all other non-cash distributions declared
by any of the Companies or Company Subsidiaries up to the Closing Date either for capital reductions, distribution of issuance premium or for other reasons, and
distributed or not distributed as of the Closing Date.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“Escrow Agent” means U.S. Bank National Association.

“Escrow Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c)(ii).

“Escrow Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(a).

“Escrow Claim Final Court Order” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(a).

“Estimated Net Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a).

“Exceptional Purchaser Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).
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“Exceptional Purchaser Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(b).

“Exceptional Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(b).

“Exceptional Seller Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(b).

“Exceptional Seller Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).

“Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Filing Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(d).

“Final Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(b).

“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

“Financing” means any debt financing entered into by Purchaser or one or more Affiliates of Purchaser for the purpose of financing all or a portion of the
Purchase Price.

“First Escrow Release Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(c).

“GAAP” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4.

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, national, state, provincial, municipal, local or foreign governmental, judicial, legislative, executive,
administrative or regulatory authority, instrumentality, commission, body, court or agency.

“Hazardous Substance” means any (i) toxic or hazardous materials or substances, (ii) solid wastes, including asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, mercury,
buried contaminants, chemicals, flammable or explosive materials, (iii) radioactive materials, (iv) petroleum wastes and spills or releases of petroleum products,
and (v) any other chemical, pollutant, contaminant, substance or waste that is regulated by any Governmental Authority under any Environmental Law.

“Hazardous Substance Activity” is the transportation, transfer, recycling, storage, use, treatment, manufacture, removal, disposal, remediation, release,
exposure of others to, or labeling of any Hazardous Substance or waste containing a Hazardous Substance, including, without limitation, any required labeling,
payment of waste fees or charges (including so-called e-waste fees) and compliance with any recycling requirements.

“Hong Kong Business Transfer Transaction” means the transaction described in item 5 of Schedule 5.3.

“Indemnification Escrow Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c)(ii).

“Indemnification Escrow Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(c)(ii).

“Indemnified Losses” means, collectively, the Purchaser Indemnified Losses and the Seller Indemnified Losses.

“Indemnified Parties” means, collectively, the Purchaser Indemnified Parties and the Seller Indemnified Parties.
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“Indemnified Representation Losses” means any and all damages, losses, claims, liabilities, demands, charges, suits, judgments, penalties, fines, fees,
costs, and out-of-pocket expenses (including court costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred in investigating and preparing for,
or otherwise in connection with, any litigation or proceeding) sustained, suffered or incurred by any of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties in connection with, or
related to, or arising out of any inaccuracy or breach of representation or warranty by any Seller with respect to any of its representations or warranties under this
Agreement or the certificates described in Section 6.4(d) or Section 6.4(j).

“Indemnified Tax Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.10.

“Indemnifying Parties” means, collectively, Purchaser and the Seller Indemnifying Parties.

“India License Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to YRCL India’s operation of the business without, or its failure to obtain, any customs
house agent license.

“Initial Net Working Capital Estimate” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a).

“Insurance Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.19.

“Intellectual Property Rights” means any or all of the following and all rights in, arising out of, or associated therewith: (i) all United States and foreign
patents and utility models and applications therefor and all reissues, divisions, reexaminations, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and
continuations-in-part thereof, and equivalent or similar rights anywhere in the world in inventions and discoveries including without limitation invention
disclosures (“Patents”); (ii) all trade secrets and other rights in know-how and confidential or proprietary information; (iii) all copyrights, copyrights registrations
and applications therefor and all other rights corresponding thereto throughout the world (“Copyrights”); (iv) all mask works, mask work registrations and
applications therefor, and any equivalent or similar rights in semiconductor masks, layouts, architectures or topology (“Maskworks”); (v) all industrial designs
and any registrations and applications therefor throughout the world; (vi) all World Wide Web addresses and domain names and applications and registrations
therefor, all trade names, trade dress, logos, common law trademarks and service marks, trademark and service mark registrations and applications therefor and all
goodwill associated therewith throughout the world (“Trademarks”); and (vii) any similar, corresponding or equivalent rights to any of the foregoing anywhere in
the world.

“IRS” means the Internal Revenue Service or any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under the Code.

“Japan License Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to YRCL Japan’s operation of the business without, or its failure to obtain, any door-to-
door ocean-freight forwarder permit or door-to-door air-freight forwarder permit by, or any cargo-freight forwarder registration, port-to-port ocean-freight
forwarder registration or port-to-port freight forwarder registration with, MLIT.

“JHJ Litigation Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to YRC Logistics, JHJ International Transportation Co., Ltd. vs. DWL International,
LLC, relating to an arbitration held in Chicago, IL, or the related matter of DWL International, LLC v. YRC Logistics Global, LLC, filed on March 9, 2010, Case
No. 10-CV-01560, in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois – Eastern Division, as disclosed in Section 3.12 of the Disclosure
Schedules, or the facts underlying such Proceedings.
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“Key Employee” and “Key Employees” have the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.

“Key Employee Agreements” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereto.

“Knowledge of Purchaser” or any phrase of similar import means the actual knowledge, without any inquiry, of the individuals listed on Exhibit R
attached hereto.

“Knowledge of the Sellers” or any phrase of similar import means the actual knowledge, after due inquiry, of the individuals listed on Exhibit N attached
hereto.

“Labor Agreements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(d).

“Law” means any applicable national, federal, state, provincial, local or foreign statute, law, by-law, code, ordinance, directive, decree, order, judgment,
rule or regulation.

“Leased Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Leasehold Mortgages” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(f).

“Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(b).

“Letter of Intent” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.5.

“License Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a)(viii).

“Licenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10.

“Liens” means any liens, claims, charges, deposits to secure obligations, pledges, voting agreements, voting trusts, proxy agreements, security interests,
mortgages, and other possessory or adverse interests, conditional sale or other title retention agreements, assessments, easements, rights-of-way, covenants,
restrictions, rights of first refusal, encroachments, and other burdens, options or encumbrances of any kind.

“Maskworks” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property Rights.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any material and adverse change upon the business, operations, assets, financial condition or operating results of the
Companies and the Company Subsidiaries taken as a whole; provided, however, that none of the following shall be deemed to constitute a Material Adverse
Effect: any adverse change, event, development or effect arising from or relating to (1) general business or economic conditions, but only to the extent they do not
have a disproportionate impact on the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or the Business, (2) national or international political or social conditions, including the
engagement by the United States in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war or the occurrence of any military or
terrorist attack upon the United States or any of its territories, possessions or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or
personnel of the United States, but only to the extent they do not have a disproportionate impact on the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or the Business,
(3) financial, banking or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index), but only to the
extent they do not have a disproportionate impact on the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or the Business, or (4) changes in GAAP or any Law or standard
generally applicable to the industry in which the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries are engaged, but only to
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the extent they do not have a disproportionate impact on the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or the Business.

“Material Contracts” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.8(a).

“Meridian Mark” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(a).

“Minimum Loss Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).

“MLIT” means the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism of Japan.

“Name” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.17(a).

“Net Working Capital” means Current Assets minus Current Liabilities.

“Nominees” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“Non-Company Affiliates” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.16.

“Non-Company Leased Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Non-Company Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Non-Escrow Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(b).

“Non-Escrow Claims Final Court Order” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(b).

“Non-Escrow Claims Settlement Letter” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(b).

“Non-Solicitation Agreements” means the agreements containing non solicitation, confidentiality and other provisions entered into and to be entered into
by the individuals identified on Exhibit I.

“North America Business Transfer Transaction” means the transaction described in item 4 of Schedule 5.3.

“Note Purchase Agreement” means the Note Purchase Agreement dated as of February 11, 2010 among YRC Worldwide Inc., the investors listed on the
Schedule of Buyers attached thereto and Subsidiaries of the YRC Worldwide Inc. listed on Annex II attached thereto (as amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified through the Closing).

“Objection Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(c).

“Order” means any judgment, order, writ, injunction, legally binding agreement with a Governmental Authority, stipulation or decree.

“Organizational Documents” means (i) with respect to a corporation, the articles or certificate of incorporation and bylaws of such entity, (ii) with respect
to a limited partnership, the certificate of limited partnership (or equivalent document) and partnership agreement or similar operational agreement and (iii) with
respect to a limited liability company, the articles of organization (or equivalent document) and regulations, limited liability company agreement, or similar
operational document.
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“P&G Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to the dispute between Procter & Gamble Distributing LLC (P&G) and YRC Logistics, Inc.
regarding service charges, as disclosed in Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules.

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.14.

“Past Due Rate” means the lesser of (a) 18% per annum or (b) the highest interest rate permitted by Law.

“past practice” means past practice since March 31, 2009.

“Past Service” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Patent” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property Rights.

“Paying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(d).

“Payment Obligations” shall mean the full amount of any and all retention, completion, retirement, severance, bonus, management compensation or
similar arrangements or obligations, whether written or oral, in each case payable by any of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries or any of
their respective Affiliates, whether in cash or in the form of any other type of benefit, to any Person (i) in connection with the structuring, negotiation or
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, whether incurred prior to, on or after the date hereof,
and (ii) in connection with events or circumstances occurring prior to the Closing, including any and all obligations to James D. Ritchie that are not paid prior to
the Closing.

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

“Pending Escrow Claims Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(a).

“Pending Escrow Claims Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(a).

“Pending Non-Escrow Claims Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(b).

“Pending Non-Escrow Claims Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(b).

“Pending Tax Cases” shall mean YRC Regional Transportation, Inc. and Subsidiaries f/k/a USF Corporation & Subsidiaries v. Commissioner of Internal
Revenue, Docket No. 2617-10, and YRC Worldwide, Inc. v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, Docket No. 6714-10, in the United States Tax Court, as disclosed
in Section 3.12 of the Disclosure Schedules, and any related Proceedings or liabilities.

“Permits” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

“Permitted Liens” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Person” means any natural person, firm, partnership, association, corporation, company (including limited liability company), trust, business trust,
unincorporated organization, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Personal Information” means information about an identifiable individual as defined in Privacy Law.
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“Personal Property Leases” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(a).

“Peruvian Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to any failure of YRC Logistics Inc. SRL to comply with Peruvian labor law requirements
with respect to legal benefits and compensations, weekly rest periods, rest day or non-working holiday pay or maximum working day and overtime requirements.

“Philippines NVOCC License Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to YRCL Philippines’ operation of its business without, or its failure to
obtain, a valid certificate of accreditation of non-vessel operating common carrier issued by Phillipines Shippers’ Bureau of the Department of Trade and Industry
of Phillipines.

“Post-Closing Claims” means all claims for bodily injury, property damage or workers’ compensation, whether covered by insurance or not, related to the
Business or any Company or Company Subsidiary, in connection with, or related to, or arising out of any accident, injury or similar event or occurrence that
occurred after the Closing; provided, however, that any claim arising out of any act or omission after the Closing of any of the Sellers or their respective Affiliates
shall not be a Post-Closing Claim.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any Tax period, or portion thereof, commencing after the Closing Date.

“Post-Closing Transfers” means the transfer of the Equity Interests in the Delayed Closing Companies.

“Pre-Adjustment Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(b).

“Privacy Law” means the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (Canada), the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy
Act (Ontario) and any comparable Law of any other national, federal, state, provincial, local or foreign jurisdiction.

“Proceeding” means an action, claim, proceeding, arbitration, audit, hearing, investigation, litigation or suit (whether civil, criminal, administrative,
investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Authority or arbitrator.

“Public Software” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(r).

“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(a).

“Purchaser” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Purchaser Designee” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

“Purchaser Escrow Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).

“Purchaser Favorable Final Adjustment Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(d).

“Purchaser Fraud Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(b).
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“Purchaser Indemnified Losses” means (a) all Indemnified Representation Losses, (b) all Indemnified Tax Losses and (c) all damages, losses, liabilities,
claims, demands, charges, suits, judgments, penalties, fines, fees, costs, and out-of-pocket expenses (including court costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees and other
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in investigating and preparing for, or otherwise in connection with, any litigation or proceeding) sustained, suffered or incurred
by any of the Purchaser Indemnified Parties in connection with, or related to, or arising out of (i) fraud, willful misconduct or intentional misrepresentation of any
of the Sellers, the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or the Seller Representative; (ii) willful breach of any of the Sellers, the Companies, the Company
Subsidiaries or the Seller Representative under this Agreement or the certificates described in Section 6.4(d) or Section 6.4(j) or any Assignment Agreement;
(iii) any other breach or default by any of the Sellers, the Companies, the Company Subsidiaries or the Seller Representative under this Agreement or the
certificates described in Section 6.4(d) or Section 6.4(j) or any Assignment Agreement; (iv) any Purchase Price adjustment or any Transaction Cost Deficiency,
Payment Obligation or Borrowed Money Debt; (v) any liabilities retained by the Sellers pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including any Retained
Obligations; (vi) any Employee Plan Liabilities; (vii) any Sunrise Industries Claims; and (viii) any restructuring or bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings of
YRCW or any of its Affiliates; provided, however, that “Purchaser Indemnified Losses” shall not include punitive damages or Special Damages, except to the
extent that the Purchaser Indemnified Parties are or have been required to pay such punitive damages or Special Damages to a Person, other than the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties, pursuant to a Third-Party Claim that is the subject of Section 8.2, or to the extent that such punitive damages or Special Damages result from
fraud committed in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby. The amount of Purchase Price allocated pursuant to Exhibit C to (i) a group of
Companies and Company Subsidiaries, (ii) a Company or any Company Subsidiary, or (iii) any asset of a Company or Company Subsidiary, shall not in any
manner limit the amount of Purchaser Indemnified Losses.

“Purchaser Indemnified Parties” means Purchaser, each Subsidiary of Purchaser, Austin Ventures IX, L.P., Austin Ventures X, L.P. and each officer,
director, employee, equityholder, member, manager and agent of each of the foregoing.

“Purchaser Plans” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Purchaser Willful Breach Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(b).

“Quota Assignment Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6(c).

“Receivables Purchase Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.7(g).

“Referee” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(c).

“Registered Intellectual Property Rights” means all United States, international and foreign: (i) Patents, including applications therefor; (ii) registered
Trademarks, applications to register Trademarks, including intent-to-use applications, or other registrations or applications related to Trademarks; (iii) Copyrights
registrations and applications to register Copyrights; (iv) Maskwork registrations and applications to register Maskworks; and (v) any other Technology that is the
subject of an application, certificate, filing, registration or other document issued by, filed with, or recorded by, any federal, state, provincial, government or other
public legal authority at any time.

“Restructuring” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(i).

“Retained Asia Business” means, collectively, the businesses of, and services provided by, YRCL Asia, Shanghai Jiayu Logistics Co., Ltd., JHJ
International Transportation Co., Ltd., YRC
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(Shanghai) Management Consulting CO., Ltd., GPS Worldwide Malaysia Sdn Bhd and PT Meridian IQ Indonesia.

“Retained Insurance Claims” means all claims for bodily injury, property damage or workers’ compensation, whether covered by insurance or not, related
to the Business or any Company or Company Subsidiary, in connection with, or related to, or arising out of any accident, injury or similar event or occurrence
that occurred prior to the Closing, including the claims identified on Exhibit O.

“Retained Insurance Claims Value” means $1,591,388.82, plus an amount equal to (a) the aggregate annual premium for the bodily injury, property
damage and workers’ compensation insurance policies obtained by Purchaser, the Companies and the Company Subsidiaries with respect to the Business,
multiplied by (b) a fraction the numerator of which is 45 and the denominator of which is 365.

“Retained Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a)(v).

“Second Anniversary” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(c).

“Second Escrow Release Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5(c).

“Seller” and “Sellers” have the meanings set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Seller Escrow Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(b).

“Seller Favorable Final Adjustment Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(d).

“Seller Fraud Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).

“Seller Indemnified Losses” means all damages, losses, claims, liabilities, demands, charges, suits, judgments, penalties, fines, fees, costs and out-of-
pocket expenses (including court costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred in investigating and preparing for, or otherwise in
connection with, any litigation or proceeding) sustained, suffered or incurred by any of the Seller Indemnified Parties in connection with, or related to, or arising
out of: (i) any inaccuracy or breach of representation or warranty by Purchaser with respect to any of its representations or warranties under ARTICLE IV of this
Agreement or the certificate described in Section 6.3(d); (ii) fraud, willful misconduct or intentional misrepresentation of Purchaser; (iii) willful breach of
Purchaser under this Agreement or the certificate described in Section 6.3(d); (iv) any other breach or default by Purchaser under this Agreement or the certificate
described in Section 6.3(d); and (v) Purchaser’s failure to satisfy obligations secured by a Seller Credit Enhancement in place after the Closing Date; provided,
however, that Seller Indemnified Losses shall not include punitive damages or Special Damages except to the extent that the Seller Indemnified Parties are or
have been required to pay such punitive damages or Special Damages to a Person, other than the Seller Indemnified Parties, pursuant to a Third-Party Claim that
is the subject of Section 8.2, or to the extent that such punitive damages or Special Damages result from fraud committed in connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby.

“Seller Indemnified Parties” means each of the Sellers and each officer, director, employee, member, manager and agent of each of the foregoing,
excluding in each case the Leased Employees (as defined in the TSA).

“Seller Indemnifying Parties” means, collectively, the Sellers and their successors and permitted assigns.
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“Seller Representative” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“Seller Transaction Costs” means all fees, costs and expenses of any brokers, financial advisors, accountants, consultants, attorneys or other professionals,
all Payment Obligations, and all other out-of-pocket costs or expenses (including filing fees, termination or breakage fees, costs of obtaining consents, transaction
bonuses or similar items), in each case payable by any of the Sellers, the Companies or the Company Subsidiaries, whether in cash or in the form of any other
type of benefit, in connection with the structuring, negotiation or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents, whether incurred prior to, on or after the date hereof; provided, however, that Seller Transaction Costs shall not include any such fees, costs and
expenses payable solely by the Sellers for which none of the Companies, Company Subsidiaries or Purchaser has any liability, responsibility or obligation.

“Seller Willful Breach Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(a).

“Serviced Affiliates and Subsidiaries” has the meaning set forth in Schedule 5.3.

“Special Damages” means (i) any loss of profits based on an anticipated, expected, projected or actual increase in profits after the Closing Date as
compared to the Companies’ or the Company Subsidiaries’ (as applicable) historical profits prior to the Closing Date, (ii) prospective or anticipated damages,
losses, claims, liabilities, demands, charges, suits, judgments, penalties, fines, fees, costs, or expenses that depend on future developments that are not probable or
reasonably foreseeable and (iii) damages, losses, claims, liabilities, demands, charges, suits, judgments, penalties, fines, fees, costs, and expenses that are not the
probable and reasonably foreseeable result of (A) an inaccuracy or breach of any representation or warranty by any of the Sellers, the Companies, the Company
Subsidiaries, the Seller Representative, any Seller Indemnifying Party or Purchaser with respect to any of its representations or warranties under this Agreement
or any other Transaction Document to which such Person is a party or (B) any of the other matters giving rise to a claim for indemnification; provided, however,
that “Special Damages” shall not be construed to include losses that are the probable and reasonably foreseeable result of the breach and arise directly or
ordinarily from the breach or other matter giving rise to the claim for indemnification.

“Statute Expiration Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.6(c).

“Step Plan” means the plan attached as Exhibit P.

“Stock Purchase Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(e).

“Straddle Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(c).

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (for the purposes of this definition, the “parent”), any other Person (other than a natural person), whether
incorporated or unincorporated, of which a majority of the securities or ownership interests having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the
board of directors or other persons performing similar functions is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the parent or by one or more of its respective
Subsidiaries or by the parent and any one or more of its respective Subsidiaries, or in the case of any other Person which does not have securities or ownership
interests with such right to vote, as may be the case in a partnership, joint venture or unincorporated association, of which a majority of the securities or
ownership interests representing the right to make the decisions for such other Person is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the parent or by one or more
of its respective Subsidiaries or by the parent and any one or more of its respective Subsidiaries.
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“Sunrise Industries Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to any litigation against YRCL India initiated by Sunrise Industries of India or any
Affiliate relating to non-payment by Doe Run Peru S.R.L.

“Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.17.

“Tax Contests” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.13.

“Tax Incentive” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.13.

“Tax Return” means all returns and reports (including declarations, disclosures, schedules, addenda, attachments, amendments and information returns)
supplied or required to be supplied to a Tax authority relating to Taxes.

“Taxes” means (i) all U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. taxes assessments and other governmental charges, duties, impositions and liabilities, including
escheat, income and profit taxes, franchise taxes, gross-receipts taxes, withholding taxes, payroll and employment taxes, unemployment insurance taxes, social
security taxes, sales and use taxes, business and occupation taxes, value added taxes, goods and services taxes, excise taxes, real and personal property and ad
valorem taxes, stamp taxes, transfer taxes, recapture taxes and workers’ compensation taxes, together with all interest, penalties and additions payable with
respect thereto (ii) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clause (i) as a result of being or ceasing to be a member of an affiliated,
consolidated, combined, unitary or similar group for any period, including any arrangement for group or consortium relief or similar arrangement (an “Affiliated
Group”), and (iii) any liability for the payment of any amounts of the type described in clauses (i) or (ii) as a result of any express or implied obligation to
indemnify any other Person or as a result of any obligations under any agreements or arrangements with any other Person with respect to such amounts and
including any liability for taxes of a predecessor or transferor or otherwise by operation of law.

“Technology” means all information and Intellectual Property Rights related to, constituting or disclosing, and all tangible or intangible copies and
embodiments in any media of, technology, including all know-how, show-how, techniques, trade secrets, inventions and discoveries (whether or not patented or
patentable), algorithms, routines, software, files, databases, works of authorship or processes.

“Termination Date” means August 31, 2010.

“Termination Fee” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(e).

“Termination Fee Trigger Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(e).

“Thailand License Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to YRCL Thailand’s operation of the business without, or its failure to obtain, any
customs broker license.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).

“Trademarks” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Intellectual Property Rights.

“Transaction Cost Deficiency” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5.

“Transaction Documents” means this Agreement, the License Agreement, the Escrow Agreement, the certificates described in Section 6.3(d),
Section 6.4(d) and Section 6.4(j), the TSA, the
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Commercial Services Agreement, the Assignment Agreement, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, and the Nominee Agreement.

“Transfer Failure Claims” means any Proceeding or liability related to the failure of the Sellers to transfer to Purchaser or a Purchaser Designee or other
Person designated by Purchaser the Company Interests of the Delayed Closing Companies, if such failure to transfer results from the Sellers or the Nominees (as
such term is defined in the Nominee Agreement) not having used their commercially reasonable efforts to cause such transfer.

“Transfer Restrictions” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

“Transfer Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9(f).

“Treasury Regulations” means temporary and final regulations promulgated under the Code by the United States Department of the Treasury, as amended
(including any corresponding provisions and succeeding regulations).

“TSA” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.5(a)(vii).

“UK Deposit Amount” means the deposits in the amount of £1,700,000 and €225,000 in connection with the Euler Hermes Guarantees (as defined in the
Disclosure Schedules).

“Voting Debt” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(b).

“WARN” means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or any similar state, provincial or local Law, including any similar Law of a non-
U.S. jurisdiction.

“Working Capital Escrow Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(d).

“YRC Argentina” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“YRC Chile” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“YRC Colombia” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“YRC Colombia Capitalization Claims” means any Proceeding or liability, including any required investment in YRC Colombia and any applicable fine,
fee or penalty, related to the undercapitalization of YRC Colombia on or prior to the Closing Date.

“YRC Enterprise” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“YRC International” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“YRC International Companies” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRC Logistics” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRC Logistics Capitalization Matters” means any Losses sustained, suffered or incurred by the Indemnified Parties arising out of or relating to the failure
of YRC Logistics to obtain the approval of YRCW, as a stockholder, of any actions taken by YRC Logistics or the failure to properly document the
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approval of YRCW, as a stockholder, of any actions taken by YRC Logistics, or the failure of YRC Enterprise to hold all of the outstanding Company Interests of
YRC Logistics.

“YRC Logistics Services” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“YRC Logistics Services Companies” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRC Logistics Services Quebec” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRC Logistics Supply Chain Solutions” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRC Peru” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“YRCL Asia” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“YRCL Asia Companies” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Canada/Mexico Holdco” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL China Hong Kong” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.

“YRCL Hong Kong” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL India” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Japan” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Malaysia” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Malaysia Nominee” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Philippines” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Philippines Capitalization Claims” means any Proceeding or liability, including any required investment in YRCL Philippines and any fine, fee or
penalty, related to (i) the undercapitalization of YRCL Philippines on or prior to the Closing Date, or (ii) the failure of Sellers and YRC Philippines to obtain a
Foreign Investment Act registration and Civil Aeronautics Board approval in connection with the prior transfer of shares of YRCL Philippines from Guijo
Consultancy, Inc. to YRCL Asia (f/k/a Meridian IQ Asia Limited).

“YRCL Philippines Nominees” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Singapore” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Taiwan” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

“YRCL Thailand” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Thailand Nominees” has the meaning set forth in the recitals of this Agreement.

“YRCL Vietnam” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
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“YRCW” has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
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Section 3.20  Employment Matters
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Section 5.12(e)  Continuing Collective Bargaining Agreements

LIST OF SCHEDULES

Schedule 1.5(a)(ii) Resignations
Schedule 5.1  Contract Terminations
Schedule 5.3  Pre-Closing Actions
Schedule 5.15  Transfer of Equity Interests of PT Meridian IQ Indonesia
Schedule 5.19  Certain Software Contracts and Applications
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Certain schedules and exhibits to the Equity Interest Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company
will furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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Exhibit 10.6

YRC WORLDWIDE INC.
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION PLAN

July 14, 2005

This Director Compensation Plan (this “Plan”) of YRC Worldwide Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), amends, restates and replaces the Directors
Compensation Plan approved on December 9, 2004, in its entirety, and summarizes the director compensation of the Company.
 
1. DEFINITIONS, ADMINISTRATION AND CONSTRUCTION
 

 (a) The following capitalized terms used in this Plan shall have the following meanings given to each of them in this Section 1(a):

“Annual Governance Cycle” means the period from the Board meeting immediately following the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders until
the next such meeting the following year;

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company;

“Committee” means a committee of the Board;

“Common Stock” means Company Common Stock, $1.00 par value per share;

“Compensation Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board;

“Equity Plan” means the Company’s 2004 Long-Term Incentive and Equity Award Plan or any other equity plan of the Company that permits the
award of Common Stock or Common Stock derivatives to Participants pursuant to this Plan; and

“Participant” means a director of the Company who is not an employee of the Company.

“Secretary” means the Secretary of the Company.
 

 

(b) The Compensation Committee shall administer this Plan. The Compensation Committee may adopt rules for the administration of this Plan as it may
deem necessary or advisable. The Compensation Committee shall administer this Plan in accordance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), for deferrals made after December 31, 2004. The Compensation Committee has full and absolute discretion
in the exercise of each and every aspect of the rights, power, authority and duties retained or granted it under this Plan, including the authority to
determine all facts, to interpret this Plan, to apply the terms of this Plan to the facts determined, to make decisions based upon those facts and to
make any and all other decisions required of it by



 

this Plan, such as the right to benefits, the correct amount and form of benefits, the determination of any appeal, the review and correction of the
actions of any prior administrative committee, and the other rights, powers, authority and duties specified in this paragraph and elsewhere in this
Plan. Notwithstanding any provision of law, or any explicit or implicit provision of this document, any action taken, or finding, interpretation, ruling
or decision made by the Compensation Committee in the exercise of any of its rights, powers, authority or duties under this Plan shall be final and
conclusive as to all parties, including without limitation all Participants, former Participants and beneficiaries, regardless of whether the
Compensation Committee or one or more of its members may have an actual or potential conflict of interest with respect to the subject matter of the
action, finding, interpretation, ruling or decision. No final action, finding, interpretation, ruling or decision of the Compensation Committee shall be
subject to de novo review in any judicial proceeding. No final action, finding, interpretation, ruling or decision of the Compensation Committee may
be set aside unless it is held to have been arbitrary and capricious by a final judgment of a court having jurisdiction with respect to the issue.

 

 
(c) Except as expressly stated to the contrary, references in this plan to “including” mean “including, without limitation” and to “persons” mean natural

persons and legal entities.
 
2. RETAINERS.
 

 
(a) From time to time, the Board (or at its direction, the Compensation Committee) may set retainers for Participants for their service as a member of the

Board or one or more of its Committees. Retainers for a Participant, including those for Committee chairs, may vary from those of other Participants.
The current retainers for Participants are listed on Exhibit A.

 

 

(b) Pursuant to this Plan and the Equity plan, at the beginning of each Annual Governance Cycle, each Participant shall be granted an award of shares of
Common Stock equal in value to 50% of the then applicable level of annual Board and Committee retainers. For each Annual Governance Cycle, a
Participant may elect to receive more than 50% and up to 100% of the then applicable level of annual Board and Board Committee retainers in
Common Stock. If the Participant so elects, the elected additional percentage of annual Board and Committee retainers shall be issued pursuant to
this Plan and the Equity Plan to the Participant at the beginning of the Annual Governance Cycle for which the election is made. A form of the
annual election is included in Exhibit B.

 

 
(c) For the purposes of determining the number of shares to issue pursuant to this Section 2 and any election pursuant to Section 3, the value of the

Company’s Common Stock shall be determined in accordance with the Equity Plan. If the Equity Plan does not specify a method to determine the
value, the number of
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 shares to be issued pursuant to this Section 2 shall be determined by reference to the closing price of the Common Stock on the date of issuance.
 

 

(d) Annual retainers are intended to compensate Participants for each Annual Governance Cycle. A Participant who joins the Board during an Annual
Governance Cycle shall receive annual retainers that are pro-rated based on the number of whole or partial months of an Annual Governance Cycle
in which the Participant first serves. The Company shall pay the joining Participant these retainers in cash in quarterly installments until the
beginning of the next Annual Governance Cycle in accordance with Section 2(d).

 

 

(e) The Company shall pay to each Participant in cash any amount of retainers that are not paid to the Participant in Common Stock pursuant to this
Section 2. The Company shall pay the cash portion of the retainers to each Participant in four quarterly installments. The Company shall pay each
installment to the Participant on the date of the first regular meeting of the Board for that quarter. If no such regular meeting is held during a quarter,
the Company shall pay the Participant the installment on the last day of the calendar quarter.

 
3. MEETING FEES.
 

 
(a) From time to time, the Board (or at its direction, the Compensation Committee) may set meeting fees for Participants for their attendance at meetings

of the Board or one or more of its Committees. The amount of the meeting fees for a Participant, including those for Committee chairs, may vary
from those of other Participants. The current meeting fees for Participants are listed on Exhibit A.

 

 
(b) Unless a valid deferral election is made pursuant to Section 4, meetings fees shall be due and payable to each Participant upon the Participant’s

attendance at the applicable meeting.
 

 (c) Meeting fees shall be paid in cash.
 
4. EQUITY GRANTS.

From time to time, the Board (or at its direction, the Compensation Committee) may make grants of Common Stock or Common Stock derivatives (such as
stock options or restricted unit awards) to Participants as compensation for their service on the Board with such terms and conditions as are stated in the
grant. The grant shall be made pursuant to this Plan and the terms of the Equity Plan. The current equity grants are summarized on Exhibit A.

 
5. COMPENSATION DEFERRAL.
 

 
(a) Pursuant to a written election, a Participant may defer receipt of all of the Participant’s retainer fees that the Participant elects to receive in stock

(under
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Section 2) or all of the meeting fees (under Section 3), in each case, with respect to a year, until the Participant’s termination of service on the Board
(whether by death, disability, resignation, removal, failure to be reelected or otherwise) or until the earlier of January 1 in a year that the Participant
specifies or the Participant’s termination of service with the Board. The Company shall maintain an account for each Participant to record the amount
of compensation so deferred and shall provide the Participant with an account statement at least annually.

 

 

(b) A Participant must make a written deferral election for the following year prior to the beginning of each calendar year. Participants who have become
a director during a calendar year must make an election for the remaining portion of that year within 30 days of their election or appointment as a
director. Initial elections with respect to this Plan must be made within 30 days of its adoption. A form of the annual election is included in Exhibit B.
This election should be delivered to the Secretary.

 

 
(c) Upon the termination of the deferral, the Company shall issue and pay to the Participant the deferred shares, deferred dividends and additions on

dividends and deferred cash meeting fees in the Participant’s deferred account within a reasonable time and in accordance with the Code and
regulations promulgated thereunder.

 

 
(d) If the Company declares a dividend on its stock, the Company shall create an account on the books of the Company reflecting the cash value of the

dividend based upon the number of shares reflected in Participant’s stock account. On December 31 of each year, an annual addition shall be made to
the Participant’s dividend account (for the purpose of simulating an investment return) in accordance with the formula as follows:

X = A x B

Where

X is the amount of the annual addition

A is the discount interest rate on the first new 12 month U.S. Treasury Bills auctioned in such year.

B is the sum of the balances in the account on the last day of each month of such year divided by 12.

If payment is made by reason of death and the payment is made in a month other than January, a pro rata addition to the account shall be made
immediately prior to payment in accordance with the formula as follows:

Y = C x D

Where
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Y is the amount of the pro rata addition.

C is the discount interest rate on the first new 12 month U.S. Treasury Bills auctioned in such year.

D is the sum of the balances in the account on the last day of each month preceding payment in such year divided by 12.
 

 (e) The Company shall not pay any interest or any other addition on cash meeting fees deferred under the terms of this Plan.
 

 

(f) If a Participant dies, the Company shall pay any amounts deferred under this Plan to the beneficiary or beneficiaries, if any, that the Participant
designates to the Secretary in writing during the Participant’s lifetime. During his/her lifetime, the Participant may revoke or change any designation
of beneficiary by delivering the revocation or designation in writing to the Secretary. If no beneficiary is designated or survives the Participant, then
the accounts shall be issued and paid to the Participant’s personal representative.

 

 
(g) The Participant understands that all stock and cash deferred hereunder (i.e., the balance of his/her accounts) are unfunded, will be represented by

appropriate bookkeeping entries and will be paid from the general assets of the Company when due pursuant to the terms of this Plan. Any such
amounts due the Participant shall be unsecured, general obligations of the Company.

 

 
(h) Stock and cash deferred under this Plan, and any and all rights thereto, shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer,

assignment, pledge, encumbrance, charge, garnishment, execution, or levy of any kind, either voluntary or involuntary. Any attempt to anticipate,
alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, charge or otherwise dispose of any rights to amounts deferred or payable hereunder shall be void.

 
6. GENERAL
 

 
(a) None of this Plan, the Equity Plan, the grant of any award under this Plan or the Equity Plan or any other action taken pursuant to this Plan or the

Equity Plan shall constitute or be evidence of any agreement or understanding, express or implied, that the Company will retain a Participant for any
period of time or at any particular rate or amount of compensation.

 

 
(b) Except by the laws of decent and distribution in the event of a Participant’s death, the rights and benefits of this Plan may not be assigned or

otherwise transferred. A Participant shall cease to be a Participant under this Plan upon the Participant’s termination of his or her directorship with
the Company whether by death, disability, retirement, resignation or removal.

 

 
(c) Any notice to the Company that this Plan requires shall be in writing, addressed to the Secretary and be effective when the Secretary receives the

notice.
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(d) This Plan and any determination or action taken respecting this Plan shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of

Delaware, without reference to its law of conflicts of law.
 
7. EQUITY OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

Each Participant shall own shares of Company common stock or restricted stock units to receive shares of Company common stock equal to three
times the annual board retainer within three years of July 14, 2005 or the date the Participant becomes an outside director of the Board.
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Exhibit A

Board Retainers as of June 29, 2010

Annual retainer = $50,000

Annual retainer for Finance Committee Chair = $5,000

Annual retainer for Pension and Benefits Strategy Committee Chair = $5,000

Annual retainer for Governance Committee Chair = $5,000

Annual retainer for Compensation Committee Chair = $7,500

Annual retainer for Audit/Ethics Committee Chair = $10,000

Annual retainer for Committee members = $0

Meeting fees as of June 29, 2010
 
$1,500   for each Board meeting attended

$1,500   for each Committee meeting attended (except for the Pension and Benefits Strategy Committee)

$1,500
  

per day (prorated based on an eight-hour day) for services that the Chairman of the Board may request from time to time of the Pension and Benefits
Strategy Committee Chair

Equity grants as of July 14, 2005

Restricted stock units equal in value to $77,500 (using the reported closing price on the NASDAQ Stock Market on the date of grant) vesting /3 of the units on
each of the 1 , 2  and 3  anniversaries of the date of grant, which grant is to be made on the first meeting of the Board following the annual meeting of
stockholders of the Company

 1

st nd rd



Exhibit B

ANNUAL DIRECTOR COMPENSATION ELECTION FORM

To the Secretary of YRC Worldwide Inc.:

I wish to receive              % of Board and Committee chair retainers in the form of YRC Worldwide Inc. stock for the period of              to              (the Annual
Governance Cycle). (Must select at least 50%, if left blank or less than 50% selected, we will assume 50% is your selection).
 
            

  

I hereby elect to defer all of my board and chairperson retainer fees for              (calendar year). This election supercedes any prior election that I
have may made for that period. (If you do not mark the box, we will assume that you do not wish to defer your retainer fees. If you mark the
box but have not elected above to receive 100% of your retainers in stock, we will assume that you intended to mark 100% of your retainers
to be received in stock even if you indicated to the contrary.)

            

  

I hereby elect to defer all of my attendance fees for              (calendar year). This election supercedes any prior election that I have may made for
that period. (If you do not mark the box, we will assume that you do not wish to defer your attendance fees. Please remember that deferred
attendance fees will not earn interest or other returns during the deferral.)

  The deferrals marked above shall end as selected below:

              Termination of my service with Board (whether by death, disability, resignation, removal, failure to be reelected or otherwise)

              On the earlier of January 1,              (enter year) or termination of my service with the Board
 
 
(Print name)  (signature)  



Exhibit 10.7

AMENDMENT NO. 7
YELLOW CORPORATION PENSION PLAN

WHEREAS, YRC Worldwide Inc. (the “Company”) maintains the Yellow Corporation Pension Plan (the “Plan”) for the benefit of employees of the
Company and its participating affiliates; and

WHEREAS, Article XI of the Plan authorizes the Company to amend the Plan at any time in its discretion; and

WHEREAS, as part of a pending determination letter application for the Plan, the Internal Revenue Service has requested that certain clarifying
amendments be made to the Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, effective January 1, 2002, the Plan is clarified and amended as follows:

A. Section 5.6 is amended by adding the following two new subparagraphs (d) and (e) to end of such Section:

(d) Incidental Benefits Requirements. In all events, distributions made pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall be made in a manner which satisfies the
incidental benefit requirements of Section 401(a)(9)(G) of the Code.

(e) Incorporation of Treasury Regulations. In all events, distributions made pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall be made in a manner which satisfies the
requirements of Treasury Regulations 1.401(a)(9)-2 through 1.401(a)(9)-9, the terms and conditions of which will override any contrary provision of this
Section 5.6 or any other Plan provision.

B. The last sentence of Section 15.1(a) is deleted in its entirety and the following is inserted in lieu thereof:

In the case of a distribution made for a reason other than severance from employment, death, or disability, this provision shall be applied by substituting
“five-year period” for “one-year period.”

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Amendment to be executed by its duly authorized officer on the 21st day of June 2010.
 

YRC WORLDWIDE INC.

By:  /s/ Harold D. Marshall
Name:  Harold D. Marshall
Title:  Vice President – Employee Benefits
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13A-14 AND 15D-14,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William D. Zollars, certify that:
 

(1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of YRC Worldwide Inc.;
 

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and we have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date: August 9, 2010    /s/ William D. Zollars

   William D. Zollars
   Chairman of the Board of
   Directors, President & Chief
   Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13A-14 AND 15D-14,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sheila K. Taylor, certify that:
 

(1) I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of YRC Worldwide Inc.;
 

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and we have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness

of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely

to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date: August 9, 2010    /s/ Sheila K. Taylor

   Sheila K. Taylor
   Executive Vice President
   & Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of YRC Worldwide Inc. on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission of the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William D. Zollars, Chief Executive Officer of YRC Worldwide Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of YRC Worldwide Inc.
 
Date: August 9, 2010    /s/ William D. Zollars

   William D. Zollars
   Chairman of the Board of
   Directors, President & Chief
   Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report of YRC Worldwide Inc. on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Sheila K. Taylor, Chief Financial Officer of YRC Worldwide Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of YRC Worldwide Inc.
 
Date: August 9, 2010    /s/ Sheila K. Taylor

   Sheila K. Taylor
   Executive Vice President
   & Chief Financial Officer
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